Subjugation 4
Tribulation

by Fel (aka James Galloway)

ToC 1



To: Title ToC 2

Chapter 1

Koira, 18 Toraa, 401, Orthodox Calendar

Wednesday, 28 January 2014, Terran Standard Calendar

Koira, 18 Toraa, year 1327 of the ©Beneration, Karinne Historical Reference
Calendar

Foxwood East, Karsa, Karis

Amber was starting to make a nuisance of herself.

There wa just something intrinsically, fundamentalyongabout an insufferably
cute animal that was smart enouglkmowthat it was insufferably cute, and therefore
exploited that insufferable cuteness with almost ruthless impunity. In the 18 days since
Sheaod i ved in their house, sheb6d quickly | ea
and get away with it, because she was, quite literally, too cute to punish. Fortunately,
thus far she had yet to attempt aheything tru
di dndét abuse her cuteness. One of the ways
doing now, licking his ear when he was trying to sleep. Her tiny little tongue was
surprisingly hot, and it startled him awake.

AAmber! 0 he gruhbémdtipncobetensl gep! @

She gave one of her little squeaking yips, not quite a bark but somewhat similar to it,
and jumped up onto his shoulder. She didnot
but her little claws were like needles as they kneadedhistshoulder. He groaned in
frustration and swatted lightly in her general direction, but the little bundle of fur was not
impressed by his attempts to shoo her away. She harassed him until he conceded defeat
and opened his eyes, lookingup atthélét vul par with sl eepy aggr a
litttedn he began, but when he moved his arm to
down, pushed against his side, and wormed her way under the covers. He felt her turn a
circle and lay down tightly agast his side, and then she was still.

And thatwas what she abused. She had some kind of fetish about sleeping under the
covers, and she had this attachment to sl eep
She would harass him until he either let hedenthe covers, or if he was asleep, harass
him until he moved in such a way that gave her an opening. And she was totally
shameless about it. For her, so long as she ended up napping against his side and under
the blankets, what she did to get there enad difference. The ends justified the means
in her tiny little vulpar mind, and if she annoyed the humans, well, she was too cute for
them to be mad at her for very long.

He settled back down, trying to prevent his mind from racing. So much to dspand
much already done. So much to worry about. The expeditionary force that would
ambush the incoming Consortium fleet was going to leave at sunset local time, and this
was the first opportunity hedd al lomwed hi
dark corner for four days. And he wasnoét
from the same exhaustion as they prepared for this attack. There was so much they had
to do. Finalize the attack strategy. Arrange the manufacturing of the,mpiatforms,
bombs, and assorted weapons that would be used in the assault. Train the KMS on how
to deploy and utilize the equipment. And even while they did that, they debated ways to
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attack the bases the Consortium already had here and generatadsgimeeas to
refine later.

And outside the boundaries of Karis, there was even more going on, even more to
worry about. Thus far, their enemies had not attempted to jump into any protected
system, though they had attempted to deploy hyperspace pocdeslyze the effect.

But they knew what they could do, and the Kimdori, masters of hyperspace, had already
taken steps to deny the Consortium the use of hyperspace for anything other than moving
ships and using their modulated string communicationsmigmeobes were detected

and either captured or destroyed before they got anywhere near their destination, utilizing
automated capture drones or hyperspace missiles, using machines that were immune to
the effects of hyperspace on living minds. Beyond tbesGrtium, the other empires in

the sector were trying to adjust to the new system, and not very fucking happy about it.
The Alliance especially were still absolutely furious about the interdictors and being
forced to move everything through the Terrarii@tation, but Jason knew that they were
only furious because it hamstrung their plans to instigate war in the sector and then pick
up the pieces when the opposing sides destroyed each other. Right now, with the
interdictors up and running, the Alliankeew that the Imperium and her allies, the

Urumi, were nigh untouchable, which made it very, very hard to commit random border
atrocities or infiltrate I mperium worl ds
been very thorough in instituting their n@wlicies concerning outsiders in their territory,

and the Kimdori were kind enough to sweep through those who were allowed to remain
and weed out the sleeper agents and spies. In ten days, all enemy agents within the
Imperium and the Collective were eXéd, arrested, or simply executed, depending on

who they were, what they knew, and what kind of danger they posed.

This was where the Faeyds nature worked
outsiders within the Imperium, because others werguncomfortable around the
telepathic Faey. The agents and spies the other empires sent had to be telepathic
themselves to evade detection, and how many telepaths another race may have varied
from race to race, which restricted how many agents a governmgiitenable to send.

The Jakkans and the Colonists had a very high rate of telepathic citizens, especially the
Colonists where 45% of their population had some kind of telepathic or empathic
capability, where some races, like the Kizzik and the Zyagyanbaelepaths at all.

There were 77 worlds in the Faey Imperium, but among all those star systems, there were
only 107,493 people who were citizens of another government, which was an
infinitesimal fraction of t heofthosepvere i umo s
diplomats in consulates or workers in outside corporations that had offices in Imperium
space. It was a different story in the Collective, but in a way, it was a similar situation.
The Urumi had a reputation among the other races as beumgdd unpleasant, so
tourism within the Collective wasnodét as
SkoVraeodos officials had to root through
workers, and a few independent foreigners who had staeedtlin businesses within

Coll ective space to remain. The Kimdor.
agents and enemies, but it was going to take them a few more days to process all the
applications and check out the applicants.

Zaa would sorall that out. Jason had other things to do than worry about that.

and
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Though he was exhausted, he went over ever
31,842 gravitic shockwave mines into the cargo hold3remerandAbarax and there
were 3,768 Torsion wean platforms, basically flying guns, stowed on board the two
large ships as well. Those two ships were at the vanguard of a fleet of 31 KMS ships that
would be jumping out, starting the long, grueling two day trip to their ambush point, and
everyshipwa carrying something theydd use in the
far out beyond Exile, at the very edge of the spiral arm of the galaxy which was closest to
Andromeda, at the far end of it from Karis, which would be 135.23 minutes of continuous
hyperspace travel. It could only be done in 6 minute intervals, so they were going to
break up the trip into two days so everyone would have a break. The Kimdori had
already started their ships in that direction, the bowler ships that would be dragging
meteors as well as searching for any surveillance the Consortium may have in the area.
When the KMS ships arrived, those ships would only have about 20 minutes to set up the

attack. They didndédt want to get there too e
investigate any destruction of possible surveillance equipment they may have monitoring
the fleetbds route. So, their ships would I

of hyperspace.

Timdéds idea was t heir b afshe enensyfleetchadaltered but
their original plan. At first they thought the fleet was moving in 10 waves of 3,000 ships,
but they were wrong. The extreme distance of the fleet from their sensors had returned a
false readi ng, aaydagothattheyfsalphad emaughiadcuratehr e e d
intelligence to begin the real tactical planning to attack the fleets. They were towing six
strippeddown interdictors with them, and each interdictor would be placed in a different
place and activated in tipath of the enemy fleet. Extreme hyperspace sensors had
discerned the formation of the enemy fleet. It was jumping in five major forces, each
force consisting of 6,000 ships, each wave towing one of those bases, and those waves
were separated by about #nutes. That would give each wave time to come out of
hyperspace, awaken the crew, and then move out before the next wave arrived. Their
pl an wasndét to mass everything at one chokep
original idea. Now they were g to conduct 5 separate attacks by dropping their fleet
out of hyperspace at the same time, preventing the first wave from warning the waves
behind. Theyo6éd plotted out where each i1 nter
hyperspace simultaneoysivhich had literally required Cybi to calculate; it vihat
complicated. Each group would have a complement of 5,30prsgiélled mines and
628 Torsion weapon platforms to use to attack the enemy, and each ambush point would
be supported by 39 Kimdovessels off at a distance and ready to drag meteors behind
them and release, to rake the enemy fleets with rocks moving at close to the half the
speed of light No ship would be within weapon range of the enemy fleets, relying
completely on the automate&tapons. The ships would be at a safe distance, attacking
the enemy with heavgnount railguns as a single Kimdori ship stayed with the
interdictor, to either move it or destroy it as necessary, but the interdictor itself was going
to be a weapon. If theonsortium somehow threatened them, they would be destroyed,
and theydd been seeded so t-tachyomshatlkevave r uct i on
that would burn out any device that had hyperspace applications. It would burn out every
Consortium string ammunications console, and would also blow out any hyperspace
jump engine if it was online and in standby mode when the shockwave hit it, to further



cripple any attempt to recover damaged ships by cutting their communications and
damaging their ability taymp hyperspace. The ships would be controlling the weapons
platforms by remote, which would fire on any ship that escaped the mine blitz, and
continue to fire on them until it was destroyed. As per normal Legion rules, no
technology in those mines or g®weapons platforms was anything but what the
Consortium already had, and none of them would survive the attack. Every single device
had a sekldestruct, and in the case of the weapon platforms, thosdesgtiicts were

designed as a nesafetied PPGIf any of them were selflestructed, they would explode

with the force of a fusion bomb, and those would be detonated as close to the Consortium
ships as possible to try to deal collateral damage.

Myleena had also added a devious little something exivahose selflestruct
protocols. If the platform was damaged or destroyed but the PPG and main computer
survived the attack, then the computer would delaydsstructing until an enemy ship
got close enough. In that manner, Myleena hoped that the@ions ships that either
survived or arrived to assist would move to gather up the pieces to analyze, and then get
blown up when the computer overloaded its unshielded PPG and made it explode.

That was the Legion way. Leave nothing behind. Do as munlagaas humanly
possible. Aggravate the everliving fuck out of the enemy.

Hedéd been in yet another all/l night confere
to attack those bases and tossing ideas arou
shoulde. That had been about two hours ago, over at the hastily constructed Dirty Deeds
Department, a warehouse and lab over in the engineering complex next door to the
Shimmer Dome.

Was it two hours ago? He opened his eyes again and realized the sun weps comi
through the windows at the wrong angle to be morning. He blearily looked towards

Jyslinés nightstand, at her <c¢cl ock, and saw t
noon was 1430 on Karis. Hedd beedimdls| eep f o
like he was asleep four hours.

Shit. He had things to do. He coul dndét s

He sat up, which annoyed Amber, and scrubbed his face, then reached to his
nightstand and grabbed his gestalt even as he turned on the lights by mentahdomm
He wuswually sl ept vanyonkdisturbing hitm whien He eentdto stkepdt wan't
But he didnét need the gestalt for everythin
Cybi designed and the Makati had built for them. Cybi had includedquistthat
allowed any Generation to access anything via communion the same as using a gestalt by
using the network as the interface, but no Generation would go without a gestalt. They
were more than simply the means by which to make everything worky \iidre
computers attached to their brains, giving them more functions and capabilities, like the
ability to download and instantly Al earno a
Generation would go without a gestalt there to amplify their psychiitiedi

That was one of the things that was going on here on the strip today. The Makati
were installing something Cybi had designed four days before, something she called a
biogenic focus. It was a large tactical gestalt that would be installed irbdsgment,
since Jasonds house was moangGemeratiohwittisa t he cen
thousandshakracould access to boost their power. At that range, Jason, Myleena,



Danelle, Kyri, Aran, and Rann could access that tactical gestaltuwvienving their own
homes.
He centered himself as he put on the gestalt, then turned it on. A bonded gestalt
wasnodét bad as far as starting up, reaching i
entirely pleasant sensation, and one to which they hgaittyingly adapt. He endured
the gestalt intertwining itself into his thoughts until it was fully settled in, again operating
in the back of his mind and laced between his thoughts, back to how he now considered
normalto feel. He no longer felt normalithout his gestalt.
Amber gave a little yip, looking up at him demandingly.
ASorry, sweeti e, Il have to get wup, o he to
l'ittle thing, no bigger than a kitten. iYou
She ywned, gave him an irritated look, then got up and padded off the bed, then
went up to the closed door. She gave two little yips at a certain timbre, which was a
trigger for the door to open. Vulpars did not like closed doors, so they came up with a
wayfor her to get in and out on her own.
He swung his legs over the bed, getting his brain working. If it was nearly noon, then
the task force would be undertaking final preparations for their projected 2100 departure.
He also had some reports to read ammuple of status reports to send. But first things
first. Using his gestalt, he opened a link with the military command center. Today it was
lovely Eyai Heralle Karinne, with her shocking pink [@ainer natural hair colé and
her hauntingly beautifulqua eyes. She was married to a Generation male named Rolan,

standing in the place Shey often occupied.
nod. AYou need a status report?o
AYeah, | 6ve been asl eep too | dtheig. Hi t me.

situation, stressing the preparations being made by the task force about to leave, then
gave him the status of several projects, both Legion and routine.
AThe training courses for the new gestalt

gavelh m a curi ougedlydo kt hatfiDoes it

He nodded. AYoudl I never have to type agai
Gl adi ator pilots wildl have a hell of a | ot n
communi cat e any mdlylike.sendirgtjustoveralgravand. Tleexew
additions | et you completely control any dev
She whistl ed. ABy Demirdés sword. It wi ||
AwWell , at | east most of atshei tcoinst,r oslo dweev iwoen
|l ot of wuseless junk to throw away. o0

She | aughed. ATrue enough, 06 she agreed.
AYou should see Jyslin use it, o0 he said, b
AAl'l these | ines of <c¢ode,owbtlemonitoylikesat r i ght t h
runaway gl itch. Il tés al most unbelievabl e.
emul ate sending over gravband channel s. 0

Al wonder how long itéll take to adapt?0
Alf Jys i s any i ndi cat iAnhqurohtmibinglkm@ng at al |
youdre good to go. At | east the software up
night as part of the universal reboot. o

Al hate those, 0 Eyai growl ed. Alt takes h

up and running. o



AHeh, I was working on something and forgo
getting a one minute warning to save.o

Al see you have one of the new interfaces
new gestalt on his ear, its lone prong extendinder his left eye.

AHeh, one of the perks of sitting in the b
indeed a new gestalt, incorporating the module he, Jyslin, and Myleena had designed.

The gestalt was basically the same design, just wiliglatlg better main CPU and a

little more memory. It had been the next version that would be pushed out and was
already in production for the replacement, p
gestalts and interfaces to maximize their power, anwitid be the last one until she
perfected gestalts that ran off of the Conso

If there was one thing they could take from them and use, it was that.

Not everyone would get a new interface, though. Only military or crit@mamand
positions would get a new interface, s
before they designed the new modul e.
would instead be given the module for the upgrade, which they could eittad ins
themselves or take to any local howaa shop that distributed and repaired interfaces to
have the module installed for them. But it had to be done in 9 days, because after 9 days,
another universal reboot would disable control devices for pubtnpaters, to save
processing power.

It was just one of the ways that Myleena, the genius that she was, was encroaching on
Generatioronly capabilities. The rest of the house would be able to emulate the
Generation ability to commune over gravband aftentpbgrades were complete, using
command thought that was modulated and broadcast over gravband. Almost everything a
Generation could do with a computer anyone could do now, since Generations could
commune with virtually any computer on Karis through tastglt, or commune directly
with biogenic computers without need of a gestalt. Myleena had solved half of it, the
Aout puto from mind to computer, biomng Jason f e
time to figure out hoheintertaceaimmctlyittdragtingwite Ai nput
the brain of the wearer. That was still exclusively the realm of the Generations.

There was some play at it, but not for the Faey, over at the Academy. A Faey and a
human were working together over there to ex@lbe possibility otybernetics
emulating what Generations did. They in no way had any knowledge of the Generations,
theydd conceived this idea completely on the
actually had a chance of success. A Faey walddlutely neveallow anyone or
anything to monkey with their brains, since it would threaten their telepathic abilities, but
humans were an entirely different kettle of fish. Those two were trying to find some way
to directly connect a human brain to angputer, by wiring the human brain with
input/output sensors at critical points that would allow the brain to communicate directly
with the computer. The Faey had completely mapped out the human brain about two
years after subjugating Terra, so the Faestatohad the medical skill, and the human
cyberneticist, who was Faey trained and usually built cybernetic prosthetics for patients,
had the expertise to design and build a computer to interface with a human brain.

This wasnod6t a c o nfadydddederyusingeyberrfetic @rbsthetics T h e
for centuries, eyes, arms, legs, and they could replace organs with artificial units as well
to hold over a patient wuntil a cloned replac
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DNAto prevent rejection. Meyjas cybernetic eye was a perfect
decided to keep the cybernetic eye even after being offered a cloned replacement,

because she liked it better, said it gave her much better vision and the ability to see in

infrared and ultravioletShe did have a new eye implanted to replace the stock one, an

eye that was absolutely identical to her organic one, which made it impossible to tell that

one of her eyes was artificial. The Faey already knew how to attach machines to the

nerve endingsrad | et the machine take orders from t|
electrical signals received from the nerves.

But what these two were proposing was like something he remembered out of an old
ani me movi e IGkoétihthe Elachinemieaelsémeahe would take a cord
and plug it to a receptacle embedded in the skull, which held a computer attached to the
brain by sensors and I/O leads, and physically connect a human brain to an external
computer.

It was a curious idea, and Ayuma told Himat the two of them were only about three
months from actually trying it. They even had two volunteers that were willing to allow
the Faey doctor to implant the sensors and leads in their brains, then attempt to directly
interface with computers in a g&s of experiments to test the theory.

Jason couldnét fathom anyone willing to vo
one mistake turns you into a vegetable, and Faey medicine could cure anything that might
handicap someone, from muscular dystrofgthgpinal cord injuries. And he sure as hell
woul dnodot | et hianrsipoe heevasright vitithetFaety @n this one. Any
monkeying with his brain may damage his talent, and he would not allow that under any
circumstance.

But,toeachhisownMaybe t hose two believed that the
human beings would make them famous. Hell, it just might at that.

AAl right, tell My r i I 61 1 be over in about
Al 61 1 pass it iomg Raonum? dr ace. Bring

Al dondt know if hedd find sitting around
Awell, wedd |i ke to see him, 0 she smiled
Al o6l 1 make sure he knows that before | | ea
AYoubre just no fun anymore, my Duke. o0
AWas | evewRbchemadé&elder | augh. nSee you |
AGood |l uck with the rest of your schedul e,
ALIi ke waiting for an inspection, no doubt

She just winked at him, and the monitor went dark, then was replaced drgshef
the house of Karinne, the screen saver.
He stumbled into the shower and let the hot water wake him up, then he was dressing
in jeans and a simple tee shirt as he listened to the open sending chatter going on in and
around the house. Rann, Araachary, and Sora, all of his children but Kyri, as well as
Yuri and Ryla, were currently having a train
better suited to train a telepath than the most skilled telepath on Karis, hands down. Ryn
wasthat good Aya and Dera were in the house, being the security presence, and Suri
and Shen were out on the deck between his an
five guards that most often escorted him around, his personal retinue of sorts. There were
five other gards on duty, scattered along the strip, just making sure everything was
alright. Jyslin was downstairs with Maya and Vell, talking about something, along with



Riza and Miza, Brynds twins, Christy and Jac

Jari,Song@nd Lukeds son, and Zar a, Mi nés daught e
lunch. Yana was on her way over, from the sound of it, and she was bringing Kyri over
for lunch. Tim was at work, he knew, but Sy

more and moreuwiosity about Gladiators, and he had no doubt she was over in Karsa
playing around in one. Being tlaenu dozeof the Grand Duke did have certain

advantages, like being allowed to invade a military base and take a Gladiator out for a joy
ride. Temika ad Kumi were over at her office in the White House, Meya and Myra were
over at Embraijn continuing their work with the Exiled that had decided to return to the
house, Songa was over at the medical annex doing her job as the overall commander of
the Karinnebranch of the Medical Service, Luke was at a satellite classroom taking
lessons from the Academy, Mike was at work over in the machinery shop at the Shimmer
Dome, Myleena was up in Kosigi working on the Consortium ship, and Min and Bryn
were working, buteeryone else was home, either off shift or with a day off.

The other girls on the strip were busy now
with the Consortium, theydd stopped sitting
themselves in the war efforZora was up at Kosigi right now, training on a battleship as
a navigator. She would be entering the Fleet as a reserve navigator and instructor, but
would primarily be working either as a dropship pilot to ferry personnel and supplies
between Karisand o s i g i or as a Kosigi Apusher piloto
the base as needed, which was why she was up there getting training on a battleship. She
would also be doing occasional work with Myri in the command center along with the
rest of the squh manning comm terminals over in the command center at the White
House and staying safely out of harmbébs way i
was the only squad member not working in the command center, for she had become the
nanny of all the kds on the strip, taking care of them while their mothers were off at
work. This was a job for which Maya was well suited and glad to undertake, since she
was by far the most motherly of all the squad. She enjoyed having a house full of kids,
and Vell aga proved he was the best husband on Karis by being there both for his wife
and for the kids, teaching and being supportive. Just about every child on the strip called
him Daddy Vell.

Songa certainly had her hands full now, because of the fact thathddriseen outed.

Since it was no longer a secret, and there was no longer a need to keep Karis away from

the rest of the Imperium, Jason and Miaari had decided that it was time to partially open

the planet to the outside. That had started two days dgm &combined group of

Imperium and Collective shipbuilders visited Kosigi, and were in fact still up there.

Jason had more room up there than he knew what to do with, so he had offered space in
Kosigi to Dahnai and Sk 0 Yadaeaterigingeringthkamptbui | di n
look things over and work with the commander of Kosigi, Admiral Dillen Karinne, one

of only four male Admirals or generals in the KMS. The big thing would be separating

the facilities so hi swharébiogemissystemsivierk kepttor get i n
repaired, but that was doabl e. Yesterday, t
command had di spatched 18,000 doctors and me
command, to officially macetgthe lSpemvedcal spl i nt e

Service and give her the doctors she needed to care for a population of 6 million. Songa
had been in dire need of more doctors, so she was so happy yesterday when she went to



meet the transport from Karis that she was alMpat! ki ng on ai r . Shedd b
for the next few weeks bringing her splinter organization up to official IMS standards,
but it was more the sheer volume of work mor
outfit was more technologically advanciédn the IMS, and most likely it was the IMS
t hat would be upgrading to Songads standards
rules and such that had to be smoothed out between them, and that was where Songa
would be doing the most work.
There were otér plans as well. There was a large contingent of Urumi workers
coming to help man Kosigi and other construction efforts on Karis, and Dahnai had also
promised workers to help out. The Kimdori as well were moving more and more workers
to Kosigi as they bilt docks to build their own ships, which too would be kept separate
from their allies because they utilized biogenics in their ships as well as a few
technologies they even kept secret from the Karinnes. That hollow moon up there was
about to get all kids of crowded, but that was just fine, since it was, by far, the best
shipbuilding facility among all the allied governments. $elfitained, well equipped,
literally next door to a stargate, possessing an atmosphere while still being a weightless
environment which made it easier on the workers assembling the ships, Kosigi was a
shipbuil derdés dream | ocati on. And the | mper
that. He had the suspicious feeling that Nera Doyalle all but had an orgasm when she
saw he place. All they had to do was finish the second set of doors, which would allow
them to bring titanic behemoths like thegisi nt o t he dockyards, and t
The other thing Karis had over their allies was simple space. With 86% ohtiet pl
uninhabited and possessing an environment tolerable to every race in their allied
governments except the Menoda, they had lots of room for factories to be built. Dahnai
had already approached him with the idea of allowing her to build factoriegs@iliiies
on the northern continent of Hevarga, with the express understanding that those facilities
would be handed over to the Karinnes after the war was over. This proposal he and
Miaari were still discussing. Jason was leaning towards it, Miaarun@escided but
slightly skeptical of the idea, and they had to weigh the merits against the potential
problems a little more before they made a final decision.
The proposal they did accept was from the Great Hive of the Kizzik. The barren
tracts of unteformed Karis were close to their natural desert habitat, and they wanted to
bring a second, much larger colony to Karis and settle on the other southern continent,
Virga, where the first colony had settled on Karga and was fully integrated into the
house.Out on Virga, it was the Faey, humans, and Makati that would integrate in and
around existing Kizzik infrastructure. They would terraform it to their tastes, and that
would also provide House Karinne with a large force of inexhaustible Kizzik labox. No
that the scertanguage translators were being mass produced at a frenzied pace by the
Kizzik, they had suddenly gotteri@ more interested in spreading through the
Imperium. Freed of the need for translators, the Kizzik were free to fully integtate i
the I mperium, and Jasonés tal ks with Dahnai
welcoming them with open arms. If things were still on schedule, the first wave of
Kizzik hive builders would arrive tomorrow, whose responsibility was to excavate the
subteranean tunnels in which the Kizzik preferred to live, and begin the terraforming
process by fertilizing the soil around their proposed hive location and planting crops and



bringing their giant aphitike livestock from their homeworld, shesjzed insectdiat
produced a honeljke nectar which the Kizzik loved.
Jasonodos full use of the abilities of other
how effective they could be, so much so that she had taken his advice and had promoted a
Makati to be the heaaof the palace, her Chamberlain. Jason had no doubt that the Makati
female would have her palace whipped into perfect operating order within a month.
He came downstairs and scooped up Danelle, who was coming back from the
bathroom and headed for the dg¢bincle Jason!]she communed with surprising clarity,
which was a surprise to him. Either Rann or Myleena had taught her that trick.
[And who taught you to commune, you sneaky little thihg?dsked with a smile,
hefting her a few times.
[Mommy. Sheaid only you , Mommy, Miss Cybi, and the other kids could hear it.]
[ Al most . Yuri and Sami canodot hear it, but
you how to use this?]
[ Al most nev e r-secrdt seadt that wehever avergell gngoBet she
said | can use it with you any timehe answered, grinning conspiratorially.
[ Your mother has good sense, and shebs rig
ever, ever, ever know about, pi ppil I f they
She nodded seriouslyMommy made sure | knew that.]
[Keep that in mind. Now back to lessons with you.]
[ 6 K aHe sefl her down and watched thegbar old rush back to the den, getting
back to her lessons in sending.
[Myli,] he called, usig the biogenic network to relay his communion up to Kofigi,
think we need to talk about what youdre teac
[Pft, keep yourself out of my business, Jaysbgteasedinreply. Sheds pretty g
at communi on, i snét she?]
[ Better than Rann fhe said honestly.
He greeted Ayama and Surin as he entered the kitchen, then kissed his wife when she
came in.Morning, he greeted.
Morning, your Grace. Breakfast or lunclS2rrin asked.
He chuckledAnyt hi ng, I 6 m have muych tyindy@aansiveréd. d o n 6 t
We have the hamburgers almost done, if you can wait a minute.
Works for me. Morning lovée greeted Jyslin.
Morning, she mirrored, kissing him again, then chuckling when he put his hand on
her flat belly, where theirtwigi r | s wer e growing but hadndét g
yet. Sorry for not waking you, but we decided you needed the sleep.
| guess | didhe agreed, running his hand over his falceeed some food and some
coffee, then it ds therlegiorhnecetinggo?ng day . How di d
Short,she answeredRi ght now wedre waiting on Jenny :
engineering department to get back to us about an idea.
Which one?
The meson cannoshe answered. The meson cannon was actually a proved device, a
weapa that destabilized the crystalline structure of certain metals and made them brittle,
kind of like the liquefaction device Jason had invented long ago. But the difference
between them was that the meson weggmanentlydamaged the metal, where his
dev ce did not. The I mperium didnét use them



alloy used as armor was immune to the meson effect, they used them primarily in
demolition of buildings to pulverize the crystallized titanium girders and supports most
often used as the superstructure. One of the ideas was to launch an automated meson
cannon and have it attack one of the Consortium bases or shipyards, because the shocked
tungsten/titanium alloy they used for the superstructure of their ships anduasses
vulnerable to the meson effect. The hope was that the meson weapon could damage or
destroy sections of their bases or sabotage their shipbuilding efforts by destroying their
docks.
What they needed from engineering was to see if the meson weaponieoullile
cloaked by a CMS, a Cloaking Matrix System.
vul nerable to both the CMS and the Urumi os i
system that utilized projected stealth shields rather than the arni@ sifip, and they
intended to abuse the absolute fuck out of that fact. If they could work up a weapon
platform equipped with a few meson cannons that could fire without disrupting the CMS,
they could do some real damalgpdtakenoveytheeenads e
CMS project to work with it and try to improve it, so it would be up to the engineers to
try to make it work.
Howés the production on the other toys goi
Full bore,she answeredT hey al ready have nearadg, a mil |
and our warehouse has about six thousand harmonic conduit breakers stockpiled. All we
have to do is mount them on hyperspace platf
Wel |, wedll see aboutheyawset. Ha $ataethelkime at t ac k
table, Jyslin sat on the edge of it, and Ayama put a plate holding a hamburger and some
french fries down for hi m. Ineefl{d beathelbslishd he nod
out of the way quick so | can get over to the command center.
What bulkhit?
The usualhe shruggedT el | i ng Dahnai and Sko6éVrae whato
from the High Staff, sorting through all the whining. The usual.
Jyslin chuckled.Poor baby.

Watch it, woman, or |1 o611 ma kaeifield allthosay per s o
calls.

Oooh, a chance for you to do me on your th

You are ridiculoushe laughed, patting her leg fondly.

| 6m wifeeuryou silly boy. shie grinred dtlinw Sldle t o be r
looked at her watch and wince#f u ¢ k she2 ;tomplaned®kann! | have to go up

to Kosigi to see Aunt Myleena. You wanna come?

| do I do | do | doHe sent back in a frenzy of excitement.

Then go get your armor on, batshe told him.

Aww, can | go, Mommy Jyslii?anelle aked.

| wanna go tooKyri demanded.

AAnd thatdéds why you donét open send such t
the rare occurrences when he spoke aloud to her.

She | aughed. ALi ve an dAlrightearight anyoheegsuess, 0 s
want to go?

Duchess, | 6 m g iRyniprotgsted.hem a | esson!



Yeah, and | i ke you woul dysliac¢hallengekd,gowhich t ake a
guilty silence was repliedt 61 | gi ve you guys fifteen minute
waitingbyt he dropshi p, youdll be |l eft behind!

There was a sudden explosion of sound, sending, and activity from the living room,
as the kids being given a sending lesson erupted like a volcano, rushing to where their
armor was kept. For Rann and Danelle, thiswmabt t hat big of a deal,
who lived elsewhere, it meant a frenzied run home and an attempt to get armored up as
fast as possible. It was also the new reality of their situatiwbodyleft the strip
wi thout weari ng istarimgaltimatura. sSNotgwwem Jaslry, avénsf heb |
was just going to the White House. This was now war, and in war, anyone in potential
danger did not leave the house without their armor on. Jason now spent so much time in
his armor, he was starting to fdike a turtle.

At least it was shiny, brand spanking new armor, just delivered four days ago. It was
|l i ke Saell eds ar mor, It was the new Mark ||
battle with the Consortium. It had thicker stomach armorytifrgerable spot which had
produced the most injuries during the battle, both pulse and MPAC weaponry in the
forearm pods, and had already been upgraded to take advantage of the new abilities of the
interface. The forearm keyboard and I/O device was mgelorequired, though Myleena
decided to keep it in the design as an emergency backup. Unlike civilian equipment that
could be remotely accessed by techs to diagnose problems or repaired by a roving tech, a
soldier out in the field may not have that luxusg they needed a reliable redundant
backup to access the computer in their Crusader. Jason and the Generations wore a
special version of the Mark I, with a buitt tactical gestalt. Wearing that armor, he
could pick up a hovercar with his telekire#ibility. That armor was being built as fast as
possible and distributed out to every Generation, even to the kids. Kyri was the first of
the kids to get Mark Il armor, but then again, she was the only one of the kids who could
fully utilize it, since $ie was the only one with expressed telekinetic power. And in
typical Kyri fashion, she rubbed their noses in the factdhahad brand new armor, and
they didnot .

Fifteen minutes? HarsiMaya chuckled mentally.

Call it motivation, they need to be alib fully armor up in four minutes anywaye
replied shamelessly.

Speaking of motivation, | need to get moving myda#ion sighed, taking another
bite. See you at the triple D?

Probably. We 61 | have to find ctomer nwekr s e
married,she winked at him

He chuckledl woul dndét say no, thatdés for sure.
Wedl |l wor k shewrkddhi ng out,

Aya woul dnoét | et him out without escorts,
to send all four of his usual escortslwit hi m when he wasndét | eaving

Dera and Shen that Aya sent with him after he wolfed down his meal, armored up, and
jumped in his dropship to head to the White House.

He was spending way too much time there now, and there was no egiatiniow
that they were officially at war, it having been declared by Dukal decree four days ago,
his office at the White House compound was now where everything got done. He would
have preferred to work out of home as he used to, but he had to batdiese now,



close to where the action was, and that was here, at the central hub of all house activity.
It was yet another indication of just how things had changed.
The first major order of business was going to be the daily reports to Dahnai and
S k 6a¥. rThis was done via conference, usually with all three of them conferenced
together, and the timing of this conference changed from day to day due to the shifting
windows of activity on all three planets. Draconis and Karis were only separated by an
hour, but Uruma Prime only had a ten hour day, so the windows of opportunity that both
Dahnai and SkoO6Vrae were available at the san
appointment with them in an hour, so he had time to read through some progress reports
in his office, which was a surprisingly spartan affair in the main building. Up until four

days ago, he hadndét even really had a secret
now had two assistants, and neither were Faey. The senior assistant wak, aKizzi
noble named ChoThrk but all owed Jason to cal

mind kept all his paperwork and appointments in order. It only took her two days to get
everything organized to her satisfaction, and now Jason knew exactly whatingeg.

Hi s other assistant was a Makat.i named Br all
everything Jason had to deal with straight,
were carried out to his satisfaction. He jokingly called theiBdr ard OutBox, and

they were an exceptionally effective pair. They were waiting for him when he arrived at

the office, and Chirk almost performed the formal greeting, which Jason had told her not

to do. AAlright, guys, hit me, 0 he call ed a
AYou have a conference with the Empress an
Duke, 0 Chirkdés mechanical translated monot on
shoul der . AThe daily reports are prepared a

them isthe new estimations on ship production and a new completion date for the new
doors of Kosigi. | have your schedule ready. You have meetings at the command center
and with Admiral Dillen, as well as projected time at the Three D once all business is
cond uded. 0

AThanks, Chirk. What 6s the |l ine on the Sh
ATheyore getting it ironed out, your Grace
absentl y. A had to go down there and kick

I
linei n operation within the takir.o

AGood, good. And the Gl adiator software u
AOn schedul e. Webdbve had a few requests fr
checking things out for you. o

hey want another plant up?o
ore than oneflyiWight hdte wednlolr sbe buil di ni
ahead of any construction. The main core pl
this is for the emergency backup system. If we industrialize the unterraformed

continents, as rumor has it, thegnt plants up and running before the first foundation is

l ai d. o

AYeah, thatés a good idea, 0 he nodded. AT
up . What 6s the schedule for Virga | ooking |
AOn schedule, 0 Chirk amedvered tmTlohaghi het
builders are to arrive in the morning, and all materials they asked for us to provide are
staged and ready. They can begin tunnel exc

ot D



AThe advance buil d t eams ladland¢ha datatoweasv e t he
set up, o0 Brall finished. AWhen the Kizzik |
started and everything they asked for alread

AOut standing, 06 Jason t ol d stgéstlnio amcesshie sat a
primary work panel, which wouldnlyal | ow Jason to use it. AAl T
these reports. o

He worked through them, status reports on the various projects not important enough
for him to personally oversee, untiMtas time to talk to the others. He never left his
office to do so, the security protocols locking the place down and requiring him onto to
turn around to look at the garojection monitor, a two dimensional hologram of sorts,
that took up the entire bagka | | . SkdoVraebs scaly face appe
|l ovely face seconds | ater. AfLadies, 0 he gr

AYour Grace, 0 SkodéVrae nodded.

AHey Jayce, 0 Dahnai smil ed. ADenmot her Za

AHer staff said sheodoadba&nda dtant ewiltah @yt ame

AAhQ. So, howds the timetable?o0

AUnchanged, 0 he answered. AMy task force
the rendezvous point. We 61 | know how effect
comi ng?o

SkéVrae Aidodhdaecke. my schedule cleared to arri
answered.

Al should be there in three, o6 Dahnai answe
from the High Staff?o0

iAbout every other hour, but @Ppyehebetsb he ans
more and more furious about the entry station. Keeps bitching that Alliance merchants
arendt delivering on ti me. Hebés al most accu

SkdoVrae snickered in a hissi ngheywere ine . AHe
fact , doing just that. They werendt being o
Alliance merchant vessels were to be given higher scrutiny compared to other ships,
which caused more delays for them. The commanders of the €EESaware that the
Alliance was considered hostile by their leaders, so they inspected every speck of dust
that blew out of an Alliance merchant transport when it opened its cargo doors. The
Alliance would backstab them at the first available opportusdyhey were being
exceptionally cautious when it came to handling Alliance goods, making absolutely sure
they contained no hidden surprises, scanning Alliance ships before allowing them to dock
more thoroughly than other ships, and Alliance citizensingsiTerra were passively
screened by Faey telepaths before allowing them to continue on to Terra.

ASo, we waive any | ate charges enforced ag
due to the entry station and | et him stew?o0
Alt dowrndcsal to me, 0 Skoé6Vrae agreed.

ASounds good. Howbés the armor coming, Sk

AWe should have mass produced sections ava

AThe Goraga shipyards?o

AOn schedul e, 0 Dahnai ahédmegedti ndg Blwmack r omi
shipbuil din units, it |l ooks |Iike weol/ be s
Kosi gwaybet t és. 0

c
e

g
®



AWe have plenty of room,0 he said simply.

before weodl |l Mav s omee dasofyotuhemficially reque
detail s. o

AWell, the Collective is officially reques
build our fast attack ships at our own yards and the Goraga yard, but the Kosigi yard is
farsuperio f or buil ding | arger ships. 0

ANot a problem, your Majesty, o0 he said sim
a sector of the yard for your use. Just send us a schedule for moving your equipment
over . o

ADone. | 61 1 send adworkersdeditatedta lauldingthee nt y t ho
Coll ectiveds docks within Kosigi. |l 611 have
AWedbll welcome them, 0 he agreed. Al él 1l fo

handl e the project.o

Al 61 1 send f urt heddedinugderstanding.s t o hi m, 06 she
Al havendt received a full report on that
Dahnai said. ASo, Jayce |l ove, could you st a
fairly sure thatods what &dgtomaeomitaésisoosasggest ,

get al l the recommendations. 0

ANot a problem, d she assured her.

The screen split again, and Zaabs face app
greeted her. Al was starting to wonder. o
AA minor issuei ar,qgquighad anyswmdrtechtasserti vel
AWe | isten to you, Denmother, o Sko6Vrae pro
AMy children have completed the investigat
hostile outsiders, o she decl atogod withinthielr he f ul |
hour, SkdéVr ae. The short of it is that we h

hostile agents in sensitive positions, an additional four hundred anebeityactive
sleeper agents, and sixteen hundred and nine hostile agdmgassive intelligence
gatherers in nosensitive positions. | would suggest the elimination of those in
dangerous positions and seventy percent of those Hthmeatening positions. The

remainder we shall tag and observe to use to feed to ourenentiesfe i nf or mat i on.
Alt will be done as you wish, Denmother, o
that i n matters of intelligence, all shoul d

AThat was fast, o0 Jason mused.

Al sent additional kchlgiulidrkeérly, oo shempalinstwe r te
projected course of action to deal with the problem in your hands in three hours, Brood
Queen. o

Al wi || have it carried out exactly to you

AJason, the wor ker s t h anmdorvshigs Wwill dsrieegat N wor k o
Kosi gi in two hours, o0 she told him.

Al read Dellindés report, o he assured her.

There really wasndét much more to talk abou
the conference,andslaon6s real wor k began. Hi s first s
on their tasks was what was now called either 3D or Triple D depending on who said it,
the Dirty Deeds Department, a rdshilt warehouse by the engineering facility that was
beside the Bmmer Dome. It was here that the Legion did its work brainstorming ideas



to attack the Consortium and testing those ideas, and it was probably one of the most
secure facilities on Karis. Two Gladiator exomechs and ten KMS Marines stood guard at
the onlyentrance to the warehouse, which was protected by its own force shield, and not
even Jason was immune to the entry protocols, which were biometric. He had to prove
by DNA scan that he was who he said he was, and it was a very short list of people who
were al |l owed past that checkpoint. The origi
engineering department, and about twenty military personnel were allowed in, not
counting the five members of the Imperial Guard that were assigned to Jason. Aya was
serious wha she said he go@®whereoutside the strip without guards.

Once inside, he got to work. First, he got a status report from Jenny, one that
woul dndot | e av ealstdius redoman wltkre thegy,weré thséng several
ideas. After that, he, day, and a brilliant Faey engineer named Gerann Karinne had a
long discussion about broadcast power. Gerann was a spectral energy engineer by
training and specialty, one of Myl eenads ol d
who dealt with broadcasiergy systems from gravband to Teryon hyperspace
communications to oldtyle radiation and EM systems. If it dealt with broadcast through
air or space or generated energy frequencies, Gerann was the man to talk to, from
designing a new Teryon transceiverfixing a microwave oven. Gerann was the lead
engineer in charge of the broadcast power system the Consortium used, and it would be
his job to build a Karinne broadcast power network that would both supply remote power
and also be unjammable. Geranrswath trying to find a way to jam Consortium
broadcast power while simultaneously trying to design a system which could not be
jammed in return. But he was up to it. Gerann was gifted when it came to dealing with
frequencybased systems. Because of wlability of broadcast power, Gerann currently
had the highest rung on the | adder of priori
Consortium, and his work was so important and sensitive that he and his staff had been
moved to 3D to work on the project.

Gerann was a curious young man. He was only forty, which was still young by Faey
standards, and had shocking pink hair that he kept in a military buzz cut, a hue almost
identical to Captain Jeya Denalle. He was used to seeing pink hair, since it was
somehing of a common Faey hair color, but it looked decidedly odd on a man with
Gerannb6és rugged, al mo s tvenpvellbwinsincefhelftedu r e s . Ge
weights, which was a very emale thing to do in Faey society, but his wife certainly
d i dmir@t Gerann was married to one of his ship captains, Captain Rola Karinne of the
cruiserOravalo. Rola had taken over after the captain was killed in the battle, so she
hadnoét named the ship she currentl yercommande
on one of the new tactical cruisers that were already being built, slightly larger than a
regular cruiser, smaller than a heavy cruiser, but with much bigger engines and packing
much more firepower, and she intended to name thalotme \Waynén honorof her
favorite Western actor.

AAl right, 6 Jason said after Gerann got him
have a prototype transmitter ready?o0

Al 6m buil ding it now, 0 he answered. Al toés
start somewheretl6s been a Il ittle tricky trying to g
ltds not going to run on microwaves. o0

Al ncompati bl e?0 he asked, to which Gerann



~

Al candt get multispectral phased pl asma i
why the Consortium uses the type of plasma power they do. Instead of building two
different systems, they just stuck with what they could broadcast and tried to make it the
best they coul d. o
ABut you think you can broadcast metaphase
He noddedcangabrnoadciast Karinne metaphased, ¢
already did the math. oufthcanolpgy, odt thetrgjgné | 6 m b ui
webre more advanced in power generation and
piggyback plasma on a otbwave signal, butdanpiggyback it into a Teryon carrier.
Teryons are already multidimensonal, so they can support piggybacking modulated
energy that exists in multiple quantum state
yesi owi slleyn2a . ASe
y, 0 he -samaslwee rteadst molcheel slmaddi |t wc
p to prototype stage. Il just need
e days. o0
mn, 0 Jenny breat hieldl i1 thWhatekXdnd of ran
e math says we have to |limit the energy
Teryon frequencies, 0 he answered. ALong r an
distortion into the metaphased plasma to allow it to be demodulated andSaséd.
adapt it to medium range Teryon blocks, a power transmitter on Kosigi could power all of

St
no
o »

Kari s. Odds are | wonot do that, -rahgeough. I
broadcast nodes scattered odegendingdoee pl anet an
power source. This is war, and i f we | ose t

shit. The system | have in mind will use strategically placed nodes that are spaced within

the maximum range of at least two other nodes, so ifjore down, the other two nodes

can increase their power to cover the down t
AThat 6s actually a good idea, 0 Jas-on agree

range power plants as a redundant backup and justeondh minimum power, keep

them warmed up so to speak, stations that can cover the entire planet, and have them

ready to go just in case. Given weol | be re

Consortium already does, it has to be absolutely unintelrdpg . 0

AYou see to the point of it, your Grace, 0

AWhen will you have the prototype ready?0o0

Al should have it ready for testing in fiwv

Shi mmer Dome to build me some custom biogeni

ABi ogeni c?0

Al told you wedre using our technology, 0 h

use biogenic systems, your Grace, you know t
se moleculartronics i f you ada

ACoul d you u

He shook hi s he adastasmoiRcutanyaniosi batsnoleculetoict as f
systems candét handle Teryon communication sy
bandwi dth, because theyo6re multidi mensional
handle that bandwidth, it would be a hurddlret i mes bi gger than a norm
ABut the Faey already use multidi mensional
protested.



AYes, and | ook how big they are, 0 Gerann a
hyperspace jump engines on any other ship irsteec t o r . massiVehompaded te
the ship itself, taking up over half the volume of the ship. Our ships have much more
efficient engines that are only ten percent
more efficient designs that use computemsercompatible with multidimensional

applications, just |ike the Consortium does.
ti me, where the others all have relativity d
used in metaphased plasma with multidimensial st at es. Theydére two
AThat 6s one thing | have to give the Conso
capturedigslamnadvanced. I f it can impress a Mori doc

After that conference, Jason went up to Kosigi t@etwvath the arriving Kimdori
workers. They arrived in five huge transports, tens of thousands of trained Kimdori
industrial workers who already had their assigned tasks. Three quarters of them would be
building docks for the construction of ships, wtite rest of them would be under
Karinne command, and would be put to work to complete the second set of doors. That
was the most important thing to finish at the moment, so they could repair and build their
own large ships. The inner doors and systethraie redundant airskin shields had
already been installed, and they were only about ten days from finishing the tunnel,
currently burrowing through the rocky outer
the armored interior shell, armor that wouldegeven the Consortium nightmares about
trying to breach. After that, they would build doors over the entrance and cover them
with rock so they | ooked natural, and theyod
After that was done, he returned home for a quick meal and to speredtime with
the kids, then went to the White House and basically aggravated the hell out of Myri and
the command staff by being in the command center to observe as they made final
preparations for the task force to depart. Four members of the Legiergeiag with
the task force as consultants for the deployment of their weapons; Bo, Luke, Leamon, and
Tom, the four most technically trained and capable outside of the core Legion engineers
who were needed at 3D. Jason looked at the holographic manrgéenghat dominated
the far wall of the command center, divided up into six different camera views as well as
a tactical map of the entire Karis star system that showed deployed resources, and one of
the views showed the task force massing up in preparatt was a grand sight, the
triangular aftwinged destroyers and cruisers surrounding the longer, more sleek yet still
triangularbased heavy cruisefdaraxandTemerorand the battleshigictory that made
up the Karinne fleet. Jason was sitting abasole not far from the raised, circular main
command platform where Myri, Sioa, Juma, Navii, and the core command
communicators sat, trying to stay out of their hair and looking over the operational status
reports of the many automated weapons that Veaeed on their ships. The Kimdori
ships were already en route, and from the |I|o
Jason and the command staff basically watched for two hours as the last of the
containers were loaded and the ships compléteid preparations, and he felt his
stomach start to churn when the task force formed up and prepared to jump out. Admiral
Leta Karinne, one of the women who had worked her way into the house to earn the title
of Zarina and the captain of tMictory, wason the big screen, giving a status report.
Leta would also be the commander of the task force and the woman in charge of the
attack, so he and she had had quite a few long talks since the task force was formed and



the orders were scemts cdhoevmhul e ioNesdhree srdngrhar i z e
weapons are being secured as we speak, and all ships in the task force are reporting ready
to jump. o

AThen you have the conn, Captain, o Myri to
hands. 0O
Al 61 1 try snoytout,o yeorubrarGraasce, 06 she winked, |
AYoubd better not, or 16l send you to you
he answered.
ALi ke | doné6ét do that already, 0 she snorte

handl e hyperspace. 0

AY@&@wue too high rank to clean up their puke
She | aughed. AWell , theyoll have plenty o
Al'l of four minutes. o0

ATheyol I cope. | f they dondét, kick them i
Al 611 make sure to dellittbBbemhegowi né&led. me
ABe my guest. O He gave her a serious | ook
l uck. o

AWe dondédt need luck, o she said with a |igh
ANot ed. Jump at designated mark, 0 Myr.i re

Thecommand center watched in nervous anticipation as the task force turned in
unison, then the countdown timer in the upper left ticked away the seconds. When it hit
zero, the task force jumped out, vanishing as if by magic, riding a synchronous waveform
tha allowed Karinne ships to jump out through the distortion created by the interdictors.

AAnd there they go, 0 he sighed, standing u
Juma. 0

Youdd bet t eshesmiedal imGG home and get some rest.

| think 1 will. Keep me posted.

Il 61 | send vy oMyrigioongedl v reports,

Jason got home well after Ranndés bedti me,
greeted when he came in the back door by Ayama and Hara, the night watch commander
who had just comen duty, taking over for Kaera, the evening watch commander.

Ayama handed him a cup of coffee as he came into the kitchen, and he took it with a nod
of thanks. Where is everyone?

Rann is in bedtara relayed as Dera and Suri went back out, headimgito t
barracks for some rest.ady Jyslin is at the Shimmer Dome. Kyri and Danelle are
upstairs with Rann, theyore sl eeping over.
to call. Oh, and Symone tore up the lawn when she brought a Gladiator in fadsh
look at up close.

Great,Jason laughed audibly-ow bad?

| was quite put outAyama declaredl 61 | have to hire a service
Be sure to send Tim the bitle told her with a slight smile.
Oh, I 61 1 b eshesasweeed huffily. d o t hat ,

He went up to his room and took off his armor, then went down to check on Rann,
Danelle, and Kyri. They were asleep when he opened the door, all in his bed, Kyri
sleeping with her head at the foot of the bed for some odd reason, artitbeshale a
little bit. He never had gotten over the idea that those two precious little onekisvere



children Rann, such a smart little boy, already showing a maturity and temperament that
would make him a fine Grand Duke. Kyri, good God, so muatepan such a little

body. She | acked the maturity to know how t
done anything outrageous yet. And t hough sh
much as Myleena did, for she was a very curiousand irgetlig | i t t 1l e girl , an:i

make her mother proud someday. He stepped in quietly and tucked Rann and Danelle in
a little more, and his movements caused Kyri to $addy,] she communed.

[ 1 6m sorry | haansweredygently, leapirig pvenand kissing her
on the cheek[Why are you sleeping this way?]

[Why not?]

He chuckled quietly[Alright, you got me there he smiled atherf Wher eds your
mother?]

[Home. Danny and Ranny asked me to come.]

[Well, that was nice of themkle toldher.[ And t here wasnodét any ul't
behind it, hmm?Kyri flushed slightly, which made him smilgl thought so. What are
they trying?]

[They want to learn how | do telekesis.]

[Telekinesis, dove. Any headwayf® asked curiously.

[lthinkDanny 6 s ab cshetansweoed.gReatn niyt,, Jdunno . |l donodt
figured it out yet.]

[ Hmm, maybe 10611 g i heaenusgdiTheyshouldabe ldarntngitmo r r o w,
from me or Ayuma anyway. Youdbre not a good

[l am too!]

[You enpy teasing them too much when they fail to be a good teatiger,]
challenged, which made her flush again and him chudgklégve 6 | | t al k about it
morning, dove.]

[ 6Kay. Ni ght, daddy. Il | ove you. ]

[l love you too, my Kyri,he answered, kissing hen the forehead[Sleep well.]
He padded back to his room, but not without touching base. Despite the fact that it
was all the way on the other side of Karsa, the powerful bond between Jason and Jyslin
let him reach herLove,he called.
What is it,Jason?she asked.
When are you coming home?
In about a half an hour or sshe answered, her weariness bleeding in through her
sending, and making it a touch hard to decipher given they were sending across about
twentymiles.| f youdre hasfl aamegxhaudklkedbe asl eep w
Well , donoét heswarnedi ndgoatr sewdaht our daughters
lines.
She laughed mentallyBlame the Consortium for that.
|l surely will. Now wrap it up and get hom
An order? And just who are you to order me around, Eh?asked playfully.
l 6m your husband, the father of your son,
says | outrank you, little missy. Now get home.
Oh no, you did not just use the ring argent!
Bet your ass | did. Now come home before | strip you of your title, have Red Horn
build a dungeon, and toss you into it!



Keep digging that grave, bustehe taunted inrepil 61 | deal with you wl
home. Someone has to remind you dfwi runs things around here.
't sure as helelventuredn 6t ei t her of us,

She laughed in hismindl' r u e . Il 61l wrap this up and con
such a little bitch about it.
Yah yah yah, it worked, didndét it? Now co

She maaged to get home before he was fully settled in. She was in her armor, and
she sat on the edge of the bed as he read through some reports on a hawdghmelw
that | have the armor advantage, | should educate you,3b@yteased as she kissed him.

That ar mor wonoét s hewatorteddblaw takeritmffn me, wench,

Yes, mastershe answered with a teasing smile. She made a little show out of it,
enjoying him watching her, so she made sure to act like it was a striptease. Once she was
fully nude, tall and sleek and sexy and unbelievably attractive, she picked up a towel,
blew him a kiss, and trotted into the bathroom. She sent the entire time she showered,
telling him about the dayds activitaes over
way to adapt Jasonds hypersonic bug killer t
inventions, to attack the insectoid ship crews of the Consortimmga went over the
models, and she said it has a fairly good chance of sustessnsweredtwo n 6t ki | |
them, but the frequencies are designed to vibrate their exoskeletons, which would
probably feel like a thousand ants crawling all over them. But if we use it at the right
time, it might distract or hamper an enemy ship long enough for us ttoyles capture
it. Songa is still wheedling me to get her a live specimen to examine, you know.

Same hereJasonagreedBut wed6d have a better chance at
or Gerann figure out a way t o eftreeordettbei r br oa
kill themselves, we might be able to get to them before they take the initiative and do it
themselvesHe read an update on command staff movements, and saw that Commander
Abrams had been promoted to danofthei ser ét hat w
destroyemMerro for only a few months, but he was in line for the next cruiser that came
out of Kosigi. A few other names were here, he saw. Navii was moving ship captains up
and promoting officers to the destroyers, because they had adgwstirgh of new ships
in production. Jeya would be leaving theeadfasto command a cruiser, and Hiae
would be the first captain of one of the new
though, for the captain of thgefiantwas often first in lindor the next big ship that
came availabl e. Sheébd be a good choice for
cruiser but smaller than a battleship, and armed to the fucking teethimatbarticle
beam projectors on top of sporting an armada of pussgoons and plasma torpedo
launchers, an Imperium weapon that had the firepower to be included on Karinne ships.

The ships traded that firepower for empty space, so these new ships would have no

fighter bays. Other ships in the task force would be suppfighters, and there was a

design for a carrier class ship already in the works, a ship designed purely to carry

fighters. Pulse weaponry made even a single fighter a dangerous enemy to a warship,

because they were fast enough to close vast distgnegdy, nimble enough to evade

fire, and pulse weaponry would go right through Consortium shields and armor. The
fighters had proved themselves in the battle
employ them for telepathic attack against the Consortiutine usual Faey tactic, fighters



were still an important element of KMS strategy. A swarm of fighters could destroy an
enemy ship, and that made them worth it right there.
He checked the Kosigi reports once he started thinking about fighters, aad ther

was . Cybiés little pet project, and it was
building the fighter the Karinnes designed, the Wolf fighter, in an automated bay up in
the moon. He 6d | o ducle ditcauld da vha¢thessimategions or it , a

said it could do, look out universe. It was nearly 20% larger than a Raptor, and most of
that extra space was taken up by the engines, which made it as fast as sin and as agile as a
dancer. It was armed with pulse weapons that wehrstionger than the weapons on a
Raptor, nearly double the output power, and could carry external missiles on its wings for
long-range combat. The pulse weapons in a Wolf could do more than blow holes in the
hull. It could penetrate past the outer st penetrate deep into an enemy ship, and
that would let it do some real damage when the Teryon pulse exploded into normal space
if the pulse bundle was a good 90 feet past the outer hull. That would get the pulse blast
i nto the t ar gstetnsandsuperétrsicturent er nal s
He just had to ask[Cyhbi, is this on schedulefe asked, pointing at the Wolf report.
She would no doubt access the minicam in his gestalt and look at where he was pointing.
[Ahead of schedule, actuallyshe answered[| was going to surprise you.]

He chuckled. Wel | , now that |1 6ve ruined it for vy«
[ ltds ready now. I n fact, go | ook out you
see it land on your pad. ightnbwij sending it dow

[Outstanding! So, | get to play with it tomorrow?]
[l felt you could use a distraction, so you do not sit at a panel and worry all day
tomorrow. Or even worse, go back to the White House and torment Myri and the
generals.]
He laughed.[They bitched to you, eh?]
[Considerably.]
[Well, thanks, Cybi. | appreciate your thoughtfulness.]
[l always think of you, Jasonghe answered mildly{You are both my Grand Duke
and my friend.]
[ Well, a guy cané6ét go wrohachuckledf hoybut wkech
your experiment out for a test tomorrow. We can make a day of it, see if it performs up to
the simulations.]
[l d&dm confident 1t will.]
[I'f it pans out, weoll need to get the fig
[ 1 6 ve arkedeutadsoduetion schedule, and the new factories built for
fighter production will be online and tooled to produce Wolf fighters in two weeks.]
[ ltds going to take s onlasortgruatednadokingatdé or t he
holo of the cockpitwhich was best described as a coffin. A Wolf pilot would not sit in
the ship, he would be laying prone in a heavily armored box literally in the middle of the
ship. The pilot would rely completely on cameras for vision, including remote cameras
that wauld orbit the fighter and be controllable by the pilot to check things out while the
fighter stayed at a safe distance. For a Generation, it would be very easy to adapt to a
Wolf. But for a standard fighter pilot, it was going to take some training,tba@tapt to
a cockpit with absolutely no manual controls whatsoever and to adjust to using cameras
as their eyes instead of looking for themselves. Even though a Raptor was interface



controlled, it did have a few manual controls, either backups orri@riesystems not
important enough to convert to interface control. The Wolf was like a Gladiator in that it
was completely hanesff, done purely by interface with only video screens to serve as a
means of receiving input. For that matter, it was ailsolar to a Gladiator in that the
pilot was put in an armored box buried in the middle of the mecha.
It arrived just as Jyslin got out of the shower. She joined him at the window to watch
in curiosity as the large fighter slowly descended, and Jasompasssed. It was sleek,
larger than a Raptor, and had two sets of triangular wings amidships and at the stern, the
stern wings much smaller, almost like stabilizers rather than wings. It had angled offset
vertical stabilizers both above and below, dadon saw as it turned to land on the pad in
the proper orientation that the forward main wings were angled down by about 20
degrees in relation to the keel line, where the rear stabilizer wings were level with the
keel. It had a cockpit just forward ohere the nose attached to the flared fuselage, put
there purely as a means for the fighter to carry an additional passenger which would be
empty most of the time, and he could see the remote cameras, circular discs attached to
poi nts on t hge. TharegMere ESrofdhem, but anly 6 of them were
intended to be in use at a time, one in each axis direction from the ship. Those circular
pods were more than just cameras, however. Each one carried external sensor equipment
in addition to a camerayhich would give a Wolf a much broader sensor sweep radius
and the ability to remotely sweep an area by sending a camera pod to investigate. The
camera pods would have a high mortality rate in combat, so the fighter needed to carry
quite a few spares. E€Highter itself was a glossy black, which meant it was unpainted
compressed Neutronium, the metal s natural c
What is thatJyslin asked as it landed.
My new toy,Jason senteagerly.t 6 s t he prototype fighter.
to give it a shakedown tomorrow.
Ah. Well, it should keep you from pulling your hair out worrying, at any siie,
noted, then she giggled and kissed him when he snorted at her.
You have your own work to do, womhge,warned, reaching down and goosing her.
She laughedl 6 m t osbhe protesteel&hd so are you, mister! | cantell! So
sleep first, sex in the morning.
Such a morning girlhe noted, which made hergiggB.ut youdd better get
have a new gir/l n o w, cle kerping meofrond Het in theumsrhingb e t h e
She gasped, then laughed loudly when she saw his expre€stonp. now youdr e i n
trouble, bustershe sent with insincere indignation, grabbing his hand and dragging him
away from the windowNow get over here andast convincing me that | should bother
keeping you.
Fine with me, thereds nine ot Iherepliegi rl s out
flippantly.
| ownyou, bustershe grinned at himThey can rent you, but they panefor the
privilege.
| want half the profits, then.
She snorted, which made him laugbhut up and go to beshe orderedl 6 m s o tir ed
| can barely stand.
Poor baby he teased, letting her pull him down into beétbu know, what | have in
mi nd doesndt r begsat)lattiiag dgsweuinge lus thodglat.n d



She gave him a hard look, which made him explode in laughtehe morningshe
sent commandingly.

Jyslin did pretty much well rape him in th
he was halfway seriouswhéne t ol d her shedd be keeping hin
soon as he wolfed down breakfast, he armored up and went out onto the flight pad, where
the sleek black war machine awaited him.

Just getting into it was different than any other mecha. The pileted from the
belly, floating up into what all but looked like a maintenance hatch, then he settled into a
command pod that | ooked al most exactly 1ike
viewscreens that descended from the top to surround tite gll input would be done
with an interface or gestalt, but all output came onto the screens or were relayed by a
mechanical female voice not too far from Cyb
armor in, completely immobilizing to the geacked lockng plate, then the entire pod
rotated so he was laying on his back in relation to the ground, feet pointing towards the
nose of the craft, which was done to minimiz
directions where fire would most likely come, thenband the stern. He reached out
with his gestalt and made a connection with
connection, the fighter started up, the screens blinking on with various camera angles, a
headbés wup displ ay, a thededgesaottheitheea frefatding f or mat i on
screens.

AAl right, Cybi, |l etds do a complete diagno
voice recognition system as he commanded the fighter to completely power up and begin
top-tier diagnostics, the diagnossithe fighter would run for a maintenance worker, not a

pilot.
A Under shergoice retdrned vocallyi Mi n d my friend, that th
center is monitoring, shetodlem.funny business,
Al 61 1 crash this thing just to spite her. o
A Y o u no# il did not put all the effort into building that mecha for you to wreck it

just to amuse yoursel fl!o

AYoubre so mean to me, 0 he teased as the d
left screen.

After a few minutes, the diagnostiagre complete, and Jason allowed Cybi to
download all applicable information he needed to pilot the Wolf into his gestalt. With

that i nformation attached to the back of his
effectively enough to give it a test run, lhilke any skill or ability, only practice would

move that information from the gestalt into
pilot in the Wolf wuntil he had time to maste

thrown into it for the first tne. That was because even though he had the information in
his gestalt and at his fingertips, there was still a delay between getting it from the gestalt
to his brain. And in modern fighter combat, a delay of even a few milliseconds could
kill. He feltthe engines power up, and could feel their power in his skin, in his very
bones, a slight shivering of the craft that told him that Cybi had really packed some heat
in the engine casing.
[ Alright, Cybi, | etds sleealeghiacomnuiions baby o
translated into gravband the command center could pick up.



The instant he picked the skids up off the plascrete, he was in complete afaVéotal
The Wolf was sleek, agile, incredibly powerful, yet it handled with the subtlety of his
Nova, responding to the slightest nuance of his communion, respondingieshis not
hiscommand The pilot pod was protected fromf@ces by an inertial dampening field,
so Jason could perform moves that would kill another pilot in the Wolf. Ddsgitg
built for space combat, Cybi had made it so aerodynamic that it cut the laminar air like a
knife, giving it incredible speed and agility in the atmosphere, and when he dove it into
the Karsa Sea, those same forces let it slip through the watersliikaala The oversized
engines gave the mecha incredible power, the ability to accelerate and decelerate in a
split second.
After putting it through its paces in the atmosphere, he ascended up into space, and
once he switched to vectbased navigationhte s hi pés agil ity increas
thing was unbelievably fast, and could turn so hard it was almost like it simply
disappeared going in one direction and appeared going in the new ondudhély o
Consortium ship could ever hope to outrun thisgh He launched the remote camera
pods, which Cybi called spinners because their outer cases rotated during operation like a
frisbee, and suddenly he had a much wider point of view. This was where he was
different from the other pilots, because hew&eaner at i on. The Wol fbés ¢
literally built a three dimensional map of everything around him then fed it directly into
his gestalt, which then fed it directly into his brain. He kmswwhere everything was
around him nearly 6Rathrain every diretion. For a standard pilot, that map would
display on one of the viewscreens.
[ Webre getting back 9vgricaledowetgradband.at a her e,

[ Therebs no stress or anything at all showi n
witht he hi gh stress maneuvers youb6re doing]

[ Yeah, itdéds hard to tell |l 6m evehe turning
answered| Let 6s try a dry run. Have Kosi gi l aun

[Sure thing, hold on,fhe answered. Secorldger, a destroyer came out of the doors
of Kosigi, one of the heteady standby ships that would respond to an emergency, and he

saw it was thé&teadfast Jeyabs shipéthough not for much
[I heard there was this talkative braggart out here thaeds his butt whipped,]
Jeyads voice called teasingly over shortrang

[Prepare to eat crow, woman! Uhh, remember, thign exercise. If you scratch this
thing, Cybi will beat you senseless.]

[l certainlywill] Cy bi 6s voice cutlaugpn, whi ch made Jas
[ Oh, alright, I 611 putshéedighedinenacbh ons on wargg
disappointment] But it dés terribly unfair when I édm no
test shots do damage, 10611 be spanked!]

Test shots from pulse weapons still packditle punch, so Jason raised the Teryon
shields, which were the only shields known that could repel pulse weaponry. He made
sure to triplecheck that his own pulse weapons were on wargame mode, firing at
minimum power, then he turned and dove atSiadfastike a hunting falcon. With the
superior sensors in the mecha, he was able to identify firing vectors with blazing speed
and slide his ship out of those lines of fire, which caused the storm of pulse blasts
launched at him to miss. He penetrateeir defensive fire with shocking speed, then
fired his own pulse weapons at the destroyer once he was in range. A series of dull white



balls peppered out from just under the nose and to each side of it in three distinct lines,
since the Wolf had six psk weapons rather than the four a Raptor employed, and those
shots |lit up the destroyer6s shields. He tu
destroyer, continuing to fire by keeping his nose oriented to the destroyer and using his
engines to camue to evade incoming fire, simply coasting along on his forward
momentum. He completed the maneuver by flying backwards, the fighter slipping back
and forth, up and down to evade dull white orbs as his own pulse weapons continued to
blaze, and continukto hit the mark over and over. Though his pulse blasts were stopped
by the destroyerds shields, the computers we
the damage as if he were firing at full power.
According to his own readout, he scored no daneagieSteadfasafter he flew
backwards and out of his weapon range, for in the simulation, he had yet to bring down
the destroyerodos shields. But, | rSteadfagsit her ve
as an enemy ship that would not have stsi¢hat could stop pulse weaponry, he had
dealt noticeable damage to the vessel. Either way, he had taken not a single hit in reply,
which meant he was still alive and the fight would continue. He turned on the destroyer
so fast that he was sure the gerson board were a bit startled that he was coming back
at them before he was even out of their range, and again sliced through their defensive

fire, focusing his fire on the same pl aces h
collateralize the damadwy hitting shields already weakened by his first attack, and in the
other simulation, trying to hit holes heo6d a

penetrate even deeper into the enemy ship.

The second strafing r us Hisaaon bbackd venenkhe | | éi t ]
took a hit to the starboard wing, which basically blew it off in the simulation, but he was
still alive. He continued to fire as the ship pretended to suffer that damage, taking his
starboard pulse weapons offline to simulite damage to his starboard side and reducing
his engine output as he lost his aft starboard plasma exchangers. The ship reacted much
more sluggishly now that it was damaged, but he still managed to last another fifteen
seconds before he took a hit difgto the central mass of the fighter, which killed him.

[Ha! You owe me a case of beelgya called teasingly.

[ Too bad youodll be struggl iheapsweredsrkuglg p your
as the results of the two versions of the simulagianr ol | ed t hrough hi s mi |
real damage in both of them, for he had penetrated her shields and dealt minor damage in
the first version, and in the second, well, it was going to take her damage control teams
several hours to get the ships baglgte t h e r . H dig hbleshnlito wn s o me

Myri summed it up perfectly[Fuck. Navii, look at this. He did that much damage
bef ore he was t aknefighteo. Untagine éen af thdsdstrdfiigs® | u st
Consortium destroyer!]

[ | 6d s a g gewtat thing shakén down and in mainline production
immediately,lthe elderly woman replied calmly.

[ Fuckind right we will, but | etds keep goi
The upcoming attack was lost in the day of helping the KMShesprototype, and
by the end of the dayjobodyc oul d say t hey were not mightily

project. Jason ran tactical simulations against Jeya, against formations of ships, against
cruisers and battleships, and against Raptors, &e#ulting data were highly
promising. The Wolf was a potent threat against ftdets ships, its stronger pulse



weapons even able to score significant damage against a battleship, and when pitted

against other fighters, it was a bloody fucking nighnaRaptors were incredibly fast

and his pilots were damn good, but the Wolf was just too fast, too agile, and they simply

coul dndét compete against it in a dogfight.
Wol f éholy God. Look fauwth.t erTHatk ee xarsi?e n clTeh el
Consortium wet themselves when they saw a swarm of Wolves launch from a KMS ship.

By the time they were done, Jason landed the prototype in Kosigi, meeting Aya and
Dera there, and he could see that Aya was not haghyhwn. The rest of the command
staff was there as well, and Jeya and Koye arrived in a dropship as he shook hands and
accepted clanging hugs from friends and p
when he kissed her oagredwhen | sayhgetehk Wolvesin t hi n
productionfucking now 0

AYoudbre right about that, o she agreed with
ready by tomorrow. o
How fast could we build them?0 Jeya a
't only takes abghtertoncé ywwhave d factosy tobled fob u i |
them and parts stockpiled, so we can have the first series in service inside two months,
once we get them fully shaken down and i dent
answered. ABut , Ksairnoenet diessiigsn,an aroingitnalhi |
any. They probably had all the bugs wor ked

Al sure as hell didndt see any probl ems wi
Koye laughed, pointing at the prototype.

AMyri, gnett hKusmit oo get the factory s e
on the | ine as fast as possible. | 6 h a
in mass production mode as fast as possib :

A | already have al Indpertidy@yli talted icn@ne®o mpi | e
of the nearby floating cameras she used to keep an eye on things.
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AAl right. Find another pilot to take over
home. 0O

AWe dondot have anyone qeal i fied to pilot i
Al have a training regimen and the require

Send your best fighter pilot to the training
Cybi called.

ASi oa, Juma, find the besteragsanthatchar ght er pi
immediately 0 she ordered.

Al have a couple in the army support corps
Al have a few naval pil ots that can too, 0
AWell, send them all, 6 Jason ordered. n We
shakedowm , but weodl | need instructors. o

ATr ue. Five from each?0 Juma offered.
ASounds good. They can compete to see who

After breaking off from them to go home, Aya made her displeasure known once they
were on the dropshipRedly, Jason!she complainedGoing off alone in an untested
mecha? You ar®o valuableo risk yourself like that! The Grand Duke dowdtest
pilot experimental mecha!



| needed the distraction, and I trust anything Cybi makes fohmegplied calml.

|l 6m sorry i f it upset you, Aya. God knows,
That made Aya smile grudgingly and Dera grin at him.
Well, keep that in minghe growled at himBecause Wwill spank you if you do

something that crazy again.
Aya,mei t 6Isf | 6 m not doing something crazy,
Dera burst into silent, wheezing laughter, and after giving him an ugly glare, Aya did

too.

The fun from the day before faded over the night, because the house was getting
downto business.

And that business was war. Legion style.

Everyone that could manage to get past security was in the command center the next
morning, and every eye was glued to the comm feeds coming back from the task force.
They were still in hyperspasehen Jason arrived with Tim and Miaari, two jumps away
from their destination, and what he was seeing on the screens was delayed by 17 seconds
due to the distances involved. Not even Teryon string communications were real time
when dealing with two pointisalfway across the galaxy from each other. They were also
simple observers in this. The task force knew what to do, and they would issue no
commands. They were simply watching this tightbeam feed back to Karis, accomplished
by a series of dedicated hegspace satellites the Kimdori had laid when they jumped in
earlier. If not for those, there would be strict radio silence so the approaching fleet would
have no idea they were going to be ambushed. The crews were all in stasis, but the
computers on tha@sships were no doubt still functional, and they may react to an
unknown communication signal.

Everyone was tensely silent as the task force came out of hyperspace, rested for few
minutes, then broke up into the five different attack elements and preparede their
final jump. Each element would attack one wave of the Consortium fleet using
interdictors to knock them out of hyperspace, with one spare interdictor being brought
along in case one of them malfunctioned during the journey. Each wavéswasveing
one of their big moosized bases, and those were also going to be targeted for attack.
Hitting the ships was important, but trying to damage or destroy those bases was the
highest priority, else their enemies would have a place to repaisttipgright there
without having to worry about the interdicto
bases, then the attack wouldndét do nearly en
in their sector. And for that, each attack wave was sypd little something the
Kimdori lent them, an antimatter bomb. The bombs would be launched from behind the
interdiction field on hyperspace missiles, which would give the Consortium no chance to
try to stop them. The missiles would literally drop ofuhgperspace right on top of the
base, and then explode.

Jason almost found himself holding his breath when the fleets jumped out, holding
Mi aari 6s hand tightly, each one moving to it
wracking three minutes dlsey made their final jump, and then, when they appeared, they
immediately started. The picket ships started launching Torsion weapon platforms and
mines as the interdictors were started up quite a distance behind them. It would take the
interdictors tine to build enough of a distortion field to trap the Consortium ships inside,



and their build time was carefully built into the plan. By the time the attack was over, the
interdictors would enter the Abell Idcurveo se
strand the surviving enemy fleets deep in interstellar space. No matter how effective the

attack was, those interdictors would be left behind to slow the enemy down as much as

possible, with a single Kimdori ship close to them to either tow them algstroy them

should the Consortium manage to get close enough to threaten or capture one. Those

Kimdori watchers would also be launching hyperspace missiles and the bomb.

AKIi mdor i commander reports theyodre in posi
aloud.

ANaturally, 0 Miaar. mur mured quietly to hi
AEi ghteen minutes to mark, 0 another report
AKi mdori jammers are starting up, 0 came an

blinding any sensor sweeps of the approaching ships to fool them mit;ththe space

in front of them was empty. A large fleet in normal space in front of the advancing fleet
might trigger an alert, so they were taking no chances. They wanted the surprise to be
complete.

Miaari had to all but sit on Jason to keep hinhisichair as the minutes passed by
with agonizing slowness, as the mines and weapon platforms spread out, and the picket
ships retreated behind the interdiction field to get out of any retaliatory attacks. Their job
was to get as far away as possible fredheavymount railguns at the enemy, weapons
that had no range | imitation, weapons that h
mi nutes to mark, o0 the time officer called as
bowler ships had their metrs in tow and were accelerating to attack speed. Those ships
as well had railguns mounted on them, and once they released their meteors, they would
break off at a tangent and fire until they were out of ammunition. The attack was timed
that the meteorould strike before the hyperspace missiles and bombs were sent in,
hiding the fact that they could jump weapons through hyperspace until the last possible
second, to maximize confusion.

He was literally sweating as the five waves of Consortium shipsaapg on the feed,
detected by the Kimdori 6s passive hyperspace
supposed to be, and were making no moves that hinted they were aware of the ambush
waiting for them.

AThree minutes to madikanérvoustvace,fandmitalkipg of f i c e
died out as every eye turned to the monitors.

They were the longest three minutes of his life. Every second was an eternity as the
huge blot of enemy vessels approached the trap, and he felt his heart lurch wead the
wave passed by the trap point that would ensnare the last wave. The first wave just kept
going, blissfully unaware that they had just flown through an open lasso, waiting for the
right horse before it was cinched closed. Jason watched tensely @ctibal map as the
lead wave passed the second trap point, then the third, then the fourth, and then he started
panting |li ke hedédd been running for an hour w
on the red line that moved towards it, where the ditéors, which were set above the
enemy fleets so they could move past the trap points without being knocked out of
hyperspace. He gasped just before they touched, then whipped his head to the three
screens showing two camera angles and a tactical @ifshevave ambush point.



Before him thousand®f Consortium ships suddenly appeared, dropping out of
hyperspace. And none of them moved for the first critical seconds, no doubt as the
computers aboard those ships tried to figure out why they were gerlomhyperspace,
and begin to awaken the crews to deal with the unforeseen issue.

Then the automated weapons activated.

He gaped in awe as the attack began. It was the same on all five screens, but he
focused on that first wave, that vanguard of tketf as the gravity mines activated at the
detection of the hostile ships, hurtling towards them at shocking speed, far faster than
they could go if a living thing was aboard. A swarm of little lights suddenly catapulted
forward, and immediately behindegm, hundreds of automated platforms, what Myri had
started calling drones, rushed in their wake. Each mine was designed to lock onto only
oneship, so multiple mines would not attack the same ship unless it was a heavy cruiser
or larger. If another minkad a lock on a destroyer, a mine would choose another ship,
until it found one that had not been locked. Each mine knew that only four mines were
allowed to lock onto a cruiser, nine to a battleship, and 15 to anything bigger than that,
and within the ifst second, every mine had a confirmed target and converged on that
target. For six critical seconds, the enemy ships did not move, did not react. And then,
almost in unison, every ship raised its shields.

But it was too late for that. The mines wateeady among them, and the closest
ship, a destroyer class vessel, didndét get i
clamped on to the aft section of the ship, just over its engines, as it was designed, and
then it detonated. The explosion redithe destroyer, sent it into a slow spin, as the
gravometric shockwave induced by the expl osi
overloading them. The entire aft section of the ship then exploded in a hellish inferno of
greenishred fire, colored duentthe atmosphere within the ships, when the engines
within were overloaded and caused to explode by the mine.

All over the screen, similar explosions erupted throughout the formation. The ships
that got their shields up before the mines reached theroveised that the mines
projected a metaphased plasma arc before them just before impact, which hit the shields
and disrupted them, letting the mines punch through, then the mines sought to strike the
enemy ships as close to its engines as it could managexatode. Ships were hit all
over the place, and nearly 40% of them suffered catastrophic engine breaches, which
made the engines explode. Virtually every destroyer and cruiser class ship Jason could
see on the tactical went from red to blinking yellomeaning its engines had exploded,
reducing its threat to the drones.

In 38 seconds, the mines had taken theirdsig bite out of the enemy. Of the 5,183
ships in the first wave, 2,016 had their engines blown up by the mines. The bigger ships,
the crusers, battleships, and the two command-shags vessels in each formation,
survived the mine attacks without their engines exploding, but each of them had a gaping
hole where the mines had hit them.

And those were the ships the Torsion platforms atthcke

Swarms of tiny dots unleashed reddish beams at the surviving ships, racing in behind
the mines, and for nearly five seconds there was no return fire, letting the platforms run
wild all over them. The camera focused in on one battleship, damagedrbinthe
attack, suddenly list and have its lights go out as 16 platforms focused on it, the platforms
firing at critical points theyod6d worked out



in Kosigi. They knew where and how to hit the Consortium dlaisflict maximum

damage. But then the enemy ships began to return fire, and Jason watched the platform
count on the tactical for the first wave decline. The platforms were fast and agile, but

they were trying to avoid dozens of guns pointed atthemeT bat t | eshi pbés |
wavered back on as their damage control got a handle on the problem, but then a massive
hole in its armor jusappearedchear the bow, and Jason realized the first round of one of

the heavy mount rail guns had reached the enemy farmathe 6 ton projectile had hit

the enemy ship moving at 308,384 miles an hour, which was enough to go right through
the enemy shipds heavy ar mor . The shell,
the internal structure of the ship with that vaped metal gas, which would still carry
cataclysmic destructive power . Even the
damage as it was ripped apart and carried deeper into the ship like a battering ram. The
battleship shuddered, knocked backwdrgshe incredible kinetic energy that had

impacted it, and then two more holes appeared in it as more shells found their mark.

Gouts of flame erupted out of the impact holes as the blowback bulged the armor around
the penetrating impact point, hintingthe kind of damage those shells had inflicted to

the interior of the ship.

He was damn proud that his invention could do damage to the enemy.

For the first wave, the automated weapons lasted for 97 seconds after the mines
activated. It took the survirg Consortium ships 97 seconds to react to the attack and
destroy the Torsion platforms, but not before those platforms took their pound of flesh
out of the enemy. The platforms managed to knock 16 cruisers and heavy cruisers out of
action, and dealt coitkerable damage to several battleships. But just because the last of
t he platforms were destroyed, that didnot
at each ambush point were firing on the Consortium ships with railguns, and they were
hitting morethan they were missing. The remaining ships retreated, moving towards their
base, seeking cover against those deadly shells. It only took two or three hits from those
railguns to knock their shields down, and any shots that followed them went rigtgtthrou
their armor like paper. They pulled back towards the base their two command ships had
been towing.

And just gathered together for the meteors.

They saw them coming, and tried to get out of the way. Battleships and cruisers
turned and scrambled outthe path of the 318 meteors of various sizes, from one ton
rocks to a few 2000 ton behemoths, the Kimdori had towed behind them and released, a
hail of lethal shrapnel hurtling at the enemy, but not all of them managed it. Jason
focused on one battleghihat was nailed almost dead in the center of its bulky aft section
by a 1300 ton meteor, shattering its shields and hitting it so hard it buckled in its armor,
and almost immediately all the lights in the ship went out as it was slammed jarringly in a
new direction, the meteor hitting it so hard that it knocked it out of its flight vector and
sent it spinning out of control. Though
doubt that that incredible impact had done so much internal damagedndmy

i gkt

w h

s hi

me

t h

battleship that i1t wouldndot be going anywher

that kind of damage? The repair time would be measured in weeks, not days.

The repair time went up even more when the battleship spun directly into one of the
two command ships. The shields of the command ship repelled the battleship, flaring to
visibility when the battleship slammed into them, and then ricocheted away, but the



i mpact against the shields could only have d
interior.

The ships saw the last of the meteors go by, then they again tried to form up around
t he command ships and retreat back to their

The first one in was the antimatter bomb, which dropped out of hyperssabethe
base. The base shuddered, and then blew into a million pieces as the bomb exploded,
showering the ships with debris. Almost immediately after them, every missile the
Kimdori had been packing dropped into normal space and went after the rsgishvs.

A series of brilliant explosions filled the screen as the missiles impacted the surviving
ships, so many explosions that most of the enemy fleet was hidden by the fire that
quickly evaporated in the vacuum of space. When the view clearedaveynat

literally every surviving ship had extensive damage to its armor and hull, and about 200
of them had hull breaches, venting atmosphere into space.

Jason looked at the quick analysis. There had been 5,163 ships in the first wave. Of
them, 2,01éad been destroyed by the mines, the vast majority of them destroyers and
cruisers. Of the 3,147 ships remaining, 138 had been disabled or destroyed by the
Torsion platforms. Of the 3,009 ships remaining from those, 115 had been disabled or
destroyed byhe meteors. Of those remaining 2,899 ships, 388 had been disabled or
destroyed by the bomb explosion and subsequent missile attack.

So, in the first wave, only 2,506 out of 5,163 ships survived their planned attacks.
That was nearly 50% casualties. atlwas 15% more than they expected.

Jason quickly read down the screens, his gestalt adding it up. The first wave was the
most successful attack, unfortunately. The worst attack had been the fourth wave, who
only managed 23% ship casualties and whoseblua been off target, exploding
outside the honeycomb structure of the base and only damaging it, not destroying it. But
it had still managed to deal considerable damage, laying waste to the entire side of the
base that had been subjected to the explosio

He added it up. All said and done, the Consortium now only had 17, 985 ships out of
their original 30,000 plus that they had sen
had projected. The majority of the destroyed ships were destroyers and chuisers
wave 5 had managed to destroy one of the command ships, destroyed in the antimatter
explosion, and wave 3 had managed to deal a great deal of damage to both of them.

And that was just to the ships. Even the ships that survived the mines would have
suffered dreadful losses of their insectoid crews as those mines blasted gravometric
shockwaves through them. Jason figured that some ships out there, the ones with lights
on but not moving, simply had no crew left alive to operate them. The lossesé¢o th

crews had to be absolutely staggering, which
destroy, you kill the crew through their weakness to gravometric flux. With luck, the
Consortium wouldnét have enough ¢tackew | eft t o
And it wasnodét over yet. The interdictors
curveo stage, their distortion fields expand

Consortium ships out in deep space, and far from any support orceiments. The 31

KMS vessels were also still on site, along with the Kimdori fleet, and they were all

lobbing railgun fire at the remaining ships, making it virtually impossible for them to

begin recovery procedur es éfddgachiwavamsitonjnt i | a h
aimed at everything their sensors could detect, an overkill reaction to a desperate



situation, but also one that would be effective. They were-tange missiles using

gravometric engines, and it only took Jason a few seconée tihat the KMS ships only

had about 19 seconds to either retreat or tr
seen the Consortium employ missiles, but it also was not a surprise that they had them.

They expected to see the Consortium show treraral new weapons over the course of

this war, things they didndédt bother to bring

There was a 17 second delay between what they were seeing and what was
happening, so the decision was made for them by the time the feed reachechthem. |
unison, the KMS ships turned and jumped out, one of them just seconds before a missile
reached it, and the Kimdori guarding the interdictor had only 137 seconds to decide what
to do before the missiles reached their positions. They too turned and jaotpadd
seconds after they did so, all five of the interdictors detonated in a cataclysmic inferno
that generated a Terydachyon shockwave so immense that it carried before the
explosion |Iike a stellar tsunamthéj ust as the
Afendgamed scenario, to blow up the interdict
every hyperspaebased system on the enemy ships, from communications to active jump
engines, to further delay any attempt at recovery by preventing the fleet frkimgma
contact with reinforcements. That shockwave took only 7 seconds to hit the enemy, not
doing any visible damage, but also knocking out the remote cameras the Kimdori had left
behind, abruptly ending all transmissions from the attack sites, be thenthieo
Consortium or from their own remote equipment.

There was a moment of silence in the command room, then Juma jumped out of her
chair. AFucking A!/ 0 she screamed, pumping a
screams and applause, and theas quite a bit of hugging and haslaking going
around. But Myri, who had the soul of a squad sergeant, got them all back on track
quickly. Thi s i s n 6t Shesnapped mdntally.wahtehs telemetry logs
uploaded to 3D right now sotheengie r s can study it Get <copi
office for intelligence analysis! Recall the task force to Karis immediately! Analysts, |
want a detailed damage report to the enemy fleet compiled and on my screen in five
minutes! | also want copies dfat video cleaned up for elfaris consumption and
prepared to be sent to Empress Dahnai and Qu
follow ups are on the board!

Jason felt more relieved than anything else. The attack had been completely by
surprise, ad they had inflicted significant damage on the enemy. It was going to take
themweekdo recover what ships they could salvage after this, and naturally, the area
would be a prime target for further attacks to keep them from having an easy time of it as
they gathered up the pieces. 3D already had toys ready to launch into the attack area that
woul d make any attempts to recover damaged s
green light, the first of those automated devices, placed in the old junk gh®psikl
fitted with engines that could do 137 continuous minutes in hyperspace, would be
launched within four hours. In four hours, the shellshocked Consortium was going to get
a little visit from another wave of gravometric mines carried in a disposablette
class ship, something they I|Iiterally salvage
fitted with hyperspace jump engines, but this time what would be behind them was a
rampaging Torsion shockwave generator, a mobile ship shredder that woudd iappbe
middle of active Consortium ships and immediately try to strafe them, letting the Torsion



effect rupture their hulls. Theydod be sendi
series of weapons and devices that would be fired off at tbesinpoint to keep the
Consortium from being able to easily salvage
to do that to be just as dangerous as full fleet naval combat.
The Legion way. Once you had the enemy down, kick him in the balls.
But still, 34% casualties. That was over 10,000 ships that the Consortiumnoauld
throw at Karis, and that was what mattered.
The attack had been a success. And he had no doubt that the Consortium were a bit
stunned at the moment. Now they knew just who the tioei were dealing
wi t hépeopl edirtyiMenahdworgen twith absolutely no morals who would
use anything, no matter how cheap, to achieyv
was tosurvive There wasnbdét a singl étmander swamdnt
their lives were on the line here. The Consortium would kill almost everyone on the
planet if they conquered it, everyone except those they would need for the biogenic
computers and to genetically manipulate to turn them into Genesatiut for everyone
else, it was a death sentence.
Back even a little mouse into a corner and find out how fearlessly and how savagely it
would fight. And the Consortium had just learned that important lesson.
He leaned back in his chair, then had Gydti Zaa for him.[The attack was a
success, Denmothehp communed, which was sent off to Zaa via Teryon
communications[The results are still being tallied, but it looks like about 34%
casualties to the Consortium.]
[Thank the gods,$he breathed ireply. [I want to see the data, Jason.]

[ 1 611 have the data sent off to Kimdor.i Pr
organized.]

[ Have you told Dahnai or SkéVrae yet ?]

[ No, but 106l tell them in a | ianwhae bi t .
happened.]

[ Very wel | . Il &dm quite pleased at the resu

[ Youdre nothetdgneed{ dnlwa so me,pli ng for mor e, but
got . Right now, the enemy has a fucking mes

worseonceouhar assment toys start reaching the am
salvaging their assets a full contact sport.]

Zaa laughed[With you, Jasoneverythingis a full contact sport,ghe told him.

[It keeps life zesty e replied dryly.

Al needtoomgeoffice and start analyzing th
l icking him on the cheek. Through her touch
Zaa. ACome, Tim, we have work to do, 0 she ¢

AAnd | ots of it, o0 hehaogrladed, pdtSteieng olia oo

someti me next we &\ needtadd a litle foesongerwithrthe girtk .
when we have the timiee added, sending privately.

Yeah. Find a day, I 61 | make ti me.

No sweat. I 611 fi nd havetocombthreugh. I see how m
Lots, most likely.

Fuckinberchgihhekl ed audi bl y. ACome on, boss,

conclusions before wedve even opened the fil



Mi aar i nodded knowingly. A ThatThoses al ways

who need it cané6t wait for it, and those who
pl ace, 0 she said, giving Jason a light 1|1 ook
AOh, go on before | cut your tail of f, wom
arolledup pieceofppe r , whi ch made her | augh. AAnd s a
my house! o0 he called as she and Tim | eft

Al 611 be there, 0 she promised.

After about twenty minutes, Jason had files ready for the conference, so he returned
to his office. He woke Dahnap with his urgent call, getting a good look at her proud
breasts when she appeared on his monitor, with Kellin sleeping in the bed behind her.

AJayce, itds one in the fucking morning, 0 sh
AWell, 1itds only jusdi $mitosiaf¥dley.noofmButertehi
Switch over to secure mode, and cover up tho
Ské6Vrae in.o

Alf she gets excited | ooking at my tits, I

which made hi nmgol awghmy offlfetc eme Back in a wi|
image winked off to be replaced by a holding screen with the Imperial crest. Jason also

had to get SkoéVrae out of bed, but she wasnboé
her night comm officer tvake her up.

Al't must be serious news to call of f hours
Al already informed Zaa. As soon as Dahna
secure comm, I have news for you. o

AShe was asl eep? OAfh ,t hle sreieg h ti tadts DO rhaec onri ad.do
AOh, compl ement her on her its someti me a
AWhy?o0

AOh, just keeping her on her toes, 0 he sai
chortingly.

AEVI | mal e. I knew | |l i ked you the first

Dahnai appeared again a few seconds later, wearing a frilly pink nightgown she must
have bought on Terra at some point, since it was clearly a human design. The sleeves

were of equal l engt h. AAl right, |l 6m on secu
babe?o0

He uploaded an edited file showing the attack on the Consortium to their comm

panels and started it. AThis just happened

incoming Consortium fleet. We ambushed it just as it entered our galaxy using
interdictors to knock them out of hyperspace and automated weapons we could afford to
| ose. Now watch. o

They both watched in silence as five different views showed them five different
attacks simultaneously, each an attack on one of the waves. The attatdokrdbout
six minutes of total time, from the initial mine assault to the Consortium finally
responding with missiles to chase off the distant ships, and then all five views went to
static after the retaliatory Teryon shockwave blasted over the aregesindyed all
hyperspace apabl e equi pment . ifWe destroyed or cr
and sixteen ships in the attack. Given the amount of gravometric flux flying around out
there and the kinetic impacts from the meteors and the railglls, she figure every
ship suffered at least fifty percent causalities to its insectoid crews. Some ships that



survived the attack probably had upwards of
to kill when you attack them through their weaknedsdavy gravity, but that also

translates to them being vulnerable to physical force, like their ship being slammed by a

meteor or a railgun shell. And every ship that survived the attack took some kind of

damage, from light to heavy. We managed to des$tayof the five bases they were

towing, and also managed to destroy one of their command ships and heavily damage

t wo ot hers. I n other words, we consider the
AHodhiy 6 Dahnai breat hmde 0 AYou did this wit
AMostl yesjoaebe modded. ABut there were mo

they were bound to do damage, 0 he grinned.
the interdictors, they had lofrgnge missiles equipped with gravometric engines, so we
instead knockedud all their communications by burning out their radios. And, in about

four hours, theyodore going to find out that w
omi nousl y. AWe have more automated weapons
robotshis t o attack them as we speak. I f they w
it I f they stand still, theydre toast. o

AJason, |1 6méshit. |l &m shocked, 6 Dahnai br
damage with nothing but simpheines o

AHe thhaed advantage, 06 Sk6Vrae deducted. A He
would appear, so he set a very effective trap for them. Given that kind of information, a

one third casualty rate to the enemy i s not
complerent ed with a simple nod. AYou are as <cu
myself pleased to be in alliance with you. o
AYeah, well done, babes, 0 she smiled. i Wh
enemyo6s plans?0o

ANot hing yet, et hteoy |woaonkt imoroev etri,m but | édm f a
them on their asses, 0 Jason said. AThey hav
find crews to man the ships they have | eft,

them to do it. Fronmow until they manage to tow the last ship out of the ambush area,

t heyol | be salvaging under fire. So, theyol
Personally, | think we just bought ourselves three or four months before they start their

campmign. The sheer amount of damage we dished out is going to take them that long to
recover from, just from the repairs. Il 6m su
them repaired, but with so many ships either damaged or without crews to man them
theydébre going to need time to get our boot o

Dahnai grinned. A Good. Now, since your s
come visit me?0 she invited. AYou havenodot v
Al dondt thenpatddofi kkbat oconference, 06 Sko'
Dahnai flush purple and Jason laugh.

Al may not have time, | ove, you know how b
AYou can manage overnight,h6 oOamgdozmiamr ot est ed.
naturallyyouneett o br i ng Rann. Shya really misses h
Al think we could manage an overnight visi

take a little juggling, but a day or two of relaxation would do wonders for his
moodéal most as much asedaithdimaThat alwaysonadget Dahna



A

him happy. ABut 1to6ll be in a few days. Th
now. O

AThat 6s fine. Cal l me with the details wh
of the attack so our analysts can go overio
ARi ght here, 0 he said, holding up a memory

They discussed the attack in more detail as they went through the video again, as
Jason described the mechanics of the assault, and then they wrapped it up because both of
them needed to go backhed. Miaari padded in as he finished up, scratching absently at
the white fur between her generous;éut ad br east s. AWhat i s it,
AYou found something already?b9

AYes, 0 she nodded as she sat donmwof and touc
video appeared on the screen of his console, and a readout of energy patterns appeared

beside it, part of the sensor | o0ogs. nWatch,
causing the video to play. It showed video from wave 2, then zoomesit iasjthe
entirety of the towed base exploded in an 1in

pointing at a spike on the passive gravometric sensors. The video slowed down and

zoomed in even more, showing something literally launching out of thetdretl and

sizzling off into deep space. Anlt is a dist
the interdiction shockwave before it arrived, and it managed to transmit once it cleared

our jammers. We picked it up on our Consortium transceiver.Cbinsortium already

here knows that their fleet was attacked. They sent a response and got no reply, and since

then, they have fallen to radio silence. We think they are using local channels to
coordinate a relief mission. o

AYou have somebat ghing?after

She nodded. AWe had one squadron of Kimdo
it back. 't might have seful dat a, i f 1 tobs
just that, so whoever finds it knows what ha
AWel | wetdegoing to find out anyway, 0 he gr
r ships safe enough?0o

She nodded. AThey will scoop the beacon f
to drop into normal space, 0 she assured hi m.
AThat must benotad neat trick, 0 h

Altdés not easy, but our ship computers are
scoop pickups is part of being spies. Some information can only be passed on physically,
and scooping it up from deep space in a pass
Ture, 0 he agreed, | ooking up at her again.
Jason, stop taring at my breasts. That o
e | aughed. | was not, | was thinking, O
not hing but for show anyw&ky morle |ti kaees ad.FaefiyY
never believe youdre female if you werenot s
AWrong, 0 she wiarkemmalk shi dhasofimWe They wor k
does when | have a baby. o

ASo, you donét give tedhwmtat dnttitdre tex ttrlae mac
She looked away from him primly.

AHa! |l knew it!o

u
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Al &m going back to my office, 0 she decl are
head, which made him burst out laughing, and she stalked off, her tail slashing behind her
aggessively.

AYoubuatede woman! 06 he taunted, pointing at he

She made a rude gesture before going throu
slam it.

Jason had to chuckle a little as he got back to work. There was arfurafation to
go through, and things to do over at 3D, and

Jason was fairly certain that the Consortigally really hated him by six hours after
the attack.

As he combed through the data with Miaari and Myri in shifts, nsadee calls,
fielded another indignant rant from High Staff Graith of the Alliance, and started making
plans for a visit to Dahnai, he still managed to keep his eye on what was going on out at
the edge of the galaxy.

The first wave of attack vehicles ariny about five hours after the initial attack.

These were junk ships, corvette class freighters, the smallest ship capable of utilizing
hyperspace jump engines that could get there. Miaari had bought them for him from the
Imperium mainly, then they weréted with hyperspace engines and a big enough power
plant that could power the engines to get them where they had to go. The ships were
robot controlled, automated, so they could make the entire hyperspace jump in one leg,
and as soon as they arriveceyldumped their cargo, jumped about a light year away,
and self destructed to deny the Consortium the opportunity to get their hazagtioimg

The cargo pods were equipped with the shange hyperspace jump pods used by
hyperspace missiles, which weevery short range as hyperspace went, the kind that had
relativity delay. But for the very short jump to the attack site, that was more than
acceptable., since the delay would be about two hours.

What they expected out of this attack was to catch tHéguard, but not to manage
it more than once. For that reason, this first attack was-ioadied with the majority of
their available weapons. After this attack, the Consortium would most likely picket
skirmishers to inter caeusd wassomethimgtheywdreoy s éwhi ch
counting on for a few of their other plans.

Jason and Miaari stopped what they were doing to watch from his office when the six
freighters dumped their pods and jumped out. On his office vidlink he saw the feed from
the obgrver cameras, saw the cargo pods jump, and then the cameras detached from the
pods to observe as the pods unlocked and the air in the pods blew the contents out into
space when they depressurized. Within those pods were about 3,000 mines, and each
attacksite had 3,000 mines launched to it. They were programmed the same way the first
mines were, and a soon as they were dumped, they swept the area for targets.

And there were targets out there. No external Consortium ships had arrived to help
with the reovery efforts, so the attack site they were watching showed them Consortium
battleships moving among damaged ships or twisted wreckage that had been collected up
and laid out in orderly rows, hanging in weightless space, while other ships formed a
defensv e peri meter around the scene, which was
asses kicked. They had made four different sections, probably sorting the ships by
damage, with swarms of much smaller energy signatures roaming around. They were



either sane kind of dropships helping with the recovery or they were fighters of some
kind. Those signatures wouldnoét confuse the
signatures might be handy later on, if they decided to try to attack those smaller vessels.

The Consortium response to the sudden appearance of the cargo pods was immediate
and decisive. A barrage of red streaks fired from the defensive picket ships when the
mines got within range of Torsion weaponry, and a series of explosions showed Jason
that heir targeting systems were pretty efficient. They still had to deal with sheer
numbers, however. Not every ship along the picket or deeper within the site was in a
position to fire at the mines, and there were 3,000 of them. Because of that, about 60
mines managed to penetrate both the Torsion and dark matter fire and make their runs at
the ships. Because they mimicked the programming of the first wave of mines, only four
mines locked onto the closest battleship while the others spread out and hitetti¢o
other ships along the defensive picket line. The gunners managed to hit two of the mines,
but the other two managed to penetrate their shields and slam into the ship. The entire
port side of the ship went dark as the two mines unleashed taegngetric shockwaves,
but its starboard guns fired on the mines that rushed by it, managing to hit five more.
There were several more explosions through the assembled battleships along he picket as
mines managed to penetrate defensive fire and hit thashtha results were mixed.

Some mines didndt manage to | atch on cl ose t
shockwaves into nonessential areas, but one ship went complete dead when three mines
exploded against its flared aft section, slowly spinning ogbafrol as it lost complete

power and the inertia induced by the explosions started a very slow, lazy corkscrew spin

into the crippled vessel.

The battleships reeled from the mine attack, but they were in no way shape or form
prepared for what came aftigem.

Screaming in so fast that it made the mines look like they were standing still, the
Torsion weapons which had been coined the Buzzsaws raced in. When they got close
enough, they would fire their weapons, which was a sustained Torsion shockwate effe
along a two dimensional axis, and attempt to ram the closest enemy vessel that had
power. In effect, it turned the circular devices into circular sawblades, and those blades
were spinning at high angular velocity and had just broken free of their snofint
sustained Torsion effect like that would only last for about five seconds before it
overloaded the generator and made the device explode, but that was why they were fitted
with engines that would get them to the enemy ships in a bloody fucking bimcg,
theydédd need that kind of velocity to get the
ships. The devices raced in as the Consortium fired at them, but these devices were
bloody fast and actively programmed to avoid enemy fire, which maderthemharder
to hit. There were 28 of them screaming towards the Consortium, but defensive fire
whittled that number down to 9 once they were close enough. Jason saw one of them
activate its Torsion field, a circular nexus that swirled and shimmered atoeieddular
device, the entire effect rotating at high angular velocity because the device was spinning.
The device lanced in through the shields of the damaged battleship, the one that only had
power to its starboard side, and the Torsion effect shemtedhrough the armor just at
the base of the narrow netike projection that attached the crescent forward section to
the main body of the ship. The device disappeared into the ship, no doubt slicing through
bul kheads and dec kmseachet dritcad mashfm theeTorsiane 6 s PP G



generator overloading from sustained use, an
enemy ship. They saw fire gout out of the hole the device made as it punched into the

ship, and then the entire ship lost pow€&he other 8 surviving weapons also managed to

hit enemy ships, but none of them had hit quite a critical area, and the damage they

inflicted was moderate rather than crippling. But that was still damage, and it was going

to take them time to repair tr®@ships.

Ailéd say the buzzsaws are a success, 0 Miaa

AFuck, that wife of mine is one brilliant
buzzsaw was her idea.

In all, their follow up attacks disabled or destroyed an additi@®nahips through the
five recovery sites. That wasnodot a very | ar
thousands of them out there, but it sent the Consortium a message, one that Jason had no
doubt they were taking seriously now.

D o neddrthinkyou are safe.

Now the Consortium had an idea of how this war was going to go for them. They
would have to exercise constant vigilance for fear that a cargo pod was going to drop out
of hyperspace at any moment and unleash some devilishly crafty autaiesiesl that
woul d try to de svouldbeyable thdojidespite how pnsakk somedof
the devices were. They would have to devote resources to surveillance and defense no
matter where they were, no matter how far from Karis they were, l®=dassn Karinne
had just demonstrated that he hadey longarm. The fleets trying to recover from the
attack now knew they had to do so under constant threat of attack, and it was going to
slow them down as they deployed considerable resources todeyect the ships and
cargo pods from a distance and picketed interceptors to try to stop them before they could
get close enough to deploy their deadly cargos. And what was more, Jason was showing
them that their technology was not secure, that he amadtyze them and find their
holes, their weaknesses, and exploit them for everything it was worth. They would have
to spend time and resources coming up with ways to stop his attacks. Jason could see
another round of tag like how he and Myleena had gooend and around a long time
ago, where the Consortium analyzed their attacks and found the hole they were exploiting
and moved to fix it, while Jason and the 3D crew kept looking for new holes.

He could have made it even worse for them, suchasleavingt es of Satanos
for them to salvage and bring aboard their s
of the toy box quite yet. The conduit smashers and the marbles would have their turn, but
they would be used at the proper time, whery twld inflict the most damage.

One thing was for sure. Jyslinbds clever b
of the Legion. Those wer eeudilybe addpeedto har d t o n
become a standard weapon of the KMS.

The attack ove the remote cameras self destructed, following the Legion mantra of
leaving nothing behind, and Miaari pulled a crystal out of the vidlink that held all the
sensor data transmitted by the remote. Al ol

ARnGetreapcert to me as soon as you can, even i
as she started towards the door.

AJust remember you asked for that when you
in the morning, 0 she answeltoefdrhears t he door op



AYoubdbd just grow a new one, 0 he snorted in
his office. The door closed behind her, and Jason rewound the video and watched it
again, then studied the sensor readings, then sent the whole tairtg 8D so they
could use that information.
So far, things were going more or | ess as
to the Consortium to slow them down, and that would give them time to prepare and try
to figure out what their first movewalll beébecause they sure as he
it yet. But when they did, theydéd know abou
He hoped.
He got home late, picking up Rann as he ran to the door on his little legs and kissing
him on the cheekal |l didewil toh Ra nsaimiol é.e ADi d yo
Yeah! Aunt Maya let us go to the boardwalk today! We ate cotton candy and
Danelle got sick and threw up when we rode the swing and Kyri got in trouble for
cheating at one of the games using her telekénesa
Woah, hold on there, runaway gabblee, sent with a chuckleNow what exactly
happened with Kyri?
Aunt Maya caught her cheating at the game where you throw the ball through the
hoop to win a little stuffed animal.
She knows better than thdg®n grunted mentallyl think | need to sit down and
have a talk with that young lady.
Aunt Yana already didRann grinnedKy ri coul dndét sit down afte
| f t hat 6 s Jasoh ehuckledtudiblyiéd yo$ do your lessons?
He nodded.Miss Ry did them with us today.
And did Kyri do your other lessons?
What lessons?

Danell e said youb6re trying to | earn how to
Oh, that. Not today. Will you teach me, daddy? Kyri likes to be mean.

| should be the one teaching you anywaansweredWe 6 | | try a |little a
| already ate dinner.

We | | , ]he thealaregl,héting him a little bitinhisarm.6 ve been way t oo

with work to eat more than a quick bite at my desk all day. Ayama, is there anything

even remaly close to being ready to eat around helne?alled in a plaintive way that

made Rann giggle, almost sounding like he was begging for his dinner.
Roast in the oven, and save Lady Jyslin s@meansweredShe i sndt home yet
Let 6s f i n dursklfealittle, littlBnhan, this might get loud with you right

here in my armsRann nodded, and Jason unthrottled his power, which was significant

since it was boosted by the tactical gestalt in his armor, and reached out for his wife.

Jyslin, are yolcoming home soon?
| 6m on t hske ansaeyedBe theve in five, angdleasdell me Ayama made

something for us.

She said she did. I 61 | get it on the tabl
| knew there was a reason | married you.

It certainywa s ndét because of my | ooks. That 6s wt
Flatterer.

How is it flattery when your looks are the only reason | married you?
There was a startled silenc@/atch it, bustershe sent teasingly.



| 611 watch somet hi nugste lnseee dwhteon ma kgee ts uhroemeK u
first, though.

Jyslinds reply whsemamdisg qighgy, i hawyde edyoudr ¢
mantle.

It keeps you from getting borddbe answered dryly, then broke
little man, Ineedtogogetthi ar mor off, 0 he told his son, s
what you were doing. o0

| wasnodt dobeprogstednyt hi ng,

Well then, come alondason invited.

Rann stayed with him as they went up to his room and he went about taking off his
armor, lisening as his son told him about his day in greater detail. He watched intently
when Jason gestured for his shirt, which rose up off the bed and floated over to him,
which reminded Jason that Rann was actively trying to use his latent telekinetic abilities
He knelt down in front of his son, who was sitting on the edge of the bed, and held the

Dukal signet ring in his hand. Altds a | ot
out so he could see it. AYou kinaut? how you g
Well, wusing TK is much the same, except you
t hought . You focus it on what you want to n

Awhat i f | want to bring it to me? Woul dn

Jason | aughed. al iy, di & gréuppusisweite youw Will, soa, r
he continued, using the purity of sending to convey his meaning far more accurately than
words could manageYou put all your focus behind your intent to move something, like
this ring, and then you pusand pusthard TK is not easy, not in any way, not when you
start out. Understand?

| think | do,he answered with a no&o, you have to really, really push hard?

Very hard,he answeredThe first thing | ever moved was a ring just like this ome. |
fact, it was that ondhe added, pointing at the original signet ring which had since been
replaced by a ring with the new crest. Jason kept the original in a glass case on the shelf
unit in the bedroom, a memento of sortswas how | won the housiey proving to
Dahnai that | was a Karinne. So, little man, give it a try. Focus every tiny bit of your
concentration on this ring, then push with all your might to try to make it come to you.

Rann nodded, then he narrowed his eyes as he looked atghdaison could almost
feel his focus on the ring like a palpable thing, and he suddenly realized that maybe Rann
was about ready to take this step. He focused his own attention on the ring, and he
certainly feltsomethinghere, an external force. Hdtfthe ring shift slightly in his hand,
then it skittered visibly about a quarter of an inch. Rann reached out physically for the
ring with his hand, and it skittered again, then started to vibrate and shiver in his hands.
Rann was doing it!

But then hdost it. The ring settled back in his palm when Rann gave an explosive

breath and |iterally fell back into the bed,
cried.

AThat wasnot bad, little man, 0 Jason tol d
almog had it!o

Al feel | ike | sprained my head. o



Al told you itdéds not easy, kidlet, o0 he chu
using TK is actually more tiring than getting up and getting it myself. Butlisbmake
the ring move. o0

Al di d?0

AYoswrely did, o he nodded when Rann | ooked
think youodll manage to pull it out of my han
A Wo w, |l did itKgrhe BKyired hagdgpdl ¥K! I mad
|l t 6s about t i memethingsoresgha apnavdredt actoucho s

snobbily.

That ol | d dason Warnedt seralingnprivately,

Well congratulations, my little madyslin sent, from downstair. 6 m s o proud of
you!

Thanks, Mommynhe sent modestly.

Rann had already eatdout he was happy to sit with his parents at the dinner table,
since they hadndét had much chance to see the
content to chat about things that were only important to a child rather than make serious
decisionsthatnght get people killed, hearing all ab
Jason and Jyslin found the energy to take a bath with Rann, despite the fact that both of
them were exhausted, so tired that even Rann could see it in them. Jason did give Jyslin a
detailed account of the day, though, describing their success as seen from the command
center, and praising her for her buzzsaws after telling her that they were very effective.

They put Rann to bed at his usual bedtime, then they wearily dragged thentselve
bed. | really should do something about you, buster, but right now, all | want to do is
sleep,she sent with weary amusemeht. di dnét realize how tired |

Yeah, it doesndét hit you t itchupheoagrees.l ow down
He accepted her into his arms and snuggled withidr.er e 6 s al ways t omorr o
miss morning girlhe noted.

She giggled audiblyYes there isshe agreed, then she yawned.

He wasthis closeto falling asleep before the commanitouched him, waking him
up. [Jason,] Cybi called. [Jason.]

[Whatisit,Cybi?Zlhne asked, a touch irritated, but nc
him without good reason.

[Denmother Zaa needs to speak to yow,] she told him.

[Alright,] he sighedtapping Jyslin on the shouldéWork is calling, | need to go to
the study, love.

Al right, just donodot stay all/l ni ght .

He put on a robe and went to his study. The holographic likeness Cybi used was
already waiting for him, the nude form without detaie ar i ng Sor a Karinneods
soon as he closed the door, a holographic likeness of Zaa appeared as well, appearing in
front of the desk. It then stepped closer t
said, Abut this is iIimportant. o

|  utnared ,s0 he id with a yawn, sitting at

Il just recei a report, cousi n. The Al
And what do y have planned?b90

ot 3t 3N

s a
ved
t he



AThey intend to instigate war, o0 she answer

reported to me that they have decided to rep
AThey intend to try to destroy the Academy. 0
AAre they insane?0 Jason gasped.

ATo the contrary, cousin, they are quite b

intend to destroy the Academy and lay a false trail of clues that would send all fingers

pointing to the Skaa. With the Consortium threat lurking, their hope is that all believe the

Skaa destroyed the Academy at the behest of the Consortium. Mostly, haive\ope

t hat war erupts between the Skaa and the Uru

He | eaned heavily back in his chair. iAFuc
wasnot enothigthg dmeealh awiet h. Thatthrowng& i ng bast
paperweight on his desk across the room. i C
going to withdraw from this sector? Is he that fuclshgpid? 0

AWhat do you propose we do about i1t?0 Zaa

Al Om sure you al meadgpshaveéeianl edearebdtrec
having his gestalt bring up the local time on Draconis. It was just coming into noon

there, so he placed a little call. AStay, O
handsome redheaded Faey male answerede quer y. ATrefani manor ,
mel |l ow tone. AHow may | direct your call ?0
AGet mélowyol dason stated in a flat voice.

The man looked a bit uneasy as he nodded, and his face was replaced by the falcon

and crossed sword crest of Housefani.

AThe Trefanis?0 Zaa asked curiously.

ATrust me, 0 he said in a grim voice.

The foxlike face of Yila Trefani blinked onto the screen. Like him, she was sitting in

her private office, and she didnoéet | ook too
interdictors went up, the Trefanis had been losing money hand over fist, so she had

reason to be angry with him. AWhat do you w
AHow would you I|Ii ke to cut High Staff Grai
a nightlight?d6 he asked i mmedi atel y.

She barked in surprised | aughter. AMy, ar
AYou better fucking believe 1 6m testy toda
some very ugly news about our Alliance so called frieadd | need your help dealing
with them. Clear your schedule tomorrow. Y
We have something to talk about. o

AAnd why am | doing this?o0

ABecause itoll cover every credit you
Sher ai sed an el egant eyebr ow. Al ol l Db
A (I it twenty standard hours. I
g, but we dondét have much time and | r

ay. | torl d u @hu t thtoe | Stearygait ¢ t o K

Done. Now go back to bed, 0 she s

it |l have a |ittle more t
t See you then, 0 she nodd
hat are you pl awly.i ng, cousi
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AThe AlIl i ance is a major player in the int

fingertips together. ATheydre also quite in
some other 111 egal activities. o
AYes, | know. We keep an eye on them. o
AwWell, then you know that the Trefanis als
operating in Alliance territory, run by Alliance citizens, that are fronts for some of their
ill egal activities. o
AYes, theyobébre quite adept at setting them
A T h e Skhifig &bout to find out that the Trefanis have their claws in the
Allianceds financi al system much deeper than
Yila working together, we can give Graith wh

Heclosedhs fi st and wrapped his other hand arou
going to throw a hissy fit over disrupted trade schedules in public, then | think we should
give himsomeaealt r ade di sruption to worry about. o

AAnd just how will we do that?
AZaa, my magnificent friend, the Alliance
partner in crime, 0 he said smoothly. i Wh at

disassemble in a very messy faction. The Zyagya and the Skaa espedi&iéy quite
interested in what the Alliance has been smuggling across their borders. Yila knows

everything, since shebdbs been helping them.

contraband theyobdéve been pushing, oddétekat unpai d
arendt patently ill egal could reach the hund
evil smil e. AAnd 161l1 see to it they pay Yi
Trefani businesses remain bebi hdkholkwet aegéne
there, but he wondt be legdhl e Wed Itl o scto rteh esm,mes

with the Skaa and piss off Graith, and Yila can swoop in and take over the illegal
smuggling after she stabsrGirmg tthern npn dfei tbsaa.c k
win-wi n in my book. 0

She gave him a | ook, then | aughed richly.
cousin?o

AComing from you, cousin, a guy candét hear

Even though Jason and Yila had been at odds\igrile after Jason ascended to the
throne of House Karinne, one thing he never forgot was that Yila Trefani was an
exceedingly dangerous woman, probably even more dangerous than anyort&ammthe
realized.

For one, she had patience that would amaze Sbbk.was cautious and methodical,
and could outwait a stone when it came to getting what she wanted. That kind of
patience was an asset for a woman whose house earned more than three quarters of its
profits through crime, since a hasty thief was oftaigba

The paradox of that was that, when the situation demanded it, she could take direct
action, moving swiftly, but never hastily. Yila did nothing without thinking it through,
even if it was a snap decision.

But more than anything, Yila Trefani wamart She had built an incredibly complex
web of organized crime, and she ruled that empire with a deft hand, fending off rivals
even as she kept her empire out of the light of the law. She had extended her talons into



the other empires abutting Imperiwgpace, mainly with the Alliance, but she also had a

foothold in both the Skaa Empire and the Skaa Republic, where her main efforts were in
smuggling and trafficking in stolen or illicit goods. She was smart in what she had built,

but she was also very smt in never seeking any kind of attention or overt power. The
Trefanis were not the | argest of the | ower h
of the Highborn houses, but there was not a single woman Bidhet hat woul dnét w
herself athe thought of making Yila Trefani her enemy, because Yila Trefani could

crush almost anyone who pissed her off, and the mafia don that she was did not allow

anyone to challenge her power. The Trefanis ruled the underworld, and they maintained

that rule wth an iron fist. When someone tried to muscle in on her turf, that someone

ended up dead. The power Yila wielded was the shadowy power of a woman that

worked behind the scenes, never in the open, never overtly, but the power she wielded

could only be rialed in the Imperium by Dahnai herself.

Since Yila came to power in her house, the only person who had ever directly
challenged her was Jason Karinne, but that was because Jason was even meaner than she
was.

Yila arrived almost exactly on time, which wig® middle of the night for her but
was early afternoon for Karis; Karis was currently 12 hours ahead of Draconis, and every
day got it an hour closer before it passed them and started getting an hour ahead with
each day. She wasmhéowevdédre. onDyghoaie aodcBke@Vyr
been warned of the Allianceds treachery by Z
with it, Dahnai invited herself along without consulting Jason. She had brought Kellin
and her three children with her,andt@ sond6s del i ght, Saell e had
Not an hour | ater, Zaa arrived from Kimdori,
after a hasty arrangement. When she found out that Dahnai and Zaa would both be on
Karis, she decided thatanimpt@t u conf erence was i n order.
though SkéVrae was | arge and intimidating | o
Aliens hive queeresque crest on her head, Jason had to admit he rather liked her.

Once they settled in, however, yhgot down to business. Yila looked a trifle
uncomfortable surrounded by rulers and divul
the criminal underworld of the Alliance, but after Jason told her what the Alliance was
trying to do and what he had in mitalretaliate, she had to agree that it was a wise
course of action. They coul dndét openly decl
coul dndt |hewthey wee gettikginomnation that was only passing through
the highest echelons of Alliancevgonment and intelligence. They knew the Kimdori
were shapeshifters and spies, but they had no idea how extensively Zaa had infiltrated

t heméand every other empire in the sector, f
AAl right, so, the best andthe Répoblichbahwhdti s i s t
the Alliance is up to, 0 Jasonhemgoafteri sed for t

Graith, and we make sure both of them reward Yila and her house for showing them how
much money t heyov e -sdnetienad shgogsliinngg taon dA|flrieaenbcoeo t

Al knew you wer edasirmaogBPabnaj yYrlanetbuat her
realize just how | ong your <c¢l aws are. o
Al 6m a businesswoman, your Majesty. No mo

can provide Denmother withdetailed list and schedule of everything the Skaa and the



Republic should be | ooking for and when itdl
re

screaming from here when the two Skaa empi
Al can | ive with hi sortly hescrest fifting up & littke froBdk 6 Vr a e
its usual resting position behind her head.

vertical position like moving her arm, and the crest came up when an Urumi female was
angry, like a cat laying its ears lkagr a dog baring its fangs; males did not have crests,

only females did. It was one of zhrdmeo pecul i a
Al have ncghraaide,a hbhtatl adondét think itdéds gooc
ASo, thaodsiocunl response. What will we do
AStart drawing up battle plans for a possi
sai d i mmedi atel y. Anl'tds becoming clear that
before this is over.o
ATheryeaady are, 0 Zaa stated. ABut they wil!/
will be obliterated by us in a military campaign, and they know it. The other empires
have very good reason to fear the I mperium. o
AAlIl the fighting amdnagt owarsed vEahmakeshuis
shamelessly.
ANot all of us use an MPAC to settle our d
ANo, you just use a garrote, 0 Dahnai winke
decide which is more honorable. o
Al f a war @agaoote atbund las neck, hendeserved it for his lack of
attention, 0 the Ur umi | eader said simply.
AThe Brood Queen does speak a truth, howev

college should prepare battle plans for attackith¢ghe surrounding empas, Dahnai, just
in case. Any one of them may side against us and force us to fight them. We should be
ready. o

AfWe already have about five of them for ea
them sent to the war room. 0

The War Room was another coogiéve effort. Located in Dracora, highnking
military officers from the Imperium, the Collective, and the Kimdori met and planned out
their military strategies. Jason had virtually no contact with them, since they would be
fighting the military war wiere Jason was fighting a guerilla war, but that was where his
reports and data were sent, so the flag officers could pore over it and be ready when the
real battles began.

And theydéd managed to integrate tpge tactic
fairly well. The I mperiumdés ships were the
could take a hit fairly well, but were designed to dish out savage damage with their
shieldpiercing MPAC weapon well, Torsion and dark matter weaponry réowand
plasma torpedoes, but ships that were also respectably fast and highly maneuverable,
which were critical to ships designed to charge in and lay waste to an enemy as fast as
possible. It was that mixture of agility and raw firepower that made Imperiumsghips
deadly in combat. Urumi vessels tended to be heavily armored behemoths packed with
multiple redundant systems for anything, which mirrored the Urumi themselves with their
bony armor and their three hearts. Generally, their ships were made to b&abkefy
that could plow into an enemy formation and soak up damage with their armor and
shields and superior damage control and slug it out toe to toe with an enemy, which



would now be a deadly proposition since the Urumi were armed with Consortium
weaponry though the Urumi did have fast attack ships in their fleets to complement their
armored monsters. The Urumi would be the anchor of the combined fleet, the bulls in the
formation that had to be pounded heavily to make them stop. Kimdori ships were
slaslers, built to be fast, with minimal armor but very effective shields, but they too were
armed with highly powerful weaponry that was their own design, shielding
weaponry that they called stream weapons. They fired streams of coherent tachyons,
which went right through shields due to their enedigrupting qualities and were
designed not to tear through armor, but dest
equipment and kill the enemy crew. A tachyon steam would conduct through most
known armor lile electricity and bathe the struck sections of a ship with ambient tachyon
fields emanating from the bulkheads themselves. The induced tachyon fields would
destroy virtually any energlgased equipment inside by overloading them, and the fields
also had th effect of basically flashoiling all liquids in a hapless body that might be in
the fieldbdbs effect I|ike sticking them in gia
instantly. This weapon too seemed to mirror the Kimdori mindset, for their weapbn
no visible damage to a ship, instead they attacked its systems and rendered it helpless and
killed the crew that manned it. A battl eshi
power systems were destroyed and there were no crews to man thermeKeaeaponry
was well demonstrated and probably the most deadly of them all, and while the KMS
didndét have many ships compared to the other
ships could be devastating. KMS ships were all the other ship philosoplheelsinto
one deadly package, for they were fast and agile, they packed weapons that could take
out enemy ships in one hit, and they were incredibly tough and hard to disable or destroy.
The meeting broke up for lunch, and Jason felt fairly confideitthey had Graith
by his glowing, radioactive Jakkan balls. Yila could turn the Alliance on its ear and get
both of the Skaa empires seriously pissed at them, which would send Graith a message
that he woulknowc ame f r om Dahnai wekZoava ,whaantd ySokubdvrrea ed. o
and if you want to fight dirty, bring it, bitch
But it wasndét the High Staff Jason was thi
connections, Zaab6s networks, and his toys, t
sided agaist them. He fully intended to take the fiaced Trefani matriarch and the
Denmother aside after the conference and have a long talk with them, then introduce Yila
to 3D and see where things went. Yila was no engineer, but she had the soul of a pirate,
and her cunning would be an asset to the Dirty Deeds Department.
It was time to start bringing others into it.
AWhat 6s clear, though, is that the High St
any depth of cowardice ttdachieve his goal s,
Al just wonder i f the Parliament knows wha
AOh, they do, and theyo6re turning a blind
becoming the dominant government in the sector blinds them to the truth. Always they
have been faih in the rank of powers behind the Imperium, the two combined Skaa
empires, and the Urumi. The concept of peace only holds so long as an empire sees no
borders they can expand. But the instant the potential is there to take, they throw their
ideals awg and become everything they profess to be against. But in their case, they are
hypocrites, professing to be neutral even as they scheme to start wars among others,



cause untold misery, and reap the rewards of conquered territory without putting their

ownmi | itary assets at risk. o

Al 6d bet wedre not the only ones they have
probably similar |little plans theyob6ve made f
Skaa and the Alliance have been rivals for centuriesotlfar the Imperium sitting on

their border s, | 6d bet theydd be at war. o
AAnd oh joy, where do their borders meet a
Dahnai grunt ed. Alf they do go to war, weol

outside ofKarisian territory, which will make it harder to see any Consortium fleet
coming. o
AHar der, but not i mpossible, 0 Zaa stated c
borders, since they are less secure. The Nine Colonies and the Republic are not
aggressive but they are an easy pathway for an er

Altés the Republic 1 6d worry about, 06 Dahna

i n agreement . ARnThey may not be the Empire,
Al 6m sur e t hleiyn g aayb d thte tshaaneFaey , Empress, 0
AwWell , theyob6re right, | suppose, 0 she admi
AArendt we selling weapons to the Nine Col
Dahnai nodded. AAnd the Shio, 0 she added.
andtheSkahr om getting any ideas. 0

They discussed it a bit more, then decided to call it a day. Dahnai was a bit irked at
him for not accepting her invitation to visit her in her vacation house, but did accept his
invitation to dinner at his house that eveninge ptilled Yila aside after the three rulers

l eft . AnYil a, I think itdéds time we had a | on
A Oh? Wh o ? 0
AThe Dirty Deeds Department, or what we <ca
reformed Legi®nhbaakdt modvoiwe@d@rwhat we do best
She | aughed. Al think Maer: i s wetting he
AwWell, we have a new target, and | think vy
A Me ? How?o

AYou have the knowledge and the connection
equally ruthless. With you there to point the way, we can really sock it to any other

government that tries to be the next Allianc
She gave him a | ook, then | aughed | ightly.
you can say ih,0Jason. I 6m a bitc

AYoubre an evi l bitch and a pirate, but th
which made her giggle and preen just a I itt]l
and some of my best friends arebkicle ar t ed scoundrienl swi t hY auwsé 10l

AOh really?0 she asked with a smile.

AReally, 0o he affirmed, offering his arm to
society, offering to | ead her but Il et it see
into the wr ong hdvoheen@agwesymeéd aar.i n nYeo.ud d

AWhat a thing to say, 0 she murmured, taki
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Operational Command Center, Kosigi, Karis

It was an interesting littlgathering, watching the rebuilt battleslgndaslowly slip
out of an encasing drydock.

The battleship had been the last battleship out of production, giving them a fourth
battleship, and was also most heavily damaged of the big ships during the Asfitist
they thought it was unsalvageable, which would have been a tragedy; from commission
to decommission in 19 days. But, the dedication of the dock crews and maintenance
workers had convinced Myri to give them a chance to salvage the ship, arfthtiei
work had paid off. The entire port side of the ship had basically been blown off,
exposing some 53 decks to space, it had lost the entire aft section of its starboard wing,
and the bridge had been targeted and completely destroyed. After itdrakineeked
out of the battle, the Consortium had continued to fire on it until they left it looking
something like swiss cheese. There was not a single section of the ship that had not taken
at least moderate damage. But despite all that damage, the®ngire still good, and
its computer core had survived. Given those were the two most critical aspects of a ship,
their survival had prompted the attempt to salvage.

It had been so heavily damaged that theyod
ad i nto Kosigi, where an undamaged battl eshi
decided to allow them to try to salvage the
wing and managed t o gharely it had goteh stychithent o Ko si gi
doors during the operation, requiring workers to go out-#uiEs and cut away some
damaged hull sections to free it up. The battleship had lost a hell of a lot of paint getting
what was left of it through the doors, but after five hours, theylyinaanaged to tug it
through and into the slightly wider entry tunnel. After they got it inside, they towed it up
by the central core, wrapped a repair drydock around it, and got to work literally
rebuilding the ship from its center mass.

But it had bee worth it, because the ship was now fully operational and awaiting
official command to return to service. The only problem was, they had no captain for it.

Admiral Raide had been killed in the battle, the highest ranking casualty, as had the entire
bridge crew, and 59% of its crew. Thendahad suffered the most casualties of any ship
t hat hadndét been destroyed or decommi ssioned

It was repaired now, ready for service, but in a bit of amusing ironyeihgawas
trapped in Kosigi until they built theecond set of doors. Where it had been shot to hell
and t hey ddrelyladegowriggla isin through the doors when it was damaged,
when the ship had lost 29% of its mass and more or less its entire port side, now it was
too big to get out.

Ja¥n, Zaa, Sko6Vrae, and Dahnai watched the
Kosi gi, Dell inébs domain on the central <core.



and highest echelons of the militaries of all three civilizations, including Lornahetho

come with the Faey military attachment. The
Yila a few days ago, which Jason didndt mind
an official visit anyway, part of a conference they were holding with thicanyil

command staffs of the I mperium and Collectiv

was all, to discuss their retaliatory acts against the Alliance for the plot the Kimdori had
uncovered. Dellin was standing in front of his operations deskjwtés on a raised

dais at the back of the command center, his public desk. He had another desk in his

private office which was in the room behind the dais, and in traditional Faey military

design, his private quarters were behind that office. Justtikeaey ships, the office, or

ready room as they called it, was the transi
guarters and his military duties. It also ensured that the commander was always very

close to the bridge or command center should angsamey arise.

The space behind tRkendawas not nearly as empty as it would have been a month
ago. Several other docks were floating out there, and each one was building either a
KMS tactical cruiser or a standard cruiser. The tactical cruiser, whiesgnn
designation waRevengewas slated for completion in just six days, and that would be
Hi aebs new ship. On the tactical | ayout map
red, green, or white dots all over Kosigi. Blue dots were KMS shipsraiinder repair
or construction. Red dots were Imperium drydocks under construction. Green dots were
Collective drydocks under construction. White dots were Kimdori ships already under
construction or drydocks under construction. Each color was mdégssogrouped into a
dedicated sector except for KMS ships, which were centered beside the Kimdori sector
but still had a few ships or docks scattered all over, not yet moved. Each sector now had
its own supply warehouses for its parts, and the workers Willeted in floating barracks
in Kosigi with local gravity, with entertainment and recreation facilities located along the
inside edge of the outer shell

Kosigi wasbusynow. The doors stayed open basically all the time, because a
constant stream &upply ships and freighters moved in and out, delivering supplies,
workers, and in one case, the hadimpleted superstructure of an Imperium cruiser,
towed in from the Goraga yard. The doors were now a major chokepoint, and the
completion of the capitaloors now had an entirely new significance. But, that was the
other half of the reason they were up there. The capital doors were in the last phases of
construction. Theydd finished boring up to
was building thedoor backings to the solid rock over them, to make the doors hard to
identify when they were closed. When they had the backings complete, they would cut
the rock away along the edges and widen it just enough to allow the doors to open
without friction, and then the doors would be opened. Between all the industry and the
tens of thousands of people now living inside Kosigi, the hollow moon was even busier
than Karis was now. But that was alright by him. Kosigi was the premier shipyard in
their little aliance, weightless but with an atmosphere, self contained and with ready
access to all it needed.

This wasnét the only shipyard going into o
Imperium were also gearing up, Goraga, Menos, and Makan, as weredahsdldmaller
shipyards they also maintained. The Collective had two main shipyards themselves, one
at Uruma and the other at Trakka, with a smattering of smaller yards scattered around.



Theydd | ost their | argest thelmpepwndhadd t o t he at
destroyed it rather than capture it, but they were in the process of rebuilding that

shipyard. It only made sense to have one there, since the majority of the heavy metals

they needed to build the ships came from Bellar in the first pl@be radiation had been

a problem for them, but | ike with everything
ways to deal with it.
That woul dnodot be a problem for much | onger

they were building around the radictive moon of Bellar would be complete, and the
radiation dangers would curb a great deal after they completed all the tests and put the
shield up.

Al'tdés al ways good to see a Xidaclpared#the ur n t o
drydock and begato turn. Zora was the one at the helm, acting as the pusher pilot that
was moving the ship to a staging area near the capital doors, where it would wait for the
doors to be finished so it could get out.

AWe werendt sur e ab o uThe Gohsartiumehotdt alldohdllason gr
They blew off so much of it they managed to get what was left of it through the doors and
into the facility. They literally rebuilt the whole thing around the engines and computer
core. o

AWel |l , it | ooonk sO rDeaahdnyaif onrotaecdt ias Si rri hove
the next Empress, Dahnai liked to bring her to things like this, where she got exposure to
important people.

Altés already been put back on the board, o
prototype Wlf fighter, piloted by none other than Justin Taggart, swooped by the main
window. Jason wanted the others to see it, and it amused him a little bit that it was
Commander Justin Taggart, one of the four human male fighter pilots in the KMS and
commandenpf the 76" Carrier Squadron based on theeamer had won the competition
to earn the right to pilot the first Wol f.
Faey women and a Makati female, believe it or not, and the prototype Wolf fightelr, seria
number X1, was now officialliis fighter. He would pilot the prototype until the third
production Wolf came off the line, and that would be his fighter. The first two ships off

the I ine were slated for othestdutombatand wo
fighter off the line. He had rated to pilot it in just two days, but he was still mastering it,
not yet rated for combat duty. Myri 6s proj e

take a fighter pilot about 12 hours of classroom trainmd)@0 hours of simulation time
to be considered combat ready in a Wolf, and that only if they were already combat rated
to a Raptor. A green pilot would be looking at about two months of training before she
earned her combat wi ngpmla a@ready hadla alass 3litesse. a s s u me
AAnd there it is, | adies. The Wolf, 0 Jason
and already in production. We should have the first units entering service in a little under
t wo weeks. 0

AA fightert?ed Mohuatdenwwch effort to a figh
nonFaey, the Ur umi didndét hold much water
others at that, since Urumi preferred big, hulking ships that could wade into a firefight
and beat down thepponent through sheer attrition. They only employed them to fend
off Faey fighters, since fighters were a foundation of tactical Faey combat, getting the
telepaths within striking distance of the crews in enemy ships. The reason other

ter
t o



g o Vv er n me davade miich dtterdidn to developing fighters was because other
civilizations couldnét arm fighters with pow
threat to anything but another fighter. Faey fighters were traditionally armed with MPAC
weapons, and tlsuwere much more powerful, capable of doing real damage to fleet
vessels. But now, any race could fit Torsion weapons on a fighter, so Jason expected to
see fighters jump in popularity very fast once military analysts realized that it was far
cheaper to bild 20 fighters than 1 destroyer and have them have almost equal firepower.
Thankfully, though, the Faey had much bett
have the edge in fighter combat. And the Wolf would rule them all.
AThat f i oddneughdiepoweato destroy a Consortium destroyer, Brood

Queen, 0 Jason told her bluntly. mofisteiml | show
combat . o
Altds an original Karinne design, 0 Zaa el a

only bea telepathic striker. Their original intent was to put a fighter pilot at the controls
who would be trained to fighter combat and carry a telepath devoted to making telepathic
attacks, where Faey methodology is to have the pilot perform both roleas ihtended
to be a two woman fighter. o

Actually, that explained a lot to Jason. It was why it had the fake cockpit, had room
for two people, so the telepathic mindstriker would be in the cockpit conducting attacks
while the pilot was buried deep in thRip, in the armored control pod, who would be
devoted to doing the actual ship to ship fighting. It did leave him a question, however;
why not simply put both the pilot and the striker in the armored box, where they were
protected? Why leave the strikeuch more vulnerable in the cockpit? There had to be

a reason for it. Hebébd have to think about i
ATrul y? l'tds that powerful 20 SkoVrae aske
Jason nodded. Ailtés that powerful. And vy

you refittedt hem wi th Torsion weapons. O
AWebre already doing that with our Raptors
Al think we are doing that as well . 0
AWe are, 0 Queenbdés Admir al KrédThor, the hig
Collective Starship Service, the S8Saffirmed. He was a typical male Urumi, bigger
than the females by a slight margin and lacking the big crest on his head, though he did
have a series of bony spikes growing along his spinal column, which was a feature
exclusive to males, just as the sirevas exclusive to females. Those spikes were in
addition to the thick, durable bony plates that covered his body at virtually every
sensitive spot, natural armor that, when combined with their redundant natural processes
such as three hearts, made Urwary hard to kill. Between that armor, great strength
derived from the fact that Uruma Prime was a heavier gravity planet than the galactic
average, and their ability to spit venom, Urumi were very dangerous in unarmed combat.
AWe have neraceérwyt foffteem toaectical fighters re
AAnd every one of them can be a viable thr
AWhen you put a big enough gun on something
dangerous. Throughsheerrurar s i f not hing el se. 0
ALi ke the drones. 0
ALIi ke the drones, 0 he nodded. AA single T
destroyer. But when sixty of them are in yo



They watched as Zora piloted thethegthip out into the gloom, and then moved back
to other matters. The leaders were here for a scheduled conference and tour of Kosigi,
since it was going to become a centr al point
that the Imperium and Collecgéwould work well together, mainly in the Terra Entry
Station. Despite being run and maintained by two different empires, it ran very
smoot hly. The Ur umi di dndét seem to mind bei
proved they were every bit as techalig skilled as Faey engineers. The Collective
Stormtroopers there to act as defense were thoroughly professional and had impressed the
Imperial Marines, and Jason got reports daily that showed that the two military units
actually worked very well togethe But the main reason they were there was so Dahnai
and Sko6Vrae could wrangle with Admiral Delli

Dellin was a curious man. He was well into middle age, bordering on old, and had
been in the Imperial Navy as a supply base commander before beingplemde to
Karis. At heart, he was a scholar and a scientist, but for Dellin, his studies centered
around military history and military science. His particular area of expertise was military
logistics, able to take a large, diverse base and make itmootkly and efficiently, and
that made him perfect to command Kosigi. He was a thoroughgoing professional, had the
unswerving loyalty of everyone under his command, and was as efficient as a Makati or
Kizzik when it came to keeping everything organized alh the various construction
projects on schedul e. One certainly woul dnbo
shortest Faey Jason had ever known. He was only five feet tall, slight and slender of
build, but he was handsome in a rugged sendéapt the front and sides of his raven
black hair cut just short enough to stay out of his face and still allow him to comb it in a
stylish part, while the back fell down to his shoulders in what Jason would call a mullet
style. That raven black hair wiolmake him the center of attention, to the point where it
made up for his lack of height. Even though he was almost freakishly short, that sleek
black hair and his handsome face would make women look twice at him.

With Dellin there to explainthingsatda si cal |y bul ly the two r ul

have much to do but to |isten. Dell in wasno
when she tried to force him into changing his proposed schedule to favor Imperium
shipbuilders, and it was almost amugito watch her beat her head against that wall.
Kosi gi was Del | ikepbtsat comomamd aonthtter whai.dhe dice
officially tune out when Cybi contacted himiJason, Miaari wants to talk to youghe
told him.

[Thank God for you, my guardiaangel,]he communed bacH.This meeting is

puttingmetosleepffExcuse me a minute, | adies, 0 Jason
out side Dellinds ready f[GoahmaddMmaailhtmmeched agai n
[ Jason, weor ef igce ttthirnogu gsho noen ttrhaef Consor t i uma
communications,$hetoldhim.] They o6re getting ready to move.
[ Move? What 6s up?]

[ Theybébre preparing to movsheansweredwaase out of
learned how badly we hurt them, myefrd.]

[How bad?]

[Critically,] she answeredAs you predicted, the losses of their ship crews were
catastrophic. Even ships that took only light or moderate damage had upwards of sixty
percent crew fatalities. They literally have thousands of smpsa crews to man them.



Theyore going to tow salvageable ships back
because they just dondét have crews to man th
destroy to deny us the chance to come back and pickunagrthey leave behind.]

I n the three days since the attack, theyod
the ships damaged in their attack against th
surviving damaged base and surrounded it with everyesyathy ship they had to
defend it as they tried to repair ships and
managed to do a very good job of that. They

automated weapons, but with the Consortium now on high alertpoelgttack had even
a modicum of success, dealing substantial damage to one of their heavy cruisers. Much
as Jason and Miaari expected, their attacks were now more or less to keep them honest,
make them use up resources defending their base and shgsthain devote them to the
salvage effort.
And that was going to be a strategy for the overall war effort. Since the Consortium
had a huge numerical advantage, they were go
against Trillane, force them to commésources to defending virtuakyerything
because the Legion may attack anywhere, at any time. They had threateswdehe
fleet of Sticks back on Terra during the Legion War, as they called it now, and they had
forced Trillane to invest massive aomas of resources into defending their Sticks from
attack. That had been a war to force Trillane to spend money, but the same basic strategy
would work here. If they could force the Consortium to hold back defensesrat
position they had, not allowmgnthem to jump their entire fleets, tying them up into
defense, forcing them to commit resources, that was less that mightthdawnce they
went on the offensive. From the start, they knew this war would be about attrition, to
make the Consortium usg their resources since they were separated from their
unlimited resources by a five year hyperspace jump from Andromeda.
[ And that brings us to the first actionabl
comm network,$he continued[ B e ¢ a u s ést sohmany érewethey intend to grow
more.]
[Come again?]
[ They 6r e i n sskeceammnded Em[Framaveab we pipced together, each
of those five bases they were bringing hadkeggg breeders in it. A queen of sorts.
Now they intend tplace them in a favorable environment and allow them to repopulate
their | ost crews. As we spea2b3toprddecg 6r e bui l
new crew. It seems that the star has optimal conditions for rapid maturation of the
insectoids,and t 6 s al so highly defensibl e.]
[How long would that take them?]
[l &dm not entirely sure. Songa should know
[Cybi, patch Songa in, pleaséhg called.
[Certainly, one moment.]
[How does it look to attack PR537?] he asked Miaari as they waited.
[Not good. The star is enclosed in a small shell nebula. Anything that goes in has to
travel sublight, and as you know, no stealth technology works in a nebula, not even the
CMS.]
[Fuck,] he growled. No ship could jump into or out of a nebula, becausgathe
clouds actually had considerable gravity fields which prevented jumping. And since the



gas clouds were ionized and there was a tremendous amount of electrical charge in a

nebul a, shields wouldndét functione Urumi st
overloaded trying to plow through that ambient chafdéey have considerable
resources at that base, and i f theydre movin

reinforce it even more.]

Jason looked over the images they had of sta2%3Rfran the Karinne historical
survey data files, and saw that it was indeed a fortress, in the scope of stellar warfare.
The enclosing nebula protected the interior star from surprise attacks, and the charged,
ionized gas would defeat any stealth technology tiked to invade the nebula. The
nebula was large enough for them to respond to any fleet that dropped out of hyperspace
and tried to enter using sublight. The Consortium had chosen that position well. 1t would
be very hard to capture or destroy.miany ways, it mirrored the concept of the
interdictor.

[What did you need, Jayce8longadés voice came over communi

[We need an idea of how long it would take the enemy insectoids to reach adulthood
from egg stage he answered[Your best guess.]

[My best guess? About a yeast]e answered[l dated every corpse you brought me,
and the youngest of them were only about fifteen months old. Give them a year to
mature, a few more months to train, and there you go.]

[Unless they train while maturingJliaari answered]If the youngest corpse is
fifteen months old, and those corpses were pulled from ships that had traveled here from

Andromedaét heredbs a discrepancy. Does your
dating them by biology or by datirtige matter that makes them up?]

[ ltds based on gener al i nsectoSomha bi ol ogi ca
answered[ | t 6s just a guess, based on their si mi

time those devices had been in their headsanlhave the bodies isotope dated to
determine how old they are.]
[l think you should,PJason told her[Right now, hon, knowing how long it takes them
to raise new soldiers from an egg is important information.]
[ 1 611 get rshegsaickeriousty.[ il td6,] | d ehaarv,e] mor e i nf or mat
morning, as soon as we get the tests finished.]
[Get it to me and Miaari both as soon as you get results, hon.]
[I surely will, dear,] she answered.
[Any action we take against PE53 is going to haveotbe clandestine, Jason,]
Mi aar i 6s Vv ofAnydireat actiom woualdibe duicidal.]

[ Yeah, Il 6m | ooki ng hegrunteth[el tsGusr vieiykse nao wn a tFwrce
of Kari s. I 61 1 bring breaki ndheyicomeapmd att ack
with.]

[ 1 611 | et you get b ac kshdfiaishgdpherrvoicek amuseth g c on f

[ Bitch. |l Om gonna get you. ]

[Better men have tried3he teased lightly, then broke the connection.

Jason took that information righttotheeul s and | ai d it out for t
term gain, but a |l ong term problem, o6 he fini
ships at the moment, so in the short run tha
producing facility up and running, thénh e y 6 | | have not only crews
have, but crews for any ships they build. o



ATheydre setting up, o0 SkbébVrae growl ed. AT

Consortium wi | not | eave this galaxy even i
AAnd that hmeans thabrmati on we must spread
decl ar ed. ARi ght now, the other empires are

their numbers. But if we show them that the Consortium has no intentions of leaving our
galaxy, it might foce them to draw different conclusions. | doubt that any ruler will want
to be the puppet of the Consortium. 0

AAnd once the news of the successful attac
around, maybe itoll put s oménuedt e el in a few
ABut, 1t might also spur them into attacki
monitor. ARi ght now, the discord of the emp
theydél!l just |l et it conti nue.again®tham,it f we st a

might incite them to take the ten thousand or so ships they have available right now and
start conquering. o

AThat is a risk, o0 Zaa agreed, #dAbut it is a
but if the Consortium starts attackingetbmaller empires, they will inevitably cause
casualties to the Consortium due to their being armed with Torsion weaponry. And every
ship they lose taking over the other empires is one less ship we face when they try to
penetrate the interdictors. o

Alss not cold, it is fact, o SkoéVrae said sin
ethics. This is abowurvival | will endure the suffering of the others if it prevents the
suffering of my own. o

AThat 6s about the truth, o Dahnai agreed.

The conferencbr oke up after a | ittle more discuss
rest of it because it was about Dellin, really. Aya took him and Dahnai both back down
to Karsa, and Dahnai took only the time to change and round up her family before she
was over ahis house, sitting on the couch with Jyslin as they watched Rann and Shya
play a game of Seven Circles with Maer and Sirri. Jason sat out on the deck, watching a
storm roll towards them from the ocean as he considered the news of the day and
wracked hidrain trying to think of some way to attack that base a2BR but it quite
honestly had him stumped. It was a Kdegel fortress, where the only way in was to
run a gauntlet of firepower and just pray you had ships left by the time you got there. O
top of that, though, was a strange feeling o
devel op, come to a head, and while he was re
like knowing what was coming. Fighting with toys was one thing, but heneake
considering a manned attack on a heavily fortified enemy position, where people were

going to die.

His people.

Not that he wanted to see the Urumi or the Imperial forces die either, but he had to be
honest with himsel f. milBdiésdnumbersalhegwelea hnai s aw

statistics, and when they died, they were just statistics moved to a different column. To

Jason, they werngeople He knew virtually the entirety of the officer corps and a vast

majority of the upper ranking enlistechia of his military personally. He attended

ceremonies. He had them come by his house or office and chat with him. He even
attended Jeyadbds birthday party. He knew it
that would get people killed, but he alswekv that they had no choice in the matter. The



very survival of Jason, Cybi, Myleena, his children, and all the Generations were at stake
here. If the Consortium took them, Cybi would be killed and Jason rather doubted that he
would survive what they ditb him to try to either subdue him to their will or clone him
or something. Even though they werendét Gene
their lives, even sacrifice them, to protect Jason and Cybi and all the others.
He had to be proud of thand very, very grateful.
Jyslin wandered out to join him, sitting on the bench beside him. She was connected
enough to him to sense his pensive mood, and God bless her, he knew she was there to
try to soothe him a little. She smiled and took his haatting the back of it, then leaned
over and kissed himonthechedkt 6 s goi ng tgheadsstredhimr i ght , | ove
| hope sohe answeredl 6 m sorry | upset you.
You never upset me, lowahe assured him, reaching out and touching his gestalt.
Now put house business on the shelf for a while and come visit before Dahnai smacks
you.
He chuckledl guess | can, but it wonodét | ast | ong
It only has to last long enough, dear.
Visiting was one thing, but inevitably, whenever Jason felt unsettleddegleup in
front of the piano. The rest of the family was used to these occasional evening concerts,
never quite planned and rarely starting out
long before half the strip was over because they could heandlic. That was because
Jason rarely played by himself for long. Aya and the other guards were all quite adept at
various musi cal Il nstrument s, and they coul dn
his admitted impressive ability behind the kegloh Jason literally grew up sitting at a
piano, first watching his mother and then learning for himself, so he was more than a
match for the guards, challenging them with his jazz style that forced them to think on
their feet and adapt, even as he meirtbhallenge when someone changed the tempo or
style on himébut that was true jazz musi c.
uncharted territory was explored in a musical sense as human and Faey musical styles
merged and sometimes clashed amaegpn, Dera, Aya, Ryn, Shen, and Suri. Dahnai
had heard Jason play the piano bedotieere was now a piano in the throne room and
Dahnai had often had Jason play for the e@iesnduringcourd and shedéd heard I
guards pl ay f or #rience anythung quite hke thisl Simeavasdhonesdyx p
surprised and a little amazed to hear pure improvisation that sounded almost like
rehearsed music, but that was more due to the skill of the players and their familiarity
with one another than anythingsel
And there was al most always singing to go
and Jason wasnodét very good at singing, but
Sheleese and the twins, Lyn and Bryn. Dahnai got to listen to Symone sing several
Terran pop songs currently in fashion, then heard Lyn and Bryn sing a few Faey folk
songs. But Dahnai and Kellin were awed to hear Sheleese belt out Faey opera arias like a
veteran performer.
The House of Karinne | amme dnset thenhstieondos | i v
kids started getting sleepy, their friends wandered back home. Dahnai and her family
remained, however, since Jason was still piddling behind the piano, teaching Rann the
fundamentals. Rann absorbed these little lessons like a sponge,Was very interested
in the piano and the amazing sounds his father could make it do, just as Jason had been

N



fascinated by the wondrous music his own mother could urge out of the instrument.
Already, at the age @fimostsix, Rann understood the besibf the piano and was
proving he had an ear for music.

Sometimes | forget how amazing you are, bababknai grinned down at him as she
stood by the piano and Jason plagdwpsticksalong with Rann, Rann playing the
soprano and Jason the alto versioRann gave him a frown when Jason started
flourishing, introducing a rippling harmony, then he laughed when his father pushed him
of f and played the piano version of one of
Spongebob Squarepan&ven singing itn a rough pirate voice and badly off key.

This is nothing. You should have heard my mother plawgnsweredShe was a
concert pianist. She could make a pianadgthing

Well, that was your mother, not yahe smiled.Now play that song | like.

Which one?

Thatone.

JasonlaughedSo, youdr e dqewinkeg.Kellio, whatsseng dosssshe
want to hear?

Cheater!Dahnai accused.

Your one and onl\he answered smoothly, then he started plaMagle Leaf Rag
one of Dahnanosorggs.f avorite pi

Jason knew that the Alliance was going to have a fit when the shit hit the fan, and in
that respect, he was entirely correct.

In a series of raids along the border of both Skaa governments, Alliance smugglers
were caught and boarded, and # dka lot of contraband and extremely valuable cargo
were seized. The freebooters, long accustomed to their smuggling routes being free and
clear of any kind of traffic, were caught completely by surprise by the Skaa military
vessels, so much so tharydew of them managed to escape back into hyperspace.
Those that were caught first couldndét even
the Kimdori, Karinnes, and Consortium were capable of communicating with ships in
hyperspace.

For the Empire iad the Republic, it was a coup. They managed to capture and shut
down longstanding smuggling operations, since they caught so many of them that their
organizations were effectively destroyed, and the value of the contraband and cargo they
seized wasignficant.

For the Alliance, however, it was an unmitigated disaster, but not a natural one. The

W

High Staff wasnoét an idiot, and maybe he was
had sold him outébut he s houltodnstiygewar e x pect ed

between the Imperium and anyone he could get mad enough to declare war on them.

Yila played a wonderful recording for Jason when she came for another visit to 3D of the

High Staff having a conniption over her vidlink, threatening uglgibetion, which

became stunned silence and a hastily cut communication when Yila countered with a
curious bit of intelligence shedd r-eceived
level Alliance diplomat trying to secure Skaa proton bombs througlofaihe black

market operations the Trefanis indirectly controlled, and pondering why the Alliance

would be trying to acquire Skaa weaponry when their own antimatter bombs were

superior.

f



Graith knew that Yila was almost frighteningly intelligent, and wiquiobably
believe that she was smart enough to suspect that the Alliance was about to try to frame
the Skaa for something they were going to do
from Jason, who got it from Zaa.

Jason also held true to his promigeYila. The Empire and the Republic paid a
handsome bounty for the information that led to their catches, which made its way into
House Trefani 6s coffers.

Al think this is the first time | ever mad
b r e a k iYiagoted to Jagdon when she showed himhihges um of money she6d
earned for her bit of backstabbing, which made Jason laugh.

There were, however, repercussions. The Alliance came down hard on the front
businesses owned by the Trefanis, and Yila hamitiomost of her people out of Alliance
space. Yila had to basically wash her hands of her Alliance business, but in the greater
scope of things, it was worth it, both for Yila and for the Imperium.

The shocks to High St adZaahadcanvihchd the otllersd6t st o
to make public the Consortiumés predicament
should be made public, but he respected Zaa too much to gainsay her. Jason did,
however, put his foot down and not allow any footagthefattack to be broadcast. He
di dndt want anyone to see how he attacked th
because it would just give potential enemies the chance to see them in operation. All that
was released was a statement acknowledgirighiedmperium, Collective, and Kimdori
had attacked the Consortiumbdbs incoming fl eet
proof of which was supplied by a poignant reconnaissance image of the Consortium fleet
in the aftermath of the attack, with dested and damaged ships everywhere and fires
raging on many ships that still had power. They then released the locations of the
Consortiumdbs bases around the galaxy, and th
in with the invasion fleet, making @bundantly clear teveryoneghat the Consortium had
absolutely no intentions of leaving the Milky Way, even if they conquered Karis.

Then they simply sat back and waited.

What Jason was afraid would happen was that the Consortium would take what ships
they had and start invading the surrounding empires before the sector could unite against
t hem, but Zaa didndot feel that they would d
most between them, since Zaa diebthé&t t hi nk t
empires as any kind of threat since they could just go right by them on their way to Karis,
which was their ultimate objective. She believed that the Consortium would make no
moves against the sector as a whole unless they knew that the othexsengue allying
themselves to the Karinnes, or what Zaa and
Confederation. She believed that so long as the other empires stayed neutral, the
Consortium would leave them alone in the short term.

Jason di dmwaty, saedi testpleat ally not now. Th
damage to the Consortiumdés fleet, and now t
easy way to get them was to take them from someone else, so Jason felt that one of the
mediumsized resourceach empires was in trouble, and that definition fit both the
Alliance and the Skaa Republic. The Shio and the Nine Colonies were too small, and the
Skaa Empire was too big.
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However, as the days went by, their surveillance of the Consortium showed that it
wasnodét the Alliance or the Republic that wer
Jason and Zaa were correct. The Consortium
a different multisystem civilization literally all the way across the galarythe spiral
arm past the arm holding Exile, along the edge of the galaxy literally all the way across it
from the Imperium. Most life in the Milky Way was along the edges, since the closer one
got to the center of the galaxy the more ambient radiatiere twas emanating from the
core, and radiation was a hostile environment to about 90% of known life. The Kimdori
were the only intelligent race known to have originated from so close to the galactic core,
about halfway between the core and Karis, andghmique environmental conditions
had produced one of the most unique species in the galaxy. No other complex life had
been found closer than Kimdori, not even by the Kimdori themselves.

Long distance probes shielded from Consortium sensors showedavtietnvas
going on. The Consortium had located the civilization before making their play for
Karis, and now that they were in need of resources, they took about 10,000 of their ships
and invaded. And there was nothing that they could do about it. & tvasday trip by
hyperspace, some 158 continuous minutes of hyperspace travel, about as far as one could
get from Karis. Probes showed that this civilization spanned 48 systems, and the
Consortium invaded and conquered it within two days. Jason hadigbethat they
would go after an existing civilization, and Zaa had been right that they stayed way the
hell away from Karis, because if they set up shop close by, they were just putting a big
target on their backs.

It was also more and more proof tilae Consortium had no intention of leaving the
Milky Way. They had conquered their first native civilization, and Jason had no doubt
that theydd be | ooking for more. 't al so sh
play defense through this emtiwar. If they let the Consortium spread through the
galaxy, there might come a time when their sector wasrilyesector the Consortium
had not conquered.

But, the logistics of it. How did they wage war against an enemy whose fleet
outnumbered theirgy about 100 to 1 and was all the way across the galaxy?

Stargates, that was how. Exile already proved the viability of the outpost system, a
lone system far out from their territory that could serve as a forward outpost for
expansion, as Dahnai had wedhiin their deal with Karinne over supplying the Stargate.
What they needed to do was find a viable systkrseto concentrations of Consortium
bases and get an interdictor and a Stargate there, then use that forward position as a base
of operations to@nduct both clandestine and military campaigns.

Jason was looking over the astrogeographical surveys in his office at the White House
with Cybi hovering by his shoulder. The Karinnes had mapped nearly 46% of the known
galaxy before they were destroyedaiigh scout ships and had telescopically mapped
88% of the galaxy using hyperspace telescopes that looked into real space. Jason was
looking for viable systems near known Consortium bases. A system had to have at least
two rocky planets capable of supfog military colonization with minimal
environmental equipment to be considered viable. A barren, airless planet would do fine,
a planet like Mars would do fine, but someplace like Venus would not. If they could
drop a habitat module on the surface bhadn business, it was viable. If they had to take
extravagant measures to protect the equi pmen



There were several viable systems that would put them within striking distance of
several Consortium positions, but the one thegrested him the most was system PR
227. It was a neighbor of PES3, about 132 light years away, which would make it a
short hop by hyperspace travel. It was a very large system consisting of a binary star
system, a yellow suhke star orbiting a blugiant, and it had 16 planets in its system.
There were 3 terrestrial planets in the system, and one of them watikdansits
composition; it had an atmosphere, but was very, very cold and had almost no water, a
frigid desert planet. ltwasthethiodf t he t hree terrestrials, bu
viable. The closest one to the stars was a molten ball of hellish death, the planet
constantly pulled and yanked by the shifting gravitational pulls of the two stars, which
had never allowed it to coehough to form a solid crust. The middle planet was \fenus
like. It was a truly huge terrestrial planet, five times the size of Earth, but it had an
atmosphere so dense that its-kaeel air pressure was enough to crush a submarine.
Aside from that presure and a gravity that was 6.7 of Imperial Standard Gravity, which
was itself 1.11672 Earth gravity, the conditions on that planet were almost tolerable for
humanoid life, but not quite. The temperature range was from 42 to 172 degrees
Fahrenheit from th poles to the equator, and there was both water and oxygen present.
But, sadly, the air pressure made the planetwiable. Nobody could go outside without
wearing hard exsuits, and that was too much. But, the third planet, that was more than
viable. A standard Esuit could keep the outside crews warm, the air pressure at ground
level was .74 Imperial standard, and gravity was .88.
Al t hink t hi Gybinatedastheylobkedovertheesystdiol t put s us
within striking distance of PRR53, and the second planet has considerable mineral
deposits we can mine for our own needs. It will take some time to set up a mining
operation, though. 0
AWe can put the Master Builders on it, the
backinhischar and tapping his finger to his chin.
fortify it without the Consortium attacking. If they can scramble an attack fleet before
the interdictor starts its logarithmic expansion, they could get an attack fleet there to
threat en t he Stargate. o

AWe could find a system further &ybt, but |
prompted, pointing at the list of minerals on the Rigassure planeti | t 6 s wor t h tr yi
to secure, if only to keep these minerals away fromte<o r t i u m. I 6m amazec
Consortium has not done it themselves. 0

ATheydre interested in right now, not the
Dahnai and find out when the next Stargates

Al wo ul dShepated linoamd shoulderh And you need to stop
me . 0

AAbout what ? ltés not | ike vyo canodot talk
She gave himaslysmiléi Real | y ? Well then, Il think thi
about the schedule of the CBI M. 0

Hegavehe a | ook, then | aughed ruefully. Al t o
he replied, a bit tartly. AAnd | é6m hol ding

AYoulOre -beadgdbahtd compl sheanbweredihr wasopabl e
on Kosiningi for areasonmy friend. | am natuited to run Karga. My programming is
not suited for it. Build a CBIM designed fo



Al t wygondot hbee compl ained, | eaning back and |
her face appear upsideo wn t o hi m. Al donodt Kavgamnd s ome o1
leaving you stuck out there on that rock. You belong here, Cybi. You belong at the heart
of the house, because yare the heart of this house. Even if there were fifty other
CBIMs, none of them would ever geu 0

AYoudbre bei ngshewgpeaediAdn &bl @l | , you must bui
CBIM before | can even be moved, and every bit of logic in this universe dictates that the
very first CBIM you build goes in Karsa to r

twoCBIl Ms here. o
AStoptht!| wgi c, 0 h eabauthogial Thesds.about mM@wmantisg i s n ot
you where you belong! o

Al bel ong shésaidsemplyi Aafnt,edor al |, it dés why | was
should be all owing the Karga C®lpavbnitkety, r un t hi
| woul dndét be averse to you considerably upg
bi ogenic plants, more relays, a stronger net

better suited for direct confrontation, because | have combat exgerend we both

already know | am quite compatible with most of the Generations in a merge. So if you

want to do something for me, bulk me up and let me be the one that does the fighting

should we have to defend Karis against the C

Hegavehea har d, l ong | ook. AAnd i f | say no?
AJason, you should have | earned after siXx
she said sweetly, patting him on the cheek.

AThat 6s i1it, youdre staying away from Jysli
AWell giaght . But youdre caving on one thing.
AWhat ?0

AYoremoving off of Kosi wilhagiwp GBIMsén Karsal d her .
and lwillnotl eave you out there alone. The ot her
be here as a tactical deferssgg ai nst 1 nvasion. 0

A N othat, I wi | | shegsaicesenplytfial usd, ima ke sure the con

build for me can handle the kinds of demands that will be placed on it. And you must

replace me with another CBIM on Kosiningi, Jason. | am here feasonand you

need another one here, just in case. o0
AWell , alright, o he decl ared. AThe first

your new home, then we replace the Kosiningi core with a new CBIM, then we build the

Kosigi CBIM. And while allthat goes on, we work on the tactical CBIM for &kegis 0

AAl right. Have the Master Builders got ba
He nodded. ATheydre absolutely positive t
moving your core without you losing power &ccess to your external systems will be

chil dés play, since youodre already designed

biogenic network gives you complete access to remote systems. And after we get
broadcast power operating, that will be a moot po¥fdu can receive power from a
remote uplink and maintain your connections through the biogenic network. Moving you
wondét be hard at all .o

AAl right then, weodoll go whetolhimi Wi tBubi ¢ de
rooms and a swimming pool . 0



He spluttered and | ooked up at her. A Wh at
pool for?o0

AWell, since | 6m obviously so important to
shesaidairly.i So my new home must be oequderetmt . A q
|  a she stated in an arrogant tone.

He laughed, earnestly and long, then slapped at her solid yet holographic elbow.

AYou are turning into such a bitch, 0 he teas
AYou | i k she tedasddinmeply tagping him on the nose.

AOkad | y?o0

A Mm4m mm. 3he stdrtednticking along on her finggrshba h na i Mey a,
Myra, Kumi, MylId fi

Al get 1t!06 he barked, cutting her off.

The door opened without any warning, which meant that it had to be Jyslin, Myri, or
Miaari. Chirk would hag warned him if it was anyone else. He looked up to see Miaari

padding in, her tail swishing a bit more tha
youdre perky, o he noted to her.

She gave him a smile. Al just fiiMiedlsed t a
granting my request. o

ATo?0

ABreed, 06 she answered directly. AHe says
but thatods just his pride talking. He i s my
ASo, it seems that t he troo uynodu,oof hiempteenadsiendg.
She | aughed. il 6d been thinking of asking
little cubs about. o

ASo, how does that work?0 Jason asked curi
your soci al i fe. O

Shegrinnedathimi The mal es my father deems as wort
me wi | | compete for my attention, d she answe
interest will sire my cubs. 0

AMarriage, eh?0

AOnly the clan | eader mat e sauséleorsheisthe, Jaso
only one permitted to breed at will. After the sire impregnates me, he is out of the
picture. It is the sole duty of the female
AAh, so thatodés why the male clan | eader ma
of fspring, 0 he mused.

AVery in5|ghtful,(‘) Mi aar i said with an app
AAnd men hav no say in things?0o

ANot in the ra|5|ng, but the honor of the
chil dren perfor m wserdised. Ifthdydo psorly iteindpactsiore put at i on
him. o

AAnd he has no say in raising the chil d?
Al't was his decision to pursue the female,
embarrass him, 0 she sai d <svainlpdfgmaleston Mal es e xt
ensure they wil!/l be good mothers before they

AWel | |, | guess thatoés fair, o0 Jason acceded



Alt already has, 0 she smiled. i Msionf at her

to breed two hours ago, and hebdés already qui
which is how a male decl ares his intention t
that a Handmai den makes her sedmile avail abl e, o
AArrogant bitch, 0 he teased.

AThat i s an effectively correct statement,
considered ditchin your English since | am a female canine that has children. In

Ki mdor i, | 6m of ficialbleyx aaiskei tt dm wmt ialvali dmbp r
waggled her tail. Al think | know whods goi
AAl ready? And just how did you pull of f t
ABec Kraatmade an inquiry! o sHmeKsaald! oher tail
AOkay, endnkKdatderus 0 he prompted.

AHeds the only other | iving Handservant to

A He d&Handgroomas | am déHandmaiden Much as | am put here by Denmother to
babysit you, Kraal is the official ambassador to the Skaa Enpikkeep them out of
mischief. If not for the Faey bias against males, he would be ambassador to the

| mperium rather than Jinaami. 0
AAh. So, he must be good. 0o
AHevetygood, and would be a fantastic sire toc«

statusdoes not give him a free pass to my bed. He musimy attention, and | will put
him through his paces even harder than the o

she grinned expectantly. ASuch a twmwering r
prove worthy of it.o

AAnd | thought female humans played hard t
get to start | ooking over the merchandi se?0
AThat has already started as well, 0 she gr

APoems?0

A A IKdoerimmale must woo me, Jason, with both the reputation of his deeds and his
ability to hold my interest. Kimdori females adore poetry, so many males work very hard
to be good poets. A male must have a quick mind, a sterling reputation, admirable

physicalt r ai t s, and the respect of his c¢clan | ead
decl ared |l oftily. AAnd since | am a Handmai
Jason | aughed again, even | ouder. Al 6d wa

wor k, 0o he told he
AYou haaeam ¢ hahe snorted, slashing her tail

anyway, even if you were Kimdori.liveher e, si |l |y mal e, |l 6ve seen
behind the curtains. Youbd be a terrible si
fiTouche 6 he chuckbed. mi iNowugefrym bet ween yo
talk about something. o
They debated the idea of trying to take-P& with Cybi for most of the afternoon,
discussing the problems of trying to establish a foothold deep in Consortium territory and
the advantges it would contain, such as causing the Consortium to focus-@2PR
rather than Karis; they couldndét all ow that
PR-253. The downside was that it would give the Consortium leave to practice breaching
anin erdictor in their home territory, as it w

sending a fleet deep into hostile space and far removed from any reinforcements or



support and at the mercy of Kimdori ECM, which would be a nightmare for about any
civili zation. In the end, after Miaari raised several such valid arguments, they decided to
discuss the matter with the rulers and ask for some advice from the War Room and the
upper command staff of the White House.

But, the talk with Miaari had reaffirmedse t hi ng t o hi mét hat | ife
the Consortium had their backs to the wall, and their very survival was on the line. But
life had to go on. Miaari was going to have more children. His wifeaamddoraiwere
pregnant with his children, and Symeowas pregnant as well. And there were other
important things going on, things to do, such as teach Aura how to fly and teach Rann
how to play the piano.

Life must go on, even in the midst of this war.

And life, Jason decideayouldgo on.
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Operational Control Complex, Berraga, Bellar (Kariniaperium Protectorate
Planet)

For many, this was as much a statement as the declarations had been, and it was an
event broadcast throughout what was now being called the Confederation, or the
Confederacy.
It was official now. The militany allianc
formalized as an official confederation of two independent empires, formalizing
diplomatic, military, and economic ties. The terms of the confederation were very clear
in that the two empires would retain their heightened level of cooperation and
interdependence, operating as a single sovereign military entity, until the threat of the
Consortium was neutralized, when the two empires would return to their sovereign states.
Until then, however, Dahnai and Ski&&mrae had
cooperation with the Entry Station between their empires, where each one did their own
thing, but they kept each other informed of what they were doing. The Confederation
di dndot give SkdéVrae the authori vigevarsa, butt he
but it was definitely a step in the right direction. The two empires had been operating
|l i ke a single entity since theyodédd entered in
Warti me Confederation they©ordssigi gned were | it
Zaa had declined to enter into it, but nobody expected the Kimdori to do it anyway.
This ceremony was as much window dressing as the Articles had been, but it was also
very important for both sides. This was the fbif demonstration to botsides that they
were in this together, because it was the Imperium that had invelstegamount of
resources into a planet that they didndot tec
complete, and the enti&annand every clan leader of the clahat made up the Urumi
Collective were in attendance to witness the ceremonial activation of the radiation shield
the Master Builders of the Academy had const
and the source of the most dangerous aspect of miningethet, the lethal radiation.



The shiel d wa-stotheproblempsingeithera Wwould be mmbient radiation
on Bellar until it was cleaned up by Kimdafesigned radiation sweepers, but it was the
biggest piece of the puzzle. In two montlhe tadiation levels on Bellar would be low
enough to allow the population to leave the domes without radiatgnt& which were
significantly more bulky and expensive than standasiiEs.

It was a chance to see the Urumi power structure, which weer ianique as
governments went. The clan leaders formed a unicameral house of sorts, a congress that
worked with the Brood Queen, a lineage of Urumi who belonged tdan and thus
were given the responsibility to rule outside of the clan structueamdyfthat had been
specifically chosen for the task, or in the
rule by divine providence due to the unique
line.

The things one | ear nBrdo oad oQue eom eDksd M rra ee nadnsc
Brood Princesses could reproduce without a male, in effect creating offspring which were
clones of themselves. All other Urumi required a male and a female to reproduce, but the
line of the Brood Queen could produce childrethauit being impregnated. In fact, they
hadto, since any male sire would belong to a clan, and that would pollute the lineage of

t he Brood Queends family by giving a clan a
children, all female just like her,wee i n ef fect c¢clones of SkoVr a
didndét | ook just | ike her. There was just e
random mutations in their DNA, that made t he

exact copies.

Anotheroddi ty was that t hecoBdpwduckahidevehrad s f a mi |
male if the princess so wished, but taking a mate like that meant that the princess had to
abdicate her title and join her husbandds cl

had done just that. And TedbPral 6s -chil dren
reproduction. It was a unique aspect of the line of the Brood Queen only so long as that
|l ineage was pur e. Only #fAvirgin dbiQutehedn 6dsa u g h

line, had that unique ability.

Even more odd was that the Brood Qud&hhave male mates, and produced
children with them, though those children were not Brood Princesses. In fact, the Brood
Queen had 23 ceremonial mates, one male from eable @ clans that made up the
Collective. One, however, wageal mate, her husband of sorts, and the children from

that union were part of the ruling family of
heavily protected and not often seenin Faeyesécy , Sk o6 Vr aeds husband w
command staff of her navy, Queenodés Admiral X
entire Ur umi militaryéand that position was

brilliant military tactician. But where the Brood Queeasapermitted to have mates, her
princesses were not.
The Brood Queends rule wasnodot absolute, si
duties, responsibilities, and powers, but that was only on paper. Since the Collective saw
the line of the Brood Queen ading through divine providence, the reality was that the
Brood Queendés power was essentially absol ute
would never openly defy the Brood Queen in public, though they did often voice
concerns and objections to soofdhe things she did in private.



It was almost amusing to see the Urumi clan leaders interact wi8igha Urumi
were very serious, almost dour people, possessed of a very reserved nature, but they did
have rather subtle senses of humor. They ka®Biannas a frivolous group, given to
vaporish chatter and wasteful gossiping, and the Grand Duchesses were a bit put off by

the clan | eaders stuffy, austere manneri sms.
when they wanted to be, it was that tlae¥ need to socialize was very much different
from Urumi social custom, where smalltal k wa

momentarily of unimportant matters then either speak of matters of substance or be quiet.
That was diametrically opposedRaey socializing, where matters of import were only
breached after lengthy social chatter.
There were, however, important things going on today, though Jason was not in the
middle of it. Though he was a very important element of their war effort antthdar
of both Dahnai and SkoVrae, the political re
leader of the houses 8fann and had no special standing when in official Imperial
functions. As a result, he was relegated back with the Grand Duchessed tdenie
podium, denied a place with the | eaderséand
Karinnes much preferred to operate in the background, like the Kimdori or the Trefanis,
allowing others to stand in the light and allow them to do their work witkaeityone
watching them. He was more than happy to let Dahnai stand up there and blow kisses to
the cameras and make the flowery speech she was making at that moment about Faey
Urumi cooperation and how they were coming closer and closer together.
Even anong the other house leaders, Jason preferred to be somewhat separate from
them. When he had to mix while at court, he stayed more or less with Anya Surrale, one
of his few friends within th&iann Her housebébs management of t
effort hadmade them work together quite a bit, and that close contact had cultivated an
earnest friendship between them. The two of them were standing at the edge of the
gathering with Yila Trefani, who had quickly infiltrated herself into Karinne affairs. Her
work with 3D had gotten her foot in the door, and that foothold let the cunning, charming
woman make all kinds of connections within his house, both social and business. For
example, he knew for a fact -hushartangenfe@sd d been
with Kumi, no doubt the two of them coming up with schemes to swindle the rest of the
known universe. Jason would tolerate it, if only because Yila was very smart, he needed
her, and those arrangements would probably benefit Karinne as well as Trefani.

Yila certainly enjoyed | ooking the part of
given her an interface to use while on Karis
as a comm device when off the planet, which meant that they allowed her tbhakesi
with her. Unl i ke Dahnai és original i nterfac

interface were the upgraded models which allowed them to use command thought to
emulate voice communications. As a result, Yila almost never took it of§ she
rather liked having instant contact with almost anyone without having to speak, so she
could fAsendo her conversations via command t
even a listener could pick it up when someone interacted with an interfacelavéhat
Leave it to Yila to find a way to exploit something to her advantage.
Trelle, that woman can drone on and on andtba,foxfaced Yila complained
sharply to the two of them, sending privately.



Sometimes I think being able to bullshit behinddipm is a job requirement for
sitting on the throneAnya agreed with a cheeky smil&o, Jason, when are you going to
come out of hiding and return to court?
If I can help it, neverhe answered with a snort and disgust leeching into his thought,
which made Anya giggle in her annoying voice and Yilachuckl&dd r at her shave
giruzi than go to court.
But we miss you, Jasofinya winked at him.We used to love watching Yila resist
trying to strangle you with her bare hands every time you passed by.
Hush, womanyila sniffed, which made Anya laugh. That drew a few harsh looks at
her from the other Highborns.
So, wedbve been hearing that the HAnymf anis a
sent urgingly, trying to drag it out of them.
We 6 v e ddodook irdoea few mutual business opportunitélg sent evasively.
All those trips to Karis, | should hope #nyawinked.You dve been spendi nq
time on Karis than Draconis, Yila.
Actually, those trips were war business, not house busijeess) addedl needed
the advice of an irredeemable pirate blackheart, and, well, here ydwegoptioned at
Yila. Yila slapped him on the elbow lightly, which made him chuckteall
seriousness, Yilads been helypbamgeffecivélyh t he wa
too, | might add.
Not all wars are fought with guns and shigda sent simply. As Jason well knows.
You know it. So, how are the quotas looking this cycle?
Dondét you dar e AnyaprotdstedWedIrle W a8 ikwhags @b ou
going on behind the scenes here.
Il f we told you, well, thereodoYlade® an openin
cheekily.
Yila and Jason probably got a little mean with Anya by stonewalling her about what
they were doing, but Anya took it fainyell. She was like that, and it was one of the
reasons he liked her. Anya was much more earthy than the other Highborns, probably
because she had no Imperial aspirations to speak of. The ceremony certainly gave them
time to talk. Dahnai spoke for ngaall of it, nearly half an hour, which was stark
contrast to SkoOoVraeds three minute decl arat.
After the ceremony, the Master Builders of the Academy, Makati and Kizzik mainly,
of fered both SkoVrae and Dahnaurnedthethonl e swi t c
The huge holographic i mage of Bellards moon,
shield take shape, starting as lines of coherent energy between the satellites, and then
expanding, filling in between them in all directions, until the emtic®n was encased in
a coherent energy field that would trap the radiation inside, and then be safely leeched off
to prevent particle buildup inside the containment area. The radioactive particles
t hemselves had certain vesbldiodf. Bvewyormo me, so t he
applauded when the shield took form, and that was basically that. The ceremony was
over.
But the ceremony wasnoét the only bit of bu
by Aya and the guards, and they boarded his heavily aam&érmored dropship to
return to theDreamer part of the new security protocols. Any time Jason left Karis, Aya
would not be satisfied with putting him in anything smaller than a battleship. And as



usual, the captain, Joint Admiral Marayi Karinne, veghhim in her quarters during the
trip so he would be close to the bridge and so she could show him proper hospitality. H
didndét mind, because Marayi 6s quarters were
archeological artifacts, Marayi was a movig,rand Terrasproduced posters of many
Faey classics were all over her walls, including, much to his surprise, an original poster
from the old Terran classRaiders of the Lost Arkkcomplete with a brown fedora and
coiled whip on a stand under the posteuch like the blaster and monomolecular sword
used by Hanae the Huntress in Hntressmovie series rested on a stand under a poster
from the original movie.
Jason picked up the whip and found that it was real enough, much as the
monomolecular sword &s a real one, a very real reproduction of the movie prop.
Their destination wasnodét Karis, it was Ter
as theDreamerand his ten escorts, a task force protecting the Grand Duke, made their
way to the Stargateading to Aurigae, which would give them access to the other
Stargates to get them to Terra, a trip that would take about 90 minutes due to the three
St argates they6éd have to travel to and use:
Draconis to TerraJason put the whip down and took the panel Aya offered him, then he
sat down and started reading up on what was going on.
Their warnings had taken hold.
Jason was going to meet with a dignitary arranged by the Academy in secret.
Officially he was ther¢o visit the Academy and have lunch with Kiaari, but secretly he
was going to meet with diplomats arranged by the Zyagya. The Zyagya wanted to meet
with him because relations between the Alliance and the Zyagya had been deteriorating
asof late. TheZyaga wer e an wunaffiliated Aempiredo of
surrounded by Alliance space, but that wasnbo
them more than once. Quite simply put, there was nothing in the entire universe more
scary than aangry Zyagyan. They were bipedal badg®etverine looking creatures,
and they had the temperament of a wolverine in spades. They were the most tenacious,
nastiest fighters in the entire galaxy, and of that fact there was absolutely no dispute, by
anyore. However, they werendét an aggressive sp
actually peacdoving beings who were very isolationist and wanted to be left alone, it
was just that if they were forced to fight, they threw themselves into it like it was a
religious experience. The Alliance had learned the hard way that the last thing anyone
ever wanted to do was make the Zyagya angry. The Alliance and the Zyagya had had
amicable relations the last couple of centuries, a Zyagyan even sat in on the Alliance
council meetings as a neutral observer, but now the Zyagya wanted to meet with Jason in
secret, and most definitely a secret from the Alliance. Not even Zaa was entirely sure
what they wanted, since she had hgbonchil dren
the list of priorities, because so long as they were left alone, the Zyagya were quite happy
to get along with everyone.
Marayi wandered in after they made their first Stargate crossing to Aurigae and
flopped down on one of the couches in hertprarWe 6 r e about twenty mini
the Draconis gateshe told them easily, brushing her bamlgite hair out of her brilliant
| avender eyes. Marayi 0s eyes Weerdoea eh earb omadst
an hour out from Terra, Jason.



Sound | i ke wedr e JasonquddéedSon whaeds!| with the 1n
hat?
Marayi laughed.Well, for one, Harrison Ford wasl@ndsomenan back in his
prime,she winked.And | loved that movie. | saw it in the middle of the night on Terra
TV not long after the network started up. Given a choice between watching Kaera
Huranne or Harrison Ford Kaeraluraansewasthéstat | t ake
of theHuntressmovie series, nine movies in a series about a rogue starship commander
andher crew of pirates dodging every government and organized mercenary organization
in the sector that tried to stop them as they searched for a mythical place calleg the
Nexus which supposedly held the greatest secret in the galaxy. It was an aelventu
movie series much in the spirit of the Indiana Jones movies, just with starships and
MPACSs rather than whips and machine guhkave getting replicas of the movie props
too, i1Itdos part of my collection, amdnd you <can
whi p. Just as much as you canbé6t be a Jarae
least what they call a blaster anywafe chuckled. Karinne Pulse weapons were often
calledblastersor pulse blaster@n the military, because of the spectacw@iect they had
when they hit something.
Faey and their collectiondason chuckledt swear, youdre a race o]
Faey women like trophieshe winked in replyHusbands are just the trophy proving
we get some every night.
Well, that explaie Ku mi 6 s p aJasan mused, Wheck mhadeoMuarayi laugh.
The task force got him to Terra just a bit before noon local time, and he descended to
the Academy for his lunch date with Kiaari. Jason still managed to get out to see his old
friend as mub as he could as time permitted, trying to have lunch with her at least once a
takir. She greeted him at his private landing pad, giving him a rough, warm hug and
|l icking his cheek playfully, then scrabbling

need this with me around, 0 she smiled.

ABl ame her, o0 he said, jerking a thumb at A
in my house. 0

AMeani e, 0 Kiaari wi nked. nWel | |, l unch is
chili con carne. o

AChil nh@&@s &oad! o

AThe culinary arts program i s on their Ter

told him. Their lunches had exposed Jason to quite a lot of different foods, since Kiaari
allowed the students in the culinary arts program to prepare thdirsmega and t hey di d
justt earn how to cook one cultureds feoods. Ja
Bari, Shio, Urumi, Moridon, and Skaa cuisine in addition to human and Faey food, and
found that sometimes it was pot luck. He rather liked Skaa &dock it was meat
heavy, rich, and hearty, but he hated Makati food, which was unbelievably bland. A
Makati chef cooking in their traditions did not know wisptceswere. Menoda ate
everything raw, since they were an aquatic species, but there waa hititd seasoning
that went on with Menodan dishes that made them interesting.
The guards ate at a separate table in the cafeteria as they sat down to eat, again part of
their habit, to reinforce the Karinne ownership of the Academy. They talked of
unimportant matters, just catching up, and Jason found the food to be quite delicious.



After | unch, however, they got down to bus
office, and from there they used her secret exit to go tocladoffice in the basemerutf
the engineering building. Waiting for him there was a Zyagya, and just seeing one face
to face was an intimidating experience. The Zyagya was seven feet tall, covered in
grayishblue fur everywhere but two black stripes that went up the outsides afrhs,
hidden under his blue jumpsuit, and a black rdaskband over his eyes, like a badger
or raccoon. The tips of his triangul ar wears
said in a deep voice, bowing quite gracefully, then offering afiogered hand, each
finger thick and heavy and tipped with a wicked unretractable claw that could probably
rip a human apart in short order i f wused as
service. o
AAmbassador, 0 Jason retuceedoomoddi GBlgal lo wa
Jason, the Zyagyan, and Kiaari entered the conference room with Dera and Aya to

serve as Jasonds guards. Graw curl ed his bu
Jason and Kiaari seated themselves, and he got right to thenpt . AWe have r eas:s
believe the Alliance is about to make anothe
made Kiaari whistl e. ATheydve held six secr
ears of our observer, which is a violation of the yreatwe si gned. Thereds a
of Alliance forces around our border. They
center of Alliance territory so they can res

AThat 6s seri ous efnYoouug hh,adv eJ ansoo ns ogl riudn tperdo.o f 't
He shook his big head, one of his chops rising enough to let Jason see one of his four
inch | ong fangs. ANot hing solid, nothing co
histories and traditions, and we see nowtwwhawe 6 ve seen the | ast ti me
with the Alliance. We believe the attack will be unprovoked and out of nowhere to try to
take us by surprise. o

AKi aari ?0 Jason asked.

AThis I s news to me, my friend, aorshe said
does make a point. Il 611 start digging, and

AWell, what can we do for you, Ambassador ?
reason to come to me. o

AWe want to buy or | easerede ofilymedi abheéy

Altdés not quite that eadyi, Ambassador. Wi

AWe don6ét care about having access in or o

self-sufficient. We can live without Alliance trade. All we care about is protecting
Zyagya from attack. o

Jason | ooked at Kiaari, who simply shrugge
Ambassador, but i1tds stil]l not quite as easy
interdictors are the only thing protecting us from the Consortium,@ndw an o6t j ust | e
one out of our control. I f we agree to this
the interdictod i

AName your terms, o0 the Zyagyan interrupted
All that matters to us is protecting our soverg nt y . 0

AMaking a deal with a Faey splinter house

chuckl ed. AYou know how the Faey are, Ambas



AThe HousenotKhei hmpeirsum, 0 he decl ared bl un

be between Zyagya and the$e Karinnenott he | mper i um. 0

AAny terms?0 Jason asked.

AAs | ong as they are fair, o0 he answered si
AAlIl right. Wedll send you an interdictor

force of six Karinne ships to Zyagya whose primary and campésponsibility is to
defend the interdictor. The interdictor stays there so long as Zyagya is not threatened by

the Consortium, Ambassador. We canodot risk t
and learning how they work so they can get arount the Consortium sends an attack
fl eet against Zyagya | arger than we feel <can
AAs will the Zyagya, o0 he said cal mly. i We
any more than an Alliance yoke. In the case the Zyaugyst flee homeworld, we
demand sanctuary in Karinne territory, behin
ADeal , 0 Jason said i mmediately. Al think
comes down to that. Il t 6 s ranobodyrd everl anet f ar
bot her you. oo
AThat i s our primary objective in all thin
AWaillneed a Stargate there, o0 Jason grunted.
think | can swing #ak. Dalhélali .®ave to really s
Al f anyoneanualoraj 0y K a@aamnm, wi nked.
AfWe can place the terminus Stargate here a
AActual l vy, itéd have to go to the Terra Entr

havetwogt es t here, one to Terra and one to Zya:
AThe gate would have to be protected by Zy
use, 0 the Ambassador decl ared.
AThat 6s fair, o0 Jason agreed. ABut theyoéd
forces. If you can bargain a limited military cooperation treaty out of Dahnai and
SkﬁVrae concerning the defense of that Starg
Confederate?0 the Zyagyan asked curiously
Tha tés what theyoére cal |l hehtnperitnhamdns el ves, 0
CoIIectlve entered a formal confederation ag
calling the military forces Confederate forces, because in that respect, the two empires
are acting as one. Two nations, one military until the Consonti ar e def eat ed. 0

1 R 1

AWebd heard about the articles, but hearin
smiled, which was a bit chilling given his teeth were all sharp and widading.

AVery wel . I f we can secumwecandogacooperati o
bargain on the interdictor?o0

AWe can, 0 Jason nodded. AnAnd wedd better

cut our visit short. | 61 | Drearkeeso ebamtalR mb as s ad

to Dahnai and San@el theatwo.of us Batkitormly dropship uncler the

tabl e?0

ALi ke | canét manage under the table, 0 she
things arranged. o

The Zyagyan sighed in relief. AThank Skar
Leade told me not to come home until | had this deal struck, that the safety of all Zyagya

was i n my paws. 0



AwWell , weoll make sure you can get home so
is more or less what | offered to everyone before we closed offriberium and

Coll ective. Wedre more than willing to help
intruding ourselves in your business. 0

AThat is why | am here, 0 he said with a no
of truth. Should Empress Dahnaihm&da de t hi s of fer , |l woul d not

Jason pondered the significance of it as Kiaari called his dropship off the pad and had
it pull into a large bay in the back of the engineering building where students looked over
ships and other large mobile tsjia place where Kiaari often embarked or disembarked
passengers in secret. If the Zyagya were that worried, that nervous, about the Alliance,
then the Shio couldndét be very far behind th
far side of the Impedim, which put them within striking distance. The equalizer,
however, was that the Shio were heavily armed with Torsion weaponry, including about
1500 mobile weapon platform satellites scattered through the 4 systems and 6 planets or
moons the Shio inhalaitl, which were fearsome defenses. A single platform could
destroy an enemy ship, and when there were 200 of them bristling around a planet
backing up any orbital stations or defensive ships present at the planet, well, that would
make any attacker thinkvice.

That was why there were now nearly 3,000 of those platforms in orbit around Karis,
and more were added every day.

It was an honestly pleasant trip back to Bellar, because Ambassador Graw was a
surprisingly good conversationalist. Jason figured hiaa to be a job requirement for a
di pl omat, and it also proved that the Zyagya
as the Moridon looked extremely intimidating and were actually pacifistic in nature, the
Zyagya looked brutish, like the Goragat lmere actually highly intelligent. Graw was a
typical Zyagyan, however, in his love of sports. Zyagyans were the ultimate sports fans
in the galaxy, because the concept of the game, of competition at its noblest form,
resonated in their cultural identiin a way it did for no other race. Evolved from
animals with a pack mentality, like the Kimdori, the Zyagya idolized team sports as the
ultimate expression of how cooperation brought about victory. And being large, physical
creatures, Zyagya had embedcAmerican Football to a degree that made the most rabid
human football fan look like a granny by comparison. The formalized rules of territorial
acquisition and the velocity and power of the game were close to the Zyagyan national
sport, which could béde described as a cross between rugby and no holds barred
wrestling, so football had become popular as a less violent, more structured version of
their game, which had no name. It was simply knomthagjameon Zyagya, but off of
their home world, it \as known by the Zyagyan word fgame which wasggrazkaut

There was one issue of contention, however. Graw was a Jets fan, and Jason, being
from Maine, was a Patriots fan. But they laughingly agreed to disagree on that point.

They spent most of theiprtalking football, of all things, and Jason was stunned that
Graw knew more about the history, strategy, and players of football than some ESPN
analysts. Graw was also quite the expert on the European Premiere soccer league and the
Interstellar Batchi bague, the major league of batchi in the Imperium. It also showed
Jason that some things could cross racial and governmental boundaries. Batchi was
growing to be a popular sport on Taérthough Jason suspected that men liked to watch
batchi to watch sldeFaey women wearing sports bras and tight shorts running around



the field® even as football, baseball, and soccer were rather popular in the

| mperi uméand probably for the same reason ba

Professionally, there was now an IBL teamTeerra. The Warriors, one of four IBL

teams in the Arctus system, had moved to New

games had sold out the entire season, at least so far, despite the fact that the Warriors

were close to the cellarintheirdMsn and had no hope of playing

Crown this year, a bona fide Imperial crown donated by a Merrane Empress nearly two

hundred years ago that served as the championship trophy of the league. Outside of the

IBL, there were human batchi teamslaninor batchi leagues on Terra, and though

football hadnét taken hold in the I mperium vy

had become a popular game to play. Soccer leagues had popped up all over the

Imperium, and it was quickly becoming the @e@ most popular sport among young girls

behind batchi. Baseball as well had gained a significant foothold in the Imperium, and

was more popular among boys than girl s, qgui c

| mperium much as sorfttobaolnl Twearsr at.he Agirl 6s sp
AHuh, 0 Jason chuckl| ed a@rdzlaurto I&m, whichweexep | ai ned

pretty few and far between, where injuring your opponents to get them off the field was

as much a tactic as claiming the entire field by placing flag magtexgery flag point on

the field, which was the condition of wvictor
field, though the intentional killing of an opponent was the highest form of poor
sportsmanship. AYou know, Oympicdal cel ebr at es
AAh yes, the Olympics! o Graw interrupted.
ago! |l enjoyed watching your hockey!o
AWhy am | not surprised you know about the
we could get your peopleto contestae x hi bi ti on match of the gan
Al 6m sure it could be arranged, though man

perhaps too bloody for them. | know of no Terran or Faey sport that counts opponents
injured and removed dtrioom ol ay as a pl ayer ds

AWe could put wup disclaimers, o Jason chuck
Al think we could arrange it, your Grace, 0
various | eagues and see whodéds interested. F
take up the offer andontest each other, which is something we rarely see at home. It

would make it very interesting.o

By the time they reached Bellar, Jason was fully at ease with Graw, and he was fairly
sure that Dahnai would like him.

Dahnai and SkéVyaérwwdose ohtergueddbwhil e J
listened in as observers, the two of them haggled with Graw over his request, trying to
drag the Zyagya into a formal alliance against the Consortium. Graw looked brutish, but
he proved that he was a wily politicias he artfully evaded their traps, and managed to
bargain a fair and equitable agreement out of the two matriarchs where the Zyagya
defended the Stargate leading to their home system, the Karinnes defended the gate and
interdictor within Zyagyan territoryand the Zyagya would have a small office in the
Terra Entry Station where they could coordinate what little traffic would use the Stargate.
Graw wasnot | ying when hsafficediTdeyhad wetyfetv he Zyag
formal trade agreementdtiv other nations, so there was only a trickle of traffic in and
out of their lone system. Outside of Karinne ships, their Stargate would only see use



maybe twice a week. Zaa managed to touch Graw at the tail end of it, just before they

took a break,and he | mparted Grawbés mind to Jason as
AHe is sincere, o0 she declared to him. nOr a
Zyagya have any wulterior motives, he doesnot
believe him. The Alliance has a long history of trying to either conquer or lure Zyagya

into their government . That they are thinki

Al woul dndét put it past t hem. Theyodre in

alwaysbeen a thorn in their sides. A sovereign state smack dab in the exact center of
Al'liance territory.o

When Zaa told Dahnai and SkoéVrae that her
treachery, Graw waited as official documents were drawn up. It tamk akx hours for
Graw and the two rulers to hammer out every detail, requiring several drafts of the treaty,
but by about midnight Karis time, they had a
it, Graw signed it on behalf of the Leader, the-slel€riptive title of the Zyagyan ruler,
and then Jason personally took Graw back to Terra so they could formalize the agreement
between Karinne and Zyagya. That only took about an hour, where the duties and
responsibilities of each side were spelled out, Jawbn made sure to stress in the
language that the interdictor would be pulled if the Consortium threatened Zyagya with a
force deemed too large to repel, and also that the Zyagya had the right to relocate to Karis
and Exil e 1 f t hatAcatlemypambassadbr.getinfotth with Kigao u r

when youbére ready, 0 he reminded hi m. A We c a
two hours after you give usthegoh e ad . 0
AExpect it in about two days, o0 Gtlaw nodded

time to get ready. o

A We 61 | move as soon as youobre ready. o
AVery good. It was a good day, your Grace
Al'tés al ways a good day when someone goes

i ness, and

There was House business, themtee was pri vate bus
the Grand Du

was just as busy as his I|life as
live, not spend every moment fearing the Consortium.

The day after meeting Graw was busy. Jason did have a lairkftevdo with 3D
and his house duties, but he managed to squeeze in some personal time as well. He had
lunch with Jyslin, a lunch date where no business was discasa#idthen he devoted
some time training Rann in telekinesis after he got home. Rashgotten the hang of it,
and now he could move small objects without much trouble. Jason was teaching him the
finesse aspects of the ability, how to manipulate things delicately, and his son was
quickly getting good. Danelle as well was expressingdiekinetic ability, but Myleena
had been the one teaching her. After the lessons, he had dinner with the family, Tim, and
Symone, but after dinner he went out on a date. That was the strange part, at least for a
human. Here he was, happily marriedt be went out on a literal date with Aura, taking

her to see one of the | ocal opera companies.
it up, because in Faey society, husbands were expected to socialize with single friends
thatway. Andjustlikemny dates, they ended up in Aur aod:

Aura was his one guilty pleasure. He enjoyed her in ways that almost made him feel
guilty, and it was nothing but pure physical attraction. Theirs was an almost textbook



friendship in Faey society, bause they did like each other, were very good friends, but

they also each thought the other was drop dead sexy, so they explored that physical

attraction. He spent nearly as much time with Yana, but that was a case of being what

Yana neededdenythdthe enjoyed itdbatdhat time was for Yana, not for

him. Going out with Aura was fdrim. Jyslin not only approved of their relationship,

she often set them up on their dates, something virtually no human wife would ever do.

But that was becae of the power of the telepathic pair bond. Jyslin knew beyond

absolutely any shadow of any doubt that sh

di dndot see extramarital affairs as any Kkin

whatsoever. Besideshe liked him coming home and telling her all about it, and maybe

learning something new to use with her.

It was at Aurads house where his staff had

night with her. Her vidlink was beeping demandingly, waking tlmand Aura

groaned and threw an arm over him as he sat up enough to see what the ruckus was.

Aurads vidlink was giving the emergency warn

about dangerous situations or impending attacks, then it came on by itselfhehzall

request riding under that warning siren wasn
tr

e
d

moni tor, and then the vidlinkdés hol o i deo
version of her face into the air in front of the unit.

AYour Grey ec al I1Se d. AWake up. o

AShey, 6 Jason growled, Aunless therebés a C
of my house, |l am going to skin you.o

ADond6t bl ame me, your Grace, I 6m just f ol
of aslight smiletoushng her el egant eyebrows. ATher ebs
awaiting your i mmediate attention.o

AFrom?o

AKi aari . Wait one moment . Now that youor
Who is that?Aura asked, putting both hands over her face. The move ptighed

covers down to reveal her exquisitely |l ovely
down and fondling one. Aura giggled girlishly and moved her hands enough to give him
asultrylook Donét start. I think yowadteitherebout t o

us to leave here frustrated.
Actual l y, t hhbhetagreed, emaoviagl his kandp But hetid overtly ogle
her, which made her grin preeningly at hiBut do keep your schedule open later today.
For?
Didnot you waotftg?l edrnohdwyou | 6d teach
empty platitude, woman.
Oooh! Yes! You call and | 611 be there!
Kiaari 6s face appeared, and she grinned to
something, 0 she noticed.
AYes, me thmenatodrdimgrmwidcd painful deat h f
grunted, whi ch made Kiaar. | augh. AnKi aari,
AA pleasure to meet you, o0 Aura said in imp
Exiles had been working very hard to masterdh@nges in the language, so they could
more easily integrate. The vast majority of the Exiles still lived just off Embraijn, but a
few, like Aura, had moved into the general Karinne population. Aura had already chosen



her professi on shefnskzedhesldnguagd wotk@andanbsteed the
basics of modern technology. Aura wanted to be a pilot, a commercial dropship pilot,

and Jason was going to personally train her
hedédd already Ihta,d @anearofpsthheg Karii nne model s f
her personal wuse. But to be a commercial pi

got a job, that or a KarinneXx line of personnel transports, ranging from thg&0R, an

8 passenger dropshif the P680, a massive 600 seat passenger liner, twice the size of a
Boeing 777. A Class 3 rated commercial pilot could pilot any of them. The Karinne P
series were most commonly used by the house to move people around, but they were
mainly used to mee workers up to Kosigi and back down.

ASo this is the girlfriend, o6 Kiaari grinne
her of f. Looks | i ke shebs got a | ot to show
AShebs moderately spectacul ar when, sheds n
whi ch made Aura smile rakishly. ANow why ar
She snorted. AThe word got out, Jayce. I

of what the Zyagya intend to do, and theydre
Sister Mimmi tells g that the Alliance jumped a fleet into Zyagyan territory as a threat to
try to force them to join the Alliance. The Zyagyan ambassador here is begging for you

to move the interdictor and Stargate as soon
AWell , shit, o HBiamohbélghrugeéetedit @mdeilhg right
AWi Il do. Lunch?o
AOnly i f itéds here. o
ASounds good to me, I havendt seen Rann in
Her face vanished, and Jason sighed and leaned béek. | I guess wor kos
henotedYoudre absolutely prophetic, Aura.
I spent too many y esheansweredsdridugy. Chi eftessbd ¢
|l dondt doubt it. [ Cybi, patch me through

[Certainly. Go ahead.]

[ Alright Shey, whods there?]

[lam,] My r i 0 scame @verccemmunioriKiaari warned us something big was
going on. What are your orders?]

[We need to move the Zyagya interdiatorv. Get the task force going and go get

t he Stargate moving out of Draconi s. I t 6s a
[Alrig h t . The ships are already on standby,
minutes.]
[ Sounds good. Warn the War Room while you
interdictor and Stargate are being positione
[Alright.]
[ Whobs sl ated for the first Zyagya picket
[Tr el | ednsnan@ingfthe new tactical cruiser, a cruiser and three destroyers.

Umm, theRevengeand Aravalo, with theVeriven, Merro, andTikanne] Hiae had
decided to keep the narRevengdor her ship, just as Jeya had decided to keep the name
Steadfasfor hers.

[ Jaiya, eh? Good, sheodoll keep a handle on
TES?]



[Outside of the usual picket task force? Tedfersorand its task force are pulling a
hot response sentry waAbaréixand beutask fortednlatboutb e r e p |
nine hours. |l t6s duty rotation day. ]

[Alright. Put the TES pickets on hot standby, just in case.]

[You expecting trouble?]

[ No, but if itthappeags Jal yddsdtaswamiut a wi
see. | want help there within two minutes if she calls for it.]

[ You got it. Wedl |l send the orders down.

[ I guess hdgluditedbet t er , ]

[ Al right . We 61 | g ecornetrdady foiiyou.Jay out of our

[Oh, ha ha, ha ha, ha halje retorted dryly, which made Myri laugbera! he

boomed. Not even visiting Aura was allowed without escort, though when he went on

dates with Aura, he only had two guards with him. Dera and Sheackathpanied him

on his date last night, and had stayed the night to protect the Grand Duke while he had his

fun with Aura.Der a, we gotta go! Whereds my ar mor ?
Well, it was scattered all over the living room, hallway, stairs, upper hallway, and the

outd de of Aur ads b edherepbethcheekilpWVe cdllected up whiatg h t

we could find, but webdre missigshgtrillad coupl e of
naughtily.

Okay, so | was in a hurrne retorted coolly, which made Aura grimheAlliance is
on the move, so things are serious today. I

managed to get past the door.

He did get one more really good kiss out of Aura and got his hands in a few place that
she enjoyed hi m joydimaditouthgng énaugh, thein Beratbtougkt n
in his armor for him. Aura sat demurely on her legs in the bed and watched him start to
put on his armor, a slight smile on her face as she sent privately with Dera.

AYeah, yeah, ke e mloudadhk& stanted bucklinh &is boeastptate a s e d
and backpiece together.

Al 6m just telling her about the opera, 0 Au
ASuuuuure, 0 he drawled, which made Aura gi
come to lunch and meetuKbaari ? Shedd | ove t
Al dd | ove to. Il s Jyslin going to be there
AShoul d be, her and Rann, 0 he answered.
AThen 1 61l1 be there.o

ASounds | i ke a date. o

ANot the fun kind, 0 she winked.

AYou just had the fun kind. Now | ive with
Aura had her morning akses, so she started dressing after Jason got fully armored up

and went out. Hovering just over her house were three sleek black Wolf fighters,
hovering over her house because they had no
lawn. They were model nurats 003, and 004, and 005. Model 003 hiagighter, and

it was fully operational, not just a stripped down show unit. That was a combat capable

craft. Justin Taggart had earned the right to fly the first combat operation model off the

line, flying 002 and the first production model, 001 and its prototype production model,

000, were being held back at Karinne Propulsion Industries, KPI, which built all the

dropships, fighters, and other small flying craft. Those two ships were the control



models, on®f which was a test unit while the other was purely a historical artifact, fully
operational but meant not to be used. That was 000. Should disaster befall 001,
however, 000 would become the test unit.
They were part of a new way of doing things thabdawas testing out. When he
went out by himself, instead of flying a dropship, he would instead be flying his Wolf,
with his guards flying their own. It was simple safety. Jason was actually far safer in the
Wolf than he was in a dropship, becauseeilver came under attack, well, the attacker
was going to have lots of fun trying to kill him. Wolves were that damn fast and agile.
Because of that, the Grand Duke had commandeered six Wolves, 003 to 008, and all his
guards were working to rate to flggm even now. Dera and Shen had been chosen to go
with him mainly because they could fly their fighters. So far, it had worked fairly well.
Ay a di d nodrmuclotdhineflgirtg a fighter instead of a dropship, if only because
the Wolfwassodamnhad t o ki | | . Shedd never have | et
Raptor.
The Wolves were being cranked out by the boatload. They had the production lines
all fully tooled now, stock parts being delivered on tight schedules, and the line was
goingintoover dri ve. Theydd been producing units
all the bugs worked out, a new fully operational Wolf was coming off the production line
every 22 minutes, and there were 3 factories producing Wolf fighters. That was 3
fightersevery 22 minutes, or about one every 7 minutes or so. Jason wanted the entire
fighter fleet upgraded to Wolves in two months, and if they kept their production lines
going without interruption, theydd meet that
Dragonfies they used would be relegated to reserve status, kept operational but not used
in front-line situations. He wanted the problem to be not enough pilots to fly the Wolves,
not that there were not enough Wolves for his pilots. Given the productiorugstbdt
happy condition wouldnét take | ong to come t
They also had a few modifications to the system. Since the Wolf was a two man
fighter, they decided to stick not just a telepathic striker in the cockpit, but a remote unit
controller. Each WIf would have six strippedown, small, highly mobile Torsion
weapon platforms attached to it that would be controlled by the weapons officer, six
drones under the control of what the pilots
the weapons could lmontrolled from either cockpit, but the operating procedure would
be that the Wolf pilot would control the pulse weapons on the fighter, and the weapons
officer would be directing the drones against Consortium opponents or telepathically
attacking norConsrtium enemies or both, which simulations and test runs had already
proved was an absolutely deadly combinati on.
whole lot of damage, would barely scratch the armor of a standard starship, but they did
more than enagh to kill an enemy fighter or other small target. With the weapons
officer defending the Wolf from enemy fighters using the drones and the pilot attacking
with the powerful pulse weapons, a Wolf was a nightmare of an opponent for just about
anyone now.
His Wolf was just like the others, so he could see where the drones were attached

under the angled wings |ike missiles, in the
a Transformers robot into flight mode once they were released. Jason coulttbentro
drones from the cockpit, but that was a | ot

alsocontrol the drones, which was what would happen if Jason ever got caught out in the



open in a combat situation in his Wolf. The computer would control theedrto defend
the fighter, and Jason would run like hell. If he ever engaged in willing combat, if he
lived through it, just about everyone on Karsa would take turns beating the hell out of
him for putting himself in danger.
He floated up into the bellypening that led to the coffiike cockpit of his Wolf,
and felt it lock him in and rotate the cockpit into flight mode even as he lost all sense of
gravity. The Wolf came out of sleep mode once the cockpit was secured, and Jason
assumed control over.iStep itup, ladiesl ason chi ded as the Wol f 6s
flowed into his mind, as well as the telemetry of the cratft, telling him it was ready to go.
Youbre making me wait herel
Hush, you arrogant man, yo8hen teased as she disappeared intadteef in his
camera view. Jason launched two spinners to get a look further up, even though the
gravity-based sensor system that used the mass effect on gravity to passively search for
objects already told him exactly where everything was all around Buhhe still liked
to see a throwback of his old pilot training. VFR meant VFR, so he liked to be able to
see that he wasndét about to run into someone
Youdd think heodod Dbeecdllelo tired to be pecky,
Aura does look like an energetic ty@hean agreed.
| 611l show you two e dason®@rted, thenwbtanthy wnwed. get ho
Oh, really?Dera called.Will this be an individual demonstration, or will me and
Shen get to see it at the same time?
| dondt m$hancalledhigity. i n g,
Oh, shut uphe growled, which made them laugh mentally.
With his guards flying escort, Jason made the very short trip to the White House, and
the jokes faded when he got to the command center and saw that everything was already
on the move. The tardictor was sitting out there waiting to go, being towed by the
Tr el | amsurréinded by the cruisers and destroyers in the task force, with Raptors
and the first full Wo | f t%fsr;wgamtmingealrounﬁttqetslajms,r on, Ju
perfoming visual inspections before docking for the jump. Myri, Sioa, Juma, and Navii
clustered around the main monitor holding the tactical situation. To the left was a
diagram of the Zyagya system, and there were three lines of ominous red dots on the edge
of the display.
ALet me guess, o0 Jason grunted as he pull ed
Navi i nodded. AThat 6s an Aflduranshi gd.eetThe
reach Zyagya in sixteen hours, but their position in hyperspace puts thidmtime
interdictor effect once It expands to full S
How far out ?0
A third of a l|light year, o0 Myri answered.
The Kimdori got a probe out there, itdos feed
Zyagya sgtem. How are we going to play that?
We offer to tow them out, after they power down their ships. If they refuse, well, |
hope they have a year 60sJasopansweredof supplies on
No, | have a better ide&avii called. We have a secdnnterdictor on standby.
Letds put it in front of them and knock then
them to turn around or starve, then jump out
starve. The Al I i anc e gavathemtplensyafywarsing,jand about i

n
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after their crew gets desperate, we go back and offer to save them if they surrender their
ships. Then we ransom them back to the Alliance after we go through their ships with
our engineers to see what they can do, egeland personal.

Navi i eviltlJlastoths gasped, then he | aughed. A |

ALetdés do it,o Myri called, then she issue
humans, Makati, and the two Kizzik in the command center. A second task force was
scranbled, theTemerorand the standard single cruiser and four destroyer escorts for a
heavy cruiser task force, and 18 Kimdori ships, and they got their orders.

Jyslin and Rann hurried into the command center, as well as Kyri and Danelle, all of
them in arnor and escorted by five of the Dukal Guard, with Aya leading thidey.
there,Jason greetedWhat are you guys doing here?

We were in the neighborhoadslin answeredl had work over at 3D and Maya
needed me to take the kids today, so | brought #ieng.

Works for me. Oh, Kiaari and Aura are coming over for lunch.

Sound good!

What are you doing, DaddyRann asked.

Watching Myri do her worlhje answered.

And getting under our feethe teased.

You love me anyway.

Sadly, | doshe sighed forlmly, which made Danelle giggle.

Jason engaged the kids in smalltalk both to pass the time and catch up with them,
since two were his children and Danelle was as good as, since she saw him literally as her
own father. Jason never minded bringing Ranm piéces like this, because he had to
learn, had to learn how to interact with Myri and the other very important people in the
house. Someday it would all be his, and it was his duty to be a good Grand Duke. Part of
that was being engaged and involvedath the professional and personal lives of the
people who made the house work. That was why he was on a first name basis with just
about any KMS officer higher than the rank of Lieutenant, and he often had them over for
dinner or barbecues.

But the ch#ting was put on hold when the operation began. The first group to jump
out was the battleshipr e | | ari dis t&k fbrte, taking the interdictor to Zyagya.
Included in the formation were three Kimdori ECM ships, ships specifically and solely
designed to attack an enemy indirectly. Those ships could effectively jam any and all
sensors pointed at Zyagya, which wasyimportant due to the highly advanced Alliance
sensors that would be in very close proximity to the interdictor, and would alsdoéeram
light leaving the system to prevent telescopic surveillance. Those ships were as
important to the operation as the interdictor was, because preventing potential enemies
from being able to analyze the interdiction field kept them from engineering tovgay
around it. And when it came to electronic warfare, the Kimdori were the best in the
business. The Stargate would start out after the interdictor was up and running, which
was standard procedure for them. The second task force jumped out abdounfites
after the first, and Jason split his attention between the engineering team with the Zyagya
interdictor and the tactical team that was moving to intercept the Alliance fleet.

By the time the intercepting fleet had calculated where they neededand how
long the interdictor had to be running before it reached the Alliance fleet, the Zyagya
operation was in full swing. The interdictor was inserted over the north pole of Zyagya



Prime, a huge terrestrial planet that was nearly twice the sikerdd, but had gravity
only 1.25 Earth gravity due to a lighter density and a hell of a lot of water. Zyagya was
almostclassified as an ocean planet, since water covered 78% of its surface, and Faey
astrogeologists classified a planet as an ocean phdreet it had 80% water coverage.
The land that was there was still more than four times the area of available land on Earth,
however. In all, Zyagya was a rather pretty planet, he decided, a blue and green jewel
with fluffy clouds, and surprisingly fewasellites or large orbital structures. Like the
Faey, the Zyagya had learned how to industrialize without drastically altering their
planet. Jason watched as thelit wearing techs roamed around the-slggped
interdictor, the precious device encasea ithick, heavily armored shell, with the
massivel r e | | ddvering@ver the eglike device it like a protective mother swan.
Jason watched the technical feed, and when the spike generated on the hyperspace
sensors, he knew the interdictor had baetivated. The spike settled into that smooth
waveform pattern that marked an interdictor in operation, and the waveform slowly
began to increase in amplitude, expanding the interdiction field.
Out in deep space, the second operation was setting @gy. héld the interdictor in
place, and he saw that one also activate. They had to make sure to shut it down before
the interdiction field from Zyagya reached it, else that field would monkey with the other
one; interdiction fields could operate in the sapace if they were synced, but they
hadnét had time to sync the two interdictors
process. Unsynced interdictors affecting the same area of hyperspace caused both
interdictors to use way too much power, and since fieldts would be building, it would
significantly slow down the field expansion of both interdictors throughout their entire
interdiction area as the two interdictors basically fought with each other over who was
going to interdict the contested spacee® di dndét want that to happ
time limit involved with the Alliance warning operation. It was a moot point, however,
for the interdictor was put in a place that
expect it to take more thawenty minutes.
Jason listened in as the captain of Teeneron Yura Goralle, hailed the Alliance fleet
after it was knocked out of hyperspace. It was typical Yura, dry and tinged with hidden
di gs. AAttention Al | i anmcnec ef Iheae tl,i on gh ecrh avnoniecl e
are entering sovereign Zyagyan space. The Zyagya have contracted with House Karinne
to defend their system from invasion, and as such, the Karinnes have installed a
hyperspace interdictor to protect Zyagya. If you do notanonind right now and get at
least one light year away from the Zyagya star, you will be trapped in normal space and
will most likely starve to death before escaping the interdiction effect. And be assured,
Alliance commander, yowill starve. No one cdmelp you. No one can reach you. But

far be it from me to deny you the right to Kk
Jason chuckl e. nSo we wil/ remove our | ocal
turn around and jump back to safety, orfxeegoi ng and di e. That cho

And with that, the interdictor was shut down and the task force jumped out.

Hmm, 6 Jason mused.

What ?0 Jyslin asked.

That s a damn good idea, 0 he said. Al o6l |

A
q
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AAbout what ?20



A | f camviestall aninterdictansidea st ar shi p and have it stil
[

Al 6m not entirely sure if t will, because o
velocities the ships reach. Shedéd have to | o

A Wh aotodg woul d that do?0 Myri asked.

AWel | , iwilitweorrdki cattorvser y | ow power | evels if
interdictors donét | i ke to move when theyore
from jumping into a system, but in a batitejyould keep enemies fronetreating o0

A Oh. Ohhhhh! o Myri <called, her eyes widen

AWI th everyt hi nYpude it dwantdorseelif gou gepoutafther ?
of fice with both eyes. 0
My r i | au g h eldust havditdeedplan intandectorlin reserve to jump to a
battle site to prevent retreat until Il wor k
Jason watched as the Alliance fleet sat there, most likely getting orders from their
commanders, as the Zyagya interdictor contthieeexpand, getting closer and closer to
its fAbell curveod expansion phase. On the fa
hyperspace right where it was supposed to, being towed by the battletbily and
with a cruiser, two destroyers and 1Bridori ships in escort, beginning a leisurely five
hour sublight cruise to Zyagya Prime. Back out in interstellar space, the Alliance fleet
did something rather curious. There was a flurry of small ships running around between
them, activity that took nre than long enough for the Zyagya interdictor to begin its
logarithmic expansion, and after all that was done, all but three of the Alliance ships
jumped out. The three remaining ships, a cruiser class and two destroyer class ships,
jumped back into hypspace on their original course.
AGet scramblers on those ships!do Myr.i bar k
Ki mdori ships in her formation blind those s
AWhat did they do?0 Da nteskemedtobs &koesiomanl oud, f
the command center.

AThey put all/l their food on those ships an
detailed sensor readings on the interdiction
answered her. A T htlee best sénsoes M dhe setia, litke msD Ve o f

dondt want anydnance totamalyze auv ieterdiction field. They may find a
hole in it.o

A Oh. That seems smart, o0 Danell e said seri
Myri smiled at her. Al 6m gl ad you agree, 0
AThat was fairly clever though, putting al

murmured, to which Jason nodded.

Predictably, the three Alliance ships were knocked out of hyperspace when the
Zyagya interdiction field reached them, and were effectivehydeld by a Kimdori ECM
ship. Not just blinded, but also communications jammed, preventing them from
communicating with their commanders. The three ships stopped and stayed there for
about ten minutes, then they turned around and started what would Ipeceth8trip
back to uninterdicted space.

And also somewhat predictably, Chirk called him and told him that High Staff Graith
wanted to speak to hinght now.



Jason chuckled when her voice came over his gestalt, which he made audio so

everyone could hear t . AAl right, I 61 1 come witness hi
as well track down Brall and get all the pap
Al't i s already prepared and waiting for yo

He was expecting this call, buth@ve n 6t entirely sure how it w
was a politician right down to the marrow of his radioactive, glowing bones, and an oily
one at that. He had no doubt that Graith would be utterly pissed off at this intrusion of
the Karinnes into whahe Alliance had always seen to be an internal matter, but after
that initial explosion, he was honestly unsure what Graith would do after that.

He took the call in his offi dikefaceppont i ng Gr
his holographic monitr, a two dimensional image projected into the air in front of his
wall. Jakkans were intelligent and friendly, but they were adgp AWel | |, Il candt
wasnbét expecting this call, Graith, o0 Jason s

AWe fopmatleésyt this action, your Grace, 0 he
He was furious, but he was keeping his demeanor.

AProtest what? The Zyagya are sovereign,

that you were jumping nearly two hundred shigs their system sort of tells me that
they had every right to come ask us for help. You want to visit Zyaggkzhem first
And | dondét suggest trying to do it with an
But we have trade treaties with the Zyagy
That 60 s obandthedeader, Graith. The Zyagya hired us to interdict their

1 B 1

A A

tem, and thatos exactly what wedbve done.
with the Leader. Wiedt roe djou. s tNod omonrge ,whnaot |w
AHI red?YoWi med® the Zyagya are not allying
he asked hotly.
ANope. They signed a contract with us to
sort of have to deal with the Imperium a little since my house is part of it,dutihhs t h e
deal. It seems they were afraid the Alliance was going to try something. | think they had
about two hundred good reasons to think that

SYys
up

AThis is not a matter for the I mperium, o G
device preventing laful traffic from reaching Zyagyanmediately o

ADamn, I had no idea the Alliance formally
invasion fleet | egal, o0 Jason answered bl untl

AYou tread dangerously close to war, Karin

AOh, and you hagetndus bieretno ta ywarg 4 lol al ong?”

ABeing best friends with a Handmai den means

information, High Staff. One little tidbit | managed to get my hands on was a front

company owned by the Organizationsaaying to secure cargo space on a Skaa

smuggl er that happens to have some | egit sh

mused | ightly. The Organization was the ti

AThat doesndt s e etmn untlyowepaipittup with theeQrganizationf o r ma

trying to secure Skaa weapons, then lo and behold, it looks suspiciously like the

Organi zation was trying to get a bomb into t
The High Staff gave him a cold look, but Jason saw his gnarleddmntgevupward

ever so slightly.

[
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Al 6m a peacef ul ma n mo sdverty fo blowhupmyt i me, Gr ai
Academy again, youo6ll find out how vindictiywv

AThat 6s a sl anderous accusation! o

Al'tés not an acfacy ateiecamd,e dGrbd iutnh,l yi.t 6 d6ila hav
and locations. Would you like a copy sent to you to see how well it pairs up with the
Organi zationds own timetabl e?o0

Graith glared.

ALet this be your one and only waening, Hi
AwWe know what youdre up to, and we are watch
Urumi and anyone yoursslatwargvighithe Urumi. oOl,éGahdlsinceé i n d
theyodore allied with the Faey at ahhai mesment,
entire fleet. And yoknowhow t he Faey make war, Graith, o
AWith the Consortium out there building up I
entire sector, the last thing | need is dealing with your shenani@arisack the fuck off
or I will do somethingbout you. |l s that abundantly cl eas

Graithdéds face vani shed as he cut communica

After that little adventure, Jason sighed and decided to start on the paperwork. The
Zyagya operation was more or lesgpas far as watching went, though he had a readout
of the interdictor on his panel to keep track of its expanding interdiction field. Luckily
for him, though, Jyslin and the kids werenot
administrative hell. Jason gt introduce Chirk and Brall to Danelle and Kyri, and his
Kizzik assistant showed extreme patience putting up with three animated six year olds,
who had their hands everywhere and violating
office. The fact thashe was a seven foot tall insectoid with two of her four arms ending
in chitnoussword i ke bl ades didndét bother the kids e
abandon Chirk to the kids after ten minutes, excusing himself to go to the Shimmer Dome
on somemadeup errand.

When Dahnai called to inquire about the Zyagya operation, he filled her in and also

told her about Graith. Al told him we know,
hol ographic I mage. AWe canottnowhbuthey aff or d
doesndét know that. I sort of hinted that vyo
Al l i ance territory, and no doubt heds stewin
knowing full well we have the Kimdori Watchl
A Oh, Id ocowultdh conquering the Alliance, 0 ah
going to be here? You know, you stil!]l owe n
ﬁHow about tomorrow?0o

AFair enough, 0 she smil ed.

It wasndét as easy the. arrange a trip as it
Aya didnot see it as a trip to Dracora to
vulnerability of the entire Dukal family, and she put her foot down in ways thatlgoft
them mad at her.
Firstly, she wagxtremelyunhappy when Jason decidedtttaking the family to see
Dahnai meant he toa! his children, not just Rann. Rann may be the heir and betrothed
to Shya, but he had four other kids who probably felt all kinds of left out when they were
excluded from some pfaltnttvas tincefto sthrarscfyingthat.| i f e, an



Kyri, Aran, Zach, and Sora were absolutely giddy with excitement at the idea of going
somewhere with their father, even if their mothers were going to stay behind, and Aya
gave him a look that would scareaGpa when she found out about
the stress of trying to herd all five of his
knew she wasnodét going to win any argument sh
do a little open seeitig, a hostile silence that broadcast her displeasure as well as her
admi ssion she couldnét do a damn thing about
Secondly, she absolutely insisted that nothing less thafvebiswould do to carry
Jason and his family, theegisleading a task forcef nearly half the entire Karinne fleet.
That got Aya at odds with Myri, but no matter how much Aya was yelled at or
threatened, she absolutely would not budge, to the point where she threatened to hold the
Dukal family hostage in their own houaegunmint should they try to leave on anything
less.
Thirdly, Aya was almost militantly resistant to adding any extra passengers. Jason
and his family weren6t the only ones who wan
who asked to go like a potential assin. Aya was suspicious but reluctantly agreed
when Myleena asked to go, to take Danelle to meet some of her Merrane relatives, but it
was clear she didnét | i ke the idea, not one
understand, since shewasanEglaed Aya didndot know her very v
that little argument. Aura wanted to see Dracora, see the legendary capitol of the
Imperium with its towers and parks, its trees and glass, and the breathtaking crystal
spired Imperial Palace atop Imperi&i | | , vi si bl e throughout the
standing in the right place. Jason saw nothing wrong with taking Aura along, especially
since she was going to stay with Myl eena ove
pal ace. Shee woamny dndulclae, and shedéd never s
the company of someone she knew and trusted. But, when Kumi, Meya and Myra asked
to go along, Jason felt she was going just a little bit too far when she initially told them
no. Kumi waned to go see her mother, who still lived in Dracora despite being a
Trillane, and Meya and Myra had friends in L
want to stay at the Palace, they just wanted to hitch a ride with Jason, and Aya almost bit
their head off.
Aya then got the palace pissed at her when she sent a text message to them telling
them thakeveryonevoul d be i n the pal ace. Jasonds fam
twins, everyone, and every single one of them would have full guard esdort an
protection at all times. The commander of the palace guard erupted on Aya for those
orders, but Aya held firm, seeing everyone going with Jason as a potential target, a way
to get at Jason, and in need of full protection from the guard. Dahnai imert@ne on
that one, telling the guard that while Aya may be overstepping herself a little bit, she did
have a point. So, rooms were prepared for everyone in the palace, and guards were
assigned to Myleena and Danelle, Aura, Kumi, and the twins.
The net morning, after Jeya grudgingly shuffled the deployment of damn well near
the entire fleet to accommodate Aya, the leader of the guard almost faced a rebellion
from within when Symone flatly refused to we
Draconid 0 sschreeamed i n outrage when AyAegdi ssued t |
We dondét need ar mor ,ofyou paranoid bitch! Pu



And Symone learned not to piss off Aya. After the bleeding stopped, she grudgingly
went home to get in her armor. Aya had Dard Hara go through their things and
remove all their clothing except one robe and a bathing suit each, making sure that if they
went out when they got to Dracora, it was going to be going out in armor or being
woefully underdressed. Not that any of thewwd much more than bat an eye at going
out naked in publié Jyslin had utterly subverted him in that redgafout there were
customs involved that made sure that Symone would never dream of going somewhere
underdressed. Faey women cared as much aboutsksheiman women did.
So, after all that, 14 guards herded a very excited, sulky, or annoyed extended Dukal
family on a heavily armored dropship escorted by no less than an entire squadron of Wolf
fighters. Jason flew the dropship, as usual, with Ayaine copi | ot 6s chair a
babbling excitedly both with their voices and their minds behind him as the excitement
got the best of them. llia, Zora, Maya, and Yana waved goodbye to them from the
landing pad, then went on to work.
Now r e me migemabe on thé Aegis for a whilason warned the kidSo
behave.
Why ? Candt we get tZachpretesied)hidsendimgahbttlehal f an
slow, but quite clear. llia and Ryn had been training Zach very quickly and very well.
Wecouldpbut it ds st i helansdesedlkh eayt 6 rDer aacboauat, f our h
behind us right now. So, instead of you guys driving your mothers crazy waiting, |
decided we could just waste a few hours on the ship. You know, take a tour, let you look
around,tat ki nd of thing. When Empress Dahnai !
get there.
Aya gave him a murderous look, because now she and the guards would have to herd
five hyper sixyear olds around the ship for hours. That scowl only got darker when
Jason winked at her. N-Rkeovledge he saiddshnbeas
song voice.
| will get youfor this, Jason.
Y o u 6 Ihé serit bagk,patronizingly, reaching over and patting her cheek.
't wasndt as har d WWisentheydeopshiglanded,d wasmetlwoul d b
a whole bay full of KMS sailors wearing class A uniforms, and standing by the hatch
stairway was the captain of tAegis Fleet Admiral Palla Karinne. Palla had only been
captain of theegissince its repair anceturn to service. The former captain had moved
up into the command staff, and Palla had taken over when she got her promotion. Palla
wasdamngood. Married to a Generation male, Travan Karinne, she was one of the
youngest upper echelon officers in S, a very young and spry 52, which was only
just approaching middle age. That meteoric
been the youngest officer ever in the Imperial Navy to reach the rank of Commander,
which gave her the right to commaadhip. Navii had plundered her from the IFN, one
of many officers and neaoms she had lured away from Dahnai and into their navy.
Though she was young, she was a gifted milit
the command staff and put on thegisafter the battle, and Haema had replaced her
temporarily on the command staff. The real reason for the switch was because Haema
needed more time before returning to combat duty due to an ill grandson, and she would
be the captain of the next commasidp, which the Kimdori were building at Kimdori
Prime and would be ready inside two months. That ship, which Haema hganedd



a Faey word that loosely translatecuttstoppable fora@ would be fitted with a GRAF
cannon as its main weapon, where Alggjs was going to be refitted with a tactical
CBIM.
Part of the marvels of modern Ipapenuf act ur i n
only 23 months ago, and it was only 2 months from completion. The docks in Kosigi
could build a destroyer from keel to taah in 23 days, and could build a cruiser in 42
days. The first few had taken much longer, but as production was fine tuned and parts
were mass produced and in abundant supply, the build time came way down thanks to
highly advanced robotic assemblers sigsg the flesh and blood workers. It had taken
much longer to build th&egis but the lessons learned and the parts they needed to build
a second ship were brought into play when they started on the next one, and the third
ship, which was half built anstill a year from completion, was being built even faster
compared to where the other two ships had be
advantage for them. When they were serious about it, the Faey could build ships just as
fast, probably euefaster, because their ship designs had long been standardized for
construction. They had brought héiiished ships from other shipyard to Kosigi, and
those ships were already quickly fleshing out, using them as test runs to get their
production routies set up within Kosigi. Once they had those all set up and the bugs
worked out, theydd probably crank out a crui
It had roots in American history, he recalled. The famous Liberty Ships from World
War Il, built so fast thathey were literally launching them on a schedule every day, built
for function, not for style. That was what they were aiming to mirror in Kosigi, a
massive shipbuilding operation where new ships were being produced so fast they
woul dndt h arkthenp Dason wamted tmseepat least five ships a day come out
of the base, be it Karinne, Faey, Urumi, or Kimdori, and that was not reaching. Dellin
was absolutely positive that kind of sustained construction could be achieved given the
b as e 6 sadwantagesarel an unbroken supply chain. Just like in World War |,
industry was going to be a critical aspect of this war. If they could build enough ships
and enough drones and other weapons to break the Consortium before they could get
within strikingdistance of a planet, then they win.
Palla was typically Faey in that she was quite attractive and had pointed ears, but she
was very different from most Faey. She was from Jerama, which was the fifth largest
food producer in the Imperium, one of their abl e f ar mi ng pl anet s. J
white, and it produced a curious coloration in the Faey who had lived there long enough
to adapt. Palla was blue, but she was a very deep, very dark sapphire, like the deep sea,
she hagink eyes, and shimmerirgilver hair she kept in a short pixie style. She saluted
sharply when Jason led his kids off the dropship, then put her hands on his upper chest,

just under his shoulders, and patted his arn
him.

AYeah,yoweaghust wait til this i1s over, | hav
giving Aya a |ight |l ook as he said it. She
name put at the bottom of it, o h teased.

APft, youdd be | ost wiFoho wtneus ,hyoo usbhde hraevteo rn
your children! o she grinned, moving away and
Youbre getting so big!bo



Miss Palla! Do you have cookiesfe asked as she grunted a bit to pick him up with
his armor, which madeim a bit heavy.

ATrell eds combs, but you send so good! o sh
early for cookies, you silly boy! Kyri! Z
Jason.

Al figured they ear neddownh kneltdows,aedhuc k|l ed as
accepted hugs and kisses from all the kids. They surprised her with their sending, and
they introduced her to Danell e, who wasnoét w
she ever well known to the engineering department and 3D.

After everyone disembarked and Palla was introduced to Aura and Kumi, she took
them on a long, grand tour of tAegis It took nearly three hours, and while Jason knew
most of it, he was iIimpressed at Pall abs dept
commaumling for a few weeks. Ship officers were like old U.S. Navy submariners,
expected to be able to perform any critical job on the ship, and with that requirement
came a great deal of knowledge about ship systems. She led them into the various
sections anéxplained exactly what they were for and what was going on, which
enthralled his kids. They were excited to tour engineering, where the massive main jump
engines were located, four pods with each pod the size of a country village, a virtual city
devoted slely to the jump engines deep inside the massive flagship. She showed them
the theater and the gym, the main medical bay which was the size of the Karsa Medical
Annex, then one of the many typical residential deck sections, a cluster of crew quarters
with a small arboretum serving as a little central park for the residents. She ended the
tour with the huge bridge, which wasnodt just
center for the entire ship and all its functions. The bridge deck was fillacopérations
officersandnoft oms going about the business of moni
issuing orders, but the tactical control center, what most would call a bridge, was at the
forefront, where sixteen tactical officers, the first mate, aedccaptain did their work.

You could make a workout out of just walking around this thdngyi noted, a touch
sourly, as they looked at the tactical ship display, showing a map of the ship with a series
of colored dots to note readiness of critical syste

Il t6s nearl y t wdaasok answeredahis thiongiisggmore Kf @ moving
city than it is a ship.

Well, give me a nice desk and an office anytime.

This coming from the girl who has a fit an
gained @en a quarter of &onn he teased.

Bite my ass, Jayce.

| did that once. | di dn betansfvared dmootilye e x per i
which earned him alangwhen her armored hand slapped his armored shoulder.

Meya and Myra sidled up to eacheidf him and put their hands on his shoulders.

Girls, he greeted So how goes the dastardly plot?

| t 6 s ¢ o nMeyagnsadred with aslysmiloudl | certainly know
webve finished it.

I hope so. | 61 | be terribly disappointed

Youdbre not Myrhwinkedn!| y one,

How goes the education? Outside of the official reports.



Pretty fastMeya answeredThe Exiles were already highly educated. They know all
thetheories t hey just coul dnét put higoncalt hi ng i nto
references to all the Karinne technology. Using the technology intimidates them a little
at first, then they get the hang of it. The language is taking a little longer. Some of them
almost think that modern Faey is an entirely different |laggu

| 6m sure youodll manage it.

This wasnodét exactly what Weyaginngdned up

Youdbdl |l serve me heirdpliedlighdyeln agyl nemwner $ plegse!u a

Oh, listen to thisMyra snorted mentallyl think a certan someone has had his title
go to his head. Wedbre going to have to do s

He certainly forgets who owns hiigya agreed.

That 6s rJystncalled, which nthde Meya and Myra laugho n 6t wor r vy,
gi rl s, heéof Humildygonighhi s dos

This kind of takingdown has to be done personalyra winked.

Better women than you have tried.

| mpossi blbest | |I'jomst hlrkavendt tried yet.

And whods got t hexhallengkd at ed ego now?

My ego is in no way inftad. | can back it up.

Keep digging that hole, girl, 1t6s going t

Palla let Sora give the commands to get the ship moving, which made his daughter
absolutely beam, and the task force started a slow, leisurely cruigedtothe Stargate.

Jason |l et the kids stay on the bridge to wat
cause any trouble by keeping them close to the tactical display, patiently answering all

their questions. When the ship started its run orsthegate, they got even more curious.

Why turn everythingoffZach asked, since he didndt have &
other kids. llia kept him close to home.

for
re,

Pl asma systems candt r unlasenansivesedwcetiier e i nsi d
engles candét be running either. We 61 | buil d
coast through to the other side.

But why do we need to sit |ike wedre gonna

Because the ship is too bigalla answered forhimShi ps donbatfway i ke bei n
through a Stargate, pippy. They want to get through as fast as possible. When the bow

hits, the Stargate will suck us in, and that
ships because they go fast, but Asgyisis so big that we hauve secure ourselves or
we 61 | get al |l t hr shewinkadgSa,iinto shé jumiphestraibta kids! wal | |,

Jason helped the kids into chairs, where the maglocks on the chairs locked their armor
backs in, then he sat down between Jyslin and Alsré.that bad?Aura asked, a bit
nervously.

Youdbl|l feel the ship accel erhadnsweredthart it wo
't ol l be |i ke being in a hovercar when Myr ab

Oh. Yes, restraints are definitely necessahg nodded.

Bite my ass, Aurdylyra teased playfully.

ASecure for Stargate passage! o0 Palla barke
Show me a green board, Commander, 0 she said
down in her chair and activated its resits.



The snap effect of a Stargate passage in a capital ship was definitely interesting. The
ship lurched forward when the bow hit the Stargate, as the wormhole yanked the ship in,
which was why the | argest shi mgfasteways went t
coming out than the other ships, and that prevented collisions if a ship had problems
restarting its engines with a bigger ship bearing down on it from behind. But it was still
just as fast as any other Stargate passage, and almost instagtlyetit from Karis to
Draconis. The blue and green jewel hovered before them in the holographic image, about
t wenty minutes away at standard cruising spe
cal l ed. AComm, hail Dracond.socontrol and wa
It took about a half an hour to reach Draconis and settle into orbit, and nearly a half
an hour more to get to the landing bay and get everyone settled in. The same squadron of
Wolf fighters would escort them down, the first display of their newtéighto the

out side world, and Jason found hHepgieeel f boot e
protested indignantly when she grabbed the back of his armor and yanked to keep him

from sitting in the pilotds chair.

Not this time, Jasorshe answeredher tone dead serious.n t he back, where
more protected. Sitting in the cockpit is n
common knowledge that you tend to pilot your

target on you.

Nobody 06esattackmdreg t

Really? And what was that incident on the Surrale yacht? An excited hello?

He was about to protest, but he fell silent and nodded in asseimadHeeeriterally
attacked in broad daylight and in full view of everyone once befldeesomewnhat
sulkily sat down in the passenger cabin beside Jyslin as Aya and Shen took the cockpit,
Aya intending to pilot them down.

Poor baby Jyslin smiled, patting him on the cheek with an armored hand.| | have to
make it up to you tonight.
Gooduck with that. | 6m sure Dahnai s going

| can handle hershe winked.

Surrounded by Wolf fighters, the dropship left the hangar and started a controlled
descent into Draconi sd at mos pdsteurbalence, As soon
the fighters launched their drones and spinners for additional defense, creating a small
cloud of automated weaponry and sensor equipment. Imperial Raptors joined their
formation, with a bit of shocked and amazed sending from the Impédatd at the
Wolves, and the entire procession made its way to the palace. Aya landed them on the
largest of the landing pads, where Dahnai, her family, several Grand Duchesses of the
Siann and Brood Queen SkoVrae aendughhwere reti nue
waiting to greet them.

Predictably, Shya and Rann met at the hatch, hugging each other, but they were
shooed forward as the Grand Duke and his family and friends made their way out to greet
the others. Jason and Dahnai embraced as wekkgsdild with him wearing armor but
no helmet, and she gave him a passionate kKgy. babesshe sent with a smileNow, |
see you brought just about everyone.

All my kids, and | had a few passengers here for their own reasemsplied with a
nod atkumi as she came down after the kids.

Jys said you brought the girlfriend.



Aur a? Yeah, she wanted to see Dracor a. S
whil e sheds here.

Well, I want to meet her, if we have time.

Webr e not goi n guisitimyous goatmeht)aisdm ehidednt i r e

No, but we may spend it in the conference raglm,answeredt t hi nk you haver
heard yet.

Heard what?

The Alliance declared war on Zyagya about an hour ago, over the interdibior,
told him seriously.

FuckkCanét Graith Kkeepasdnigewled.i ck i n his pants”

| know, Il know. So, this wondt quite be a
we got the news, and Zaa said shed6éd be here
her operatives..

Yes, this is something we all need to discuss immedid&@dty6 Vr ae sent, whi ch
shocked Jason a | ittle bit. Theréedresoneveryt he f i r s

delicate issues involved here, mainly involving the Academy and the entry station.
Yed, | can see thatlason growled mentallyLike how we keep Alliance traders
from trying to make a run at the Zyagya gate, then claim we fired on them for no reason
when we stop them.
Among other thing€)ahnai noddedBut that can wait, there are momaportant

thingstodos he added, kneeling down and opening he
beautiful, Iittle girl!o

AHull o Miss Empress! o she answered folding
you?o

Dahnai grinned. AYes vyeouamsawer dd.t t [iel nsieses
teaching them well, 0 she added to Jason.
AWhen they |isten, o0 Jason smiled down at h

Zach was gaping at the hulking, imposing Brood Queen, so Jason decided to break
that i1 ce quickl y. uefeZiacShk,6 Virhaies, irsultehre oBEr otohde

Your Majesty, this is my youngest son, Zacha
Zach bowed, a bit clumsily. AYour Majesty
ADo not fear me, c hi llehning dosv leer thicktail i n a gen

slashing behind her to keep her bal ance. i F

Karinnes. 0
Altés just youdre so big and, er, bony, 0 h

Altés just the way we are, 0 sdkehewami d wi t h
shaped dermal bone plate on her chest, which protected her lungs and hearts from injury.

ABut how we | ook has nothing to do with who
a person or a species by how Bheprappdao T
ABrood Queen SkoVrae is full of surprises,
AHow wel | |l know that, 0o Dahnai grunted, to
remembering what it was like to get a face full of Urumi venom.

Jason introduced all hisctlir en t o Sko6éVrae in turn, from Z

introduced Aura to them. Aura wasichmore nervous than the children, and gawked at
Dahnai like she was Trelle herself in the flesh. The introduction itself was amusing and
memor abl e. ABk&VIiadae AuBb@hnaiShetts my



AGi rl friend, o0 Jyslin interrupted as she to
AWhatever, 06 Jason sighed, which made Jysli
A ¥YYourMajj esty, 0 Aura stammered, gaping up at
herself and hadsi bowed.

AShe | ooks something |i ke you, Dahnai, 0 Sk
AThat 6s why he | i kes her, most | ikely, o6 Da
wants me but | &d&m here. o

AYoubre the surrogate, not her, o0 Jason cal
ABoywou just earned yourself some puni shment
ALIi ke | 6ngirlabr aedsabr aed.

ALet us keep our minds on business, 0 SkoVr
frivolity after Zaa arrives and we tal k. o0

AAl ways loemegihreg pag h, 0 Jason chuckl ed wit!]
| ar ge, scaly ally. AYoubre right, of course
you can get me up to speed on whatodés going o
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There was a lot to talk about.

Jason spent nearly six hours with Dahnai

arrived, discussing the myriad problems that this war declaration by the Allcautd

create. The Alliance was incensed at the interdictor, and even more incensed when the
Leader of the Zyagya basically made public the deal between the Zyagya and the House
Karinne, even to the point where they admitted that the interdictor wouddlleel if the
Consortium attacked. Jason would have rather the Leader not reveal that, but that was
the Zyagya. They had a tendency to be blunt with their truth.

The official reason the Alliance had gone to war was over the three ships trapped in
the interdiction field. According to their propaganda, they had made repeated attempts to
get those ships back, ships they claimed were on a scientific mission, ships that were now
trapped months away from any safe port.
attempts to have the Karinnes rescue their people, but now their ships were being actively
jammed to prevent them from relaying their status or condition, and that was an act of
war the Alliance could not ignore. Since the Zyagya were the ones in coirtnel
interdictor, it was the Zyagya against whom the Alliance had declared war. Jason
thought it was amusing leap of logic that the Alliance went right after the Zyagya and
ignored the Karinnes, because the Alliance wanted absolutely nothing to do with
declaring war on the Imperium, and the whole sector knew it. Always before, the
infighting between the houses of the Imperium had prevented them from banding
together and having a serious war with anyone. Even the war with the Skaa Empire had
been nothig but a series of skirmishes fought over some contested territory, because
neither side had been particularly inclined to escalate; the Skaa Empire was the only
foreign nation in the sector that could match the Imperium in a war scenario, and that was
through sheer force of numbers. But everyone knew now that the entire Imperium was
unified behind Dahnai, and that was a fonododywanted looking in their direction.

Even without the support of the Urumi, the Imperium could steamroll any neighbor save
the Skaa Empire.

The Consortium had caused some opportunities, but it had also caused more
complications than the other governments cared to face, and the unification of the
Imperium into a singular military force was one of those ugly complications.

The bggest issue they saw was that the Alliance would make a run at the TES and the
Stargates behind it. That was the only way into Zyagya now, and they absolutely did not
want to have to destroy the Alliance invasion fleet under any circumstances. They did

a

The

not want the Consortiumbés spies to see what

tried it themselves. Jason had drilled i
reinforced it, that the Consortiumere not stupid They would exploit any intajence

t i



they managed to glean from any action the Alliance undertook, and any weapon or tactics

seen by the enemy was a weapon or tactic the enemy had a chance to circumvent. They

had to keep the Consortium as ignorant as possible about the capabiliteedent of

the Confederationds military and tactical st
Even as they discussed the matter, Zaaods s

Alliance space showed them the buildup of forces the Alliance had undertaken before

they declared war. udt about the entire damn Alliance fleet save the 200 or so ships they

jumped into Zyagya was clustered at the three systems closest to Zyagya, which was the

heart of Alliance territory. The Al liance h

in ther fleet, which counted any ship corvette class or larger. That was a fairly large

fleet, at least until one saw that when the 843 ships making up the myriad house fleets

were folded into the 512 ships making up the Imperial Navy, the Imperium curredtly ha

1,355 ships at its disposal. The Skaa had nearly twice that, 2,303 ships, but they lacked

the firepower of Imperial ships, which equaled things out. Those big three accounted for

the vast majority of ships i nipstbdingthsrextt or , wi

largest fleet thanks to the destruction of a large chunk of the Urumi fleet at the battle of

Karis.

Of course, those numbers changed daily for
only government rapidly building up its navies.
Theydebated the matter well into the Dracor a

She had a 10 hour <circadian rhythm based on
capable of extended activity, she still needed to rest earlier than anyone else. e&ptumi sl
for 2 hours out of every 10, but that was all the sleep they needed. Jason retired to
Dahnai 6s apartment with his family so they c
surprise, Dahnai insisted that Aura come with them. Dahnai wanted to get té\knaw
that Faey need to see what a man sees in another woman. Saelle was with them as well,
since Saelle almost never | eft Dahnai 6s si de
Dahnai was in a mood, he noticed. She spent a lot of time talking to Jyslin and
Symone about their pregnaes, asking them how things were going, and then she patted
herownflatbellyl j ust canodét help but shemuwedr what ou
honestly. | wonder if Raisha will have blue skin or not.
Thatds your ®Awadsked. with Jason?
Shendded. The whol e r e she saidwith h dydospk ahSaelle ,
| 6d say meyolrfaultDghndi,she retortedsdryly, pushing her dark,
charcoal gray hair out of her face, hair that drove quite a few Faey men crazy.
Miyai is my daughtewith Kellin, she continued, which made Kellin beam with pride.

Sheodol | be born first, of course, to at | east
How bad has it been8ymone asked.

| 6ve managed to keep a handle on it. I f a
the tabloids other things to talk about than the fact that the Empress is carrying two
children by two different fathers, and one i
Well, i f sheds not born with i tdyslinl 6m sur e
noted. Jason starts etting a bit dusky after just a few minutes under the sun here.

And thatodos why | stay dadeclacdl dinbtkoks un whene

right like that.
| dunno, I like it,Dahnai smiledYou 6r e very handsome when you



| look like amutant smurf.
Watch it, buster, Jysiruw@ames withagrni ed t o a smur
What is this smurfRellin asked curiously.
An old Terran cartoon about blegkinned people about this biggson answered,
holding his hands a footor so apatione of wus | ook proper when we
one of them.
| dunno, daddy, | like it when | turn blueann objected! look neat.
Youbre young elasontaodtimt o enj oy it
Well, I like it, Shya declared, wrapping her arms around Rann posdgsdiviepe
you turn blue and stay that way.
Wow, sheds s ayslthnatedtoDahmay wel | |
The perk of being the Empress. | have an entire board détgb talents training
them. They train for six hours a day.
The pr of es s orstudestsvaer aeelded proudly o d
Very good students, Maelason agreedYou send almost as well as some adults |
know already.
| send okay, but sometimes iIitdéds hard to ma
sending at the same tintee admitted.
That 6s somet hi ng eJyshneassuredimdist keaprpradticing. , Maer ,
Can you private send ye®/mone asked.

Henoddedl t 6 s easy. Mi ss Saell e taught me.
Just one of the things | 6ém shesmieg.l &whi | e wali
have more to do when Sirri decides to stop p
| dunno,Sirri protested.| me a n , mommy can do it but | d
Ilknowy ou can, pippy. I can sense it. We o6 | |
Do what?Symone asked.

Saell eds convinced t hat Ddmaranswerdilalse ysovree t el
been working to see if she can develop it.

It woul dndét be a stretch, balsynmomei rl , since

assured her.

And ofcourse, a certain someone makes me look like a weakhegsent with an
accusing tilt, directed at Saelle.

Hey, | 6ve got ashesmigdjirereplyttapping thencallar ofyheru ,
armor pointedly. Like Jason, Saelle was wearing her armdrhar armor contained a
tactical gestalt that radically increased her telekinetic power.

What | woul dndt g ishesigheédphertsendirglervieus.t o do t hat

What you give may be far more than what you get back, given current circumstances,
hon,Jason warned her seriously.

Jason tuned out the chatter to discuss a few things with Saelle persfidallyare
the Kimdori working out?he communed privately.

[Fairly well,] sheanswered. | t 6s hard to tell theydére not
a fit when | brought them with me. Speaking
[ Amber ? Ho me . She doesnodét I i ke to travel

her. She likes them.]
[Ah. Anyway, not even my husband knows the giruzi are Kimdori. Giigdd
knows. We decided that keeping them an absolute secret was imperative.]



[Damn right.]

[Those Kimdori know how to actdaelle told him with an amused textufe.Th ey 6 r e
so giruzi that even | find mysenprivater eati ng t
They think 1tés funny when | do it.]

[ I't probably makes them happy tybuhhe t heyor e
answered] Any problems you didnét care to discus

[Nope. Ireally like Evin. Not only do we get atp but the sex is fantastic. My
Gl adi ator is doing just fine, and | 6ve been
are going great.]

[Good. | feel way better with you here.]

[ I know. Sheds a wonder ful woéerfoayoy] Jayce,
she smiled warmly.

[l 6m gl ad you think so. Howo6s it been bei

[The Siannis violently jealous,]she told him with a slight smirk{They have no idea
who | am, and then bam, her eoupandstandingabsol ut e
at the Empressd | eft hand. The viciousness
that | had a direct path to Dahnai . Now t he
get invitations to private conferences daily.]

[Heh,k eep éem on their toes, girl.]

[Oh, | do,] she grinned.

And what are you two gossiping abo&hnai asked, giving Jason and Saelle a sly
look.

Not much, just talking about my adventures withStenn Saelle answered.

You certainly have enough sta@iabout thatPahnai laughed.

They basically just chatted and caught up,
with Dahnai és kids, and then they retired fo
as she always did when he came to the palaceoSym deci ded shedd rathe
night with Kellin, so Jyslin wandered off with Tim.

And naturally, they were woke up about fou
comm panel beeped annoyingly, rousing both o
which caused the lights to turn on, then used her telekinetic ability to hit the buttons on
her comm station near the bed to bring up th
appeared on the wall, and she looked a little serious.

AWhat i s i thpa aSkedskeapily, bt ber ddrmoyance was clear in her
voice.

AA small Alliance fleet just jJjumped out of
answered. AThe Kimdor.i have confirmed the |
AFuck, 0 Dahnai growl ed. AHow | ong til it
AFi ve days, 0 she answered. AThe fl eet num
AWhat on earth is that glowing asshole try
up . AHe sends a fraction of his fleet knowi

Stargate? Thatmake no sense! 0

ASure it does, hebs going to throw them aw
we blow them out of space, 0 Dahnai grunted d
first shot. Then hedl |l pl ay entdagainshast t yr and



Remember, hwvantsu s at war with just about anyone bu
trick there is to try to make it happen. o
AFuck, 06 Jason s nap pbernothet Zaaihe lcdlled.gHetlkriew gest al
that if she was wearingeh memory band, it would pick that up and make it audio
through a tiny speaker on the device. I f s
and her memory band woul d [l neadtantalkidayou, she wasn
Denmother.]
[ | 6 m and hadkready know,$he answered[Get out of bed and bring Dahnai

h
0

with you. I 61 | I nform SkoVrae. ]
[ And just how do you know | &6m with Dahnai ?
[ Cousin, | didnoét | ive t shesansweredlghthand r e mai

[Now get moving.]

[Yesma 06 aha replied automatically, which never failed to amuse Zaa.

By the time they were dressed and in a council chamber, Lorna already had a
presentation ready. The scarred general presented it as soon as they were seated, using
reconnaissanceimagasnd t act i cal maps to display the di
ships, mostly corvettes and destroyers, | eft
showing a hyperspace probe image of a task force of small ships assembling for a jump,
thenasecond$tii i mage with them gone. AfnWedve conf
and Kimdori intelligence that half of them are military logistic ships. Transports and one
medi cal frigate, 0 she added, pointing at the
theside of which was emblazoned with the green circle with a star inside it which marked
an Alliance medical ship. Al't has every app

AGraith is making his move, 06 Dahnai grunt e
onalogis i cs fl eet . O

Lorna didnét speculate, she merely continu
sector at the start of the lane leading to the TES in four days, tegftiyhours, and
sixteen minutes, 0 she tol d shHoweingtheTES,i nti ng at

Terra, and a shaded area where ships jumped
alerted the TES and the picket ships protecting it, as well as put the entire Confederate
military on stage two alert.o

AWIi se move, 0 S kié May beea divecsiord ¥/d should BeTalert and
prepared. O

AOutside of that, theredés Ilittle more to r
no match for our defensive picket. What the war room needs, majesties, is to know how
you want to do this.

AWe cannot back down, 06 Sk6Vrae grunted. A
any changes to them. If those ships enter the corridor without authorization, we must
attack them. We said no warnings, no exceptions. We cannot do anything but what we

have warned we will do. o

AThat 6és true, but thatods exactly what that
of us firing on a medical ship to put on auto repeat and blare on every frequency his
comms can emul ate, 0 Dahnai growl ed.

Jason was quiet, leang back in his chair and pondering the situation, not from a
military or political standpoint, but from the outlook of Graith. The High Staff was a
cunning, manipulative creature, but he al so



convoyookdgoobdl, but it also really accompl i s
view unless he was looking at who was pushing the firing button. Nobody would really
care all that much about what happened, beca
venerated t@ther nations as it was to the Faey, who saw doctors as very nearly religious
figures to be protected at any and all costs. It would be with a trembling hand that any
Faey weapon officer would press the button to fire on a medical ship, and the High Staff
knew it. Some Faey would flatly refuse to attack a medical ship, so deep were their
convictions about protecting the doctors.
No, this wasnodot some kind of propaganda pl
Confederation military in the eyes of the other govesnta. This was a serious attempt
to get his ships to the TES by shielding them behind a medical frigate, the one ship no
Faey would attack without a great deal of trepidation. The bigger question, though, was
what he meant to accomplish getting such alkfieet past the blockade. It was too
small to threaten Zyagya, and the KMS would move to interceptdhem
't wasndt about t Staegatésalbey wereitryingtogetthewrbout t he
ships close enough to the Stargates to attack them.

No,thatwasnot it either. The ships would neve
theyédd be intercepted at the TES. So, Grai t
t hen what were they supposed to do? At tack
bombon a freighter and blowing it up when the freighter was close to the TES if it
managed to get past the sensor sweeps. So,
Stargates, and they werendét supposed to att a

They werethere to getaptured Sixteen small ships, Graith could afford to lose
those, and with them being shielded by a medical frigate, he figured they had a damn
good chance of being boarded and captured r a
points at hiships being stopped and boarded, then captured like Dahnai suspected, but
what he was doing was trying to get pedpkde even if they were prisoners. That, or
he was trying to get those shipside to allow them to be captured so they could
performsome other job.

That had to be it. It was the only really logical thing Graith could be after.

Okay, so, Graith was sending the ships with the express intent of them being
captured. So, what could they do about it?

Destroying the ships was definitedype option, simply getting rid of them and
eliminating whatever threat they or Graithos
wasnoét very smart. They could use sixteen A
if it came down to it. They add isolaté®

That was a damn good idea.

ALadies, 0 he called, interrupting a debate
guestion. Can you get a detailed scan on th

AWhy do you ask questi onscotuosiwh?ioc hZ ayao ua skknead
a light smile in her eyes.

A |  ndetaled Denmother. As in a systemic sweep from bow to stern of every
ship with so much detail that you can point out the metallurgical microflaws in the outer
ar mor . o0

AYes, it cainl peodone. Ea

AWhat 6s baking in that brain of yours, bab



AGraith isndét sending them out to be destr
sowecapturet hem, 06 he t ol dvantsus & cdpterenthdseeships, andél e
thinks that such a small fleet of namlitary vessels would be boarded and captured
rather than destroyed. If we destroy them, he gets to have his rage, but if we capture

them, well, thatdés another story.o
ATo what end?0 SkoVrae asked.
AWel |l , IKitmdiomk tmheght be able to answer par

the feeling they have something on their ships they want on this side of the interdictors,
be it some device or just spies to be sent to Confederate prisons to try to gather

intelligence. 0O

ASo, the prudent action is to destroy thos
AThat would be safe, but hell, we could us
AAl 1l iance | ogistic ships? We can get our ha
see how thgwork for one, but we could rig them up and let Yila smuggle with them.
Besides, if we capture them, Graith will thi
We just have to make sure whatever it is the
Zaacan your SCM ships stop passive systems?0o0
Alf theydédre utilizing some kind of new pas
yes, they can jam it, 0 she said with a growi
impressed. That is almost Kimdori initdssti | et y. 0

ASo, what do you have in mind?0 Dahnai ask

AWe capture t hem, make sure they candt com
them to Exile, 0 he answered. AThat s so ren
anymessagesbhackdan i t 6 s t he same deal with their shi
receive any messages those ships transmit in
jump a beacon out to pick up the message then have it jump batkatfota r out . 0 He
leaned backinihs chai r . ATheydore al most certain to
try to get by the Faey, so | think we can put the Alliance crews to work at New Karsa

until webre ready to send them back, which p

on anyhing other than how many squ&a&hteraof wheat we have planted on the south

tracts and how mucbenkonrof f ood wedr e shipping every da)
farm work will do them some good, and the telepaths among them will have all kinds of

fun trying to use it on the Kizzik overseeing the farming operation. This way, Graith gets

to have his little temper tantrum over the capture of his ships, yet whatever the real

reason heds sending them wil/ be haldsoai | ed mi
far away that theydll be unable to do what t
Dahnai gave him huges mi | e . ABabes, what would we do
AFail miserably, 16d imagine, 0 he retorted
winced when Dahnai mehed him in the shoulder.
Al see nothing wrong with the idea, 0 SkoVvVr

Alliance crews so they have no idea where they are or how many Stargates they traversed
to get there. Let them go to sleep in their own shiplsveakke up in a farm barracks on a
pl anet theybébve never even heard of. o0

AA sensible idea, 0 Zaa agreed. Al't seems
investigate the approaching ships, unless yo
looking at Lorna.



No your Majesty, o0 she answered, nodding sl
Then | think we can return to our rest, o
report their findings directly to the war room, General. In the meantime, | believe | will
have some of my children in tidliance investigate the true intentions of this fleet from
the other side. Surely someone in their command structure knows the truth of things.
Getting that information should not be too d
Sometimes you amaze me, babed)nai sent lightly athey returned to her
apartment.l remember the day you were standing in my throne room, looking so nervous
youbd jump if someone touched you.
Sometimes that feels like it was another lifetineeansweredThings weravay
simpler back then.
Would yowgo back to it if you could?
No, he answered immediately and without hesitatibmay be hunted for who and
what | am, | may be fighting a war for the very survival of my people, but when Miaari
sent me to Karis to find the ring, she sentlrame Karisis where | belong. Karis is my
heart, and Cybi is my soul now. | would never go back to my old life, even if | had the
chance.

ot D

| 6m gl ad to hear that shesmiledce | d6m part of t
| love you, Dahnaihe sent with simple truthMaybe no quite the same way | love
Jyslin, but | |l ove you deeply. | coul dndét i

amu doraj and the mother of my child.
She gave him a look of tenderness, stopping to touch his cheek, then she leaned
forward and kised him with pure, intimate love.
And, of course, someone theaddedtdrgyh at when |
Dahnai laughed and slapped his shoulderk.
| love it when you call me namé®s murmured mentally as she pulled him back into
her apartmet, past her smiling guards.

Jasonds idea was simple, it was effective,
Jason kept trying to get back to Karis, but Dahnai had managed to sidetrack them
three times, keeping them mneltetharhdmewodds af t er Z
after they got all the business worked out concerning Kosigi and the shipbuilding
endeavor. Jason did return to Karis along with the three matriarchs two days before the
Alliance fleet arrived at Terra to attend the ceremony wherKbsigi station opened its
capital doors for the first time. They were monstrous things, four triangles rather than
two rectangles that opened like a flower at the touch of the sun, revealing a vast gulf
more than large enough for tAegisto enterthé unar b as e Aegisthathadvas nét t
the honors of being the first ship to use the new doors, it waketita finally released
from its prison after being rebuilt and put back in service.
Dahnai 6s reasons for keeppnah Shetcartanly ar ound w

wasnodét feeling constrained by her marriage t
for Jason, and wanted a few days with him.

had Kellin to play witmoésbuwthiiltdrvwas matdealilt a
|l i ke a family reunion of sorts, and Dahnai I
children stayed with them during the day, th

parents to stay the night, like a big slumbearty.



Dahnai held one court on what turned out to be his last day on Draconis, and
naturally, she made him attend. But court w
since he brought his wifemu dozeiher husband, and his five children alongwitm,
and his kids being present radically altered the normal court experience. For one, the
Grand Duchesses were a bit astounded that al
and all of them sent with far more experience than the teenage chifdrennobles who
were attending court themselves. They were also wearing full armor without helmets,
which was very much unlike the elegant, expensive robes, dresses, and suits the nobles
wore to impress each other. They gaped when Kyri pulled aftsaye®ts off one of the
side tables with her talent, then had it trail along behind her as she brought it back to her
siblings; they had never seen such a young child with expressed telekinetic ability, and
that kind of control over it.

Rann had it worsthough. While his four siblings got to run around and play,
watched over by both the guards and by Jyslin and Symone, he was stuck formally
greeting the other members of thmnnas the heir. It was the first time Jason had
officially brought Rann toaurt in that capacity, and he looked a little more nervous with
every introduction. The Grand Duchesses were nice enough to him, trying to engage him
in what they thought was suitable talk for a six year old, but Rann was a bit too mature to
be cooed atike a toddler.

Anya and Yila understood. When Jason went
smalltalk with him, she just grinned and picked him up, wincing a bit under the weight of
both him and hisarmorTr el | e6s gar | andshedkcia| et , youdre F

|l t 6s t he arheapolpgizddiBsis AbYa, go odhedeolareslhee you
wrapping his arms around her and kissing her on the chéek.are you?
|l dm good, sweetling, |1 O6m good, 0 she repli
d1 | o, Rann,c‘) Yila called as she joined th
Miss Yila!o he decl ared. AAre you coming
Actually, vyes, | 6m going to be back on Ka
s to talk to me face to face, and | have a couple of other imtportame et i ngs t her e
| dondt want to know, 0 Jason said i mmedi a
I dondt think | | ike this new partnership
two most dangerous houses in8iannma ki ng al | t hesethenmy ret deal
Grand Duchess |l osing a |ittle sleep over tha

yowsegedahytneiveg we do, Anya, o0 Yila said

td0s what worries me, 0 she winked at Ja
h, ités all for the war, o alason retort
expl anat ion. 0

Both Yila and Anya smiled lightly at him.

ANow, now, | etébés break up this plotting!o
them. Of all the Grand Duchesses, if Jason had to spend an hour locked in a room with
one, Semoya would be higim dis list. She was not only powerful and politically savvy
and an exceedingly dangerous woman, with her own secret aspirations to take the throne
from Dahnai, she also happened to have a very rich sense of humor and was a very good
conversationalist. $@oya demonstrated the maddening duality of the Faey that the other
races both admired and feared, the mixture of affability and ruthlessness. She could be
quite the chatty Cathy, talking and smiling, often to someone she intended to have
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murdered the nextay. Jason never dropped his guard around her, but he had to admit,
Semoya could help them pass the time with a smile.
ARann, this iIis Semoya Dorrane. Semoya, th
rather formally.
AWel come t o c ou mited, rufRiagria haid whileeAnya stilaheld
hi m. Al really should have you meet my daug
get along. 0o
AStop trying to work the Karinnes, Semoya,
Semoya and Emae ruled ttveo largest houses in the Imperium, the Dorranes and the
Shovalles, but they were also very good friends. Not that their friendship would stop
them from killing each other in a scheme to gain the throne for themselves, but they were
friends. In a way, Seoya and Emae ensured that Dalstayedon the throne, since
both houses were too large to join together against her, and any insurrection against the
throne would have the rebel house face at least one of those two houses. If one rebelled,
the other wold side with the Empress in order to eliminate the rival.
That was a lesson thateryonehad taken from the Trillanes.

ARann, this is Emae Shovall e. Emae, this
introduced.

ASuch a cuti e, 0 s h ellosrdaughterdwildaok fdnward to Al 6dm s
seeingyoui n court , honey, 0 she winked, then she
okay, dear? You |l ook a littleél dondét know.

Jason chuckl ed. AHe has the mahme probl em
bl ue. o

AAh, thatdés it!o she declared, touching Ra
your father turns blue, but he does everythi

in his direction.
ASome of us are supposkeed dechbar dbd uadamalot |
Al dunno, |l think it | ooks neat, 06 Rann pro
ADond6t | et Shya decide what you | i ke and d
They had one more addition to the group, which made everyone go immediately
silent. Maela Trillane, daughter of Maeri, padded over a little uncertainly. Maela was a
younger version of the whigtin, harsHooking Maeri, though her face was little rounder
and softer, and she was actually rather attractive compared to her motherwasastill
the Grand Duchess, but her exile from Draconis meant that Maela was the one that had to
eat all the cold shoulder and hatred when she came to court, which was now mandatory
for all houses because of t heninvazaimvoiceil need
but the nervousness in her eyes betrayed her fear. No, not just fear, but raw terror.
Something had hespooked
AAl right, 6 Jason said, a bit coldly. nKee
by the arm and dragged her away fribra others, leading her to a relatively quiet spot
not far from the dais, a move that Dahnai did not miss. Jason saw Dera meander a little
closer to them; Dahnai was putting a listener close to see what they were going to talk
about, because shewassurb ey wo ul d nVBhat?Jasen denshdkdi, anbd .
testily.
| € h esheeblurted, pushing a memory stick towards hivimther got this yesterday.
She was pretty sure the Empress needs to see it.



What is it?

The Consortium di dTrilahesshe repied siropty,geing himbout t h
anervouslookThey dve cont ad sircathathappenedi Fathersi nc e
recorded this yesterday.

They contacted yoyesterda¥

ShenoddedShe tried to get it hereafear | iTehre,y 6bruet
watching us, Jason. We canodot do anything or
anyone but me. Jason, watch whatés on this.

she told him, wrapping his gauntleted hands around the stick, libdnck a step back,
turned, and hurried away.
Jason watched her go, then looked down at the stick curiously. He used his talent to
pick it upd it was a bit too delicate to try to pick up with his armored haratsd instead
of taking it to Dahnai, he opede port on the forearm of his armor, just under the
gunport, and slotted the stick in a stickjack put there just for such emergencies. It was
actually a remote stickjack data port combo port for software updates and external device
hardlines, but it codl easily read a memory stick.
I n his mindbs eye, a recording began. It
and one of those energy beings of the Consortium on the left. The telemetry attached to
the bottom showed that it was some kind of tiginith threaded hyperspace
communication, something that would be very hard to intercept by the Kimdori. This
was not Imperium technology; the Consortium must have given it to the Trillanes.
The Trillanes were stildl dealing behind Da
AHavecomsui der ed thdemergy bemg askedih é?ntechanical voice,
obviously through some kind of translation device.

AProposal ? You mean having Dahnai take my
room?o0 Maer.i asked in aehadshybanéehi nkEWgauodk
get ?0

AWe can arrange your survival, Maer i Tril |
we will need a loyal noble to place on the throne. The raegan Empress. They
cannot function without one. That coul d be

Maer i | aughed harshly. Al once thought |
| 6ve been taught the foolishness of that f an
will survive without your help. o

AYou wi || be dest r onypeedr i|thbr@eaiuravvearnedoWeyuer t he
reward the | oyal, and punish the disloyal

Al dondot think you can break the | mperi um,
Karinnes did to your grand armada. With the rest of tigehmam and the Urumi behind
t hem, I think youdll | olsaanuts yov openedvehengoun o i d e a
picked this fight, Grand Merchant, 0 she snee
you. I f 16 going ta hpinckk wa Isli dyoyurs. b 6 IAN dp iictk

m
AYou really believe we donotltaskedbogmlywhat you
[
0

AWe have spies everywhere within your | mper.
you. We know everything. o

AThen youakwodonhbe Fun from a fight. And
than | am tojou | 6ve seen what you do to allies wh

you. O



The being was silenta momerit. T h e n  sibdediaeed.fi It ,tohi nk t omorr ow
will understar the grievous error you have made today. You could have been the
Empr ess, Maer i Trill ane, far earlier than yo
And the recording ended.
Far earlier thad
He looked at Maela. Now he understood her fear. It was the fear of a woman who
thought she was already dead.
Fuck!
He whipped a furious face at Dera, who looked a little confu&s.Dahnai out of
herenow! Jason snapped at her, whipping around to find Mdélgbi, link up with
Dracorads security nédeyaneée 0Qghebakedrnsle! what t he
motioned towards his helmet, which was sitting up on a table on the dais, causing it to
float towards him quickly. Maela was sitting on a chair against the wall, head down, and
from the trembling of her hands, he had @eai of just how serious it was about to get.
[Saelle, get in your Gladiatatight fucking now] he ordered, in a tone that brooked no
guestions, just obediencgAegis Aegis, answer!]
[This is-]
[ 1 dondét care who you eabatestatioisy] Ayag t he f | ee
Captain Harae, get Dahnai 6s family into the
Jason, what the fuék
DONOGT QUESTI ONRNe blasted Batk aChér] snatching his helmet out of
the air and putting it on, then he quite l@ky ran right out of the throne room. He
engaged the gravometric drive in the armor and pulled his feet off the floor and literally
flew through the hallways, knocking a few people over as Cybi finally got access to the
| mperi umbés def ephaged a tactcal Woohimk Heasawdnotding sinusual,
just regular merchant traffic, and nothing unusual in orbit or moving in or out of the
gates.
He burst out onto the landing pad, where ten Wolf fighters rested in a perfect row,
waiting for their pilotgo return.
He didndt even think. He rose up i1 nto the
armored box of his cockpit rotate into flight position. To their credit, behind him, his
KMS pilots were boiling out onto the pad not ten steps behind himpuabt being

warned by someone el se. Hebéd taken Justin T
up and landed in the opening cockpit¥hat the fuck is going on, Jayce€ asked.
| dondt entirely know yet, dpwheniwhatever it

happenshe answered as Taggart took control of the drones even as Jason lifted the Wolf
off the landing pad. ThAegisand the task force were launching fighters and scanning
anything and everything all around them, searching for, well, sangeince Jason
di dnodt whyheylwere &t gemeral quarters.

A quartet of large merchant Makati design freighters, literally gigantic flying boxes,
came out of the Stargate | eading from Makan,
showed him that whrethey powered back up, they had energy signatures far weaker than
a merchant class freighter of that c¢class sho
shielded from sensors. They were going too fast for the energy they were putting out. It
wasaminorhi ng, a tiny discrepancy, and hedéd nev.
looking for something out of the ordinary. Justin launched the spinners as Jason pulled



the Wolf into a defensive position over the palace, then marked those four ships.
[There!] he barked to anyone and everyone that could receive his graVifzaild,
sweep those ships coming out of the Makan gate!]

[Sensors activef he comm officer hedd cut off repl:i

Cybi showed him what happened next. The four ships literally biode after
about fifty ships turned active sensors on them, and a dense cloud of missiles erupted
from them. Telemetry showed that they were aimed directly at the Palace. Both the
KMS and the Imperial Navy reacted to those missiles, which acceleratddtaistic
speed, betraying the fact that they had gravometric engines. A riot of explosions
bloomed along their trajectory as every ship in range opened fire on the missiles, and the
missiles made no attempts to dodge, relying purely on speed todmsatrdction. But
there were thousands and thousands of them, and they were moving at extreme speeds,
and Jason saw that they werené6ét going to sto

That was when Palla did something that was either brilliant or desperate. The
massiveAegisandevery ship in the task force surged forward and spun on its lateral axis,
and the two mile long behemoth turned and presented its belly to that onslaught of
missiles, blocking their path. Around it, the other ships in the task force did the same,
trying to stop those missiles by giving them something else to hit, presenting the largest
possible aspect to them to cover as much of the city as possible.

The explosion was absolutely blinding. The smaller ships were equipped with
Torsion Shockwave generatovehich activated as the fastoving missiles reached
them. The missiles plunged into that sudden sphere of distorted space, an angry red boill
of energy around the ships, and they were ripped apart in the flux, their armed warheads
exploding safelyawaydrm t he s hi p Adyis soweves, Wwak $o00 largeToh e
have a shockwave generator, so it took the full brunt of the majority of the missiles,
missiles that had nothing between them and the ship but its shields. &lpei t a | shipbs
shields rippled ira visibility as thousands and thousands of missiles tipped with high
explosives pounded on them, but those shieédd resisted the destructive inferno, even
as the kinetic impact managed to push the massive ship back towards the planet. The
other shipsn the task force held firm because their Torsion fields were protecting them
from the missiles, but th&egiswas at the center of the missile cluster and took the vast
majority of the blows. But not all the missiles were stopped bydwgsand the dter
ships, the tactical showed him. About two hundred managed to get past the ships and the
swarm of fighters and drones chasing them, filtering through the spaces between them,
and they were leaving streams of fire behind them as they lanced into tisphare and
dropped towards the Imperial Palace like a rain of fire.

Stop those missiledhson sent to his pilots.

Ten Wolf fighters exploded into motion, as they and several squadrons of Raptors and
Dragonflies from Dahn aspdnded jothaattack. dustimn def ense
launched the drones, as the drones fired from the Wolves around them, even as Jason
enabled the pulse weapons and started firing. Drones danced between the blazing white
streaks that erupted from the Wolves. Explosionsbeiged the Dracoran sky as the
fighters whittled down the numbers of missiles quickly, the Wolves attacking from in
front of them and the defensive Raptors and Dragonflies attacking from the flanks and
behind. Several more exploded when struck by puldgokasma fire from orbit, as the
KMS and Imperial ships used their atmospheapable guns and targeted the missiles



that made no attempt to dodge or evade the incoming fire. More and more were
destroyed as the Wolves rose up to meet them, but nottakmf Jason had to veer his
Wolf out of the way of the path of the lead missile, but it exploded in a brilliant flash
when four drones fired on it and destroyed it. He targeted and destroyed another missile
as it streaked past his stationary fighternthe and the other Wolf pilots dove after the
last nine missiles with the Raptors and Dragonflies hot on their tail. But the palace
wasnot defenseless, as red streaks of MPAC f
perimeter of the palace, targeting thenegning missiles. Jason had to pull up and get out
of the way as a curtain of MPAC fire lashed out from the palace grounds, which managed
to destroy the last of the threatening missiles in a matter of seconds.
Fuckéthat was t oo os$eships managdddooget mto orlsiterid Ha d

| aunch those missiles from that c¢cl ose, theyb?o
would have been obliterated, and everyone inside it killed. Dahnai, her family, his wife,
Symone, Tim, Saelle, hhildrenthey 6d have al l perished.

To say that the Imperial Navy was in overdrive was an understatement. They had the
remains of the four freighters surrounded, already sweeping them with sensors as about
ten thousand guns were pointed at the floating debris. EkaMgate was already
guarantined, the color of the swirl telling him it was actively being delinked from its
sister gate in the Makan system, entering an active standby mode that would allow them
to quickly relink, but aoughwhidibhvwasinsgahdoyow any tr
mode. For that matteeyeryStargate was in the act of delinking into standby mode, to
isolate Draconis from any possible follayp attack. The KMS maintained its defensive
position directly over Dracora, with tiegisdes@nding into the upper atmosphere, a
looming monstrosity visible over the city, then it slowly started to ascgtalla! Palla,
is the ship alright?]

[ Heds a | ittl e c oo kheansweredpersonalljfhatbroughd e al r i g
his shields dowrbut his armor held against the attack. | have some damage in the lower
decks, but webre spaceworthy. Fuck, Jayce,

[ I have no idea, but wedidmddiatehhrer fucki ng d

answered.[Get in touchwith the Kimdori and have them go over the entire Makan
system with a fine tooth comb while we figure out who owned those ships and where they
came from.]He blew out his breat,. Wo ma n , | dm going to kiss yol
get up there. That wdmilliant!]
[That was desperationghe laughed in replyfit was the only thing I could think of
at the moment.]

[ Pall a, you saved the pal ace. I coul dnot
wife, amy and childrerwere in there!]
[Well,ifyouwant to give me a few Kkiskseseplied | <cert a

lightly, though he could sense the gravity behind her words.

Jason and the other pilots landed back on the same pad from which they launched,
and there were no congratulations orthiilyes as the pilots exited the ships, just quiet,
grim relief. That wasoo close

The Consortium had just proved that they too could play the underhanded game.
That had been nothing less than an assassination attempt against tHgiamifer it
was no coincidence that attack was timed to come during court, and when was attending



as well. Clearly, the Consortium had a few little operations left that the Kimdori had yet
to root out.

AGet us ready to | eave, 0 Jnalbmersateodn d Justin
Draconis. o

AAyaeye, your Grace, 0 he answered in a tight
Jason, what in the bloody fucking hell is going @&hnai demanded in an open

sending.

The Consortium just tried to kill you, your Majesty. You, me, auilitss, and every
member of th&iann Jyslin, gather the kids and get them on the dropship. We are
leavingnow.
At once, your Graceshe answered with absolute seriousness.
Well, Jayce, you thought you were in a war. The Consortium just remindéiaayou
this is arealone,Jason thought to himself as he listened to Justin issue commands via
sending.Yi | a, get your ass out here, yYyogubdbre goin
talk. And find Jinaami and get her on that dropship even if you hadmagoher by her
tail.
ldody es, Jason, LanéHherubcertain, wgred answhare If itedealt
with dirty, underhanded tricks, then the Trefanis either had a hand in it or they knew
about it. How this got past YiandD a h n a i 0 sceandthe&imdori was n
something he wanted to know, and wanted to kngit fucking now
[Cybi, lock down Karis and get Miaari ready to have a little chat when we get there.
Make sure you bring a paddle.]
[ Let 6s not be over indgoutiwhat happenednissThénwe e n d . Le
can start paddling,she answered without humor.
[Works for me.]
Their dropship landed about five minutes later, along with literally every single Wolf
fighter in their arsenal except the ten already parked on thesperounding it like
warrior ants defending their queen. Those fighters hovered in midair, settling in just as
his family rushed out of the door leading into the palace. Yila and Jinaami were with
t hem, and they were sur rasganmabsolubeyleatRatn ndés gua
him, but he was in no mood for her protectionist tirade. Jason herded his frightened
children, wife,amu doraj best friend, Kumi, the twins, Aura, and his two passengers in
just in front of their guards, then he followed them
AWhat goes o0n, -coloredkimd@ricaskedaeshetankaesgat. Aya
glared at him again as she rushed to the coc
in return, since Jason still had his helmet on.
Jason unlocked a gauntlet,dcehis hand, then reached out and put it on her neck, in
the Kimdori ritual that probably looked quite odd to Yila to see it being done the other

way around. AThe Consortium had attack shiop
in Imperium territoryand t hey tried to kill wus all, o0 he
there are any others. o

Jinaami gaped at hi m. AYou are serious?o

astounded when he gave a single nod. He felt her reach out and touch hifeininalt
expansion as two merged into one through her Kimdori ability to connect to his nervous
system, and he let her sift through everything he saw and heard and suspected. She
needed that information as much as Miaari needed it, because Jinaatty &etd quite



a lot of power in Kimdori society and she was exceptionally clever. He trusted Jinaami
as much as he trusted Miaari, Kiaari, and Za

Yila gave them a strange, intense look, but that look was cowed quibkly Jason
pinned her with a hawki sh s evaryteng haitAdlsr i ght ,
going on. So explain to me how four Consortioamtrolled ships managed to come
through a Stargate from Makan and nearly kil

She gaped, her jaw working several times, then she shook her head in dismay.
swearto you, Jason, | had absolutely no idea. No id&ak lunged out and put both
hands on his face and completely lowered all her defenses, inviting him to look into any
part of her mind he pleasedlook! Look and see | send the truth!

Normally that act of trust would have been enough, but thisyatsne of those
ti mes. He del ved into her | doogloseéahmahyi ne mi nd
of her darkest seets, he did shuffle through her memories and her thoughts to search for
any hint that Yila knew anything about it.

After searching through her mind, he saw s
both just how smart and how dirty Yila Trefani wasood God, the woman had scams
scamming her scams and kickbacks on her kickbacks.

He pulled her hands off his face and nodde
we seriously dropped the bal/l here, and we ¢
Someone may get Kkilled. o

Jason breathed a sigh of relief when the dropship entered the landing bapegithe
because now they were about as safe as they could possibly get when not on Karis. Palla
was there to meet him when the hatch opened, anddhed#ied give her several kisses

when she flung herself into his armored ar ms
he breathed, resting his forehead against hers.

Al 6m just glad | was there when you needed
him on the cheek. ANow | etds get everyone to
commanding voice, the voice of an Admir al

closest suitable quarters?06 she ceyll ed to on
woman with hair the color of wheatnot NExcuse
sitting out here with our asses hanging out where everyone can see it. We are getting you
back into Karisian spaaggow. 0

AMy thoughts exactdcamly Grging Rann ahea®withdrando he s
on his back.

The Commander only had to take them about fifty feet once they entered a
companionway, bringing them to a waiting room of sorts filled with comfortable chairs
and with a window |dodkdsign g uwas o tt hiep aa anoe rei
standard operating procedure during general quarters. The armored casing was nearly
five feet thick.

His icy demeanor melted the instant he dealt with his children. They were a little
nervous, a little frighteed, and he was nothing but gentle and reassuring with them as he
helped them lock in, being the father they needed in a time of stress and uncertainty. He

ki ssed Sora on the forehead as he | ocked her
patted Kyri on the shoulder as she settled herself into her seat and the maglocks in the
chair. Aran tried to be brave, but he coul d

smarter and had a better idea of what really went on than the other kids. Jason just



smiled at him and patted him on the cheek, sending privately to him to reassure him. He
nodded, then put on a brave face and remained resolute, staring at the closed window.
Aura was the one that needed the most comforting. She sat beside Jason and kept a
hand on his, and he sent constantly to her as the task force started moving, splitting time
between calming her down and sending to the twins and Kumi to fill them in on what
happened while they were out having fun in court.
It only took 32 minutes to gétom Draconis to Karis, and that included waiting six
minutes for them to get the Karis gate out of standby so they could pass through, six very
nervous minutes where the task force defendingh\thgasbristled and threatened to fire
on anything that gowithin a thousand miles of the ship. But everyone calmed down
considerably when they were safely in Karis space, and Palla turned them home as the
Stargate behind them began to delink back into hot standby to prevent anything from
following.
They split g once they got into orbit. Jason sent everyone home except himself,
Yila, and Jinaami, and with Dera and Ryn escorting him, they took a dropship directly to
the White House. Once he was there, he got Dahnai on the comm, with Miaari, Yila, and
Jinaami a@ending him in his study. She appeared wearing armor, rather ornate and
decorative armor, but armor nonetheless; Jason really had to get her into a Crusader.
AAl ri ghrowwiblalbeysou tell me what the fuck i s g
Jason umladed the data on the stick still jacked into his armor, and he played it for
everyone. Dahnai watched, and he saw her glare at the image of Maeri Trillane, then
frown, then she took on an asheSmann ook. Al t
Dahnai. | think someone is making backroom deals with the Consortium. Though now
whoever that is might come forward, since the Consortium just tried toekidlong with
everyone el se. 0
Al éyou may be right, 06 sh&omponbadtoreld, scratch
them set up that attack. o

Al believe the first step is to |l earn abou
extensive survey of the Makan system, 0 Miaar
Al think itdéds time we sweamtriewerlyasocomnr rteorl do
AThe Consortium might have a few more |ittle
dondédt want to find them the hard way. o0

Al believe that i s wise, o0 Jinaami agreed.

security behind thenit er di ct or s . We | et a false sense c
AAmen, 0o Jason agreed.

Al think 10611 have Lorna draw up a securit
The screen split, and Zaabds face appeared

receivel wor d, 0 she said i furios stirJaii meamiv,o0iwhat

on Karis when you belong with the Empress?o
which made Jinaami shrink back.

Al brought her here, andgde]Jodldsesén gnhnswehed
which made Jinaami al most sigh in relief. fi

AAl right, Il will give that to you, o0 Zaa re
Explain this!o

Al have just | earned of i teenkylsye.l f A lnmdyl |IDecnomm

si ster Ki aar. i and take measure from her. S h



AThen why do you sit there, child?0 she sn

in fear, jump up, and rush to another, smaller vidlink acrosstmroo A Thi s i s an
inexcusabld ai | ure! 0 she raged. AWe cannot even Kk
Empress is very nearly killed under our own noses? | will know who had responsibility
for this, and | wil/l have his fangs! o

ADenmot her, oal maddwepotbhasgly. Al know vy
angry, but terrorizing the Kimdori that have
said, glancing at a visibly trembling Jinaami.

She snorted almost like a bull, then exhaled and relaxed alittle i Very wel | , co
she stated, her voice betraying her more relaxed posture.

Jason had to admit, Denmother Zaa wéisnidatingwh en she was mad. Al
ask you to come here so we can talk face to

timeto calm down more than anything else.

ARAgr eed. I owi | be there within the hour.
of fice, they will forward it to me for my 1in
just like that.

Ji naami d i hatrexxited dver thekidea df flacing the Denmother.

SkéVrae joined them minutes | ater, having
Uruma, and they discussed the attack and their response to it with Jinaami and Yila as
Miaari made extensive contacts thgbuthe Kimdori spread through the Imperium and
gathered intelligence. Zaa arrived about fifty minutes later, and the first thing she did
was put her hands on both Miaar:i and Ji naami
on. After that was done, shaok her seat beside Jason and did the same thing. He felt
the expansion as she joined to him and felt her sift her claws through his mind openly, not
hiding it as Kimdor.i usually did, absorbing
much more compose t one. ALet wus davehcaupspse rhso wa g aoi ne.nos |

With Lorna and the war room conferenced in, Zaa brought a series of Kimdori up on
the screen and all but interrogated them, until the method of the attack fell into place.

The four Makatifreighters had falsified registrations, and Kimdori investigators now in
Makan traced them back to an asteroid base at the fringe of the systemceveres

piece of rock that had been hollowed out to serve as a hidden base, and which was now
abandonedEvidence left behind, however, showed that it had been Faey that had
prepped the ships and launched them, probably mercenaries hired by the Consortium
before the attack, and paid well for their betrayal of their own kind.

But then again, betrayal wasrpaf Faey nature, because an individual Faey looked
out for herself far over looking out for anyone else. It was no surprise to anyone in the
conference room that there were freelance Faey out there doing the bidding of whoever
paid them the most moneyt was a personality flaw the Faey shared with humanity.

But the implications were clear. The Consortium had agents within the Imperium.

And that was where Yila came in. Where the Kimdori would take time to find these
freelancers, Yila could track thredown very fast using her underworld empire to cast the
net. Such Faey would need criminal contacts to do their business, and Yila could hunt
them down using those contacts.

Yila got to work on that as Lorna proposed a framework of an internal seglaity
that the war room was hastily assembling, literally taking it right off their desks and
reading it to the rulers, which would significantly increase security within interdicted



space and introduce stringent protocols for ships trying to use thet8saigaeryship

would now be extensively scanned before being allowed to pass through, and ship crews
would have their licenses-evaluated to weed out anyone whose paperwork was forged
or expired.

Zaa didnoét all ow her t eShpreadthe¢ rmtaggtmbathnr el e a s
Jinaami and Miaari, then got Kiaari on the vidlink anchiethave it. Those three were
supposed to be the central figures in the Ki
clearly was placing the blame for thisrightlate i r f eet . It wasndt rea
Zaa didnot particularly care about that at t
and her three Gamekeepers were a convenient excuse to do so.

After things were more or less settled, Jason went feordespent éongtime
hugging his children. They could sense his
them seeing their father so visibly shaken made them want to comfort him.

And it went beyond steeling his resolve. The Consortium had trikitl tos
children He was beyond any form or matter of simple anger at that thought. This was
waybeyond that . He was enraged beyond all re
made him want to throw things and order thousands of innocent bystemrdetged.

This was the cold, logical, icy fury of a man who fully intended to give back as good as
he got.

They tried to kill his children. They would pay with their dgging queens. He
would stab them in the heart. In the fuckireart.

And in his icy fury, he knevexactlyhow to pull it off.

Every idea theydd thought wup so far all de
the nebula, or trying to get ships close enough to attack them. None of those would work,
because the Consortium was rencefog the nebula more and more with every passing
minute, building their castle walls. Well, in the metaphor of the castle, when one wanted
to breach the castle walls, there were four main ways to go about it. One could try to
batter the walls down usirgiege engines. One could try to tunnel underneath using
miners. One could try to go over them using ropes and ladders and siege towers.

Or, one could walk right through the open gate.

In the middle of the night still sitting at his desk in his offatdhome, Amber purring
contentedly in his lap, Jason made the call to get things going. He called the command

center, and Sheyb6és handsome face appeared on
Grace, 0 she called in her sober tone. A Wh at
A | twaumo find thirty Naval personnel who are willing to go on the most

dangerous mission of their | ives. Stress th
it, o0 he said in a tightly focused voice. A E
Consortium that might permanently cripple th
Al t  wi l | be done, 0 she said i mmediatel y.

just what it would cost their compassionate Grand Duke emotionally to make a request

like that, so she took \teryserious$ vy . Al ol call you with stat:¢u
Al 6l | be here, 0 he said, and he cut the ca

demandingly for the person he was waking up, until she finally answered. A slightly

annoyed looking Siyhaa lookdxck at him through the monitor, still looking like a

demon. AAh, your Grace, 0 she said, her anno
you?o



AYoubdre goi nTgojahkorsdo u M) meoahe answered eve
AA what ?0
AAn ol d Ter r gontowakd up your tem, Mahja,tand get to work
immediately installing a new computer core in the Consortium destroyer. | want that ship
to have a working computer core in a week.
has to lastong enougtiort hat shi p to get where 1 tbés going
matter. o
She gave him a startled | ook, but then she

be done in four days. On that, you have thewn@ind of a Mori don, 0 she
formally.
Afen get to work, o0 he decl ared. She nodde
Jason leaned back, petting Amber absently, who still purred away. She was a tiny
little bundle of soft fur and attitude, barely weighed more than a batchi ball, and at least

atthatmoment, heook a great deal of comfort from he

Amber , 0 he sighed, admitting a truth hedd be
Tricks and toys wonét wor k. This is going t
God, | hae the idea of askingnyoneto die for this house, to throw her life away in a

suicide mission, but thereds no other way. o
He sighed, closing his eyes. AThereds no
Jasonds i dea had menwihtthe Cansogiumyabheighterzeg r e e d .

alert and looking for anything unusual, knowing how cunning their opponents were,
everyone agreed that the idea of trying to bluff them with one of their own ships was the
only real vi abl e o p theadsagainst théveaytdyidg tthcarmerae r e d t h
with some way to destroy that facility, a facility that was now a complete fortress, but
flying one of their own ships would work, so long as they took the necessary precautions,
covered all the bases and made@oasortium see what they wanted them to see, not the
truth.
First Myleena set up a schedule to put the ship back together, but not to make it shiny
and new. Theydd introduce real damage to th
hell, even to the pat where its weapons would be disabled. The ship would appear to be
held together with duct tape, venting plasma into space through gaping holes, burn marks
all over it, a piece of its starboard wing blown off. They wanted the Consortium to see a
heavilydamaged ship that, when they scanned it, would show that its transmitter comm
systems were destroyed, the receiver array had beefriggad to where it mostly
worked, its weapons were down, its life support was hanging by a thread, and its
hyperspaceymp engines were on the verge of melting into slag. But its signal lights
were working, and with those, they could communicate over distances using the light
language of the energy beings, a language they had completely cracked.
They knew all the Consaum protocols. They knew their language. They had
everything they need to lull them into taking no action before the ship was close
enoughébecause when it was c¢cl ose enough, it
The trick of it was to use an old trick insi@n old trick and cover it over with one of
the oldest tricks in the book. This ship would serve one function and one function only:
get within 1,27kathraof all four of the satellite pods orbiting the main base. Each pod
held a queen, they knew, whi they had to keep separate because queens had an



instinctive need to destroy the eggs of rival queens, and that was something that the
Consortium still had not managed to stop. Broodlings from different queens had no
problems working together, but theeens themselves would tolerateatieninsectoids
around them and no eggs of rival queens to survive. The queens in the pods laid eggs,
then they were taken to the main base for incubation, and that was why the nebula was
ideal for them. It was a negnveightless environment that had a great deal of favorable
radiation emanating from the newborn star at the core of the nebula, a perfect
environment for incubating the eggs. They would let the eggs bask in that sunlight at a
specific distance for maxinmu incubation efficiency, something for which technology
was not as effective as nature.

The trick would be simple sabotage, hidden inside a diversion, and covered over with
a trojan horse. The ship would be a flying bomb. All they had to do was tget c
enough, and it could wipe out the ability of their enemy to replenish their insectoid crews.
The diversion would be them bringing the damaged ship in, probably giving it the once
over, but finding nothing on their sensors that would say the shipmydising other than
what it waséand the Consortium had no idea t
was fix up the ship so it looked like it went through hell escaping and invent a plausible
backstory and ship6s | o fierehck betweemaherctieesikdp up wi t
vanished and when it reappeared. And the oldest trick in the book was using their own
ship to get past their defenses. The crew would have to jump the ship into the nebula, it
was too far for a computer to do it, and orfeere, their job would be to get the ship to
the base using the signal beacons to communicate, precluding the need for face to face

contact . 't woul dndét be a complete suicide
enabled so the Faey crew withinwerdldien fr om sensor s, and theyf¢
a Karinne dropship that was CMS enabled, and if they managed to escape the nebula and
get out to where they could cloak, then they
until they could get someoneteer t o pi ck them up. Theyodod be ¢
in a ship carrying technology they could not allow the enemy to have. If capture was
i mmi nent, theydd have to destroy the dropshi
nebul a, t h alledsizeoapdsKlarinme &@rggines would allow it to go faster, less
friction from the gas, which would give then
to outrun pursuit, and once clear of the nebula, they could cloak to evade their pursuers.
Riggnghe ship as a bomb was chil dbés pl ay. J
plants while making itookl i ke t he engines hadndét been t amg
over the ship with their sensors, and the th

antimattetrbombs when the power plants were breached, wiping out everything for a
thousandkathrain every direction. That was why they had to get it close enough to the
pods, so one bomb could wipe out all four queens. The trick was to make the ship appear
to bewhat they wanted them to see, a battered, damaged, barely operable shell limping
towards a safe haven, yet still be able to perform its task. Appearances, appearances,
appearances. Lure them in with a damaged ship, let their sensors see what they wanted
them to see, then the ship communicates using beacons because its transmitter array is
destroyed, yet its receiver array is working, which was how they knew to go the nebula,
pray they took no action as the ship |imped
That was the plan. And while it was a héirained scheme, while the Consortium
had just pulled a similar trick themselves just yesterday, it was also just about the only



one anyone had proposed that even came close to having a chance to succeed The ma
difference was that the Consortiudid not knowthey had one of their ships, and because
of that, pulling the same trick they did actually had a reasonable chance of success.

He had his thirty volunteers. In fact, he had nearly four hundred, bytware
chosen for their skills and, sadly to say, their status as single women with no families.
There had been 57 human men that also volunteered, but the sheer thought of a man
going on such a dangerous misgioa survival probability of 6% according tbhe
C 0o mp ut ed viasabsoldtelysunthinkable. The Faey in the house had made many
strides towards gender equality, but that one stepped on the most sensitive, rawest nerve a
Faey woman had. A man wastgoing to volunteer for a suicide mission, andttwvas
that He couldrisk his life in service to the house, but he would siotrendernt. Jason

constantly pushed a Faey womands protective

pale.
The very thought that he ikwarabiddvolviermg t hi s

to

but God help him, he couldndét think of any o

after the plans were made seeking sol ace
going through. To him, who had worked and fought so hapatdtect every single
person in his house, the idea of ordering some of them to die was the worst thing he could
possibly do. He put on his brave face in public, but in the privacy of his own house, he
wept like a baby.

Amber did her own consoling, irehspecial way. She was curled up against him
under the covers when he woke up, woke up almost two hours late for work, feeling
weary and drained, and as soon as he was awake and conscious, she started purring,
kneading her tiny, needlie little clawsagainst his belly. Those little thrills of pain
focused his mind, and he rose up on his elbow, engaging his brain to work through what
he had to do that day. Amber wriggled out from under the blankets and jumped up onto
the pillow, then reared up and her tiny paws on his wrist, leaned over, and licked his
face, just to the side of his mouth. Her little tongue was always unnaturally hot, and it
never failed to do what she wanted it to do, make him pay attention to her. He looked
down at her, and shsat on his pillow and bowed her head nobly as he scratched the thick
fur between her shoul der bl ades. Awel |,

i n

at

up with me, o0 he told her with a rueful <chuck

Usualywyhnen Rann wasndét home, it was Jason or
attenti on. Amber was just a boyds girl
She gave a tiny little yip, then pushed against his propping arm like a cat. That never
failed to amuse Jason. Amber, and all vulpars Mk& a mixture of cat and canine in
behavior, and a few physical feline traits, like the claws and the ability to purr. He petted
her for a moment more, then sighed and started his daily routine. First, he reached out to
find Jyslin, and found her ovet 3D, no doubt getting a very early start on the day. She
and Myleena basically ran that place, so she had a lot of responsibilities. Tim was at
work, and Symone was again over at the army base, piloting a Gladiator. Rann and his
kids were all with Mga, just starting morning lessons. He contacted the White House
and gave Chirk and Brall warning he was about to come in, then got a status report from
Myri. After hearing about what was most important, he sat up and picked up his panel
and read througthe highpriority reports that ran through the network over the night,
many of them just rehashes of what Myri told him. One, however, got his attention. It

St



was a tagged addition to a routine report, a code that told him that someone at 3D needed
to talkto him as soon as possible, and if they used that tag, it meant it was one of their
ultra-top secret projects.

Then Aya came in, alone, and she was wearing only a sports bra and a pair of very
tight shorts, showing off her highly toned body, completér wéveral scars. This, Jason

had been expecting. Shedd been furious with
attack on the palace, and shed6éd had over a d
inevitable, and Jason twasnobteidxhaect.l y Aymo kniansg

captain of the guard, she was also a friend and in many ways a mentor.
He patted Amber on the head, then regarded Aya with a steady eye as he stood up.
ACan we at | east take this. utside? l 6d r at
She gave him a look, then smiled ruefully. Then, to his surprise, she came over and
sat on the bed beside him. Amber bounded up onto his lap, then she reached over and
patted the vulpar fondlyonthehead.o, t hi s wonét shead,e fi ghti ng,
addressing him informallylt might have come to blows yesterday, but not today.
And whatodés different today?
A whole lot of people reminding me of just who and what yowsheeanswered.
Youbre too much a gri zzl &ihamwaaphorpyowsresedpi ke us,
to a command position through the infantry,
and jump in a dropship with the grunts. Your family was in danger, in personal danger,
and you protectedlessoémyoul 688 msouododl dpnehiask]l
hidden in a blast shelter and let others take responsibility for the protection of your
family. ltds not who you are.
| 6m gl ad you appreciate that.
't doesndt me sherepliedblantty®r thabitdloiels @ 6itt gi ve me g
hair. All | can ask is tdimit these protective impulses only to crisis situations. |
coul dndét have stopped you the day before yes
to start flying c¢ombatkindaf didcussos that wqitesme goi ng
to take off my vambraceshe warnedIf youeverpull a stunt like that in a situation

where | deem it was unnecessary, you wonodot b
He had to chuckleDuly noted he answeredS o , | iGem? f or g
You areconditionallyf or gi ven based on those unique ci

take a single step outside that box, Jason.
Tr ust mehe answeradyreathing over and patting her shoukied.thank
you, both for understanding and for caring enouglinderstand.
|l 6m not just the captain of your guard, Ja
Oh, you are that, Aya,. You most definitely are thatanswered, kissing her on the
cheek.Now,i t 6s ti me for me to get the day going,
out with me today.
We 6 | | be ready before youdre done with bre
Aya sent Dera and Ryn with him that day, and the three of them first went over to 3D,
where he stole a fewdses from his wife, then tracked down who had set that tag, who
needed to see him. The secret unspoken remains a secret, as Miaari often said, and that
tenet was very much used in 3D.hintedaher e wer e
over gravband. llason wanted to know, he had to go to 3D and find out in person.



And it was good news. It wagrygood news. Gerann was the on that had put the
come to 3[rag on his status reports, and he had a lot to report about his broadcast power
project. So farGGerann had built two test models and two prototypes of increasingly
larger and more complex design, and all had more or less worked thus far. The last
prototype had had a few bugs that Gerann needed to work out, but he was fairly confident
that he couldrack them down and eliminate them quickly. Jason sat down in his office
with Jenny, Jyslin, and Myleena, who was in the office to get caught up before heading to
Kosigi to put the Consortium ship back toget

prototype is a success, 0 he decl ared.

AY odouilti t ? Why wasnét | informed?0 Jason den
ABecause | finished it four hours ago, 0 he
of fice. And, to put it shorupapanddwhese up and W
screen was showing a cascading series of nun
array i s on the surface of Kosigi. This pane
Jason coul dnot constrain hi msel f. He gave
really got it working!o he decl ared. AANny p
Al dm having a few issues with clean demodu
range, but | think some software tweaking wi
Jason, | could take the PP@Gt®f just about anything and replace it with a broadcast
receiver module, and the device wil/l run. A
run. o

AThat 6s outstanding, Gerann! osoddglleedna t ol d
youaway fromB ack Ops! 0

Al 6m glad | did too, your toys here are co
prototype, your Grace. Gi e me about ten da
a final report for you on the project. o

AFi nal asoOideanyguaskesd?

ACompl ete success, 0 he nodded. After |1 ge

[

t hat manages the planetary power grid
AHave you thought of how to do that?0 Jenn
Alt womnd§to bGerhmanrn answer ed. APower demand

we ol | keep the physical conduit power systen

the broadcast transmitters too much, but we can run virtually everything else off
broadcastpowerl 6 ve al ready designed replacement mo
common size. First, we build the broadcast transmitters and hook them into the power
system and make sure theyobve got some heavy
majority of the paver demands are going to shunt to those transmitters. Then, once the

system is up and running, we just unplug the PPGs, plug in the new power modules, and

keep on going. |l 6m al so desi gn-oloots,as ome nano

Myl eenaédst regqgThe kinds of robots we candt bu

PPGs or batteries down to that size.o
AWhich is what this was all about, at | eas

and | can design a killer damage control system for ousddiers, fighters, and smaller

ships using the same design theories we use on the big boys using standard robots. And

t hat @ea pplst cati on. Theybébre going to be usef

Industrial, medical, commercial, military, civiiangd | , even entertainment



AGerann, consider yourself the new king of

have tot al priority over every other project

Al can abuse that, no problem, 0 he said wi

A Nhd that the hand that brings it to you might slap you a few times after delivering
it,o0 Jason noted |ightly.

AThat s half the fun, 0 Gerann answered.

Al want regular updates, Gerann, 0 Jason to
system up and runniregfast as possibled6 he stressed. ADondét bl o
go as fast as you can. o

Al 611 go as fast as | safely can, 0 he prom

ACome over to the White House in an hour,
the broadcast system and powerger at i on departments there fo
added. ASince this intrudes into both their

AYeah, I 61 | need both of them. | 61 1 need
devote to the phawdat ¢ ytsdlelm, alaouwt IWiltth the po

AGirl . Her name i s Rund Hervakk. o

AThat 6s a Makat:i name, 0 Gerann noted.

Al 6d hope so, since shebés a Makati. Sods

Gerann | aughed. A S o me daGoragadhandirggon@ myacupw a | k i
ofoyej ui ce, 0 he noted.

AHey, we reward on ability, 6 Jason shrugge
manage to do it without crushing the cup, he

ASpeaking of the rare | aoypteestheParrimraces, have
growing?0 Myl eena awg&ed. ATheydre getting

AActually I havendét, and | havendét visited

my calendar, 06 Jason mused.

He went on to the White House in a much better mood after the lade afugays,
so much so that both Chirk and Brall took notice of it. Brall arranged the meeting
between Gerann and his secretaries while Jason went through the stack of stuff Chirk
prepared for him, as the huge Kizzik stood beside his desk and pointedhafgs of
interest out to him, things that caught her compound eye. Jason had come to trust her
when it came to things like that, because shemuashsmarter than he was, and she had
a nearly eidetic memory, capable of linking together disparate péoafermation that
looked innocuous when taken alone, but were important when put together. Chirk would
make onéhell of an intelligence analyst, since Tim had the same knack, and Tim was the
best analyst on Miaari 6s &neiwf hebHebwasdi aga
he started thinking about how close he came to losing his family or the subsequent death
orders hedd had to issue. So, after only an
He decided to take Chirk and Brall with him,teey piled into a dropship rather than his
Wolf. He decided it was time to go out and look around a little.

His first stop was Embraijn, where he popped a surprise visit on the twins and the
Exiled. The Exiled were doing very well, they were quicklggrating into the house,
and in fact about 300 of them had already found jobs and were in the process of moving
over into the city. They had all decided to live near each other, so a section of Karsa was
probably going to become an ethnic neighborhoad kChinatown in New York City.
Jason didnodét mind. I f they felt more comfor



sure it happened. After all, on Karis, commuting was no problem whatsoever. A person
could live virtually anywhere and neverbemort han an hour s commut e
His next stop was the continent of Virga, where he dropped in on the Kizzik who had
migrated to Karis to build the new colony. He was, quite singdigundedy their
progress. In just a few weeks, they had fullysaseted out their hive and had installed
all utilities. It was a complete underground city half the size of Karsa, mostly empty
because the bulk of the migrating Kizzik had yet to arrive, but a full and complete city in
every detail. And, it had everytlgrone would find any city in the Imperium. The
dwellings had power, water, and all services, the industrial sectors both above and below
ground were either already built or were just days from completion, and the offices of the
nobles were waiting fortme t o arri ve. Theydd even built n
underground for the nelizzik who would live and work here, offices, and homes any
human or Faey woul dnodét think twice about occ
after he met with the nobla charge of the build efforts, and he saw that the drones and
residents would start transporting over in just three days. In a week, this empty
underground city would be swarming with nearly 15,000,000 Kizzik. In a gesture to
Karis, the Hive Leaders ole Kizzik, their ruling body, had dispatched one of the more
respected and capable colony rulers to lead the colony, and thereby all Kizzik on Karis,
including the smaller colony that was already here. The Kizzik would still obey him as
the ruler of Kars, but such an esteemed Kizzik here on Karis would garner their respect,
and theydd see herpreasidentsomet hing of the vice
And Jason wasnodét stupid enough not to have
on his personal staff as an advisor. Kizz#éredamnsmart, once you got past the
language barrier and started to understand their very insectoid and alien personalities and
manneri sms. Under all that chitin and green
for the nobles.
After that, he wenup to see Admiral Dellin. Dellin was in his office, so they sat
down and went over all the shipbuilding. Everything was nicely on schedule, and the
whole lunar base was busy as a Kizzik hive. He and Dellin went out to attend the
launching of one of themperial Navy ships that the Faey had brought to complete in
Kosigi, a cruiser, applauding as the dock clamps were released and the ship floated out
and awayéwhich was a |l aunching in Kosigi. N
space and the rest ofwbuld be finished, which was all internal and mainly cosmetic.
Floors and walls would be installed, and then all the things people needed, like furniture,
bathrooms, and so on, would be finished.
After attending the launch, Jason descended back dowarits &d landed at
Kosiningi, and he had a nice visit with Cybi. He could talk to her at any time, and often
did, but he still liked to take the time to come out aaeher, to let her know he cared
enough to physically come out to her core and be tgheher in person. Cybi was very
important to him, both as the heart of the house and as a close friend, and he would take
those extra steps whenever he needed to in order to make skrewsihe cared.
It was after lunch after he left Kosiningi,andM eenad6s menti on of the
them the last stop on his tour. He landed and greeted the small clan, only about a
hundred, and he was agastounded Theoyetrees now absolutely towered over them,
the largest of them the size of a two hundred g&hoak tree, with broad leafed canopies
that shaded entire acres of grass and the entire Parri village. The trees had yet to fruit,



and would not for a while, but he was stunne
nothing but a simple sign to the Pahat they belonged here, since they would go
nowhere their trees would not growéewhich was
planets in the Imperium, their home planet and Karis. Jason sat by an open campfire with
Ryn and Dera in quiet attendance and shagadvith the Pargshaman herjaingi
mar ki ngs catching Jasonds eyejangtattoosliket he wa
the one on Saell eds back. They were very si
markings, areas of bare skin painted whit@ugh her fur, they tickled at the back of his
mind in a curious way.

AYou are tr oublshamamoyedin acal@ voice as she sippdd der
tea through her feline jaw and muzzle.

AA | itt Iskamanhdoo rhoer each s we r e d dthingd happereintiea d a f e w
|l ast few days. 0
Alt i s best to confront your troubles and

ATo worry over them is to needlessly waste t
pursuits. o

AWel | |, | 6ve already Iwbom kjeuds tt hnrootu gehn ttihreem y h
those decisions, 0 he answered honestl y.

Al see, your Grace, 0 she told him, taking
another decision that could have been made?0o
He sighed. ANot really. o

AAnd thiessbgou?o

AYes. Il wish | didndét have to make it, bu
accept it, but itdéds not easy for me. 0

She smil ed. AThen you have | earned the fi

ancestors, 0 she tnedthhtthere ane timesfiwNeo you dreanotehe | e a
one in control, and it is then that you should simply move with the wind, rather than try to
walk against it. To struggle against that which cannot be changed is a fruitless endeavor.
You only have nine moriessons to learn before | could train you ahaman your

Grace, 0 she noted with a gentle smile.

Al think | 6shdmappd stseg arosnwereadd wi t h a chuckl e
enough as it is.o

AAs you wish, your Gr acaek,ion gs haen ostahied isn pa ¢
you?o

AWhat is it?o0

Al would come to your place of dwelling, 0O
is seemly for me to come to your dwelling and chase away the dark spirits that seek to

gat her around it.o

AWhagi oois have you seen?0 he asked with groc

AThe visions are hard to explain to those
contritely. ABut the feeling they | eave me
darkness creeping towardssliplace, your Grace. | would seek to push back its longest
fingers. o

Given that the Consortium had them in their sights, Jason did not discount that feeling

one |ittle bit. Hebéd felt it himself quite

~

ASo, might you allow me to come?o0



Ja®n di dnot believe in what she believed in

aggravate the Parri. They asked for so | itt
courseshaman 6 he answer ed, t adyetea,gnade framiitparkof t he de
There was no part of ayetree thatwasotd e | i ci ous. AWhen woul d vyoc

AAsSs soon as i s convenient. Al'l who are i m

AThat 6s a wh eHamanloo th eo fs ap edo prli d ,dheegntire Al t enc
popul ation of this planet. 0

She gave him a kind | ook. AThose with who
AThe protection | cast will encompass both vy
intimately to it. And some are connected to ibtigh you, even if they do not live
there. o

AAl I of them?0o

Alt would help, o0 she answered. Al know he
being here would help. I't i s not entirely n
AWel |l , it only tgaekte sh ehreer, 0a Jfaeswo nh onuursse dt.o

Al f she wishamamstatedne , 0 t he

AShe will if |1 ask her. o

AThen, if it pleases you, I would ask you
Al will, then. How does sunset sound?0o P
Sunset was as close to a specific time as he could get to her way of thinking.

Al would be pleased to do so. Mi ght you ¢

birds as soon as convenient, so | may prepare? And a quiet place surrounded by nature so
my meditations are serene?o
AWe have a | ovely beach right beside my ho
AThat would b i ne, 0O srhwstf iamgir ®*lfe dour AtBard, ¢ 1 ¢
added, taking another sip.
And so, after another half hour or so of tea and conversatiom d@socarrying the
most unusual passenger hshéandarioekecartriffdhad i n hi s
uncomfortable in her chair, but she also looked strangely resolute. He called up Dahnai
en route back to his house, and her image appeared in tiny r@pliba dash directly in

v el
e f

front of hi m. AWhat 6s up, babes?0 she asked
AHow would you I|Ii ke to come to dinner toni
somet hing ratheréunusual , 0 he added.
ASeriously? Wi th al.|l the neignorethemuall i ty pr o
and jaunt right over?0 she asked, a touch ac
AWel |l éyeah, 0 he answered, a bit | amely.
AWhat 6s that i mportant?o

ANot mpontanti mport ant , 0 h e stkmmasaskedyeudaobe hefeA Par r i

She wants to perform some kind of atat my house, and she said she wants you in
attendance. 0

AOh really?0 she asked with sudden curi osi
Kari s?o

AWho el se would it be?0 he countered. A Sh
Kellin, and the kids 0

il 6ve seen viddies of Parri ri tual s, and |
she mused. fBesi des, itds a chance to chase



AWe havendét had much time for that | ately,
AThealvwaysttnefor sex, 0 she grinned at hi m. nSe
|l ove, and wedll be there.o

Al 611 contact Juma and have her dispatch a

By sunset, everyone was curious, because the $Pamarhad sat herself down on
the beach ouide the house as soon as he got her there and she was all but dead to the
world, in one of the most profound states of meditation Jason had ever seen. Jason could
meditate to the point where he could evade t
long. Theshamardid it for hours to the point where Kyri thought she was dead.
Dahnai and her family arrived just before dinner, so Ayama had quite a few to feed, but
shedd been ready for it. Jason enjoyed the
but then, right after sunset, tekamarstarted.
The first thing she did was use a large pouch at her waist to sift some kind of dust
onto the ground, and she went completely around his house, drawing a circle of sorts,
even to the point of going riglitrough the middle of the hot tub on the deck between
their house and Tim and Symoneb6s house. The
for a few minutes, invoking some kind of prayer as she looked out to sea. Then she
looked up at the sky and chantsghin, then knelt down and put her hands on the sand of
the beach and repeated the same words. Then, she clapped her hands twice and came
inside.
First, she called in just about everyone in the strip with the explanation of not feeling
the proper harmongf energies, which made it a packed house. The people who lived on
the strip were, in their way, his extended f
surprise him much that she wanted them there. Then, surprisingly, she demanded the
presencef Aura and Lieutenant Kyva. It took a bit to get them both to the house, and
once they were there, she began. They watched as she chanted in the Parri tongue in his
living room, swaying slightly, holding a staff made of the heartwood @iyatree in ler
pawlike hands, a staff decorated wjdingi symbols that were oddly symmetrical to
her s. Jason was more interested in her tail
tail with the tuft of fur at the end. They watched in respectful sileasha conducted
her ritual, and then, at the conclusion, she took her staff in both hands and rapped the end
down on the floor.

And in that instant, he startedtb ei ng qui te so skeptical abou
bel i eve isomethingHHe hafl madled what it was, but he sure as fucking hell
felt something A ,pressyreeraafating from thehamanlike a phantom wind that
pressed through them as it radiated out fron
Kyri, Aura, and Kyvaalsofeit t , from their startled express,
explained why she wanted Aura and Kyva here.

Before he could rationalize that sensation

by the glow of your ancest or slightoftsutheghei nt oned
radiance of love, the warmth of family shine like a beacon and drive away those who lurk

in the darknessUnda krah, anda trebarr 0 She then cl apped her ha
and that was it. She smida,ddo ashd hsetmat ed AN W
voice.

Dahnai and the others thought it was a nice ritual and enjoyed it, but Jason was far
more interested in what thathert hi ng was, and he shamamoét afr ai



down after she had her tea and returned outsiget some answers. She sat on the sand

of the beach with her staff in front of her
are more things in this world than what you
she told him in a patient, nurtarig t one, the voice of a teacher
to the truth of things than | expected for vy
ABut what was it?0 he asked.

Al't was something you cannot easily wunder s
nothing to do wittscience, or logic. It has to do wiitve, and there is no stronger force

in our universe than | ove. 0

Al dondt understand. 0O

She | ooked at hi m. AWhen you spoke of the
pain you so0?0

ABecause peogpgéet krklgdiag to

AAnd you care for them, even though you ha
orders affect?0o0

AVery much so. o0

AThat i s | ove. Your heart i1s filled with
power ful . Far more power ful than you reali z
ABut éwhat di fference does that make?0

AThe heart that is filled with | ove is | es
the eyes, 0 she told him. Alt makes youésens

others cannot see. What you felt,afagarinne, was the invocation of the love of your
ancestors, be them human or Karinne, on your home. With them casting the light of their
love upon you, it protects you from the fingers of darkness reaching for you. And since
all whom your love touchesas with you when you were granted this benediction, they

are similarly illumined. The dark spirits that have gathered around your house are now
afraid to approach them, and you. Even now, they retreat from this place, driven away by
the light of your lovy € . 0

Al t s ecelgopdks® he breat hed. il 6wemanedver been
AThere is religion, and there is truth, yo
she answered sagely.

ASti |l 1, this 1is | i ketothiekingontgide bftvenevated f ai t h .
Karinne science-sdepredatnglys ai d, a I ittle self
ADo you believe in souls, your Grace?0o0
AYes, 0O he answered honestly, picking at th
ASo, you believe Iin something ybbbha cannot s
explained by your science?b0

AYes, | do. o

AThen why nesthelui dvegoun what you felt just m
simply

Jason al most replied, but then he just <chu
quipped.

ATher e i s nidthae whatryourt senses cawdetect, your Grace. The world

is far larger than you know. Perhaps, if you open your eyes more, you might start seeing
just how | arge it is.0



Al 6l | have t oshdmaneqp heéhaanswemac,d,t hat nki ng of
was something that scientific, measurable, documented, yet could not be seen or sensed
by human beings. If hyperspace was there and intangible, then why not something else?
That was what she was trying to get across.

Al woul d ask fumme tp muvilldge youriGrack! We are ot

comfortable away from our trees, and my work
Al 61 1 t ake (slamapnhoo hee msyasiedl fr,espect ful |l y.

Al am honored. Oh, and if it would furthe
the morning. There is a gift | wish to pres
Al 61 1 be there at sunrise, o0 he promised.

Jason thought on and off about the ritual the rest of the night, even to the point of
irritating Dahnai as she c¢| aasmoéadduniueem f or t he
something hedd never felt bseethingWasibut he cou
magi c? No, he didndét believe in magic. But

Something unexplainable. He could admit that even in a world veleerece could
duplicate some of the miracles of God, there weresstitet hi ngs t hat just col
explained by scienceébut also didndt make th

The gift that theshamarpresented him when he came back torttadiage in the
morning quite literally blew his socks off.
She gave him aayesapling.
He was absolutelgtunned The Parri dichot give oyetrees away. They were
married to their trees in ways that seemed almost irrational by anthropologistg, seein
their trees almost as extensions of their ggdgetrees were sacred to Parri, absolutely
sacred, and for her to give him one of their trees was almost like the Brood Queen giving
him one of her Brood Princesses as a bride, or Dahnai just handintp@weown to
him.
It was with shaking hands that Jason accepted the simple clay vessel holding a sapling
t hat was only aboutyouttere ei mohwe s yhlmiugh .Gr afcTeh ios
with a mysterious smil e.carefirlasyobaenowtlies t o you
ty to nurture. o
é
0

treeds du

fiShaman | é1 é1 6 m stunned. |l dondédt know what t
terrified, he said honestl y. Al have no id
di saster | 6ade nyeoveragaei m.bd e t o f a

AJust | ove it, your Grace, 0 she said si mpl
hel p, 60 she added with a growing smile. AThe
|l ove. O

AAh, one of those | essaskesl. you were talking
She just smiled, for almost a full mi nut e.
sai d. folurthandrnthas ttansamts it from its pot and into the ground. Any other

hand that does so will cause the tree to die. Until it is in rikengl, nobody must touch it
but you. o

Al €l have no idea how to garden, but 106l
Alt takes | ittle skill to dig a hole, your
despite himself. i O myore wiyoovas thera dudang the rauals pl ant e

may water it and care for it, your Grace. But it will stillyaurt r e e . 0



Jason put all other business on the back burner as he called the gardening service
Ayama employed to care for his yard and had them meeahihe house. They stared
in absolute awe at the tiny tree in his hands, warned specifically not to touch it, and when
he explained that he had to transplant the tree, he had them help him pick a suitable
location in the yard where the tree would getplen of sun, yet i1its roots
the foundation wheh or ifd it began to grow.
They decided to put it in the back yard, almost in the middle, and Jason dug the hole
himself as the three gardeners watched on, told him how deep to make it. Omale the
was suitable to the gardeners, he almost reverently removed the tree from its pot and put
it in the ground. He patted it in, covered it over with dirt, spread mulch over the exposed
earth, then watered it. The gardeners then decided that suehpaizarhad to be
showcased, so they began to build a small viewing garden around it,-aighdence
around the tree to protect it from wandering children, a few banks of colorful red and
blue flowers behind it for aesthetics, a little walkway around ftirther isolate it and
draw attention to it, and a single bench so someone could come out and view the tree in
comfort. Jason decided to keep the pot as well, which was a simple clay pjatingth
symbols painted on it, washing it out and placinggiside the tree on a little tile they
placed for it, and filled it with rocks and
After that, he downl oaded enough megastrin
memory, and it was all about gardening ayédtrees. There waso way in hellason
was going to allow that precious gift to die. He sifted through it and purged the
redundant or useless information, leaving just enough for him to be a competent enough
gardener to care for the tree.
The garden crew hatle tiny accompanying garden done when he came home for
dinner, and it was quite lovely. It cut a little into the fraaging play space for the kids
in the back yard, but it was worth it. He and Jyslin sat on the bench and regarded the tiny
tree for awhile in contented silence, then she leaned against Give and take, love,
she told him.You suffered through a personal trial, endured a heartaching decision, and
now you have your tree.
I know. I, wel | , betteribackin gt aange. | donhdanal k
Who knows, may shamamdvaittcdysu. Wwhmake ol el better.
An odd reason.
Not odd at allJyslin protestedWoul dnét you want to help som
Would you do the equivalent of giving tpatrson the lock of hair the Templars claim
to be Trellebds hair they keep in Trelleds ca
Jyslin laughedNo, but Parri are Parri, | ove. They
on their own views and culture, which are much differemdthaa ny one el se 6 s.
|l 6m starting mystictvay arelJason nptedsputting lmiswvarm around
her.
|l wondot compl ain. Webodyetsevhad) euvvery snayene t hi ng t
tree,she smiled maliciously at hinl.can hear Dahnai screamindgraady.
You are such a competitive bitdte chuckled.
| 6m Faey, b abshegrinngdénd speakiagdof ntedeing Fagy, why
dondt | take you upstairs?sepired BBlidmghgrou what
finger up his thigh.



He almos shivered.We should have time before Meya brings Rann hbenapted,
checking the time on his gestalt.

Rann has the sense t o wleiwinkedas she godup,thannt i | w
pulled him up by the hands.

Most of the time, anyway.

That s what ma kskeegyiggletl asshe puiled him igto the house.

Brista, 22 Suraa, 4401, Orthodox Calendar

Tuesday, 3 March 2014, Terran Standard Calendar

Brista, 22 Suraa, year 1327 of the"9@eneration, Karinne Historical Reference
Calenda

Foxwood East, Karsa, Karis

It was almost fuckinginnatural
Jason sat on the bench looking atdyetree, which had, in just ten days, quadrupled
in size.
It went against everything all the gardening data he had in his gestalt told him. It
wentggyai nst his own common sense. A tree shou
impossible. And yet, here it was, mocking him with its vertical expression, with its
healthy bluegreen leaves. The little ten inch sapling was now over four feet tall, the
trunk almost a foot thick, which seemed disproportionately wide for a saplingoykhe
tree was both bulking up and shooting up like a weed. And while he was immeasurably
relieved that the precious tree was thriving, just how much it was thriving both amazed
and irritated him just a little bit.
It was almost like a shrine on the strip now. Everyone had come out to see the tree, a
tree nobody would dare touch because of the rarity of it, and everyone thought it was
guite | ovely. E v e nmee Rternasonwplaimed whéatit m¢amttoc h t h e
the Parri, saying that it would be like not taking the hand offered by a Templar.
Temp IMeyaé
That | ittle war would be engaged very soon
But , he wasnoét taetHelwaswow heteto awid thinkmgabdut s
what was going on right now. Because right now, halfway across the galaxy, the
Consortium destroyer they were going to use to attack the Consortium would arrive at the
nebul a. Theyo6d tireuitous raute that woalg take thegmotqg theo n a
nebula after laying a trail away from Exile that the Consortium could backtrack to further
reinforce the idea that the ship had survive
be around for those two days.
He didndét want to think about it, but he k
that ship, 31 women who were statistically already dead. There were 31 women on that
ship willing to die to advance the interests of the house. It was indescribably ipoaud,
it made him feel, but it also crushed his soul to think the had ordered that mission. Their

deat hs would be in no oneds hands but his ow
simpl e. The one thing he hoped hedd never h
Heb6d beegn tdriesadiary far more than | ooking fo

see it | eave. Kidaavit wias ldavidgt Myei and the gerenals wete o



cautiously optimistic that the mission was going to succeed, but the only success Jason
wanted to kar about was those 31 women coming back alive. The Consortium base
could go hang. He cared far more about the 31 women on that ship than he did about the
hamstringing of the Consortium.

But that was th@ersontalking. TheGrand Dukeunderstood thahe destruction of
that base was a fair tradéf for 31 people. That base would crank out replacement
crews for the ships the Consortium had that were crewless, and the elimination of the
gueens laying those eggs was the shmgtest important thing at thimoment. Those 31
women were risking their lives to save thousands and thousands of others. They knew
the risks. Theydd been exhaustively briefed
them. Despite knowing that they were almost certainly gairdid, they were more than
willing to accept the mission. And if they were willing, then they would go, because the
house needed them. The entire Imperium and the Collective needed them. Hell, the
entire sector needed them.

And the person absolutely sfj@sed the Grand Duke for it.

And so, he sat in front of hsyetree, hating himself, but having no shame for the
decision that he made. It simply had to be done, and he would live with knowing he had
killed 31 women, just as surely as if he had takeailgun and shot each one in the back
of the head, execution style.

He sat there for over an hour, his gestalt removed and sitting on the bench beside him,

a clear indicator to anyone he did not want to be bothered. He sat there far beyond the
expectedarrival time of the destroyer, knowing what the news would be, and both eager
to hear it and dreading it. He would be eager to hear that the mission was successful, but
he would dread hearing what he knew he would hear afterward, that the crew had died.

He thought about the other I ittle problem
pale shadow nowéGraith. They went ahead wit
their surprise, Graith seemed to have had some other agenda. The small flegtijonpe
the system right on time five days ago, but instead of trying to advance and force a
showdown, the little fleet instead sat there until they were challenged by KMS forces,
warned that if they attempted to enter interdicted space, they would Heedttaks soon
as they received that warning, the little fleet jumped out without so much as an
acknowledging transmission. It was a highly puzzling development, nothing that anyone
expected, but Jason had a feeling that the attack on Dahnai eBidrhbad spooked the
other nations, seriously spooked them. An unstable Imperium was a thegatyone
and everyone knew it. If some nation had the bright idea to attack Imperium systems in
the middle of a civil war , ichegedlbuséowned hi msel f
t hat system, and since Faey were paranoid, t
extremely expensive to conquer. Even if they succeeded, any gains a nation made
attacking an unstable Imperium would be lost the instant the waowe, and the new
Empress went about the task of taking her now unified Imperium and blasting the
absolute shit out of whoever dared attack them. And if they just left the Imperium alone
and let them fight it out, as they did in the Third Civil Waryth@ght find an Empress
sitting on the throne with dreams of conquering the entire galaxy. The Merranes had
been a very stable ruling family, not prone to aggressive expansion, and the other nations
in the sector would r ahthditaroneesee Dahnai 6s f ami



But the Alliance was the last thing on his mind right now. All his thoughts were
consumed by the mission, and the fate of the 31 women who had undertaken it. And yet,
he was too much of a coward to pick up his gestalt and find out whatowasan.
He sat with his head in his hands for another fifteen minutes, resisting the urge to
reach out and grab the gestalt, resisting knowing what it would feel like to know he was a
murderer, and cheering the circumstances that caused it. He sam thikmece until that
shiver through him told him that Miaari was
she was there behind him, he could sense Kimdori without seeing them now. She
stepped around the bench and sat down, then patted him on theeshould

ADo you want to hear, Jason?0 she asked qu
AYes and no, 0 he answered.

She sighed. Al't i s bad news. o0

ATheydre dead. 0

AThey are dead, 0 she affirmed. Jason sagg
taking no comfort from it. AThe base?0

Al't was only a partial success, 0 she told

to enter the nebula, but intercepted it before it could reach the base. They either knew it
was a trick or their sensors picked up something that made them susgatoas we
have all said, it was our best chance to destroy that base. They tried to capture the escape
dropship, but the crew partially completed the mission. They disabled the safeties in the
dropship and used that, detonated the destroyer by remoteazrawinand then managed
to destroy one of the pods when they got the dropship within range and overloaded the
power plant and destroyed the ship. The singularity plant in the dropship created enough
explosive power to peneteishul,andthbeueepwitdids shi el
the pod was literally blown out of the rupture and into space. She is very dead. The
gueen within the second pod was killed by gravity shock when the pod holding her was
struck by the blast wave from the explosion. Bafttthose queens are confirmed dead.
The main base suffered moderate damage and nearly six thousand casualties, and the
pods on the far side took no damage or casualties. Our crew also ensured that the
Consortium will be unable to salvage anything totasearn about our technology.
Each Crusader was set so that if the wearer died, it detonated its onboard power plant as a
self destruct. In that regard, their mission was successful. They left nothing behind the
enemy can use, and they managed to ¢aite a few of the enemy with them. But, as far
as the base goes, we have managed to kill two of their queens and damaged their main
base. Their ability to create new crews is halved, and they must effect repairs, and that
buys us time. 0
He almostcoulddt f at hom it . Hedd killed 31 women
with so much potential, so much to live for, and for what? Killing two of the four
gueens, just slowing them down. Not stopping them, just slowing them down. One set of
statistics dividedrte other set of statistics by two, and they did it with tinas
He felt sick to his stomach.
Al have other news, 0 she said. Aln case o
succeeded. O
at plan?0 he asked woodenly.
ere wer éhkKi mthopi, oshe told him cal mly.
before the ship was attacked. They have alr

ot D
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He whipped up to | oodlmaeaPohbke. gadpvbg. di dnot
ABecause we did notuwant htto sfaurdt gemtl yr, de m
AHad the mission been a success, they too wo
known. We all agreed it was best that way. But with the ship being stopped, they were
able to disembark and reach the base ¢nete They are already inside, and they are
gathering intelligence as we speak. Ten of them have taken the shape of eggs in the
incubation center, and the other two are in the shape of the insectoids. So, Jason, we
have scored at least one victory. Wav have Kimdori within the enemy ranks. We

have eyes inside, and hands in position to s
He was shocked. So shocked it took him almost a minute to think of anything to say.

And when he spoke, it was thequGreannsd?oDuke t al
AGi ven time, yes, 0 she answered. AThe rem
extreme guard, so it will take them time. That is the task of four of them. The other eight

are tasked to fully infiltrate and gather in
AHow dydgeh i n?0o

She smiled gently. ANot every shape we ta
ATher e | s a -likexreatures mative tb theastar systenbBthat can survive

up to six hours in a vacuum, consumes a very wide spectrum ototleaergy like a
photosynthetic plant which makes them hard to detect on most sensors, and is capable of
limited propulsion using gas sacks. The Kimdori simply took that form and evacuated
the ship, then were able to reach the base undetected, erteomgit the hull ruptures
caused by the dropship explosion. The Consortium sensors could not find them within
the gas cloud. Fortunately, that shape held sufficient mass for them to take proper shapes
without attracting unwanted attention once they goand now they are safely inside and
undetected. 0O

He was fl abbergasted, both that theydd put
and that he hadndét thought of something | ike
destroyingg he base. heawght bnaedahoditttrying tnfétrate the base and
destroy it from within.

Sometimes it was easy to forget that the Kimdori vetxapeshifters

He sat wup, sighed, then | eaned back on the
somet hi ngur e |lié6tm waost wort h thirty one | ives. 0
AThey believed so, 0 Miaari said gently. A
A Oh, I i ntend to do that, Mi aari . Bot h of
i ke it. I dondt hav e thittyoneaentertb dia Their t he f ac't
bl ood is on my hands, Mi aar i . I killed then
kitchen and stabbed them in the heart with a knife right down the line. And what kills me

most is they may have died thinking it wias nothing, dying knowing that thegiled,
that | sent them to die wain. They may have ddareabout hi nki ng t
t hem. That hurts me more than anything el se
AJason Karinne, 0 she said, | eannandg over an
nuzzling him, almost I|ike a dog woul d. AYou

there could be no one better to wear the ring | sent you to find. | am honored beyond
words that you are my friend. 0O
He put his arm around her and held her closd,le had to admit, she made him feel
a |little better. AThanks, Miaari. That mea



bY

Al't is truth, every word of it, 0 she answe
the rulers in the galaxy were halflmsmanas you, there wouldenv er be anot her wa
AWe can only hope, my friend. We can onl
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Chapter 4

Koira, 28 Suraa, 4401, Orthod&alendar
Monday, 9 March 2014, Terran Standard Calendar
Koira, 28 Suraa, year 1327 of the'9Generation, Karinne Historical Reference
Calendar
AThe White House, 06 Dukal Seat/ Command Comp

It had taken a fewkdaws hteo ngeste ro weoru | idt. é b U tt
him.
Hedd attended the ceremony with his family
Captain or above, wearing the formal robes of the Grand Duke Karinne, an elegantly
simple affair of white brocade slashed througthwlue goring, the crest of the house
embroidered on both sides of the foldover chest, and tied in place with a wide blue sash.
Unl i ke any other Grand Duke or Duchessods for
had sleeves of equal length, and batbesl at the wrist. And standing beside him in his
first official capacity, wearing the blue and gold robes of the heir apparent, was Rann
Thomas Fox Shaddale Karinne, looking both excited and nervous, doing his best to look
serious, and with his youthfehthusiasm about being allowed to take part in the
ceremony warring with the sensesafdnesshat permeated the air and hung on his father
like a wet cloak.
It had been a simple ceremony, more of a funeral than a celebration, but there were
reasons to debrate. That day, Kyva Karinne lost her status as the only member of the
house who had been awarded the Dukal Medal of the Champion. Jason Karinne had
awarded the highest military honor the house could bestow on the 31 women who had
sacrificed their lies in the interests of the house. The cameras had followed him as he
somberly walked down a line of empty suits of Crusader armor trimmed in gold and
placed on stands, holographs of each woman visible behind and above them, placing the
medal on the armdhat represented the woman who had willingly died for the house.
Not in battle, not in the heat of the moment, but in a calculated decision to destroy their
dropship by overloading its power plant, the resulting explosion killing two of the four
Consortiun breeding queens.
Those suits of armor were now a permanent fixture of the White House. They stood
in a double row in the entry hall, a stark reminder to any who entered that blood had been
given for the house, and reminding him every day he came tothair his decisions cost
people their lives.
Rannds part of the ceremony was “the only r
medal awarded, and that was to Fleet Admiral Palla Karinne. She too earned the Dukal
Medal of the Champion for her critical dsin to shield the palace using thegisand
the task force, putting themselves in mortal danger and making the ship literally live up to

its name as fAshield, o and saved the | ives of
ruling matron of the&Siannexceptfor Maeri Trillane. Rann was given the honor of
pinning the medal to Pallaés Class A jacket,

kissed her on each cheek. Jason just settled for giving her a fond hug.



Of course, there were plenty of medalsawadd t hat day, since Pall a
alone on her ship. Every crewman in the task force was awarded the Ebony Cross, the
third-highest honor. The ten Wolf pilots that chased down the missiles that got past the
fleet were awarded the Emblem of Valor, #ezonehighest medal. Jason also awarded
the Raptor and Dragonfly pilots in both the
army, the Karinne Medal of Distinguished Service, the fifithest honor, though those
pil ots werenodot thregde trecadc wvept htelmem.n CcEBr emor
militaries, awarded to them by Saelle Karinne, the roniess ambassador to the
Empress from House Karinne.

That was yesterday. Today, there was nothing but the war, and his duty to protect his
h o u s bofise that was 31 women less than it was a week ago, but God help him, he
couldnét say he wouldndédt do the same thing i

And he hated himself for it.

Rann was a very empathic child, l#@lend he cou
more keenly than his brothers and sisters. It could be that it was because he lived in the
same house with his father, but Jason simply knew better. Rann absolutely insisted on
going with him to work, shirking off his lessons with the reasoniagifrhe was allowed
to participate in the ceremony, then he should start learning about all those other things
his father kept saying he was going to teach
has brought Rann along in an official capacity.odasas amused at his attempt to be
cunning about it, but he was happy that Rann wanted to stay with him. Sometimes, a
mands child was better medicine over the raw
therapy in the world.

And so, Ranntagged alongas Jasogot t he daydéds schedule fro
his marching orders to go out and kick shins until things were going the way Jason
wanted them to go.

The first order of business were reports from both Zaa and Yila. Yila had managed to
further track dawn the pirate organization that had launched the attack on Dracora using
her criminal web, tracing materials through buyers and sellers to search for any other
complicit parties and hunting down the other shadowy organizations that did business
with them. Zaa, on the other hand, had less to report. She was still absolutely furious
about the attack, and heads had rolled within the Kimdori spy ranks. Zaa called every
Gamemaster in the Imperium back to Kimdori Prime and dragged them before the Hearth
itself, and she read them the riot act. Kiaari had called him not long after, and she looked

terrible, bot h mentally and physically shaken in
almost like a deity to the Kimdori, the most revered Kimdori alive, and they took her
displeasureerys er i ous | y. Mi aar i had removed her Ha

returning to Karis, but after Zaa blistered her ear for doing so, it was right back on her the
day after. Two Kimdori Gamemasters had killed themselves in shame whas it
tracked back that the majority of the enemy activity had been in their spheres of control,
feeling that they had brought such shame to themselves and their clans that their lives
were forfeit.

It disturbed Jason a little that Zaa showed almost noiemoter that fact.

But there was little moving Zaa now. She had taken the attack &iathealmost
like it was personal, and she had the Kimdori within the Imperium racing around to find
out just how the hell things got so far out of their contrala way, Jason could



understand some of it. The Kimdori had failed to prevent the Third Civil War, had failed
to save the original Karinnes, and they did not take failure lightly. Zaaetg®ing to
let something like that happen again, and that wais tntil she felt that things were
back under control, she would be a tornado of fury raging through the Kimdori ranks.

The Alliance wasndét backing off, either.
Alliance space, heading towards Terra. The firstte@ched the edge of interdicted
space just four hours ago, and they did the same thing the first fleet did. They appeared,
and as soon as they were challenged, they jumped right back out. This puzzled just about
everyone, and Zaa had retreated fromrhge enough to send Kimdori to find out what
Graith was up to, for that was curious behavior.

Theydd see what the next fleet did in two
After he read through the reports, Rann sitting on his desk looking outridewi

behind his father, Jason sighed and pondered
and Juma over the shipbuilding schedul es. A

not a high priority one. Someone over there just wanted to talk to hinh sdboething.

Attending the launching of the destroyer given the interimaew@ara t he capt ai nds
chair awarded to a human telepath, Lieutenant Commander Lisa Sheppard, who had

already told him she intended to give her ship the ndateck Henrysolelyfor the

famous | ine figive me | iberty or give me deat
Lunch with Rahne. A scheduled briefing and
just after lunch. A briefing with the department secretaries after the mebing

weekly meeting. Symone had managed to worm her way onto his official calendar,

which was nothing but a joke. Shedd had Chi
gone out on a date with her in auphil e, heod
little, she was very good at things like that. Symone was just too damn charismatic.

Then again, shedd been spending so much ti me

wonder if she loved him anymore.

But, that was how she coped, he supposdrk diten felt like a fifth wheel, dead
weight, so shedd | earned to pilot a Gladiato
the KBB. Jason had little doubt that she wastyat the controls of a Gladiator now,
given just who was training her, and Symechad fast reflexes and a lot of prior combat
training. He had little doubt she was more than a match for the average Gladiator pilot by
now.

Dera handed Rann a cupayfejuice, smiling and patting him on the cheek, then she
retreated back to the doatason mused that he often forgot tRanhnwas the primary
mission of the guards, not him. Dahnai had sent quite a few to protect him and his entire
family on top of Rann, given he was thmu doraiof the Empress, but their main
mission was to protethe future husband of an Imperial Princess. Jason leaned back in
his chair and put his feet up on the desk beside his son, seeing that Symone was the last
thing on his calendar, her block extending all the way into tomorrow morning. Boy, she
was just tedgraphing what she had in mind.

He could use some of her specialized therapy about now. Symone could make a man
forget his own name when she was being militantly amorous.

Why does it make you so sd®&nn asked when he sighed again.

Jason blinked anabked at his son, with his beigénk skin but Faey ears, his hair
settling into a nice coppery red color after shifting through several shades of orange,



blond, and red since hewasbdrRaey chi |l drends hair often che
it was almost oheard of that an adult had the same color hair she had & hirdd not
too far from his mothero6és hair, but with his
devastatingly handsome when he grew up. Shya should count herself damn lucky she
was already engagd to him, else there would have been a major war among the women
oftheSiannover who got hi méand him being the heir
with it.
A child of two worlds. A child of twespeciesfor that matter. But with the best
aspects oboth rolled into one.
He knew what Rann meant. And if he was old enough to ask, he was old enough to
hear the answerCome walk with me, sohe sent, standing up. He helped Rann down
from the desk, and with Dera and Suri escorting them, he walkbdisiarmored son
down the halls of the White House in silence, then out the doors, then, much to the
guards6é disapproval, right out the gates of
Faey, humans, and Makati roamed the streets, with the occasipnélvisible in the
distance; the Kizzik were more and more of a presence on Karis, and their numbers were
steadily growing. Very few of the citizens
approach, they simply bowed or waved.
ALook ar o hesdid aloRdamotionidg to the street. A school class was on a
field trip, walking behind their teacher. Two Makati were bantering at each other in their
language, wearing KMS duty uniforms. A Faey mother was pushing her baby along in a
floating strolker, heading for the Karinne House Bank, the main financial institution of the
house and mainly controlled by Kumi éGod help
black and wearing Blood Nuggetee shirt tapping on her interface, no doubt accessing
its memay using command thought, its visual display projected in front of her eye in a
way that only she could see the hologram, asided hologram. The faint shimmering
in front of her eye gave that away. The sense she gave off told them that she was one of
the human telepaths, no doubt between classes over at the telepathic training academy.
It was another day in the life of the city of Karsa, which, when one looked upon it
from a distance, almost seemed as a living thing itself. The people were iteadd bl
cells, traveling the arteries and veins of the city as the carried life to the cells, which were
the buildings. Wolf and Raptor fighters flying overhead were the antibodies, and the
power and comm systems that ran it were like the nervous systekeihaverything
running. Another day in the life of a city populated by 3,493,039 souls.
AWhat do you see?0 he asked his son.

AWell , 0 he hummed, |l ooking around. nl see
|l ooks |l ike it always does. O

AThat 6s ANgdhi tds our job to make sure that
cal mly. He stopped and knelt down to Rannés

on the plascrete sidewalk. Like Dracora, Karsa had no roads, only sidewalks splitting

grassy par& that connected the buildings for foot traffic and the underground subway

system, with the wide pads at regular intervals where hovercars could land, take off, and

par k. AEveryone you see here depends on us,
them, to give them the chanceevertakelighty,e t heir
because there may come a time when you make a decision that gets someone killed.

That 6s what | had t o danepeopBdiedaghestenwhd my or de



wore that armor thatodos in the entry hall now
|l ook, son, 0 he said, pointing Al't could hayv
pointing at a ten year old boy who was running to catch up to thefreist class.
ATheydre not nunpeale Never,Reenforget thatTsore thad theee are
peoplebehind every decision you make, and therepa@plethat might get hurt because
of those decisions. That @ owhdadtavmak ®s mak es d
decision that got those women killed, biialdt o . ltds my duty to prot
the house, and | feel like | failed those women. Failure is a terrible thing when people get
hurt because of iit.o

Rann was quietamomeni.| f someone was going to get hu

ABecause someti mes, son, Yyouledstaumeerdf o make
people, 0 Jason sighed. AThose women who di e
coul dndét g enockedlow waking ggan, anckit wias the only way we could
do it. They felt that if they died, it was worth it if they managed to finish the job, since it
would have saved a lot more lives later on. They volunteered for the mission, and they
knew what mjht happen, but they did it anyway. But despite that, | still feel like | failed
them, and | failed my duties as the Grand Duke, becauseligayl failed my duty to
them to protect them, and it makesdtme f eel S
let thirty one women risk their lives to protect the thousands and thousands and thousands
here on Karis, and no matter what, | still feel like | failed in my duty. | either failed my
duty to the house, or | failed in my duty to those womenwho bisthusd coul dndt

find another way. Can you understand that,
Al, | guess so0. 0

AWhat 6s the first thing | taught you about
AThat the Grand Duke serves the house of K
AAnd what is the house of Karinne?bo

AThe wdopleve on Karis. o

AThat 6s paoplegRemember that, Rann. Always remember that. You serve

the house. The house does not sgoue Never forget that, son.

thing I want you to | ears,t lhantd suinmpelres taanydi nwvgh
being the Grand Duke truly means, deep in he
over Ranndés chest, over his heart.

Al serve the house. The house does not se
AWhat dmeasn,t hRann?o

He was qui et a moment . AThat | should do

for me. o

Jason nodded seriously, impressed by his r

thepeopleare depending on you to do your duty as the GrarikceDénd never forget,

the decisions you make affect gheople Not the house, not a column of numbers on a

report, buthe people And eventually, youbre going to
serveallt he peopl e. Youd !l | ybundeesioh will heljhhanco s e whi ¢ h
which ones it may hurt. And when that happens, you must make the decision that best

serves the house, even if it makes you sad. Astibiildmake you sad, Rann. When

you have to make a decision that might hurt someonegutidimake you sad, no matter

how justified you were in making that decision. When you can make a decision that will

hurt someone and not feel sad because of it, then you no longer deserve to be the Grand



Duke. No Grand Duke that serves the people coalklena decision that may hurt them

and not feel sad because of it. Can you wund

Al éyeah. Suddenly being Grand Duke doesno
said honestly.

Jason chuckled darkly. Nl firstéimedhatto t hat ve
make one of those decisions, son, 0 he told h
chose me, just as much as this job chose you
with it just as much as | am. So be the best Grand&yoli can be, and serve the people
of the House of Karinne |i ke every one of th

how | see them. Every one out here is like your brother or sister, and | work as hard as |
can to be a good father.o
AYoubref ahketbeismn the world, 0 Rann told him
AWell , thatés quite a complement, 0 Jason <c
telekinetic power and then putting his arms around to hold him at his hip. Rann wrapped
hislittearror ed ar ms around Jasondés shoul der and Kk

makes it all worth it, pippy, o he smiled. i
ki sses. 0

Al |l ove you, father.o

AAnd | | ove you, Ran n, oh eJaads odno wne taugrani ends,t phui
ANow | etds get back inside before Dera and S
me, 0 he grinned.

Youbre getti rbgrawaenedy cl ose to it

Al thought you were the one inltteharge, fat

smile. Clearly, he needed to keep his son away from Kumi. Or the twins. Or perhaps
Miaari. Or maybe all of them.
AThey | et me think that, son, 0 he chuckl ed
reality, youbdre nevxdérn nks yiom @hlhmar gge as you ev
Once they were back inside, however, Suri came up and kissed him on the\&leeek.
think youdre the bS8uwitoldhimt her in the worl d to
AAnd al l this time, all I had to do to get
wr 0 n g c¢hoackldd.
SurismileddJ ason, youb6re the only man whoob6s ever
are just toogoodto be in politicsshe intoned seriously.
AAny self respecting person would steer cl
Rann tagged along viithim most of the day, attending his meetings and being
relatively good, keeping quiet and not drawing attention to himself, just watching and
listening. Juma and Dellin had to dote on him a little before and after their meeting, and
Rahne di dnbéingthere fordunch onmlittle bit. Rahne got along very well
with his family, and they saw her something like an aunt, since she was the only other
human Generation. After lunch, he considered having Dera and Suri take Rann
somewhere as he met wittetothers, but decided to let him sit in. He had to learn how
to be a Grand Duke, and one good way was to watch and see what a Grand Duke did
behind the closed doors. Rann could be trusted to keep anything he learned quiet. He
was actually very good &eeping secrets, no doubt an impulse introduced into him by
that Kimdori DNA that helped make him a Generation.



It was a serious and enlightening meeting. Zaa took immediate control just after they
were all present, not even paying the factthat Ranrswag t i ng on Jasondés de

in full view any mind as she got right to th
intelligence packets from our infiltrators, 0
immersion, and have managed to put themselves into@usitthere they have access to
sensitive information. o

AHow did they do that?0 Dahnai asked curio
ABy taking advantage of the confusion afte

targets and assassinating t hedotdtaksdvey answer €
their identities was take their brain implants. They are how the insectoids both

communicate and keep track of everything. The impkathie identification. And since

my children can take them right out of the heads of the insectsuaridem into their

own, they can assume another identity with r
security is quite |l ax once you penetrate the
on, it seems that the Consortium has a vast network difigetece threaded through our
entire sector, 0 she told them, bringing up a
red. There were a few holes, but that shaded red indicated areas where the Consortium
had up to date intelligence about the activitiessgog o n . Al am not entir
how it works, o she admitted. AFrom what inf
are receiving this intelligence neal time They know every move we make almost as if
they have hacked into Civnet and takencoatl over it . O
AWhich is basically impossible,d Jason cou
Civnet security, and | donoét thatggodh& t he peopl
AUnl ess they hired a different MofRiléfdon com
youdre dealing with computers, you want the
AThat 6s possible, 0 Zaa admitted. ABut | ¢

making a few discreet inquiries to a sympathetic member of the Mob, | am confident that
the Consortiumareno usi ng the Moridon. 0

AWhy Zaa, youbve broken one of the ol dest

Mori don and the Kimdor.i arendt supposed to c
Al am sure that i f our relationship were m
Trai Colrdmn and gored to death by children, o

Moridon needed our help with something, and since then, we have maintained what you

might call a distant friendship, much as the friendship between Handmaiden Miaari and

MahjaSy haa . o She touched her memory band, and
Imperium, showing its teardrop shape, with Terra on the point end and Karis at the

rounded edge on the far side. That was merely a two dimensional representation, which

became more irre¢gar when the map raised up and took on three dimensions. Once it

was viewed like that, it looked more like the hull of a Viking longship with Karis at the

prow and Terra forming the stern. Draconis was closer to Karis than Terra, and that

Viking hull wasbordered by the Alliance and the Skaa Empire near the prow, the

Republic near the stern, and the Urumi on the far side at Terra and bordering the

Alliance. Alliance and Skaa Empire space extended out away from Karis, enclosing

Imperium space, the two Skaations completely covered their side of Imperium space,

and the space directly behind Terra was gray, unclaimed, if only because there really

wasnoét anything out there for anyone to cl ai



one side and the Skaapublic on the other, though those boundaries were very shaky.
The simple fact of the matter was, there jus
holding worthless planets or asteroids, so those lines on the map were just what each
nation claimed, not tvat was actually controlled.
AThis is what is most curious, 0 Zaa said,
systems were highlighted. Arctus, Vrada, and Imbria, the three more or less next to each
other. Arctus was the house seat of the Trillanesda/veas a holding of House
Trebanne, one of the minor houses, holding two inhabited planets and one inhabited
moon. Imbria had two inhabited worlds, one of them a Faey mining colony, and the
other Imbria Prime, the homeworld of the Parri and the sole peodi theoyefruit that
Faey would kill for.
Jason saw what Zaa was fishing for immediately. The red shadimgtdidver
Imbria.
AThe Consortium seems to be completely bl
sai d. AThey h a dbout the naovements ofiour fieetd, dur flggeofficeres,
which they have identified byame and even logistical schedules such as goods
transport and raw material harvesting schedules. But when it comes to Imbria, they have
no intelligence. None. This m&e because the only goods that move from Imbria are
copper, tungsten, armyef r ui t, but it is a curious gap.o
AGIi ven the | mper iopgmdlsd da btshoil ruk et Hauts twd wlrd b e
i mportant to watch, 6 Dahnadsrugtionincy& | ed ruef ul |
production, we might have a revolt on our hands. | think the only thing that could come
close was if Terrastrawberrypr oducti on were halted. 0
Jasonds mind, however, wasnodét thinking abo
the Parrishaman and h o w somethihgaHd lodked lattthé holograph, his eyes
unfocused a moment, and for a second he considerem¢ngythat produced them.
Energyéwerendt those other beings of the C
just coherenenergy?
Woul dndédt an energy being |l ooking datk wi th m
spirit to someone that had that kind of sensitivity?
Something justlickedin his brain.
Jason blinked. That was a wild conclusion, but in a strange waggde sense.
What i féwhat i1 f the Cons o rseeactossdastdistanees?gy bei n
Like clairvoyance? Thereadto be other kinds of psychic abilities, after all. The Faey
were racially telepathic, and had telekinetic traits. The Cststiad a large number of
empaths, beings able to sense emotional states, as well as telepaths and telekinetics.
Fully half of the Colonist race had some kind of psionic ability. And since the

Consortiumbébs energy bei ngkfefoms wal, waoknewdi cal |y
what they were capable of doing?

AZzaa, 0 Jason said quickly. AHas your inte
around Karsa?bo

She gave him a curious yet intense | ook.

report, the Consodim has only recently managed to breach Karis, and | mean within the
last fifteen days. But now they are getting no intelligence from anywhere in the entire
Karis system. | believe that Miaari has found and destroyed their agents, and simply has
not senon the report yet. There has also been a similar report of intelligence disruption



at Dracora, which | attribute to Jinaami rooting out and crushing hidden agents. She has
found six since the sweep began, sleeper agents in menial tasks that avoidiidithe i

sweep because they were in rg@msitive positions, but they were all agents for local
nations, not the Consortium. | ponder that perhaps the Consortium has enlisted the aid of
the other nations to spy.o

Jason, however, waasxnotthe uRarer is,00 stug ebhr e ditl H ¢
it!o he called, then he | aughed |l oudly, star
actually did it!o

AThe Parri ?0 Dahnai asked, and SkodéVrae sco
AJayce,hel dPvaer,ri are primitives. Mystics. T |
anything thatodés not made of sticks and rope,
dondt want to know! o She brushed her bronze
Parri ,etdaoredtwrgpng. Theydére very polite, and
think youbre reaching a |little here. o

Al donét think so,0 Jason said. ARThe comm
intelligence are where thieddafrmromatrlee Pdarhrei IC

AExpl ain, 0 Zaa said, her expression intrig

AWhen tdhamatamei here and per fsomethiegd her ri tu
coul dndét explain it. | asked her about it,

filled with love or something like that. A typical explanation from a mystic, something

that was either way over my head or something my logical mind would reject out of

cour se. Now, speculate with me a |ittle her
asRan watched hi m. AWhat i f those energy bei
spokesmen? What if they have some psionic abilities of their own? What if thegecan

into the Imperium? | dunno, maybe astral projection or something? Or maybe

clairvoyan c e ? 0

ACl airvoyance? Webve had a few documented
exceptionally rare, and it never failed to d
AMaybe it tlemeeeéanedoi Yyason saimgreglui ckl y.
time intelligence out of us and theydre movi

galaxy,and w&nowt hey canét possi bl y dwehaveenonghg any st
of their own technology to know what to look®ot hen maybe theydre usin
scientific means of getting it? Maybe their energy things can simply look over here using

some power or ability we dondt have or have
ATheoretically? Possible, 0 Zaa conceded.

Consortium, the energy rgjs are mysterious and rare. There are only four of them in

this galaxy, o0 she relayed. AAnd there i s on
three are at other bases. 0

AThere Iis a hole in that. Ditere arerm, 0 Dahna
Parri here. 0

ANoO, yolbaute, 0 Jason retorted i mmediately, poi

shamarsaid? That the light she called was shining on everyone at the cerefviony?

are there now, Dahnai, and that glow or whatever thathglis messing up their ability

to see. And itodéds bright enough Youare scare t he
protecting Dracora. o



Zaa | ooked intrigued, SkoVrae | ooked skept
ALove, youobryestliectitsimmggetthetioo yomur head, 0 she
capable of anything |ike that!o

AOh really? Why not ?0 Jason chall enged.

A Wel | étphnetyedroe she retorted, a bit | amely.

ATher e ks fmamdwancement , Dahngi MéPereamaps
the Parri chose to advance themselves in a d

A Ba &

ARemember when | broke those boards for yo
ARemember that?o0

AYeah. It was pretty cool . 0

ARemember how It esaiad |l dihédtidts? somMmfet hing th
do.Youcoul dnot . Neither could your guards. o

AYou said it was mind over matter. That 6s

ABut what does that mean?0 he pressed.

Al't means t hsaameatfhiymog heerld eewreough, you can
supplied.

AExactly, 6 Jason said, snapping his finger
|l ove, just Dblenktaluste symme tdloindgds possi bl e, tha
carmétisholndt have been able to break those bo
di d. The world is much | arger than we reald.
shamars ai d. AJust because we candét see it or |
Maybehat 6s what web6re dealing with here. For ¢
can Maybe the dark spirits trehamarsaid were reaching out towards my house were
Consortium spies using their abilities to sn
going on here on Kari s, my house iIis the best p

Al dondt know, 0 Dahnai grunted.

Al think the easy way to test it iIs to sim
Draconis, 0 SkoéVrae proposeethynoloiigerhasZaads spi e
intelligence at Draconis, then we know. 0

AYes. I f one Parri can protect the entire
be able to do the same at Draconi s. Il think
Zaa t ol d Heearrisend sh&henoeDratonis to effect protection around your
pal ace. And then we shall see I f that prote

AMore than that. I think the reason they

haveParrih e r e , 0 JAaTshoeny slaiivde. shamarteld me thatrsite decibee
it was time to take a firmer hand. | thiskeis the one protecting all of Karis, that she
decided theydd started getting too close and

whytheymaaged t o get eyes in here, then bam, 0 h
just days later, just about the same time she told me she was taking a firmer hand about
t hings. Shedébs the one keeping t-dtrenqm away fro

protection around my house to give me and my loved ones a second layer of protection in

case they sneak by her. | thinkl@mancould protect the palace, but it would just be a
stronger version of what Dahnai 6s abof ready do
our critical positions with the same protection they put around my house, like the war

room, shipbuilding yards, and so on and so o



APut enough Dbright Ilights out to make it h

ACl edver .
Al think, despite my doubts about this t h

the matter, 0 SkdédVrae said. AMaybe it simply
how it goes. 0

Al think itéds ridicul oust,o bpurtoviet owo nddits prreoav
Dahnai said, a bit annoyed. Al 611 get i n co
shamarh er e . 0

Al think 16l go shanapoadasber muaed, wi bbkon

AWanna go?0

ASure! o he said with a grin.

The meeting went on without him as he flew to the north coast of Karga, where the
Parri had colonized a nice tract of coastal foothills that had the perfect environment for
their trees. There were naturally occurring slightly higher nitrogen concensatithe
soil there, which attributed to their favor for this place. Their trees needed nitrogen like
most any carbotbased plant, but the Parri breathed nitrogen rather than oxygen. They
were rather comfortable on both Terra and Karis, because bo#tplead extremely
high nitrogen content in their atmospheres. Jason landed on the edge of their village, and
he saw them going about their business, moving about on all fours like animals but rising
up on their hind legs to manipulate things with theghgnsile front paws, which were
more handike than pawlike. He was greeted by tishamarand two of her apprentices,
who had not yet earned thgingi symbols, but instead had them drawn into their fur
with some kind of whishamargmded.tHe knew herhamer Gr ac e,

but he just couldndét pronounce iit, since it
series of plaintive yowls from a cat. He <co
into a comprehensible sound like haultbwith Kizzik names.
AWe need to talk, o he told her. AnCoul d we
AOf course, o0 she said, stepping back and m
t hatched hut s. AWel come to our werll age. Te

apprentices, who scurried off on all fours like a pair of lanky bobcats.
After they were seated at the communal fire for the village, Jason and Rann enjoyed

oyet e a , foll owing Parri custom so they didnot
takent he required four drinks f Stamanthdse cup, he
dark spirits you sensed. Have you chased th
She smiled at him, toothy and knowing. ny
harmful toourtreesSomet hi ng had to be done, 0 she expl
AAnd you believe the Parri on your homewor
ANaturally. They keep me informed. o
AYou communicate with them?0 he asked.
She nodded again. AThe tal koungvnwagsx can se

t hat have nothing to do with your science. o0

AThen | think I 6m talking to the right Par
youdre sensing are our enemies in the Consor
themto eitherseeusorappach us in a way we canot detect

you sensed?0o0



AMany, 0 she answered. RnSome are weak, som

close, while the strong ones lurk in the far
Jason considergdh a t . AMore than four ?0

AMany more. o

AHMmMM. That doesndét entirely fit in with o

that. Shamando you think it might be possible for the Parri of your homeworld to travel
about the Imperium and cast a similantection you placed on my house in certain

pl aces? | mportant places our enemies have a
Al't could be done, but it is not easy i f i
someone, 0 she ans we&foradapprenficé.tOnlygbamanidngbe no t as
with hisjaingi, an el der, could accomplish such a ta
obviously confused | ook. ASuch places are s
that holds no | ove to begin with.o

fiBut it could be done?o0

Alt could be done, 0 she nodded.

AWoul d the Parri do this for us?o0

AOf course, 0 s he syaffuit gladlyto your pesplewsewogld ve our
we grant you our services dealing with these dark spirits. The dark spigtsibdeve in

them, Jason. Such things must be opposed by
AThen | think itds time we made a call to
you to use the talking box this one time?b90
She chuckl ed. dol sewool dhkeeagbaeér ed. ABut

hedged. She quite deliberately turned their conversation to mundane, even trivial

matters, and spent most of that time talking with Rann, getting to know him. Rann

remembered all the lessons in etiquetedan and t he guards had taug
do anything that would offend the Parri. They had some rather peculiar customs and

views, and while they were extremely hard to anger, they were easy to offend. She even

asked Rann to demonstrate his buddelekinetic powers, moving a small leaf on the

ground about two feet, which caused shemarto applaud and put her pdike hand on

his hair. ASuch a talented child, 06 she prai
ADaddy makes me take I|hedadittlens, 6 he bl urted,
She smil ed. Anlt 1 s only proper. We shoul
nei ghbors, so we may be good neighbors our se
ALIi sten to her, Rann. Sheds very wise, o J

After tea, they used the vidlink in his dsipp to contact Dahnai. They were all still
talking about other matters, so when Jason conferenced in, he was looking at all three of

t hem. ADahnai , | ad isle®mamdsuradene that thelyeah dowhdt Our P a
we ask, but only their most exjpemcedshamarar e up t o it . o

She nodded. AOnly the el ders would be cap
pl ace, 0 she affirmed.

AWel | , shamamorpeedr haps you should come and mak
of fered AAsS you eknaorecemfortabde than other Rarriiinodealing n d ar
with the outside worl d?o

She shook her head. Al cannot | eave Karis
world needs me far more than you do. I cann

Dahnai gave Jason &rold you sdook.



ABut , there are many others with the skil!]l
Al am sure if you ask around, you will find
Parri will be willing partners. The dark spirits haveloee inside them, and they must
be opposed. o

AThen we wil |l make such a request, o0 Zaa sa
A E mp r e sshatamsked expectantly.

Dahnai flashed Jason an irritated | ook. i
and dispatchatransgor t o bring the Parri back. o
AEnsure the steel bird has grass and trees
being surrounded by cold, dead metal to be v
Al have ships that have gardenhenhensi de. T
image vanished from the monitor.

AfDahnai seems to have i1issue with this idea
ARShe does not bel i evehamas avihdatsisrhel yc.annmAn &
considers the possibility that there is more beyond her sight to be angeaiteher world
Vi ew. And since she rules, she does not | ik

Jason blinked. That pretty much well defined Dahnai. This Parri was damn
observant to figure that out.

Al will warn the el dersued. whidafoitsheéeypy wiolmle
when the steel birds arrive. o

AThat would be appreciated, 0 Zaa told her.

AAl right, weodl | |l et you | adies go, 0 Jason

what 6s going on. o
AVery well , 0 Sko6Vrdaedaryeplldiaessdon. oiHave a goo
AYou too. o
Jason and Rann escorted shamarback to the fire, where one of her apprentices

brought her her staff. She accepted and seated herself on the grass with the fire behind

her, then placed it ohl heyouapGradé, wi bhesas
AThis will take some time, so it would be be
us to come vVvisit you tomorrow SO wWe may see
AOf course, 0 he answered. Al &bulmigstte nd a s h
have time to eat. o

AWe wil |l be waiting, 0 she said, then she ¢

Her apprentices seated themselves to each side of her and also closed their eyes, and

Jason actuallfelt it as her mind went totally blankgad to the world, having the same

psychic i mpression as a rock. He wondered w
had in the village, which they kept in case they needed to contact someone in an

emergency, but if she wanted to meditate firgll what was her prerogative.

That issocreepy,Rannobservedl t 6s | i ke shebs dead.
|l know. |l candt even come close to enter.i
she turned to stone. Her d@nmotedassensingthes ar enot

two younger Parri, a male and a female. He could still sense their thoughts; Parri were
like humans in that they had no real defense against telepathy, though no telepath on
Karis would dare invade their privacy on threat of severe crinpmaishment. Those
thingswere not donen Karis.
No, Daddy. |l tds | i ke thereds nothing insi



Nothing inside her. Maybe that was a gditeral description. Maybe, maybe the
Parri could astrally project, could separate their minds from theieb@ad send them
elsewhere. Maybe she was talking with the elders on Imigh&now

It was certainly possible. Hell, when you got right down to it, almost anything was
possible.

It was a |l ong and interesti ndftedmsongotand it
all the Parri business sorted out, he went back to the White House and finished up his
paperwork, then took Rann home and met Symone for dinner. Tim was having a similar
date with Jyslin across town, and it was a good decompressiothaflast few harrying
days. Symone quickly took his mind off everything with her banter and her jokes, and
she got him to relax as they enjoyed TegaHled steaks at a steakhouse run by a pair of
native Texans and who knew how to prepare a steak. difteer they went to a Faey
opera by a local troupe, which was rather nice, then she took him on a long walk on the
beach when they got home. It was a warm, windy night, and he lost himself in walking
hand in hand with one of the women he loved.

On e orheéinges that still both amused and surprised him. He loved Symone, was
as good as married to her due to their relationshgmasdozei He loved Dahnai, again,
one step from marriage duedamu dorai He loved Jyslin deeply, their very souls
entwined. His heart had three women in it, and there were stirrings along the edges for
Yana and Aura, friendships that were a tiny bit more than the usual friendship. In Faey
soci ety, he was Yanads boyfriend, and Aura w
pretly real distinctions. And through it all, despite the fact he had sex with other women
and had a real attraction to Yana and Auespecially Auré@ the three women in his life
had absolutely no jealousy, thanks to telepathy. They knew how he felt. They&ne
loved them. They knew his interest in Yana was compassion, giving her something of
himself because she loved him. They knew his interest in Aura was purely physical, that
he liked her quite a lot and she was a very good friend, but it was headdyred him
into her bed. As Symone would rather crudely put it, his dick could chase any pussy it
pleased as long as his heart belonged to them.

And this was one of those momentsaaiy sharing an intimacy with Symone
reserved only for those allowéaol touch the edges of his telepathic gaond with Jyslin,

a domain into which only Symone and Dahnai could step. They shared their deepest

thoughts with each other through their touching skin, at a level no listener could pick up

unless she too was tduing them, as Symone told him all about her feeling of purpose

piloting a Gladiator, feeling like she wdsing somethingt last, as Jason more or less

dumped a lot of his problems in her lap, relating to her the crushing weight he felt on him

due to thamission, the feeling that he failed, and mourning the loss of his house

members all over again. They both admitted they felt a little frazzled and out of touch,

due to the very busy schedules they al/l had
foursome fun despite actively trying to arrange the time, things just kept coming up that

pulled Tim back to work, or Jyslin back to 3D, or him back to the office. But this was
Symoneds time, Symoneds moment, and he tende
sharing with her, then making out with her on the beach with the surf lapping at their

ankles. Right about the time he was ready to suggest they retire back to the house, she



pushed away enough to look at him, twirling her fingersin hisMy., galudr
revved upshe noted with a wink

What can | say, yohetwureedfost!| ¢ebossgayfifod a
bed.

Oh, my bedOo sshegtinned attdimAlfriildhetd,, heds all your s
He felt two pairs of hands grab him by the sldews and under his arms, and he was

|l iterally dragged back and out of Symoneds e

on one side and Myra on the other, dragging him towards their house, which was quite
conveniently right in front of them.

Symone! Yioset me uphe accused.

Hook line and sinker, as the Terrans sslye grinned back at hinHave fun with the

twins, | over. Il 6m gonna go stick my face be
love her.

Bitch!

And you love itshe winked, thensaut er ed away | i ke shedd won

Meya and Myra literally dragged him up the beach, his heels leaving trails in the
sand. And you two are soo00 dedtk warned.

No, wedre about to mak Byrawnkeddowrraghint al | abo
She goyou ready for us. That bulge in your pants tells us more than your words do,
Jayce.

To his intense pique, he blushed.

You lose again, JasoNMeya teased.You know wewn you.

And wedre about t o owmMyryadded,lickihgheips ent i rel vy
sensually.

He had to | augh. Once again, the twins ha
feeling he was going to enjoy what they had in mind.

He woke up almost in a haze, in an unfamiliar room, and with unfamiliar women on
either side of him.t took him a moment to get his brain engaged, and when it did, he
almost had to shudder a little.

Oh. God

And he thought that Symone could be wild in bed. Meya and Myra made her look
like a fuckingnun They had taken complete possession of hichda all kinds od

He almost got an erection jusinkingabout it.

He had the feeling that half of that was just show, bravado, proving that they could
make him forget his own name, proving that his trysts with Kumi were a pale shadow of
what they cold do to him. In some ways, they were wrong, since Kumi was an absolute
slut and was utterly depraved, which meant s
blush furiously and enter a convent at the nikoaightof doing it themselves. But
where the twis lost that battle, the fact that there were two of them, they were twins, and
they had a guy in the same bed with them | et
t he war. Meya and Mydtaheyputhadsskihddt ouch each
sister® butt hey6d do a hel |l of | ot of other things
ni ght, thealldd done them

They said they could rock his world. He had to admit, they were right.

Twins 117, Jason O.



What was it about them that always let them get #st bf him? Ever since their
very first meeting, theydd al ways had the up
to take him down a peg. And in a way, he was glad for it. The twins kept him humble,
kept him honest, reminded him that he was JasaomKa before he was the Grand Duke.

And damn, did they remind him last night that he wasaa and they wergvomen and
men and women could do all kinds of very, very interesting things together.

He caressed Meyads bare.butHe odldi gltvley, bwhiab
at either of them again without rememberiast night and he guessed that was just one
more way they were showing him just wbwnedJason Karinne. Meya rolled up on her
side and opened her eyes, then she grinned atMwmoorninnnngshe trilled.

You are an absolute bitch, you know that?

| love you tooshe winked.

He stifled a | augh Is o wehay dvodmadnt, wadkre nhwr
walk. Ever again.

Then 1 6d s ayshewemsebwned you,

Bitch.

Keep cding me that, Jayce, it just makes me happier and happier.

He did laugh that time, which made Myra stir. She threw an arm over him and pulled
him against her, and he felt her breasts against his back in a very lucid/eying,

Jayce she sent lightlykissing him just under his eaRid | hear something about you
never walking again?

ltds a common si de &Meyhiatoned seribusly whicb maaen ne Spe
Jason burst out laughing.

You two are absolutely terrible!

You wer e n 0lastrmsghtWMyrargtortedhkesging him again in a way that
made a thrill go down his side, like a pair of hair clippers held next to hid aat night
you were calling us god.

| wasnot

Really? Oh god! Oh god! Oh godthe broadcast, a memory o$ Ivoice in the
throes of passionWell, there was just us in bed with you, babes, so clearly you think
webre right wup there with Trelle.

Jason tried to come back with a witty reto
lips on the skin under hissewas scattering his thoughts tothe winds. donét car e ho
long it takes. | will find a way, and | wiflet yoy he promised.

There arentd6t that mMeyaytease@Baerssi diens ,a ycoyucollel, bbe
busy fending off a furious Kumi.

What? Why?

Look over there.

Jasonds eyes foll owed her gaze, and then h
dresser, there was a small camera.

Youd i d hefgasped.

Oh yes we did. And right now, theredos a |
the inbox of her paneMyra replied sweetly, sliding her hand up his chest, then cupping
her fingers around hisneclVe t ol d you youdd never forget I
you can get a good look of it from outside the bed.



He was completely atlass. He just worked his jaw as if to speak for a moment, then
collapsed back against Myra in helpless laughkérateyou two!

Oooh, that means we can get in a little angry sex before breakfast,cooed,
pulling him down onto his back. get him irst, she told Meya.

Just donodot wuse him up, | want a turn.

The twins finally let him go about two hours after breakfast, which absolutely

murdered his schedule for the day given that the Parri were due to arrive any minute.

But, as he wobbled back horakng the walkway, the infuriated shriek that blasted out

of Kumi 6s house treally ldadrécoraed thelr aight, andisent Kumiian s

little taunting proof of it. Kumi and the twins had been doing things like that to each

other since they cae to Karis, but this was the ultimate dig on Kumi, and Jason knew it.

Shedéd tried to get a viddy of him for a whil
punchéand in true twins flair, they sent her
rage.

Jyslin was gone when he got home, off to work, as was Tim, and all the kids were at
lessons. Symone had hung around to see him, however, meeting him at the kitchen table
as Ayama served him some pancakes with a nau
word 0 he barked, pointing at her, which just
the table. Symone burst out laughing, flopping down in the chair facing his, and he
noticed for the first time she was wearing her flimsy little tHeygth robe thatvas
belted so loosely in front that her left breast was hanging completely out of it. Not that it
wasnot anything he hadndt seen a thousand ti
that made it appealing. S h lee wascsittihlgdheré t have s
nude. Symone looked where his eyes were and just smiled at him.

| &m surprised you have enoughshételdhim.t o get

Hey,theday mgmuc and6t get me in the heoetaedi s t he de
with a wink.

She laughedAsif, she teasedSo, how was it?

You know damn well how it wds answeredl 6 m sure you heard me a
over here.

Yeah. Jys really had a headfull of yshe grinned.That made our sex that much
hotter,she pured mentallyNot hi ng gets Jys hotter than whe
just bleeds through to her and makes her go totally nulsvédd oi ng her when you
bet ween some other girldés | egs feeding her p

Dondt bhechided, shough he had to admit, she had the same effect on him.

When she was having sex with Tim, if he was similarly engaged, it just amplified the
sensation since he was getting pleasure from both his body and through Jyslin.

You | ove i tyshe emneddsbastamed satidgd from the feel of it,
the twins arevay nastier than | thought they were.

Il 611 tell you about it | ater. Right now,
Besides, someone needs to be punished for hemptuai little gamehe warned,
looking over at her.

She shivered a littleOh baby, you know | love to be punishsigé replied, which
made him laugh.



Well, tell Tim to take Jys out again, because tonight, youpasifor your treachery,
he warned, paiting at her.
OQooohhhhh, |l 6d better wear a maxsh@ad today
replied, which made him throw a pancake at her. The syreipched disc splatted flat
against her face, making her flinch so violently she fell backwards dwrafhair.
He managed to finish just in time to greet the Parri, a procession of six of them, two
tattooedshamarand four apprentices. They viewed his tree and complemented him on
his success, they shared a cup of tea with him, talked of minor dffaabout fifteen
minutes, then they got right back on the dropship and went home.
But that was the Parri. The were very social, but they were also very considerate.
They could probably see that he was fairly busy, so they cut their visit short.
He gd to work right after seeing the Parri off. It was a very short day, basically just
him catching up on the reports, but everywhere he went, he got snickers and sly looks.
After a half hour, he found out that the twins telderyoneabout their little ambsh,
further grinding their heels in Kumids face
about an hour after he got there, a suspiciao
inbox, from Myra. He made sure Chirk and Brall were out of his offien opened it.
Ten seconds of viewing told him that beyond any shadow of a doubt thae#igyhad
recorded it. And he was goingraurderthem if this got anywhere beyond Kumi and
him. If heeversaw this recordingnywherebut on his own panel, &y were going to
die.
What he should have expected was the little visit from Kumi just after lunch. She
barged into his office looking about ready to breathe fire, slamming his door and pointing
at him like her finger was a pulse rifle barréflyou dd that on purpos®
They didndét tell m ehe tuhhenoff.ldoldg out ludbonbt aiva e
anything like that out there, and ikElersee it somewhere it better not be, heads will roll.
She looked slightly mollified, but not much. 6gaing to kill themkshe exploded.
That wasmy ided
Youdr e | hesreplied, diggingjustsa tiny bit himself.
The |l ook she gave him could have shattered
armored glass.
Jason had to lauglC 6 mehe ealledmotioning her over. She stalked up to him,
then squeaked in surprise when he dipped her down and kissed her on the lips. She clung
to him, then hummed and started kissing him back just as he finisheétbupvatched
the whole thinghe noted. Kissinger brought them in skin to skin contact, and her
intense arousal was all but screaming at hithatwas most of the reason she came in
her e. Shedd seen that viddy, and shedd spen
Five timesshe admitted.
Self punibment is the worst kindason chuckled, sitting back down. She sat in his
lap, probably uncomfortable for he since he was in his armor, and looped her arms
around his neck.
Oh, comeon, she beggedJust fifteen minutes out of your armor!
Any other tine , | 6d be al | heansveredBuilchave adatewith gi r | |
Symone tonight, and if | showup badddg gged, youdbr e ghernJusa be ans\
go grab some random lucky guy and give him f



She gave him adt look, then laughed brightlyT hat 6 s n o shepurrddad | dea,

kissing him on the lips, hot and dirtgutyou owe meJayceshe warnedAnd | 6 m
gonna collect!

Wedll talk about it tomorrow. The twins h
sonething of an idea.

She grinned maliciousiyWwe 6 | | f i x t Isleisent withiatsdavdge gar den,
undertoneNow i f youodll excuse me, | need to go f

permanent limp.
Jason watched her sidle out, and he almost fely $or the first handsome man that
crossed her path. Or the first man, for that matter.
By the end of the day, he saw that the Parri operation was under wayshiaaran
had already arrived at the palace and the command center and the war roomy and the
were starting their preparations for what $timmarsaid would be a difficult task. The
viddy hebéd seen of them certainly hinted at
old and wise, and looked quite formidable. He put that out of his ithiadgh, for he
had other things to do, and other fish to fry.
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It took the Parri about five days to complete all of their protections.
Jason got reports and watched viddy of it from time to time, elderly $teman
hobbling about large command buildings and chanting, pouring that powder in shapes
floors or around entire buildings, shaking thogewood staves at things that only they
could see. They visited every important position or location; command centers,
shipyards, critical strategic locations for fleet assembly, and naturally, themyaahd
the United Nations. The Parri probably did more work on Terra than anywhere else,
since it was the only place where foreign powers had any civilians or agents left, so it was
very important to completely blind the Consortium to the entire planet.
There was also the twins. Jason and Kumi had a score to settle with them, each for
their own reasons, and Jason knew exactly how to go about doing it. He sent them back
to Exile to check on the Exiled that had returned, see how they were doing $etting
into their city on the island by the sea, a
made with those that returned. He didnoét f
made someémodifications to t heihishaddsanpshi p,
their armor.
The twins landed and spent the night at Exile, but when they went to return home,
they found out that their dropship had a mind of its own. It veered off course and flew
out over the main continent, and by the time the twinsaged to do anything to get
back control, it landed in the middle of the vast grassland that dominated the equatorial
belt of the planet. The dropship went completely dead when it landed, and after a few
attempts to get it started or call someone, theydeel to strike out using the engines in
their armor to coast the 60 miles or so to New Karsa. For the engines, that was about a

n
e
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ten minute cruise about a foot above the flat ground, since the tropical savannah was so

flat 1 to6d | et ,tahseomasghey exitedthe drbpshipttheir arnBoy quite

literally, flew apart on them. All the seals ruptured and the armor just dropped off
anywhere it didnét surround them, | eaving th
and gauntlets.

Rightaoout then, they started getting suspici:
It was more or |l ess confirmed when a Wol fods
exact 200 feet over their heads, just watching them. Jason got to hear quite a lot of
cu>sng and threats and saw the shaking of fist
and there was nothing for them to do but strike out for New Karsa on foot. Jason
watched them raid the dropshipds emergency
everything but food and water, and that fo
backpacks, no tents, no weapons, no emergency radios, nothing but food and water. And
if they wanted to carry the food and water,
carry it.

Jason had made it clear; the twins would have to think their way out of this one.

He was i mpressed with their ingenuity. Th
breast and back plates, piling their armor on one and the food and watetmethéhen
yanking some flexible conduit out of the dropship to serve as rope. Then they lashed it
down, tied handles to them, and started pulling them along the flat grassland, which
would let the sleds slide along without much resistance.

At6Omiles it 6d take them about three days or s
probably get spotted and picked up when they reached the edge of the farm plots, which
should only take them about a day to reach. Jason let them start out, then, after they were
aboutten minutes out, they saw a large Stick drop down and pick up the dropship, then
carry it off. They shook their fists at the spinner again, calling him out and promising
revenge, but Jason just activated a holo of him and Kumi, which had them telirtbe tw
to enjoy their walk, and that there woulddie so much morfor them to be angry about
by the time they got home.

It wasndét entirely a cakewal k for the twin
during that time they had to cross two rivershwiit losing their sleds, got involved with
a cloud of stinging insects theyod6d accident a
in red welts, and had an encounter with a native mammal, a-hiaekl catlike creature
the size of a german shepherdtthad velociraptefike middle claws on its back legs,
oversized claws that were kept cocked back to snap forward and down and rip prey apart
when the animal got hold of them and raked with its back claws. The little animal scared
the life out of them wheit investigated their sleds after they stopped for the night, but
after the initial scare on both sides, the little animal actually followed them for a while,
which made them nervous. It eventually lost interest, however, going off to chase a

S
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rabbitike mammal the size of a pit bull, and the
And so, the twins were gotten back. By the time they reached a planter and got
someone from New Karsa to come get them, the

and they were exhausted, eak muddy, covered in sting welts, and looked absolutely
miserable. Jason had a recording of the whole thing, which he played back to dramatic
music on a holo monitor in their dropship once they were picked up, putting a caption
under it readingleyaandMy r a6s Sur vi val Adventure



When they got home, they each slapped him on the shoulder, then they each kissed
him on the cheek, then they announced in unison that he was on the list. He replied by
remarking that the geo surveys had found a sizable degdginadite on Exile, the ore
of Vanidrium, under the polar ice pack, and he might rse@deondo go investigate and
get more detailed sensor scans. That made the twins flinch, then laugh and kiss him
again.
Jason made hi s poi nhtthe guy thai cagtbll.you wikecerio@d me s s
and what to do.
Thing hadnét had a chance to settle much w
him literally as he got out of bed, opening the door just after his alarm went off. Jyslin

gave her a cool look, bubcul dndét hol d it | ong as the tall/l
AGood morning, o she called, which surprised
ADenmot her ! When did you get here?d he as

AMIi nutes ago, 0 she answeregdur sgsittudyod sheo
declared, sweeping past and through the door leading to his private study, which opened
to both the hallway and his bedroom.

Sounds importantlyslin noted seriously.

Il think youdbre right. Have Ayama bring me

Why are yowasking, you weakling? Commarsfie grinned.

Alright, bitch,you go get me some coffee. Now!

You canodt or der wiegheaatodad nhéekilyl brédemyowyacound!

Oh really?he asked archlyl think someone else needs her own sunspatial.

You woul dndot dar e! Besi dshecghalléngedvden f i x any
both know | 6 m sheadded bftiy. er engi neer ,

Al r i ght hebarkedneatally, grabbing hold of her, making her gasp and
giggle, then he kissed hquite seriously.

iNow Jason, 0 Denmother Zaa called from his
in there and break you two up in a compr omi s

They both laughed, since that was where things had been headed. He gave Jyslin one
more kissthen watched as she climbed out of bed and headed for the bathroom, that cute
but wiggling all the way. He sighed and aga
to marry that woman, then he put on a robe and joined Zaa in the study. She immediately
locked the place down, then she motioned for
from our agents within the enemy base, 0 she

AAnd they must be serious. o

AYes. They are grim, 0 she answered, touch
joinus, pl e d@mleddogram that represented Cybi formed in front of them,
solidifying into that nude yet formless body
nodded to Zaa, then turned and stepped aroun

shoulder, a hanthat made contact since she was utilizing the soldter holograph
projectors, which added simulated substance to the holograms in the form of coherent

energy skin that could be touchel.Wh at i s i tsheaBked mot her ?0
Zaa seated herself across tiesk, her fingers still on her memory band. She used it
to access his deskodos vidlink, which wasnodt s

things like this, and an image of the base appeared in a hologram that formed over the
desk betweenthem,justn der Zaads eyes. AFirstly, the P



t hem. AREverywhere they have done their work
have come to learn how and why, thanks to the daring and valor of my children.

AThere areefmenugyolfeitmgsei n this galaxy, 0 sl
were right about them, Jason, but only partially. One of them, and only one, had the

ability to send parts of its collective cons
AParts of 20 Jason asked.

Shena d e d. AnThe beings are not I|ike you or |
in place of the base. ASee how it is made u

what you might call a cell that makes up the entirety. But unlike other beingspfeac

those individual cells is sentient. These beings are more of a symbiotic assembly of
smaller beings, all working together, but capable of independent action in a limited scope.
They cannot physically separate from the symbiote construct, but theyilize any

psionic powers they possess independently. o
Al nt r i Qybinoted Dhey are quite unique creatur e:
AfYes, they are. It seems that of the four

arrived with the fleet we attackedt took it some time to acclimate and begin its work to
keep watch over us, and it also seems that it had a lot of trouble looking into Karis,

mai nly because of a resistance it encountere
APr obadhdaman 6 héason mused.

A NoCybi, 0 Zpala erde. ACybi has an effect on t hat
to see Karis. It managed to penetrate the interference, and that was wélesmtlae

took matters into her own hands and banished
AWhat kind of ?adylliasked. coul d | have

Al do not know, 0 she answered. ABut somet
symbi oteds abilities. o

A Cur i shermused, no doubt pondering the matter with her vast, computerized
mind.

AYes, but iitdés a mat thisbrieffthe Consoriiontisnew t i me .
backed into a corner. They were absolutely
and now we have blinded them. They were planning to take their time and attempt to
minimize the potential for damage to the nationthe sector, because they intend to
conquer this galaxy and they wanted to keep

ABut now they dondt care. o

AThey have received orders from Andr omeda,
Karis as quickly as possible, and neithercaseiaddti nor t he Consorti umbs
issue. They must take Karis, no matter the cost, no matter what they must do. Something
has happened in Andromeda to change things. We do not know what this is, but it has
changed t he Cons oretdecidecto breap thaarovenlawsamch ey hav
customs, and they are conscripting the peoples of the empire they conquered to replace
the insectoids on the ships. This is someth
How so0?0
't i s agai ns taw and thdusahds & years of tragitions & @low
civilians to fight in battle, 0 she answered.
Consortium are the energy beings and the insectoids. For them to break this law and
force a subject race to fighwell, it says a great deal. Whatever is happening in
Andromeda, it must be quite grave for them t



AWell , didnét they do that to the Urumi ?0
ANo, they did not, 0 she r e pdnquatide.Uumii Re me mbe
Theyusedthem. If they would have brought the Urumi into their empire, they would
have been forbidden to fight. That was why they abandoned the Urumi at the end, to walk
well clear of that law. They simply set the Urumi up, forced them to cororttiet
battle, then severed all ties with them and allowed them to attack to create a diversion for
their own forces. o

AWell , that does explain a couple of thing
couldnét figure out why itkleey hjaustdo abandoned
AWhen you undters aandnsomesobm, it makes se
AFor wus, it means this. They are desperate
beings to crew the ships, they are going to come, and they are goilgégoca | | at once
AWedbl |l have a year to deal with them,0 Jas
AMaybe not. The reason | am here iIs becau

communication back to Andromeda. It will take it 79 days to get there, and the reply will
take 79 days to return, but the short of it is that the forces here are requesting information
and plans to be transmitted back concerning some kind of faster than light technology.

They intend to run the interdiction blockade
AFaster LlHewarpdhvefgomuh@oIdStarTrekshows’Po

She nodded. AMy children dondét know how e
them to go, but I f they can get the plans fo

AThen we havtehdy dmarkét sguate an answer, 0 Jasoc
need to find a way to jam their long distance communications. If we keep them from
getting what they need, it keeps them out. o

Al have some tmbotoldlthﬁm AnhdbutdivBlhatts® t hem
Myl eena. O

AAlright, 106l | eave that in your hands, C
hand.

AWith this order to take us no matter what
effective intelligence gathering, it backs them intothecoonerZaa gr unt ed. A We
be careful now. Even a mouse can be dangero

ADamn right, o0 Jason agreed. nlt al so make
meaningless, if theyodr e n oahothgreeasongnygits need mo
died for nothing, 0 he sighed wearily.

AJason, do not dishonor their memory so, 0

Remember, those ships are desigaexindthe insectoids. The other race will not be as
effective. o

Abuess, 0 he sighed.

AWhat we must do is begin to prepare, 0 she
attack. They have no choice now. And with them so critically short on ships and

personneé f

ATheydl |l invade the otheydohdtitake, 6o hémsone
for bases close to us and to conscript them
nodded grimly.

Al believe the war room considers the Nine
initial i nvasi on,eleas mil@arized ofitheendtions abfittihGp ey ar e t h



Confederate space. 0 Zaalds eyes went distant
communication between her memory band and the comm network, relayed at biogenic

l evel akin to commusnaiodh.gr ifimhlty .h a si Ib ejgwsnt, or esch
our sensor watchers. A force of Consortium
AHow many?o

ASi x thousand, nearly a third of their ava
working the trajectory as we speakgeet a destination. O

ACybi, alert Myr.i and have Myli warm up 3D
AAnNd send word to the war room. 0

Al am doi ng shenoddediwe asnp ead ks,00 cal |l i ng Dahnai
warn them. 0

AWi se, 0 he agreed.

Alte us wait for Dahnai and SkoéVrae before n
we need to get the others here. o

Al 61 1 summon Mi aar Cybieansderelly | eena at once, 0
By the time everyone was assembled, the astrocartographers had a destination. It
wasrot t he Nine Colonies as Jason thought, but

jumping to attack the closest Shio system to them, Reglen. Dahnai made an emergency
call to Grayhawk as Jason ordered the KMS to mobilize. The Shio were bristling with
Torsion weaponry, but they were outnumbered some 100 to 1 even if they had their entire

fleet at one system. Zaa brought wup the st a
overwhelmed in mere minutes, given it only had an orbital station and 14 shipsthere
defense. Even i f the KMS and the Confederat

be heavily outnumbered.
Gr ay h a w kgkisnedface appeared on another holographic monitor, pale and
shaken. Als this true, oiceour Majesty?0 he as
Al't is true, High Prince, 0 Zaa said gravel
currently en route to Reglen. They will arrive in a little less than two thousand Shio
dekka o

He | ooked about ready to t hrsadwnaup. A We ca
strangled tone. AMIi ni ster, how |l ong woul d i
Regl en?b9d

ATwo days, your Highness, 0 came a voice of

Al, this is, my poor people! 0o he wailed.

AGrayhawk, now is the tlidnehitnn. dofi Swhrad tyloeu v
Evacuate what you can from Regl en. Save as

ASend them to Terra. We will give them sa

AWe will recall them to homeworl d! o Grayha

AAnd what happensgdfetnegr ytolueay Hfiigrhinsels sa?to RDa h
simpl y. ADo you think theydre going to stop

He | ooked absolutely stricken. ARShe speak
said from off the screen. AThey wessul d not s
t hey meant to crush us beneath their heel s.

Al wonodt bl ame you if you fight, Grayhawk,
evacuate your <civilians. Theyoél !l find safet

they can go back home. 0



He | ooked at them with haunted eyes, then
sai d. AAs you know, I dondt make the deci si
possible. o
Good luck, Grayhawk, 0 SkoéVrae intoned gri
|l think we will all need it, o0 he answered

The Confederate military went on full alert, and their conference included the other
rulers of the local nations after only ten minutes. Zaa explained what was going on, using

n
A

bluntte ms, and then she finished things up. AT
on Shio territory, then it wild!l move on, 0 sh
A Wavarnedy ou t hat this was going to happen, o J
Godobés sake, |  aylkrees lnd begged yiou tal listennbutyou wene too

interested in what you could get out of it f
Graith. Awell, now the Consortium is on the

at the Shio? Do you thinkthey e going to really just conque
against the others?o

Al think they wil!/ do exactly that, o Grait
projections. The Consortium will need a forward base, and the Shio are the most logical
choice. Their four systems are relatively close to Terra, and the Shio are the smallest and
most easily conquered. They wonoét risk thei
nation. o

ASo, you admit you thought snhppsdbagleat e | yi ng
him.

ASince when does a politician tell the tru
AThe Counci l is torn at the moment, 06 Magr a
Colonies, announced. Al't is the right of an
such overwhel ming numbers, 0 he sighed. ASon
and hope that our neutrality is honored. B u

neutrality, so | have little hope they will honor ours. We represent a stratediornpés
the Consortium, as we abut Confederate space. Personally, | believe they will attack us,
and because an attack is inevitable, then we should fight. | am trying to sway my
brothers and sisters on the matter, and will redouble my efforts wisecothfierence is
concluded. o
Al intend to see what the Consortium says
of the Skaa Republic decl ared. AThe Parlian
most certainly declare war if the Nine Colonies wereck#id. It would put the
Consortium on our border, a hostile force that would have attacked two nations that
declared neutrality in the matter. o

AWe will not wait that |l ong, 0 the Emperor
attacked, then the Empire wiledlare war on the Consortium. If the neutralitpoé
nation is not honored, then the neutralitynofnation will be honored. Unlike our
smaller neighborsye carry enough military force to do battle with the Consortium, and
we will not hide behind ouborders and wait for them to conquer our smaller neighbors

before they come for us. We will take the f
AAnd all that ilecagsewifngvhtad ogomérabawti ng! 0 G
compl ai ned. Al f you | ustpassedaver!tlackatthg our neut

situation rationally!o



ATherebs an old saying on my world, Graith
the planet named Germany tried to conquer the world. Forgive me for not remembering
it exactly, butitgoes alittteseant hi ng | i ke thi s, 0 Whersttepy sai d i
came for the seditionists and the traitors, | said good, let them be taken. When they came
for the journalists and the reporters, | said good, they were stirring up trouble. When
they came fortte Jews and the homosexuals, | was troubled, but | said nothing. When
they came for those | knew to be innocent, | was too afraid to say anything. And when
they came for me, there was nobody left to spéakeans that those who do nothing,
thosewhobh| ow tyrants to rule and dondt oppose t
and delaying the inevitable. Thesll come for you, Graith. Make no mistake about it.
Theydve shown themselves to be the Iliars you
you, Graith, will there be anyone to say anything, or will you simply be the only ones
l eft?o
Graith said nothing, but he looked troubled.
ASo, It just comes down to what happens in
Jason wasno6t t hhedthe fieddyfrora Kiradort shygptobesv dé saw it
all, and it was everything he feared. The Consortium ships, primarily battleships,
dropped out of hyperspace and launched missiles almost before they had time to raise
shields. Those missiles were similarthe ones that attacked the palace, equipped with
gravometric engines and accelerating with relativistic speed in the vacuum of space. The
missiles had to be pgrogrammed with targets, for they ignored the civilian transports
fleeing Reglen IlIl andteuck the orbital platforms Jason and Dahnai had sold them, the
few Shio warships in orbit that were staying to buy time for the fleeing transports, and
their orbital station. The station and Shio warships were destroyed, but the majority of
the platforns had managed to survive the attack, shooting down the missiles. The
platforms surrounding Reglen came around the planet and concentrated in the path of the
advancing horde of ships as it advanced into
speed to @dse distance on the platforms. And when they came in range, the platforms
opened up on them.
But the outcome was inevitable. The 218 surviving platforms destroyed four ships
and damaged 31 others, but they were wiped out in under two minutes in arneabkiz
of Torsion beams that were fired back at them. The Consortium ships then fanned out
and started capturing the fleeing ships, tractoring them back towards the planet, some of
them exploding as the pilots overloaded the engines trying to esltapes a horrible
scene, seeing those black, spiky ships spreading out and capturing transports and
freighters, literally anything with jump engines the Shio could get in the air in the two
hours they had to evacuate, then they surrounded the tempegate ptanet and secured
their prize.
In just under 17 minutes, Reglen lll fell to the Consortium. There were 317 Shio
transports and freighters jumping towards Terra from Reglen, which would arrive in
about three days, and after that, the other threeragsin the Shio nation had an exodus
of ships away from their planets, moons, and populated stations, as the Shio tried to
evacuate as many civilians as possible in the face of inevitable Consortium attack. The
Shio Senate had even ordered their wardioigdbandon Shio space, using them to carry
civilians away from Shio Prime, their homeworld, all but surrendering their tiny nation to
the Consortium in exchange for getting just a few thousand more people safely away.



And as he promised, the Emperor of thkaa declared war on the Consortium in a
prepared statement broadcast through the sector.

This was it. This was the moment he knew was coming, but had dreaded.

This was now aeal war, a war that would involve fleets and battles, and the deaths
of unold thousands. Because now the Consortium had invaded their sector and made its
first conquest, which spurred at least the Skaa and the Colonists to admit that Dahnai had
been right, and they could not sit and be neutral in the face of naked aggression.

But, the question nagged at him a little as he listened to Dahnai and the two Skaa
rul ers negotiate them sendWmnwyWhgattackther y advi s
Shio? Why invade, if their goal was to take Karis or die trying, no matter what it took?
Theydd only managed to whip up the nations o
the Shio and theyéd | ose more ships, more re
systems from the Consorti um. | t pylledst di dnot
back, trained their troops, and sent absolutely everything at Karis in one massive attack.

But instead they had divided their forces, were going to lose resources, and getting
nations theydid not want to stir ugetting into the war. The Confedey was a major
threat, but when one stackbkdth Skaa empires on top of that, it was just insane.

What did taking the Shio provide to the Consortium? He pondered that. It gave them
a foothold in the sector, for one, a safe haven very close to Kavisi¢h they could
withdraw damaged ships for repair and resupply. It gave them the natural resources
present in the four Shio systems. It gave them a much closer base from which to try to
analyze the interdiction effect to try to breach it without hatingait for that faster than
light information to return from Andromeda. It gave them an intimidating presence very
close to Karis, to worry at the Confederacy. It gave them access to the Shio themselves,
to use as conscripted soldiers, making thent fighir own people as the dispossessed
Shio refugees reorganized to fight back, much like the French back in World War 11.

And, he realized, it gave the nations of their sector something very close to
concentrate on, to draw attention away from what veasggon back over on the other
side of the galaxy.

Well, that would work against the Skaa, but not against them. But, it still forced them
to deal with the Consortium right in front of them, and in that respect, it was a success for
them.

Still, theimasi on of the Shio had to give them so
never have done it. Il n ti me, he knew, hedd
apparent.

But, the one thing it did do was give the Confederacy three new allies, and one of
them wa powerful The Skaa Empire had truly insane numbers of soldiers and
thousands of warships, and now they would throw those numbers at the Consortium.

Two hours later, he got the answer to that question. The Consortium sent out a
broadcast through all grband and other energy frequencies used by every nation in the
sector. In it, one of their energy beings addressedthe séctbin e Shi o Feder ati o
Pl anets have been |l egally annexteedeingnt o t he C
declared.in T h asoning for this is that we have determined that we require a forward
base for our operations, and the Shio systems meet our requirements. The Consortium
has no interest in any other nation or system in this sector aside from our rightful jihad
against tte evil of the Karinnes and those they have tricked into protecting them from our



righteous crusade. All Shio are required to submit to the rightful authority of the
Consortium, as they are now legal Consortium citizens. But despite the hasty actions of
the Skaa Empire, the Consortium has no interest in any other empire or system in this
sector of space. Should the Revered Emperor rescind his declaration, then the
Consortium will not consider itself at war with the Skaa Empire. Should he not, however,
the Consortium will consider the Skaa a threat too grave to leave unresolved, and would
be forced to declare war against the Skaa out of the interests of protecting Shio citizens

and territory from unl awf ul i nvasion. o
The Emperor was ntouth Heyordared aifull mobilkzaienofrall f o u
| mperi al f or ce btolifarcés. t hose wer e a

Jason was glad that at leasteruler in the neighborhood saw the truth. What the
Consortium was doing was a page rgioght out of
nation at a time while using fear to hold the others in check, until they had enough
territory and resources to simply declare wa
going to let the Nine Colonies be next, as they would most certainly have Deen.

Emperor finally saw the light, and he intended to fight. And while the Republic and the
Col onies hadndét made any decl arations either
were very, very spooked. The Consortium might have made a big mistake ygiva
the Shio, they may not have, but one thing w
in the sector outside of the Confederation thigynotwant against them to declare war
on them. Even without Torsion weaponry, the Skaa had their uncountaiés o
throw at an enemy, and that would beat down the Consortium through sheer attrition if
nothing else.
Now things were going to get interesting.
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Aya was just going have to live with being perpetually angry with him.

In a fallow farm field just outside the city, which once held a suburb of Oklahoma
City before the subjugation and was plowed deefarmland, hundreds of Shio
transports had landed, and thousands upon thousands of frightened Shio were being
processed through a hastily raised tent city. And Jason was right there, in person, with
his wife and son, greeting scared Shio personakyngehands, giving kind words, trying
to reassure the refugees that they were going to be alright.

There were 597 Shio transports already on Terra, and there were another 2,193 Shio
ships in transit, holding exactly 117,894 Shio refugees. They weralyheres who had
managed to reach ships and escape when the evacuation call was issued, and on one of
them was High Prince Grayhawk, who was transiting the TES at that very moment and
would arrive on Terra in about an hour. The rest of the Shio goveriraéstayed
behind, quite bravely in Jasonds mind, to de
Grayhawk, the face of the Shio, so he could continue to represent the Shio from outside
of their Federation. Grayhawk was very popular among his people, theonaadHigh
Prince, and his presence on Terra would bolster the refugees and give hope to the 7
billion Shio who were now under the dictatorship of a conquering power.

Jason felt that as the house in control of Terra, it was only right that he was there to
meet the Shio, over the strenuous and vociferous objections of Aya and his entire guard.
She didndét want Jason and Rann nowofadn uncontr
times, but Jason had been quite adamant about it. He forced Aya to capitdetethe
stipulation that once she got him home, there was going to be another of those lessons
that would make it hard for Jason to sit for a few days afterward. Aya had made all kinds
of security precautions for the trip, including intense scans dshin@ ships and of each
and every Shio that debarked to ensure none of them had any weapons. Jason was in his
armor, but he went without his helmet, which gave a potential assassin a convenient place
to aim.

But, after they got there and Aya saw how Jasanaged to calm fears, she
grudgingly admitted that hedd been right. T
of comfort from someone they could see was in charge calmed them, gave them a little
hope. He boldly walked among the refugees, pattingldbos, assuring them that they
were going to be alright, that they were welcome on Terra, and that they already had
plans to settle the Shio refugees in prepared housing.

And they had plenty of plans. The Shio would be settled into five enclavesetgatter
across Florida; Tallahassee, Jacksonville, Tampa, Orlando, and Miami. Shio as a race
preferred slightly warmer temperatures compared to humans and Faey, so they were
going to be settled in warm areas. There was plenty of empty housing throughout



Floridkda, and while they couldndét keep the Shio
made certain that no Shio would be less than half a block away from another Shio family.
The house had appropriated quite a few of the old condo buildings scattered though
Miami that had been sitting mostly empty since the end of the subjugation, where the
majority of the Shio would be going, so they could all live close together and in a place
where theyo6d feel |l i ke they had Weatyh i sol ati
had stipends ready for the Shio and thousands of volunteers to help them navigate
suddenly being thrust into an alien culture. The Shio language had been telepathically
inserted into the volunteers, and Faey residents of Terra with sufficierdttetepower
and training had offered to insert English and Faey for Shio that were willing to undergo
the procedure.
It was taking some of the Shio more than three days to reach Terra, but it had taken
less than a day for the Consortium to conquer th€hat took them only about nine
hours total. They hit Reglen first, and after two hours, they jumped 90% of their fleet to
Bregali, leaving behind only a token force to defend their new holding. They hit Bregali
with the same overwhelming force, then intiaely jumped half their fleet back to
Reglen to prevent the KMS or the Kimdori from jumping in and attacking the defenders.
That was both wise and foolish, for the Karinnes most definitely responded. Not with
warships, but with weapons out of theirtbox. Reglen was close enough to jump long
range hyperspace missiles into the system, and they launched several waves at the
Consortium as other toys jumped in via disposable freighters. The missiles were just the
first salvo of wave after wave of autoredtweaponry, continuing the Karinne tactic of
wearing the enemy down with disposable weaponry as much as possible before warships
were sent in. The ships defending Reglen were attacked by hyperspace cruise missiles,
then freighters jumped in and dumpecdt@ners and jumped out, from which Buzzsaws,
weapon platforms, automated drones, mobile mines,-shioge gravometric missiles
equipped with gravity shockwave warheads, and other nasty little surprises erupted and
made war on Consortium ships. Consortiships found their weapon batteries firing
almost constantly against the massive counterattack, shooting at missiles, shooting at
mines, shooting at Buzzsaws, firing on drone weapon platforms that fired back, but not
shooting at what looked to them to debris from destroyed weapons, which were
themselves just decoys. Conduit smashers, Torsion shockwave generators, a new device
Jenny called a gravity beam, and holl ow debr
enemy formations, and it was too latfdre the Consortium commanders realized what
danger they posed. The conduit smashers took out 14 ships by themselves, rendering
them dead in space, and Satandés Marbl es wr ea
Consortium knew about the marbles and knew testop them, but it still took them
time to respond, and that delay proved destructive for their ships. The gravity beam
weapon was more or less what the name implied, a device that induced heavy gravity in a
cone in front of the device, a weapon moré¢ess designed to use against the insectoids.
It was a shielepiercing weapon, so the Consortium had no real defense against it except
to destroy it before it killed too many of their crews.
The Consortium found themselves fighting a constant battl@stgaiachines to
mai ntain control of Reglen, but that didnot
the Shio. The fleet that attacked Bregali moved on to attack Ravarra, and almost before
the smoke cleared from that attack, they jumped on to SheeRmd captured that



system. The Karinnes had been waiting for that, and once they had control of all four
systems, they expanded their assault to include all four captured systems. Every
Consortium ship in Shio space was kept on constant alert, itongapmnost constantly

firing on freighters or missiles that dropped out of hyperspace, a steady stream of
attacking devices designed to wear them down in preparation for a conventional attack by
a fleet of warships.

That attack was in the works. The Cedération was not going to just let the
Consortium settle in. They were going to counterattack as soon as they had a viable plan
and their automated weapons did enough damage. With their huge fleet split, it was the
perfect opportunity to hit the Consionin and take out more of their ships. Every ship
they disabled or destroyed was one less ship that would ultimately attack Karis, and they
knew it.

Over the three days, 3D had managed to completely exhaust its stockpile of toys,
because they quite litdhathrew everything and the kitchen sink at the Consortium fleet
occupying Shio territory. But, it had done the job, for they had managed to destroy or
damage ships at every system, and it kept the Consortium from relaxing even for a
second.

Grayhawkwa n 6t t he only one coming. Emperor

currently in transit to Draconis himself, and was due to arrive at the gate to Draconis in
about 34 minutes, being at the tail end of his trip to the TES. He was on boArbthe

the Karnne vessel and an escorting task fleet having jumped out to pick him up and bring
him back so he could jump hyperspace 1in
that he accepted a ride on a Karinne ship, not demanding to ride in his personal ship.
Assaba was on his way to sign the Confederation Treaty, to enter into the Confederacy
against the Consortium, a move that Zaa had personally approved after she got a Kimdori
close enough to him to touch him and ascertain his true motives. His motigesrdag

the Consortium were true, and he would be an honest ally against them. Once the Skaa
Empire was in the Confederation, theyodd

They didndét have enough St ar gaonlghmdfiveo cover

pairs of Stargates available. Those five gates were going to be placed at the five most
critical systems in Skaa space, their capitol system and their four most important
industrial systems, giving them protection and the ability to rapidploy a large part of
their fleet to Terra so they could get into the war.

Behind him, in hyperspace and in transit, where 2,000 Skaa warships, a huge chunk
of their fleet, on their way to Terra as a staging stop. Even as they were en route, both
Skaaand Confederate engineers were feverishly working on a conversion module to
attack to Torsion weapons so they could be mounted onto Skaa ships with no other
modifications. Skaa used plasma for power like many nations in the sector, but their
plasma was thmost basic of phased plasma, just barely phased to be usable as a power
system. It was crude by Karinne standards, and it introduced a few challenges to adapt
Torsion guns to use it.

Until they got that ironed out, Torsion weapon platforms, dronesldimiissued to
Skaa ships.

Engines, well, that was another matter.

Karinne jump engines, not without gutting their entire power system and redoing it. Hell,
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for that matter, Faey s ipiemmige, they simplyn 6t support



demanded too much power for standard jump engine power plants to support. The Faey
usedaformofhige ner gy i nterphased plasma to power t
quite managed to adapt metaphased plasma to jump engineteghyo)] and t hat was
enough. It took the form of striated interphased the Consortium used at a minimum to
power jump engines capable of jumping hyperspace in real time. There might be a way
to quickly adapt Faey shi peacettwassomewvhaConsor t i u
familiar, but there was little hope of doing the same for the Urumi or the Skaa.
This introduced a problem that they needed
like the idea of handing over retiine hyperspace travel to the secibthey wanted to
defeat the Consortium, they had to eliminate that advantage they enjoyed. Their ability to
jump hyperspace in real time allowed them to strike virtually anywhere in the sector, and
do it without giving the target nation time to getelefive fleets in position to repel them.
The Faey could overcome this with Stargates,
was going to give tanyone and Jason was more or less bound by her will on the matter.
Though Karinne could build their owrtegates, if he did so and started handing them
out, Dahnai might have him executed for treason against the Imperiunvadséll
bound by Imperial law, and Dahnaashis Empress.
Myleena and Cybi were discussing that problem. Myleena had actuéiydahwith
the idea of a hyperspace catapult, having thought about it after they did the math on the
interdictors, and from what she showed Jason, the theory had some merit and the math
hinted that it was possible. If a ship could be artificially boosteslifficient speed to
cross the relativity barrier and jump in real time, its own engines éealpit there.
After all, 1t didndt take huge amounts of en
moved at the velocity with which @nteredhyperspae. That was where standard
engines failemdrhypb@eypaoal dndth sufficient Ahy
jump in real time, they lacked the power to pull it off. If they got catapulted into
hyperspace by an outside force and then used theijumamengines thiold themselves
there, theydd just coast to their destinati o
that they could come up with something that complicated on short notice, but still, it was
worth pursuing. Giving other natioratapults was no threat to Confederate systems,
since they were all interdicted anyway. And if they could run up some kind of prototype
in a hurry, well, that just helped the war effort.
Until then, it would just take coordination to attack the Consertiand an
understanding that they could move just about their entire fleet to defend any one system
in the time it would take an attack fleet to jump from Terra to any Shio system, even their
fleets across the galaxy; Terra was the closest ConfederatendgsEhio space, just by a
whisker. The other close system was Hedra. A jump from Terra to Ravarra, the two
closest points between Confederate and Shio space, took 2.83 days by Imperial standard
time. A jump from Hedra to Ravarra took 3.01 days.
And the Karinnes and Kimdori could jump from Terra to Ravarra in 43 seconds, as
could the Consortium.
This was their first real plan to counterattack. They were going to have Confederate
and Skaa forces jumgn massat Ravarra, and force the Consortium tpldg its fleet to
defend. At the last minute, Kimdori and KMS ships were going to jump and hit Bregali
with 1,200 ships, most of them Kimdori, not to free the system, but to destroy the
defending Consortium ships. They would then jump out and hit St a similar



manner, playing a game of tag with the Consortium. Whichever system they left the least
defended, the strike force would attack that system. And when the Consortium jumped
forces to reinforce them, couldatyhé defepdarsand t ak e a
then retreat, which would be a hell of a lot of shots from 1,200 ships. It was guerilla
warfare designed to aggravate the fuck out of the Consortium commanders and damage
their ships, make them consume resources.
Always it wasabout attrition, attrition, attrition. Every ship they damaged or
destroyed was one ship less that would attack Karis when the time came.
It had merit. The Consortium only had 6,000 ships on their side of the galaxy, and
t heydd see t hteeyjompédeaainforcammemsi Thgy hadffour systems to
defend, so they either concentrated their defenses to fend off the Confederacy and the
Skaa, or they spread them out and gave the Kimdori and KMS a chance to take a huge
bite out of their fleet. Bothides knew that in a scenario of equal sized fleets, the KMS
has the advantage due to superior range on their particle beams and their fighters, which
the Consortium just didndt seem to know how
unusual to the Consaun, and when they tangled with the Wolves, they were going to
be picking their asses up off the floor.
The way it was going to work relied on the Kimdori. The Kimdori were already at
work on a jamming network that would completely blind all Consortiansers pointing
towards Confederate space, which would blind them to any ship movements. Those
jammers backing up the more mystical protections the Parri had instituted at the systems
where they intended to muster their fleets would leave the Consortitiva dark as to
exactly what was going on. Theyodod know that
but they woul dndét be able to see how many sh
they were going, or when they would get there. As soon as thosgejad went up, they
were going to know that the Confederacy was going to attack, using the jammers to hide
the size of the fleet that jumped towards Shio space, so it would leave the Consortium in
a reactionary position. All they could do was wait forfleet to appear, then jump ships
from other systems to get them there in time to fight off the attack. And when they did
that, the reatime hyperspace capable ships were going to jump at any system they left
weakly defended, then turn and jump out whey got reinforcements there to help the
defenderséonly to jump to another system and
Aya didnét understand why he needed to be
needed to greet the Shio, comfort them.
This was all his fault.
There was no escaping that one crushing fact. The Consortium was here making war
on their sector because of the Karinnes, and the blood about to be shed, the blood already
shed, was on his hands. He was the Grand Duke. It was his ultimate responsibility. H
hadnét known any of this was going to happen
a lifetime ago and declared himself the Grand Duke Karinne, but that was no excuse. Zaa
wasnodt the onl vy |lomde dtnaSan ekake.ddamn it abwasches p t
businesg¢o know. That was part and parcel of what being a house leader was all about,
staying a step ahead, keeping the house safe and prosperous. It may not have been his
literal fault, buthe was the Grand Dukelhe buck stopped on hisske It was his
responsibility. Everything that was about to happen went right back to his desk, and
soon, he6éd be el bow deep in the blood of tho



But God help him, he wouldndot doragnything
on Karis and rolling his dice against the Trillaneswas h oi c e . 't woul dnot
fair to his people, it would have been unfair to Cybi, and it would have been a crime to
turn his back on the House of Karinne. It hadrtpkt to exist, andtiwas his
responsibility to restore the house.

For better or worse, no matter what was going to happen and how many were going
to die, he would not look back. heasthe Grand Duke Karinne, and he would live up to
his duties and responsibilities.

The jdb chose him.

It didndédt change how he felt, however. Th
homes because bfs houseand he was going to do everything in his power to take care
of them, make it up to them. Even if it meant he walked among thémeyasvaited for
ID bracelets and housing assignments, shaking hands and soothing fears with calm
words, sat on bunks in the temporary tent complexes where Shio could rest while waiting
for transports to take them to Florida.

Al'tés alrighypuhoaoredt manhtderest in here, 0
helping an elderly Shio woman with weathered green skin and grayish blue hair into the
tent so she could sit and rest. ADi d you ge

AYes | did, youngsi Whenyalsnie® oamissver e d

fiMiami, 0 he corrected with a smile. Altds a
continent. It gets very warm there, at least as far as Terrans reckon such things. | believe
youodl!l find it quite comfortable. o

ATheesol d bones donét | i ke the cold, o0 she ag
folding chair. Jason accessed the departure schedules, and saw that the next transport to
Mi ami was | eaving in about fifteensminutes.
and personnel transports were literally landing, loading, and leaving, in a continuous
cycl e. They coul dndét | et the Shio get too b

| need a hoverchair and an escort over hdi@son sent openly, getting the attention
ofarelef wor ker . The Faey man nodded and hurri
hoverchair for you, honored mother, so you d
going to make sure you find your transport w
anything We 61 I take good care of you. o

AYoubre a good son for some proud mother o
patting his armored gauntlet fondly.

Altés all a son can hope to be, 0 he answer
on the cheek lightlywhich made her cackle in delight. An orderly hurried over with a
hoverchair, and he helped her get settled in it as she asked him about Miami.

Not all the Shio were as calm as the old woman. Most of them were terrified, and
they had quite a few peopl@ dand to soothe them. Some of them huddled in the arms
of a loved one, some of them were very combative out of fear of the unknown, some just
stood or sat with blank stares, silently allowing themselves to be herded about. It pained
him to see the Shilike that, since they were a very amicable species, and such trauma
was al most unknown to them. Theydd | ived in
War was a terrifying prospect to them, and running for a transport when the evacuation
call was give had to be very traumatic for them. Jason dealt with a fair share of each
kind, from angry men shouting and demanding answers to frightened women shivering as



they clutched their crying children to blaeked women who just sat there, staring at
nothing. Jason knew that virtually everyone here had left someone behind. Siblings,
parents, children, aunts, uncles, friends. There were a very spare few whole families
here, and those that were were almost always just parents and one or two children. There
hadndét been time to gather their extended f a
they were doing was trying to find families that may have evacuated separately and
reunite them, assigning them to the same housing quarters.
It was an efficient syste. New arrivals were photographed and their names were
taken, they were issued a bracelet ID they only needed until they got to their permanent
housing, and they were asked the names of family members so they could be identified if
they came on a laterigh They then moved to a tent or the open areas between them
where they could sit or lay down and rest or talk among themselves, watch viddy being
shown on holographic screens all over, so they never had to go far to see a screen and
know what was goingrg then, when transports arrived to take them to Florida, they
would be called by name and helped on board. Once they arrived in Florida, volunteers
would take them to the apartments, houses, O
were here, and theaught the basics of living in Terra as far as getting food and getting
around. They were then issued cell phones to keep in contact and credit sticks that would
allow them to buy food and clothing, would let them utilize any of the various
entertainmentacilities such as movie theatres or amusement parks, and then they were
discreetly left to their own devices but fully knowing that a counselor was just a call
away to answer any question or help them deal with the situation.
Jason was damn proud of Kille 6 d set this up in | ess than
U.N. Rapid Response Units that responded to natural disasters, and he called in damn
near every emergency worker and grief counselor on Terra and put them in Oklahoma
and Florida to help the Shio.
Rann ambled up just in front of Jyslin, and Jason introduced them to the elder

wo man. AThis I s my son Rann, and my wife Jy
ARann, eh? A sturdy name for a strapping
Rann put a finger ohis gestalt, no doubt getting the translation, then he smiled shyly.
AYour Gr ace! Your Gracel!o a staffer for K
sl ender Asian man scurried up to them, then
lookingforyou, your Grace, 0 he decl ared.

AAl right. I 61 | be out by my dropship in a
The man bowed again and rushed away, | eavi
must rank high around here, youngster, 0 she
AJust a |l ittl &, 0 he chuckled in rep

AHI m? Nah, hedés nothing but my slave, o0 Jy
elbowing him on the side of his armor. She spoke fluent Shio.

AwWwatch who youo6re calling a slave, woman,
dogcollararoundyor neck, 0 he retorted.

AMarried a Faey, eh? And here | thought vy

noted, smiling in an evil manner that made it clear she was digging at Jyslin.

Al didnét give him any choi ceadhuggdgits!| i n | au
to her ar mor elkhowswhee. wedWe Fa&éy our husbands.
little while to beat him into submission. o



AOh, |listen to this, o Jason retorted sharp
t ant h e Olidr afivedwdtiyaehdverdhainvand Jasom helped the
l'y transfer the elderly Shio to it
|l d her, patting her on her thin fore
elpyouboardyourtansport, and then t hbignd.ld hel p you

AWell, many thanks, youngster, o0 she answer

Jason walked gauntlet in gauntlet with Jyslin as Rann scurried just in front of them, as
Aya and fourteen other guards quietly shadowed theiyaewere, forearm guns
deployed on their Crusader armor and ready to kill anyone who gave them a sideways
glance. He had no doubt that all fifteen of them were constantly sweeping the crowd
with talent, searching for even the most stray and innocuous thioaigmight be
construed as a threat. They reached the dropship without incident, however, where the
portly Kim was waiting for them with a contingent of his own guards, Imperial Marines.
The Marines still served as the global police force on Terraingeairectly under
Secretary Kim and the U.N. Each country had its own police, but over them were the
Marines, who were like the FBI compared to the Maine State Police. When crimes
crossed national boundaries, the Marines had jurisdiction, and it trao&lyhem longer
than two days to investigate the crime, then track down and capture their suspect. The
Marines also made sure that the countries toed the line the U.N. drew in the sand. Each
country was permitted to have its own military, like a natiguard, but the Marines
were a constant reminder that e¥bmking of looking over the established border and
coveting a square inch of land on the other side was the mother of all bad ideas.

AHow is it |l ooking, Kim?0 Jason asked.

ARiIi ght onouwrch@rdaude,,0 yhe answered as anot her
descending to | and. AWe should have all the
Any problems over there?bo0
A few, but nothing major, o he answered.

e. 0

Youdbve done a great job,o0o Jason told him,
Yes, |l dondt know what this planet woul d
giving him a warm smile.

AWe can do nothing but serve, my Lady, 0 he

JasonAya caled, a finger to her interfacaVe need you back on théctory now.

Right now she sent adamantly.

What ? What 6s going on?

| dondt know. Myri just sentfuckhgmow t he ord
even if | have to drag you to the dropsh&o start before | dragshe warned.

[ My r i, wh a thé ®mrmguoad,ruging thactery as a relay.

[The Consortium just jumped out of the Shio systehg]lanswered. They di dnot
even leave a defensive caretaker fleet. Theygtidt

[Where ae they going?]

[Sec, astrocart is working on it. Got it. Grevalt.]

FuckingGraith! That was the closest Alliance system to the Shio systems. They
were going to steamroll the Alliance!

[Fuck! Send a warning, Myri!]

assi s
order s pad
he to rearn
h

@
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[ ltds too | aTleeydve tdlateadywydreopped out of
Alliance no doubt knows theydre there now. ]
That was true enough. Grevalt was only about sixteen seconds from Shio territory,
though it took nearly two days to traverse it in ships with old jump engines.
AGoddmni t ! 06 Jason snapped afuakloadd fy.r e fiilKg emg s lgce 1
AWhat goes on, your Grace?0
AThe Consortium just invaded the Alliancel!l
Kim paled, then turned and started barking frenzied orders in Korean at his aides.
Aya gave hima fresh glare as they got onto a heavily armored dropship, with twenty
escorting Wolf fighters, the lifted off to rendezvous with the KMS Shgtory, one of
their battleships. Admiral Leta Karinne greeted them in the landing bay, her and
everyone elseniCrusader armor, and she walked briskly with him as soon as he got off
the dropship, Jyslin and Rann having to nearly run to keejpt @ame down the pike,
Letasenturgentlyl 6 m t o g e trighytlreducktnono Kad umads gonna rip
diamonds i ght off my Cl ass AO0s.
Yeah, get us back as fast as you dason nodded in agreemehneed to be where |
can get wup to date information and get wunder
After they got into a passenger cabin, Jason grabbed hold of Aya and looked right
into her eyes.Get over it. Ineededo go,he told her intensely, removing his gauntlet.
She was about to respond, but he put his hand on her cheek, and through that contact he
lowered his defenses enough for her to feel the powerful emotions boilg,imis
crushing feeling of responsibility, his needa® therefor the people he was ultimately
responsible for displacing.
Her eyes softened slightly as she felt what he was feeling, but then they hardened
again. That is no excusahe told him bludy. Youcannotd o t hi s again, Jason
allow it.
You wWonot
I will not allow it, she seethedWhen you get back to Karsa, you better settle in,
because you will not leave the planet again, for any reason. And |langaeason
Even if Trelleherself came down to Draconis and invited you to tea, you will send her
your regrets, because your mommy has grounded you.
Jason had to bark a laug@an | at least go to Kosigi?
She actually considered il r i ght , | 611 gi vesfgraswout hat muc
go. This is now far more of a war than you bargained for, Jason, and that means | have
to take complete control of your safety. | simply will not allow you to risk yourself, Lady

Jyslin, and Rann like this again. If you etbmkoftrying t o overrul e me, I 6
a chair in the basement. | swear | will.
She waglead serious He knew hedd pushed her as far

take no more. She did technically have complete authority over the safety of him and his
family, and he knew that if she ordered the entire KMS not to take him anywhere, they
would obey.

He was grounded.

| understandhe sent seriouslyWe are in your hands now, Aya. Take good care of
us.

She looked a little surprised, obviously expectingiegument from the usually
headstrong Grand Duke, then she gave him a sober nod.



By the time he was back at Karis and in the White House, it was even worse. The
Consortium seemed to abandon the idea of defending what they took, they simply
attacked a syem, destroyed any and all defenses, and once a planet or moon was
defenseless, they simply jumped eatmassand attacked another population center.
Theydd hit three systems in the time it took
their strategy.Si nce t he Al l i ance couldnét jump their
protect it, they were simply sweeping through and destroying all defenses, stations,
ground batteries, orbital pl at fcaptummgany and muc
militarysh ps i n the system they could get when 1t
them all, but they were managing to capture about half of the military ships that tried to
hold them off, destroying the remainder. Since a Consortium ship could jump from one
sideof the Alliance to the other in 48 seconds, they had no need to park any defense at
any system, as their ships could beat any Alliance response to the system days before
they arrived.
Grevalt was the first system to be attacked, and Jason watchedsastraiand
civilian craft fled the two inhabited planets in the system. Grevalt was the home system
of the BariBari, the nine foot tall simeelike race, and he could just imagine the kind of
chaos going on there right now. The ships were going in @Wwegtion, jumping to
other Alliance systems, but Jason saw that when they got there, the Consortium would
have already swept through like a wildfire, shattering all defenses and attempting to
capture any military ships they encountered.
As he expectediligh Staff Graith requested an emergency audience with the
Confederate rulers, which would be relatively easy. Emperor Assaba was on Draconis
now, in personal conference with Dahnai, so when Jason got to the conference room, he
saw the SkaarulerandDahm si tting at the same tableésor
compatible with humanoid chairs, so a stool of sorts had been brought for him. The gems

and jewels embedded in his red scales glitte
smashing us oneGrsaysthem aatd a nt idmeslpter ati on. |
war ships surrender, and trying to capture th
at his monitor gravely. AEmpress, Emperor,
and t he Co n fequésepermission to diréceéall civilian transports to your

space. My people need somewhere to go. TheyonBedh e st opped, then bo

head and took a long moment.

ASend them to Terra, o0 Jaso said grimly. 0
prepae t o accept as many as the planet can tak
|l &m sure we can somewhere el se. 0

AAnd | suggest you evacuate your warships
added.

ABut éeéwhere will they go?o0

ASi nce |  dedeanabytwill trusteourGhips,fyou may jump them to Skaa

space, 0 Assaba decl ared. AJump them to Tr ea
and that should give you time to tell them w
Graith looked broken. Hedod e d wear i | y. Al 611 order al/l
all military ships to Treakk. At | east, Bie
systems. I t 6 s letingtheaisiltan shigs escdpe dftdr thegy leave. eThey

areenwean trying to destroy them sitting at th



AThey dondt need them there, 0 Zaa reasoned
go. They want the warships. They want reinforcements to attack the Confederacy, and
allowing the civilians to flee toonsume our attention and resources trying to deal with
them. They knew we wil/|l not turn away ci vili
AThey are ruthless and heartless, 0 Assaba
decl are war . o
AYou need to redeptoyeyovouf | mest sei yalb sg

hi m. AYou can see what they are doing. | f
effectively resist should they jump into you
Al wi || do what | can, 06 the massive reptil

After the confeence, he just sat in his office, leaning so far back in his chair that he
was staring at the ceiling, dreading what he could see coming. They were doing exactly
what he feared they would do, sweep in and conquer the sector. And God help him, he
c o u | stopthetm. They exhausted most of their available Legion weaponry on the Shio
attack, which, he saw now, wadyt hey di d it . They used the S
gotten enough intelligence from that-a#leing thing they had to know how much
weaponry tky had stockpiled, then they used their own ships as bait to trick them into
using it up, throwing it all at their forces as they held the Shio systems. And now that
they had to restock, which would take a few days, they were sweeping out to shatter all
defenses in the sector for two reasons, to leave all the nations vulnerable to being

conquered after they took Karis and to ensur
terrified refugees to the Confederjuapy. Af t e
across the border and hit the Nine Colonies, then hit the Republic, and save trying to

tackle the Skaa Empire | ast. Theyéd just go

nation outside the interdictors had their militaries and defenses in ruing,dheyt ur n t hei r
attention on interdicted space.
No. No, that wasnot all they were doing.
forward in his chair. They were forcing them to keep the TES where it is! With sudden
allies like the remnants of the ShindAlliance needing somewhere to go, and the TES
being the only way into interdicted space, they were trying to make them keep that
window into the Confederacy open. That mean
after they finished with the Alliarec
Theydéd make a run at the Stargate behind t
the defenses, get intelligence to use for when they made their attack on Karis.
No. No, they already knew the defenses, thanks to that clairvoyant being. Zaa had
saidthey had reatime information, ship deploymeris
Deployments. They had no idea what kindvefaponghose ships were packing.
No, that wasnodot what they were doing.
But, he did know one thing. The TES was simply a target that they notgtmply
overlook. The potential of capturing the Stargate behind the TES was a prize that they
could not ignore. They would take a shot at it if only to take a shot at it, for the gains
were worth the risks when it came to ship losses.
Fuck Thatwas what they ware doing!
Myri, we need to reroute all incoming traf
Wedbr e way ahead shefansweoed calimljnétin adl the Shiay c e,
transports, we saw a potential the enemy might try to attack the TES using tha civilia



ships as shields against attack. | 6ve alrea
take them about twenty hours to get there.
| could kiss youhe answered in relief.
Well then, you add a | ittl e canelmepgcheekyt o t hat
response.
Stop thinking with the little brain, Myri.
| hope | never get that oldame the scoffing reply.
He was so grim and unsettled when he got home that the girls sent all his children
over to the house to surround him, soothing hiri wheir presences, reminding him that
life went on. And he was very grateful for them. Watching Rann and Zach play Seven
Circles, watching Sora play with Amber, listening to Kyri and Aran squabble over
something completely insignificant, it did sortpit everything in perspective, remind
him just what he was fighting for. This was what it was all about. Not childretfeout
And to him, his lifewashis children.
The day did catch up to him, however. Despite his best efforts to stay up faxthe
report that came in from Myri about Consortium movements, he eventually fell asleep on
the couch.

He awoke bleary and a little unfocused, and with a serious crick in his neck from the
throw pillow. Amber was curled up on his stomach, but it waghiwstly light coming
from in front of him that had roused him.
Cybi was hovering there, her holographic feet inches above the floor, that same nude
yet formless sil houette and Sora Karinnedos f
on the carpethen she quite demurely folded down onto her legs to sit in front of him.
His gestalt told him it was 0137, the middle of the night. If Cybi was here this time of
night, something serious must be going on. The light also attracted Hara, commander of
thenight watch, who rushed into the living room with a pulse weapon extended from her
forearm pod. But when she saw Cybi, she just nodded and went back into the kitchen.
[Now what?]he asked wearily, his drained emotions bleeding into his communion.
[Nothing quite so important now that | know how tired you asbg answered,
reaching out and touching his face. Her projection was that of a solid hologram, so he
felt the pressure, which was hardened air molecules slightly warmer than ambient air
temperaturelue to the effect that drew them into the hologrdihis has truly tried
you.]
[I wish | could be the heartless monsters the other rulers & dighed.[Though
thatodos not entirely fair. |l think Graithos
[That is whatnews | thought you should knowlfje told him.[Graith is dead.]
[Dead? Did they attack?]
[Not exactly. When they attacked the capitol of the Alliance an hour ago, Graith
went out to negotiate with them. When he arrived on the Consortium shiff-he se
destructed his shuttle. It did significant damage to the Consortium vessel in which it had
landed. | guess he felt that was the only service he could be to his people after the
mistakes he madeshe pondered soberly.
[ Whobs the new High Staff ?]
[Bab mr ad e i Me 6Ber . Not that it really matte
surrendered to the Consortium.]



[Surrendered?]

Shenodded] Of fi ci al | y. Unofficially, theyodve s
space as they could manage, and they haversit join the Confederate forces for now,
but ultimately attempt to retake the Alliance back from the Consortium. They placed
their highest admiral in command and told them to reform as an independent military
force. They will do so.]

[So, things arecoming to a head.]

[Very much so,phe nodded[The Skaa Republic has declared war on the
Consortium, and we expect a declaration of war from the Nine Colonies any moment.
The entire sector is now at war with the Consortium, save the Zyagya, but tleey ha
never in their history declared war unless attacked first.]

He grunted, then yawned and scrubbed his fi§€euld you ask Hara to bring me
some coffee please? |l guess | 6d better go s

[No, you will go upstairs and sleep. Theran@thing you can do, and nothing that
can wait until tomorrow.]

[ Therebsowork to do

[And others will do it for you,5he communed, rather stern)¥our vital signs have
been slowly yet noticeably deteriorating, Jason. You are under a great déalssf and
it is starting to affect your body. You need to rest. So go upstairs, kiss Jyslin on the
cheek, and go to sleep. Yioeedit.]

[Alright, you mother hen he answered after a sigh, and the rather resolute expression
on her holographic face-He gasped when she gestured, and he was picked up off the
couch. She was utilizing the biogenic relays in and around the house to force her will on
him, was effectively using telekinetic abil!i
doing. Not many knewhat Cybi had this kind of capability, even among the
Generations. It was one of the few secrets she and Jason shared.

To Jason, it was just one of the many indicators that told him that Cybi was a sentient
being. She, just like a Generation, couldttagbiogenic systems to boost her own
power. And just as she could commune, she could also employ an ability much akin to
telekinesis.

[This ischeating Cybi!] he protested.

[Then | am doing nothing less than you would do yourssi] answered chagkas
she quite literally carried him upstairs.

It was a day that would go down in history.

In a hastily called and somewhat grim conference, every nation in the sector save the
Alliance, the Moridon, and the Zyagya entered into the Confederatiorediniider a
single banner, against the Consortium. The Skaa Empire and the Republic and the Nine
Colonies joined the remnants of the Shio that had managed to escape in signing the
treaty, the same treaty that Daeodimaglassand SkodV
case in Dahnaidés throne room in the palace.
Jason could not, bring them all together in a common interest, and that interest was the
preservation of their sovereign states, or taking their territarly fram the Consortium,
as the case may be.

Jason wasnbét present at the ceremony, but
Imperium onCourtwatch The Emperor Assaba and Empress Grizza of the Empire and



the Republic arrived, one a real ruler and theepta figurehead, but whose signature was
required for something |ike this. The Repub
handled important affairs, was the true power in the Republic, but Grizza did put her
hand in from time to time. The Prinhinister Vizzie was present, of course, but Grizza
had already made it clear she would be sitting in during the meetings along with the
Prime Minister. Grizza and Vizzie were known to have a somewhat contentious
relationship, so Jason figured those megtimight be lively. The Grand Master of the
Nine Colonieshimselfarrived, the wizened old Colonist for whom Magran spoke in his
position as foreign minister, a figure akin to the Pope on Terra. The Grand Master rarely
involved himself in such things, fdne was actually too old, too old to be able to endure
the rigors of politics, and allowed the Council and Magran, the Speaker, to make the
decisions and actually run the Colonies. Though he was still alive and still made the
occasional speech or appeaase, the Grand Master was actually more or less retired and
simply waiting to die. Magran would be the next Grand Master once the kind old
Colonist passed away, as it was long standing tradition that the Speaker would replace the
Grand Master, and a nevp&aker would be chosen, the successor selected by the
Council. Usually one of the Councilors became Speaker, but it had been known for
someone outside the Council to be awarded the position in the past.

And with them, looking pale and shaken, was Higind¢& Grayhawk of the Shio.
The others went out of their way to pat him on the arm and speak kind words to him, the
Grand Master actually embracing the young prince on live viddy, and they all saw
Grayhawk start to weep and put his head on the nearlytaltglhin old Colonist, taking
comfort from his compassion. The Grand Master was a documented empath, so Jason
had no doubt that he kneaxactlywhat Grayhawk was feeling.

Jason didndét pay the ceremonies mustich mind.
a house ruler, even if he was rather important in the overall war effort. Actually, that was
the way he liked it. Let Dahnai make the speeches, he was happy sitting in the back.

His own work was chaotic at the moment. They were building as fassabfe, and
the influx of Kizzik were helping with that. The Kizzik colony over on Virga was now
fully popul ated, they were sett!| mwckwasn, and t
there a noticeable difference on daily production numbers everttadtérst day. After
the drones were given their instructions and learned the job, they were as efficient as
fuckingrobots A gang of Kizzik drones being led by a noble or a-Kazik supervisor
could outwork anything but a machine. The Kizzik dromad a little problem at first
adapting to the translator modules, but once they got the idea of it and that4bg two
softlings could give them orders, in fact had been told by their nobles to obey the
softlings as if the noble was giving the commandyttuickly settled into the routines of
production and increased speed and efficiency.

And a | ot of them were working in factorie
virtually emptied out the armory going after the Consortium holding Shio systems, so
there was a lull as the factories banged out more automated weapons even-scal@rge
production shifted to weapon platforms and Wolf fighters, anything they could build fast
and could make a difference out there.

They also started working on Karis. Cwbrid Zaa had fully intended to expand the
interdiction field around Karis, and they were starting to do just that. They had 116
interdictors already built and just waiting for deployment, so they used them around



Karis. It would take 147 to fully extent interdicted zone to three light years, so they
simply deployed the ones they had and would place the others when they were ready,
extendingthenp ump zone around the Consortiumds pri
light year interdiction now, and woulthave the last hole filled on the three light year
interdiction by next Thursday. It would take a truly insane number of interdictors to
extend the field to four light years, as in it would take them 37 years to build enough to
do it, so extending out tinree was the practical limit.
They did always keep interdictors ready, though. For every pair of available
Stargates, there was an interdictor waiting to pair with them.
Cybi was still working on jamming communication from Andromeda. Myleena, well,
she worked on so much stuff, bouncing around, it was hard to keep track of what she was
doing. Tom and Jenny were currently working on a new weapon to use against the
Consortium, based on the budding na@chnology. They were going to build nano
maraudes that would invade an enemy ship and destroy power systems, attack and
literally eatthe silicon conduits, as well as a different set of Aaachines that would
invade their crystal lattice computer cores and attempt to reprogram them to make the
computes seltdestruct the ships in which they were installed, and the irony of it was
they were designing them to use ® n s o r dwn lraadcast power network as their
power source. Hell, that was pretty clever, and since they had all the specs and tech an
even the protocols, they could build their o
against them. Jyslin was working on something for Myleena, and Gerann was almost
done with his broadcast network, having some viable theories on how to prevent their
own system from being jammed, or to prevent someone else from doing to them what
they were about to do to the Consortium.
Jason was at 3D, in his office littered with prototypes and other junk, looking over
many of the projects and ideas that were notadtbto leave the building, as Dera and
Ryn lounged on gel chairs made to use while wearing armor, playing a game. He was
reading through a few reports from Bo about some weapon ideas, then paged through the
projected downtime of th&egisto install the ®RAF cannon on it. The cannon was built
and ready, and now they were just wary of pulling their flagship out of active duty for the
12 days projected to install the weapon. The ship would be unavailable while the
installation took place, since they hadd&e quite a bit of its power system offline to
install and hook in the GRAF. Theegiswould eventually also host the tactical CBIM
they had planned, but that woul dno6ét be for a
extra factories were building the egment needed to build the new CBIM at Karsa as
well as build a new home for Cybi, not far from the strip. The first new CBIM in over a
t housand years was already under way. They
and as soon as it was done, shemonth process of painstakingly growing the crystal
core that would become the heart of the CBIM would begin. They could move Cybi
before that was done, the support infrastruc
absolutely would not allow herge¢b be moved until another CBIM was online, just in
case.
Jason coul dnét dispute her cauti on. Cybi,
heart of the house, interconnected into the planetary systems to such a degree that she
could control anything ihecessary. She was also their history, their link to the past, their
very soul, and to lose her and everything she represented without another CBIM to take



her place, well, that was absolutely unthinkable. Thacdkto bea CBIM on Karis, both
because othe way the planet worked and because a body could not live without its soul.
Cybi was the soul of the house, and without her, or another like her, the house would
wither and die. Jason was sure of it.
He was lost in a theory of dynamic Teryon fieldainanics, an idea from one of
Myl eenads Bl ack Ops steal s, Faer. Herall e, w
was a dynamic hot field of unstable Teryon particles that would intersect Consortium
interphased power and disrupt it, which would knock tjugimp engines offline. It was a
localized concept like an interdictor, trying to find some way to prevent Consortium ships
from escaping into hyperspace if they had a situation where they had a tactical advantage.
It was absolutely imperative that they degpable of destroying and all Consortium ships
when given such an opportunity, so coming up with a more mobile and faster means of
preventing hyperspace jumps was definitely on the board.
Attrition, attrition, attrition.
The only pr obleawasthatitalso afextedrKaridiree dautde
metaphased power, which was used to power their own jump engines as well as their
heavymount weaponry.
But, that was why it was a theory. Shedd
filter or screen ibut but would still affect Consortium ships.
Myleena came dancing in. Literally. She was in her armor, cavorting past the door,
then coming back and swinging her hips back and forth in a little display as she
jitterbugged her wany a ngsoiodde .mo oidWeol |J,a syoonu énroet
looking up at her.
[Oh babes, you hawveoidegl s he communed with the bi
her beforeJ] | have some of the best news | t
[Really? You found a way to kick ther@Sortium out of our galaxy?]
[Not quite, but | just found hig pieceof the puzzle,$he answered. She sauntered
her way past the guards and around his desk, then waved her hand in front of his panel
vidscreen to wake it up. She then downloaded somgthirectly from her gestalt into
his secure panel, using a security protocol only available to Jason and Myjleena.
digging through some of the data Cybi keeps of old Karinne research, playing with
merging biogenic and moleculartronic systems agétigives me something to do when
| 6m si tt i nshegoenned witely[Amyway, | tumbled across this bit of
archaic research done by one Treban Karinne, a hyperspace propulsion specialist. He
was also on the team that developed the interdictamd he did a highly idepth
mathematical analysis of the interdiction effect. And | mean to the quanta frequency shift
of individual hyperspace particlesshe told him.[It must have taken him ten years to
develop this formul amat hemasi the mestacompl év
dondét think even a handf ul of mat hematicians
fucking savant she communed reverentlyAnyway, this is what got my attention, right
here,] she told him, causing the gigay to focus on about six lines of Faey calculus.
[This, Jason, is a mathematical expression for the interdiction effect. This guy actually
sat down andigureditout r i ght down to the fuckind micro
[And? The short version, Myli.]
Killjoy, she sent, making a rude gestyiehe short of it is that | crossed this against
propulsion formulas and found a correlation.]

t

gges
hink vy

> D



[Still Greek, Myli.]

[Alright,thel 6 m t oo st upi d t o u vatson,]she eomaunedy s mar t
snarkily. [The dumbdown version is that this equation expresses the interdiction effect,
and since it correlates to the power parameters of jump engine output, we can match
them.]

[You mean you can jump through an interdicton@] asked, gaping at her.

[That isexactlywhatit means,]she replied triumphanthf | 6 ve al ready wor ke

out . We 6| | have to make a few modifications
hyperspace modulation and also install a small power plant to help boost engine output,
but t hese @k kdayt@d@do.eSomwantahédriven r i ght now. I 6m

boost the engines and write a program that makes the engines harmonize to the
interdiction effect, and that will let thejump through an interdictdr
Jason stared at her for nearly smtonds, then he laughed brightfifloly shit, Myli!
| candét believe it!]
[Know the best part?$he asked, to which Jason shook his h¢lagn this against
Consortium engines, and theya n 6 t . Their emngmes sre based on the designs of the
origi nal Karinne engines they captured, but tfF
enough to handle the dynamic harmonics required to maintain hyperspace integrity
against the interdiction field. Hell, not even ours can without some additional power,
which is why | need to install a new plant to make this work. Since it seems they were
never able to crack double metaphased and instead developed their striated interphased
to power the engines, they figured out something that would make the enginesithey ha
work just enough Their engines might have the ability to penetrate an interdictor with a
few modifications, just like ours, but their power systenasn Astlong as they use
interphased power, theyoll neves] penetrate o
[ Hol y f u dakoh codmumdd with a Whistle, then he gave Myleena a huge

grin, even as Myri 6s face appMaiewenofthe on hi s wa
board. |l td6s going to be undergoing some exp
them park it in the 3D bay on Kosi gi and cl e
hour to get started. o

Al 61 1 have them move it right now, 0 she no
it, shebs on pusher duteyfacewingdiobut.now, 6 she t ol

Everyone st op rightreow Jayon sedtrugng expandedsending so
the nontelepathic humans could hear hiM/e have a new project! Get your field tools
gathered up and be ready to board a dropship in thirty! Moveplpethis is important!
We 6 r e Jyslin answered lightlyl 6 | | have them send the kid
school, it sounds | i ke weol/l be up there a w
Good idea. Dera, can you warn Aya?
Right nowshe nodded.
The Legion was respected, almostered, through the sector for both innovation and
the ability to rapidly adapt theories into working models, and the engine modifications
were no different. A heavily armored dropship holding most of the Legion arrived in
Kosigi in an enclosed box whiowvas their ultraop secret private drydock, and they
cracked open their tools and got to worKk. C
modifications on the spot, the Shimmer Dome built those devices to spec as quickly as
possible, and then they were shippgd While they waited for the parts, they called in



theV e r i eheeheagneer and some of his team and had them help them install a small
tertiary singularity plant whose sole responsibility would be to power the additional
modules that would be respgble for the harmonic flux match to the interdictor.
According to the math, it would takenbelievablgpower to have the engines match the
interdiction field effect, far more power than a Consortium power plant could generate.
But, the engines had tfability to do it, and once they had enough power and some
additional hardware installed dedicated to managing engine output against a dynamic
interdiction field, they would be able to hold a ship in hyperspace against an interdiction
field no matter whatidection it traveled. They had the plant installed by the time their
modi fications arrived, when the shipbs engin
The modifications would become common knowledge among the engineers if it worked,
Si nce tetcemaidtdin tieaew systems, but for now, everything was nustn

It wasnot really all that diaksembyul t . The
attaching to the engines that governed the detection and modulation of engine output
dealing specificdy with the interdiction energy waveform, matching the engines to the
interdiction effect dynamically rather than
direction. The extra power plant was specifically for dealing with generating enough
engine poweto shift to match the interdiction effect: the amount of energy required to
change speed in hyperspace was absolutely insane, because hyperspace seemed to
actively resist any change in relative velocity. The engines needed extra power to be able
to consantly alter their power to deal with the constant changes in velocity an
interdiction field would impose on a ship. Cybi helped with the fine tuning of the
assembly, but having it govern engine output was fairly easy.

Jason was strangely happy. For thays, he got to indulge in something he rarely
got to do anymore, and that was crawl around in the guts of a ship and monkey with its
innards. Jason was right there with Myleena as they built the assembly and installed it,
Jason and Myleena the primarygareers that laid out the mounts for the assembly within
the engine cluster pods, built the assembly, installed it, then hooked it both into the
engine system and into the primary power and data lines. Jyslin was on the team that

wrote the code governingh e assembl yés operation, when an
engines, defining the unit to the main computer so it knew what this new piece of
equi pment hooked into the datalines was, and

operationitself. Cyp had to do the programming governi
since that dealt with math that only Cybi could interpret and convert into TEL so the unit
could use the mathematical research Myleena had uncovered to match engine output to
the interdicton field. Myleena or one of the other Black Ops engineers could have wrote
it, but it would have taken theml@ngtime. That was one of the advantages of having
Cybi around.
That didndét stop him from keepingngtrack of
those three days, they were both very busy and slowed down. They consolidated their

hold on the Allianceds systems, then massed
Confederate space, around Karis, and tried t
their first shock. The Skaa wemchbetter armed with Consortium weaponry than

anyone suspected. They didndét send massi ve

on the far side of Karis, and what ships they did send were beaten back by savage
defenses, primarily orbital platforms whose designs were actually pirated from the



Karinnes and fighters, some of which were converted to Torsion weaponry. The Skaa
had seen the use of unmanned orbital weapons, basically flying guns, and had developed
therown version of the i dea. And whil e their
Karinne weapons, they were effective enough when combined with the other major Skaa
advantage, sheer numbers. The Consortium were not prepared to deal with theyplanetar
defense forcedens of thousandsf fighters and corvettes reinforcing what few warships
were present in the system at the time of the attack, launched from planets and orbital
stations, a virtual sea of small ships, so many that the Consortium sioutdyrot shoot
enough of them down before they got in range and opened up with both ion and a
smattering of Torsion weapons. The Skaa had lots of experience fighting the Imperium
and knew that i on weapons, whilanagehey coul dn
internal plasma systems by charging and polarizing hull sections and disrupting plasma
flow. And while shields could stop ion weapons, the sheer firepower the Skaa could
bring to bear utilizing their superior numbers would bring just about anlgstogvn if
they had enough ti me. The Consortium just c
enough to prevent them from hammering down their shields, and once they were down,
the ion weapons added to the few Torsion weapons they had managed to fitens. fig
The Consortium were forced to retreat from all six Skaa systems they attacked, because
they were simply overwhelmed by an uncountable swarm of Skaa defenders.

And thatwas why nobody fucked with the Skaa.

So, the Consortium pulled back and muliedver. They knew just as Jason knew
that the only way to fight the Skaa was to match those hordes, and that would require
them to concentrate their forces and take th
just spread out and conquer them usifigvahundred ships at each system the way they
did the Alliance, because the Skaa were not impressed by that. It would take
considerable force to conquer a Skaa system, and that caused them to back off and repair
their ships after the disastrous attemgiagt the Skaa.

After three days where Jason was basically disconnected from the rest of the world,
theVerivencrept out of the Legion dock, looking no different from any other KMS
destroyer. Koye and the crew were returned to the ship, and aftemd\d&plained
what theydédd done, Koye raised an el egant eye
ship. Jason protested vehemently, but she pulled rank on him, declaring that her Grand
Duke wasnotgoing to ride on a ship testing an experimental engioedm f i cati onéand
there was little Jason could do about it. He may be the Grand Duke, but the captain of a
ship had even more authority than he did when she was standing on her bridge.

So, a rather sulky Grand Duke Jason Karinne returned to Karsa angsatgnce in
the command center, as tfieriventested the engine modifications. The ship exited
Kosigi and turned away from the planet, getting out to where it could jump, and Jason
brought up a graph of the desddewihther 6s engi ne
graphical waveform output of the interdictor. The research Myleena uncovered should
allow the shipbdbs engines to match that wavef
formula to govern ship engine output. They could have done this befotbelime it
would take for a shipbdbs sensors to detect th
change the engine output would create a fatal delay that would knock the ship out of
hyperspace. This formula allowed the computgarealictthe interdition effect, and
since the computer would know what was coming, it could dynamically match the engine



to the effect. When the ship first hit the interdiction effect, that would be the test. If it
could react and begin modulation before it was knockedfowgperspace, the
experiment would be successful.

Myleena stayed on the ship, but Jyslin got off, bringing all his kids to the command
center with them. Myri didndét mind, nor did
to talk to his five childen and maybe spoil them a little bit with all the attention. Aya
had six guards with them to watch over the Dukal family and the kids, and Jason saw that
there were already requests for conference from just about every ruler in the sector, even
the fuckirg Jobodi The Jobodi were right on the very
sector, actually in the next sector over, but they had just one system in their empire that
was considered in their sector, way on the far side of the Alliance, past a dead space
region similar to the one within which Terra was located. They only had three systems,
but the Jobodi were like the Zyagya in that they were especially savage when riled, and
the Alliance had the sense not to mess with them.

Amazing how fast work can lgi up when you close yourself off in a drydock for
three days.

Jason watched both the visual of Werivenand the graphs on the holographic

display as he explained to Rann and Zachary what was goingfbn. s i s what i tés
about,he told them, one ogach kneelf we did it right, the ship will be able to jump out
of our system, jump in, jump in any directio

Oh. But, what if the bad guys figure it o@i&ch asked.

Well, even if they do, we figured out thattheis hi ps | theansweredn 6t do it
Their engines arenod6t strong enough to do it.

How do we know?

We had one of their ships, remembé&a8on countered/Ve know.

Oh . T h at 0 she geplieddn,his indegstatedsway;.

Dahnai managed to get seone to put her through to him while he was explaining
what he was hoping to see to his sons. Her face winked onto the monitor just under the

Verven and she | ooked a |ittle angry. AWher e
him.

AWat ch yoeuri n afnrgoumatg of my <chi |l dr en, Dahnai,
She gave him a contrite | ook. ASorry. He
them.

AHul |l o, Miss Empress, 0 Zach replied as Ran
ANow, back to the questi omateKiziklhasee days'!
stonewal |l ed mmededpabesdpi Wedweout here in the

going on?o
AWedbve been wordtremgli mposbobamert honlge answered
about two hours, if it works, it might change the way thingslaeev e | opi ng. 0

AWell, theydre developing!o she told him.
and got their butts kicked, and now theyodore
Al know. Theydove been keeping me up to da
AWel |l , whoaitngarteo wleo gabout it 2?0

Al n about two hours, Il 611l tell you what we
She gave him a face, then | ooked to the bo

asked.



ANwhh, 06 Zach said, shaking his head. A We Kk

She | aughed. ADamn you and that Karinne br
wants to come visit for a few days. l s that
ASure! o he replied happily.

AAlright, you nag your father into making
replied.

AThereds no nagging necessary, 0 Jason scof
to have her. o

AThen send a ship for her when you have th

Myri, arrange a pickup at Draconis, Shyaods

Sure. When are they picking her2up

As soon as you can arrange it.

Okay then, Il 61l send down the orders.
ADone. Myri 6s arranging some ships to com
with her. o Jason | eaned back. AJust so you
overhere snét going to get you anything. o

She gave him a hot | ook, then | aughed ruef
to come all by herself. 0

AAnd youol!l grill her when she gets home t
AWell , 0 she sounded, then | aughed again.
AISo transparent, 0 Jason chided.

Al gotta be me, 0 she winked in reply.

Jason managed to get Dahnai off the comm so he could pay attentiolVastba
reached jump distance, and Jyslin looked over his shoulder, which attracted his other
three children.Jason explained what they were watching ag/#mévenran extensive
tests on its engines in a hot state, then it turned, paused, and vanished.

It jJumped out.

Jason watched the ret@ine telemetry coming from the destroyer as it jumped
through the threght years of interdiction surrounding Karis, and it jumpesdctlyas
they projected. It had no trouble jumping through the all three layers of interdiction,
coming out of hyperspace about 800,000 miles inside the interdiction effect of the
outermost lger, not leaving the effect for fear that the Consortium might see it and jump
attackers to its location to try to destroy or capture it. It then turned and immediately
jumped again, jumping across the layers roughly parallel to Karis, came out of
hypersace, paused to give the crew a rest, then jumped again. He watched as the
destroyer jumped 14 times at varying angles to the interdiction field, from head on to
nearly at tangent, and the engines had no problems compensating for the interdiction
effect. They showed no spikes, no signs of overloading thanks to the extra power plant,
and when th&erivenjumped back, a higbrder diagnostic run on the engines showed
that they were in perfect working condition.

The modification was a success.

Jason just héito smile as Jyslin gave a cry of delight and twirled Sora arojishaly
fast can we get this done on every ship@lasked Myleena.

[ltds gonna take | onger on the Dbigg
ship off the board right now. Gler | vy, we ol | need a sche

er ship
dul e. ]



[Get one in place while | have a little talk with Dahnai, and concentrate on the bigger
ships first. We just changed the rules of this game.]

[How s07?]

[Now we put an interdictor adverysystem that wants itfje said.[If worse comes to
worst, we can use KMS ships to ferry in supplies. | think the others would rather have a
system isolated from their empires rather than a system in the hands of the Consortium.]

[Yeah. We need to show this to Denmother. | think Kinsthips can use this
modification,]Myleena noted.

[ 1 61 1 cal | Jaboa promisedgamd he exoused himself from his family to
enter the conference room and do so. Rann followed him in, and instead of shooing him
back out with Jyslin, he let hgn climb up into a chair and sit and listen. Denmother

Zaabdbs face appeared on a monimbvinghologramen it sw
much | i ke Cybi. She smiled and caressed pha
made him giggle, and noddemlt J a s o n . AThey said it was fai
AJust a | ittle bit, o he answered, accessin

courier over here and pick up some data and technical specs. fbisasnething |
want transmitted over opencommm@a t t er how many safeguards i
strongly.

AYou have my attention, cousin, o0 she said
AWe cracked the interdictor, o0 he declared.
modification that lets our ships jump through the interdictionceffe f r eel y. 0

She raised her furry brows, both of them.
AYou think Kimdori ships can use it?0

AYour engines are similar to ours, even if
sai d with a s/l ipgwetgeneration sgstems canAandle tiyeqower
requirements. So, we want your techs to | oo
Al 611 send a courier immediately, o0 she tol

capable of this?b0

AJust one we@heé aloweatbtbwtsetting up a sched:i
The upgrade is actually fairly simple. It only took us three days to upgradetiven
Now that we know what wedre doing and we can

probably upgrade adest®y i n about tswvlefviex .htourke t hetnd sb ea
at Zaa. AAnd it 0s canrotdoe Whramtlge spedsasinconsor t i um
Consortium ships as a baseline, and they jus
engines areapableof accepting the upgrade, but they lackplogvert o0 use it . 0

Al nteresting. Very, very interesting, 0 sh
change the Consortiumbs plans?o

Al 6m about to cal/l Dahnai rightrditow, 6 he t
everyfriendly system, and if worse comes to worst, my ships can ferry supplies. The
Aegiscan tow enough freighters to feed a plane
Zaa | ooked off to her | eft and nerdsded, t he
di spatched. He should arrive in an hour, o0 s

cousin. o
AfThanks. 0O



ABut before | go, 0 she said, |l eaning down

which made him | augh. fidwhheaitoethy smile, thenlhdrm c ont e
image wavered and vanished.

AShe can be so silly, 0 Rann compl ained, pu
AShe | i kes you, pippy. Be very honored sh
told her as he had his comm officer getchof Dahnai.

Al | i ke her too, 0 Rann announced as Dahnai
against the far wall.

AHey boys, you confirming the pickup?0 she
ANot entirely, o Jason answered. famt 6 | | ma k
to interdicteverys y st em in the sector. The Consortiun
reach. o

AAnd starving billions of civilians helps
AWedbve cracked the interdictors, 0 he decl a
fleetupgradedtoba bl e t o jump through the interdictic
She gawked at him, then | aughed brightly.
were working on?o

AYup, 0 he nodded. AThink it was I mportant
She | aughpleldr iagghati,n.l 61Al gi ve you that one, 0
ASo call Magran and tell him what we i nten
gonna hit him very soon, so we need to get those interdictorsrifpler@ow. As long as

his systems have enough suppliestodastwe ek, t heydére set. Af ter
ferry in supplies as needed. 0

She gave him a huge grin. ABabes, sometim
better than to think you ever sit still, o sh
now &t your interdictors ready to move, cause
ASo am | .0

Dahnai winked out to get that done as Jaso
hate to say this, but wedre going theo have to
Karis, o he told her. AWedre going to need t

AYou can have thenott herdekaynedr 0 $acodechat e

AThat 6s not many interdict asgowaneedideast . Dondt
two | ayers of defense. o
He saw the set of her jaw and simply nodded. A wise Grand Duke knewnatien
argue. AHow many interdictors do we have on
AEIi ght , 0 she answered. AFour just came of
AAl riegohltl, swart with those. Go grab one mc
forces to deploy those interdictors to the Nine Colonies. As soon as Magran gives us the
go, weob6bre going to interdict the Colonies. o

Al &m going to need ehekdipmdorlid.lol need to cal
AThat 6s why theyodére here, 0 he answered wit
Nowwhat?Rann asked as Myri 6s face vanished fr
Now, we see how fast we can get this dbeeanswered.

It turned out, it could get done pretty damn fast.



They h a dspdissionamirderdict the Nine Colonies within five minutes,
and that meant that they were behind schedule. Myri hastily assembled task forces,
primarily composed of Kimdori ships, and they jumped out as soon as they had the
interdictor in tow and hatheir chain of command ironed out. Even as that was done, the
AegisandVictory were pulled into Kosigi to begin the modifications. The extra engine
modules would be standard through every ship, since they just monitored and regulated
engine output agast the waveform, but the power requirements would be different from
ship class to ship class. They determinedthadggsd i d n6t need any addi't
for its engines, they only had to shunt extra power off the grid from other sections to
augmenthe engines enough to overcome the interdiction effect.Vidiery and other
battleship class ships, however, would require an extra plant installed to augment the
engines.

Within an hour, they had all nine of the Nine Colonies interdicted, their fields
growing and the task forces circling the interdictors like protective wolverine mothers
defending their cubs as they waited for the critical logarithmic expansion phase. The
Kimdori helped that effort out as well by blinding Consortium sensors to tnggon in
the Colonies, hiding exactly what they were doing behind white noise. The Consortium
knew they were doingomethingsince all their sensors were blinded when they looked in
t hat direction, buwhatt hetyh edyi ddniidetriotkbet@swe eenx aicntcl vy
their plans to invade the Colonies, either content to continue tightening their grip on their
captured territory or indecisive about attacking the Colonies when they would do so
blindly.

And that indecision paid off. The nine interdictatkentered their logarithmic
expansion mode without incident, where every second that passed woulayatitany
invasionbdbs travel time to reach the systems.

The courier arrived and took the information back to Kimdori Prime, and within an
hour, Zaa alled back and told him that their fix would work on Kimdori ships. So,

Kimdori vessels were added to the rotation in Kosigi to upgrade their engines.

Five hours after the Colonies were interdicted, they received a request from the
Republic to do the saeto 7 of their critical systems, on the condition that a means to
supply their planets could be worked out. T
numbers worked against them when it came to the interdictors, for it meant that those
tens of billions in ach system had to lbed and there were only so many supply ships
capable of jJumping across interdicted space. The Empress and Prime Minister had the
ugly task of looking at their systems and deciding which ones were capable of
functioning with limited sipplies, which were primarily planets of temperate climate that
had their own farming. In the end, they saw that only seven of their systems could be
interdicted and manage to feed their populations, and so they asked for interdiction at
those systems.

An hour later, the Mob officially requested an interdictor to protect Moridon, fearing
that the Consortium would not honor their centuries of stalwart neutrality. Three hours
after that, they received the same request from the Skaa Empire, to inteslistelms
that could feed themselves with either no help from the outside or with limited assistance
from freighters to close the food gap. Four hours after that, the Jobodi also asked for
interdictors; how they knew what was going on, Jason had no idea.



Both Skaa nations had the same plan; now that they could move supplies in and out of
interdicted space, and the interdictors would prevent the Consortium from jumping huge
fleets into their critical systems with no warning, they were going to strip teetsffrom
those systems and let the interdictors protect them. They would allow the KMS to move
supplies in and out as needed, including towing warships in and out of interdicted space
as required in case the Consortium made a run against an intergigtesd,sas they
massed their fleets to use offensively against the Consortium. It was a viable idea, letting
the interdictors play defense and allowing them to throw everything at the vast numbers
advantage the Consortium enjoyed.

Jason had the house pitg/part. Every single ship capable of taking the upgrade
would be upgraded, including freighteespeciallyfreighters. Freighters would be the
lifelines for the other empires. From the math, it looked like it would take 127 standard
capacity freighers making supply runs every four hours to keep the average Skaa planet
supplied with the staples needed to keep the population healthy, at least those planets
unable to produce for themselves. The Kimdori helped in this in that they already had a
substatial freighter fleet, and those ships could be upgraded to jump through
interdiction. Jason put the task of arranging a freighter deployment schedule to his

transportation secretary, JrzOokii. Ki zzi

hetad no doubt that shedd have everything
ten hours after getting the assignment.
They also worked an old idea back into the forefront, replicators capable of producing

k w
or g

food. Theydd s hel wcthe replicators suppied tattteirbla,u se t he f

but this was a situation where the taste
replicated food enhancing local food production and limited supplies ferried in, it would
allow them to interdict more Skaa sgss and therefore rob the Consortium of targets to
attack to add to their conquests. It took 3D all of five hours to revive the idea and come
out with a prototype built out of parts easily attainable on almost any system in the sector,
and then they pusld those plans out to the other empires, specifically warning them that
eating replicated food was a measure of last resort due to the fact that it tasted like copper

of

dust mixed with sand. The food was healthy

a reason they were only releasing the idea
Jrzokii i roning things out in ten hours

wa

Jrzokii s | ap himself, running down to her o

what they needed. The mottled &md brown Kizzik, one of the largest Kizzik on Karis
at a whopping ten feet tall and blaalems sporting nearly six feet of sharp chitin death,
absorbed the intent behind the orders and brought up a list of available Confederate
assets. Within two minuse she had a framework idea of piggyback towing Faey, Urumi,
and Skaa freighters and transports behind Karinne and Kimdori transports, doubling
carrying capacity. After conversion and power plant upgrades, Karinne and Kimdori
freighters were capable ofviing a ship of roughly 68% of their own mass and still

manage to jump through interdicted space,

with that. She called up the merchant marine commanders from the Faey, Urumi, and
both Skaa empires, explainathat was needed, and secured cooperation. They released
their freighter fleets to her control, and she quickly huddled up with her main aides and
hammered out a schedule. Within six hours, she had a full schedule of ships and planets,
a very comprehensgvsystem that would keep every friendly system fully supplied

ac



without their transports running around
going to get any days off any time soon, but they would at least get some downtime
between runs.

In just oneday, they had interdictors at over half of the friendly system in the sector,
includingthe Jobodi. The Jobodi entered into the Confederacy even as the interdictors
were being delivered to their three systems. The Jobodi themselves were a curious
species One look at a Jobodi and Jason knew where the old Yeti legends came from on
Terra, they were probably Jobodi explorers. The Jobodi werpgp&ing simioids,
about nine feet tall, burly, covered in shaggy white fur, with arms that reached their
knees.They came from an arctic planet, with temperatures above freezing only at the
equator, and on a good day, but their home planet was heavy gravity, like Draconis. And
since like the Faey they were from a heavier gravity world than normal, they were
monstouslystrong. All that muscle on top of their heavy gravity origins gave them the
ability to tie a crowbar in a knot. The
chords were incapable of delicate manipulation. Like Chewbacca from tS¢aolt/as
movies, they were capable only of the kinds of sounds an animal might make; growls,
howls, barking sounds, that kind of thing. Their species had never evolved the ability to
make more expressive vocalizations, because they had very primitive voca,chord

i ke

Job

incapable of a wide range of vocalization, a

anything but work up and down. Human jaws were capable of moving along all three
axes, but Jobodi jaws could only nadbee i n

surprised how much a prehensile jaw was required for speech. Their entire language was

either written or sign based, which was no problem for them because they had
extraordinarily dextrous sevdimgered hands and could sign as fast as a human could
talk. However, thehadintegrated into intergalactic scene by inventing a mechanical

one

vocoder , a machine that spoke for them based

midair using those wondrously agile and fast hands encased in sensor gldués, an
vocoder spoke for them so fast it was like normal conversation speed.

The Jobodi jJjoining the Confederacy didnot

picture. They only had a fleet of 92 ships, and most of them were fairly old and lacked in
any realffirepower or defense. The Alliance had never tried to annex them because, quite
simply, the Jobodi would be far more trouble than they were worth. Their thee systems
had little in the way of exploitable resources, the Jobodi themselves were highly
aggressive when riled and would be a nightmare to try to manage, and their three systems

were far off the beaten path, out across a dead space area and requiring a seven day jump

to reach.

It did, however, put one more chair around the Confederate confeadmee The
Field Marshall of the Jobodi now sat at the conference table; the Jobodi lived under a
militaristic dictatorship style of government, where the military ruled the nation and any
Jobodi in the military could challenge one of higher rank to hé#tipa in a duel to the
death. The Field Marshall had literally killed his way up the ladder to reach his position,
but despite that, he was a very intelligent fellow and a capable ruler. As a matter of
custom, since the current Field Marshall was seesmneeffective ruler, nobody would
challenge him until he started making bad decisions. And no Jobodi thought that allying
themselves to the Confederacy was a bad decision, not if they wanted to remain
independent.



Eight rulers sat at that table. Dahnai Sk 6 Vr ae, Zaa, Grizza, Asss&s
escaped the Alliance and fled to Terra to represent Alliance refugees and military vessels
joining the effort to get their nation back, and Grayhawk represented the displaced Shio
population, and now Field Marall Grran was part of the council. Jason was technically

part of it, but he didndot see himself as a r
was present, however, | istening as Assaba ga
tastesasbacsa you warned, your Grace, but they are
replicators being built on every system. Ev
capacity equals population, weol/ have you i

AHow | ong da 6yodu ttalkkienk ytowma Maj esty?0 Jason
Jason had each of the rulers on a separate hologram arrayed in front of his desk in his
office, a semicircle around him.

Al believe weol |l have every systubding i nt er di
those food replicators is our most pressing task. | have tens of thousands of factories
wor king on them. That i ncludes the fact tha
have the replicators built, o Ileets stockpidingd . ARI g

food at our import planets to hold them over until the replicators can take over. Our
people may not like the rationing, but getting them protected matters more than missing a
meal a day. o
AAl right, your MajegpbydredJueadiefousahnbpwt
be sent out within ten minutes, 0 Jason assur
AWebre doing the same thing, o the Pri me Mi
getting everything ready, and should be calling for you to interdict the rest sfystems
within twenty standard hours. 0
Cy bi 6 s-nydeferm shiosnmered into visibility beside him, her glowing eyes
regarding him calmly, then she sat on the edge of his desk. There was no reason for her
to hide anymore, all the leaders knew thet Karinnes were protecting a sentient

comput er . Cybi was the Agreat evil o the Con
destroy. But, not all of them had met her.
had the pleasur e, nihgehthelarptr eosfe ntHoCQysbei .Ka rS hne
the Consortium is after. o
Al't is my honor t o a dhesadsneddiggherhead geasetye ct e d
tothem.iJ as on, I bring you news from the comman
to all. The @nsortium is massing a fleet at the captured Alliance system of Trieste. The
War Room believes they are preparing another
ATrieste? That 6s far back from the border

clicking her teeth against her lower kdgke teeth that jutted out from her lower jaw.
Bari-Bari were friendly enough, but to Terrans and Faey, they were not a very attractive
species. They looked like eight or nine foot tall stocky orangutans with those tusks that
reached all the way up their nostrils, extending out of a protruding lower jaw. Jason
wondered idly how they ate with those teeth all but blocking the corners of their mouths.
AGi ven they can jump hyperspace in real ti
fleet , motAsd abma his deep bass voice. ACoul d
interdictors?o



AVery well may be, 0 Dahnai agreed with a f
take a takir or so to consolidate with the s
thedoor s . That 6s bound to make them react. o

Jason wasno6t so sur e. immaddmatelycasuatidssb® r der s t o
damned, so them backing off after taking the Alliance and giving his factories time to
manufacture more Legion weapons to throwatth di dndét make much sens
should have pressed their advantage and tried to take every system in the sector. The
only plausible explanations for it was that something had happened to force them to stop,

a breakdown or some kind of problem somewher¢hey were waiting for something to
arrive before continuing, like reinforcements. But no reinforcements had come in from
their bases on the far side of the galaxy, only standard freighter traffic keeping the
advance forces supplied.

AThey aroeCybimsaid, hen giowing eyes looking off into space as she
accessed other informatio. They have jJjumped out of the sys
destination. Destination is the Raxxad syst

Assabads hologram i mmedi at el yubtweadad shed wi't
comm to go find out what was going on. Raxxad was an Imperial system, on the far
edge, an outpost system of a single deep space station that acted as a hub for mobile
mining colonies, which mined considerable mineral deposits from the terediffer
asteroid belts in the system. The system had no terrestrial planets, only those ten asteroid
belts and a single gas giant at the outer rim of the system. But, that station was the size of
Phobos, and it housed nearly five million Skaa. There wexdyrilaree million more
Skaa in the system, living in the mobile mining stations that roamed the belts searching
for ores among the asteroids.

The Prime Minister didndét waste a second.
be hungry for a few daydf the enemy is moving again, then we have no time. | would

ask foryoutointerdictllof t he Republicds systems. We wi
replicators can sustain the popul ace. 0
AWe can do that, Minister,o0 Jason nodded i

Al wnt br mCyliywalunteeced.
Jason figured that it was going to be another quick grab, like they had done with the
Alliance, but he was very, very wrong. The conference broke up so they could arrange
things, and Jason watched a tactical display oRasupplied by hyperspace probes
that looked into the system.
God, how he wished he hadnét have done tha
The Consortium jumped in and attacked the deep space station that was in orbit
around the gas giant, and within six minutes, they had destrdygefehses and
opposition, mainly due to the fact that the
planet did. It had a few thousand fighters, but not the uncountable swarms with which
the Consortium with which the Consortium had to contend duringftrst attempted
attack on the Empire. But they didndét stop.
Consortium continued to hammer it with Torsion and dark matter weapons long after all
its defenders were dest r okyoeked oatntvad thbusaad st at i on
ships firing on it in unison, just firing and firing and firing in an unceasing, endless
display of utter mercilessness, even firing on the ships trying to flee, destroying nearly



half of them. The Consortium was sending the $kapire a message/ou defeated us
once before, and now we will slaughter your civilians in retaliation
The result was as predictable as it was ghastly. Jason watched in horror as the moon
sized station was shot to pieces, and then its primary poaetr gkploded, tearing the
huge station in half. The two jagged pieces of the station went dark, and the momentum
impelled into them by the fire on it, the explosion, and the explosive decompression of
the station had pushed it out of its orbit. The remmaif the station were caught in the
gravity well of the gas giant, and was already beginning its slow fall into the atmosphere
and certain doom.
The attack took all of 21 minutes. And in that 21 minut@fiions of Skaa either
died or had their fateesa | e d . Those that didndt escape di
unlucky enough to survive the explosion and decompression of the station burned up
nearly an hour later as the station was consumed by the planet it orbited.
The Consort i uund. dheeémim@ fleet wfawo thousandsthen broke up
into elements and fanned out into the system, where they systematically hunted down and
destroyed every Skaa mobile mining station. The miners had enough warning, however,
to abandon their stations afiée, either jumping out of the system or hiding in muoed
asteroids.
But still, that was just a drop in the buc
millions of Skaa die.Millions. It was almost beyond comprehension, that so many
would die,and the Consortium would be so ruthless as to kill so many.
Somany
He coul dndot think. He could only bury his
arms around his shoulders until she embraced him from behind, giving him what little
comfort therecould be in knowing that the ultimate responsibility for those millions of
lost lives was squarely on his own shoulders.
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The Consortium was noblind.

The jamming network the Kimdori built was now fully operational. The
Consortiumds sensors were blinded when they
Confederate territory, all thanks to the Kin
Karinnesthe Kimdori, and the Consortium could plant static devices in hyperspace, but
the Kimdori had had a thousand years to develop their technologies for it. They could
lock a device into a static position in relation to normal space with far more precision
than the other two, and it was that precision that made their jamming network work.

For the Consortium, no sensors worked. Hyperspace sensors were saturated with
Teryon bursts, blinding them. Passive sensors only returned static, draségt sensors
were convinced that the gravity wells of all
energy detectors only found background radiation. Even telescopes were blinded, though
they wouldnot find that out for amnlother year
leaving the systems, and it would take it about a year to reach the closest point where the
Consortium could drop a telescope, a light year out from the system upon which they
intended to spy. The jamming beacons were packed with cettigg KimdoriECM
technology, and they absolutely shut down th

Only now, those jamming beacons warsidethe interdiction effect. The Kimdori
had planned to seed them in the voids between interdicted systems, but now that they
could jump inerdicted space, they had adapted the technology to their static probes to
lock them within interdiction fields, and therefore absolutely out of reach to Consortium
hyperspacdrased weaponry. Hyperspace missiles could hit a probe in hyperspace just as
theycould drop out of hyperspace and hit an object in real space, but it was far harder to
hit something in hyperspace than real space. It took one hell of a good targeting
computer. Usually the irrational speeds present in hyperspace made the ideagod hitti
jumping ship with a missile impossible, but a static probe, which was stationary within
the frame of hyperspace, that was a viable target. The Consortium had learned that the
hard way, when the Kimdori started destroying their spy probes. Thouglatimmes
and Consortium knew far more about hyperspace than others, both of them were far
behind the Kimdori. Jason had once wondered how far along they would be had the
Karinnes not been destroyed, and looking at the Kimdori was a good estimation. They
had stagnated in some ways, but had continued to progress with their technology in
others, mainly involving their national pastime, espionage.

The jamming network went online three hours ago, and the Consortium reaction was
immediate and not happy. Thepynped scout ships around the edges of interdiction,
searching for the source of the disruption,
the jamming was coming fromsideinterdiction, and therefore beyond their reach.



Only about half of thosecsut ships made it back to Alliance space.

It was a little victory in the face of the absolute disaster at Raxxad. The final death
toll was just staggering. 6,281,002 Skaa di8dc million It was barely a fraction of a
fraction of the population dhe Skaa Empire, but that was like the entire population of a
large Terran city. It was the number of Jews slaughtered during the Holocaust.

It was a number that would haunt Jason for the rest of his life.

't took him nearl y anddwashockoTheyeushedohimda t he s
the hospital, they called in Songa, then the
down after hearing that number. There wasna
Myleena to coax him out of it, one of theost powerful telepaths alive, but using her
power in one of the most subtle and delicate ways possible.

Everyone backed off after that. They gave him a few days to recover, and Jyslin
managed things in his stead, as she tended to do.

Heb6d bel doistmalnarbcholy even now i f it wasn¢
his people, and to the wonderful support of his family and friends. Rann and Kyri, with
Shya in perpetual tow behind Rann, went out of their way to be around him almost all the
time, becase the presence of his children soothed him far more than anything else. They
were all with him at some point in the day, be them all five or just one of them, a constant
support network there to make their father feel better, and he loved them for it.

At night, there was only Jyslin, but she was little defense against the night terrors
hedd started to suffer since recovering fron
he woke up, sometimes screaming, sometimes shivering like a terrified childinseme
whimpering and whispering in French, calling for his mother. But, when he was shocked
awake by the shadows in his mind, she quickly and effortlessly calmed him down,
comforted him in ways only a telepathically pponded mate could. Just a singflach
told her everything about his mental condition, and she knew exactly what to do or say to
best nurse him through the aftershock.

Hebéd just gone through another rough night
the water running merrily under hinHe still had his babysitters with him, though.

Amber circled his ankles in a figure eight pattern, rubbing against them, curling her tails

around his legs, a fearless, tiny little bundle of fur and attitude. She then jumped up onto

the edge of the skd kinda amazing how high that tiny little vulpar could juinthen

gave a commanding littkeip, demanding attention. And nobody in the house lived under

any illusion that that vulpar didndét rul e th
reached oua hand to scratch her between her ears, which caused her to close her eyes

and purr.

Al 6m alright, you mother hen, o0 he told her
remember what the terrors were about, and part of him was glad of it. It wolald be
worse if he could remember those nightmares. The days without any real sleep had taken
a toll on him. His eyes were a little sunken, his cheekbones a little more prominent due
to the fact he hadndét really thtempesthaenyt hi ng
were noticeable strands of gray hair. It seemed a bit irrational that his hair had turned
gray that fast, so he was only just noticing what had probably been there for a while. He
picked Amber up, stroking her soft fur absently as sheed away, looking at his
refl ection. It wasnodot fair. dbenbvera i had jus
|l ooked | i ke this. But then again, there was



and he could admit that it was there. Dahnai saly numbers. Jason saeople

Maybe he needed to see the numbers too to save his own sanity in this war, but he just
couldnot . I t wa s n 0 toulddo @, hehne longex Bad thearighito t h e
lead the House of Karinne.

He sighed and Ideed at his reflection, reading through the reports they were afraid to
send him by cheating, accessing his work panel using his gestalt. Things were coming to
a head. Now that the sensor jammers were up and running, the Confederacy fully
intended to go wthe offensive, intended to follow the initial plan of jumping in a
massive counteattack fleet to Bregali to draw the Consortium into defending the system
they attacked, then use the KMS and the Kimdori to attack any system they left
weakened.

But, notall the KMS ships were available. The most notable loss wakdbis
which was in Kosigi being refitted with the engine upgrades, but also having the GRAF
cannon installed. Only a capital ship could mount that beast, because only a capital ship
couldboth power it and handle the recoil. But, it virtually guaranteed tha#tehes

could kill just about any ship that faced
t ech

ships. The GRAF cannon wasno6t the ,most
but the sheer, raw power it could unleash made it the king bull in the corral. It was a one
shot one kill weapon, amibthingsurvived a direct hit from it. They had the ship in for

the engine upgrade, so they just went ahead and started installcagption at the same

time. Fully one quarter of the rest of the fleet was also off the board, undergoing the
upgrade. But that was still enough to do the job, since they intended to attack weakened
systems.

day

it

He sighed and nuzzl| whichghereerninsedt 3hé evdn, s of t

licked the tip of his nose with her curiously hot tongue.

Oh so now | 6 m c o miysinaskadgvithamasément. He lookedatr ?
her, and his breath almost caught when he looked at her. The light of therbedro
backlit her, hiding parts of her with seductive shadow while showing off her perfect
figure, showing him the edges of blue skin that told him she was nude, and her gray eyes
almost seemed to glow in the dim light reaching them. She paused there when sh
noticed him looking at her, preening for him a little bit, then she padded in and pushed
herself into hisarmswhy dondét you come back to bed,

| ov

No. | 6ve already been out for telareee days.

counting on me, love.

And they understanghe sent gently, putting her hand on his chdeKact, if | let
you go to work in this condition, | very well may get lynched in the streets.

You are such a bad liar.

Il t 6s not a | ireth,she answersdNaoavnyouavilifll waanmankagetble
man, you are coming back to bestlle declared, taking his hand and pulling him. Jason

didndét have either the strength or the heart

her drag him baclotthe bed. Amber did protest a little when she pushed him down on

his back in a flop, but he didndot | et the

VvV u

found the vul par between her and snuggling w

domindion of the house displayed itself when Jyslin laid down on her side against him,
draping an arm over his chest and nuzzling her chin up over his shoulder, her forehead



against his temple.l do love you, you difficult mashe sent tenderlyl. love youmore
than | ever thought possible.

You just | i ke the per ks t hathesentlglgin wi t h be
reply, then he laughed when she slapped him on the belly.

Now thereds a sound | havenot dheta@ddd i n a f
him, kissing him on the cheek.

There hasndét been anything to | augh about.

Well, therebds s omet she mugedina wickeudilt, tolingdveru gh ab
and grabbing something off her endtable, then coming back around with a leditlver co
Just seeing it made him laugh helplessiyow t hen, sl ave, | etds find

this in ten minuteshe sent with an evil smile.
Jyslin was sent from Heaven, of that there was no doubt. She reduced him to silliness
in the span of five hetbeats, and a little harmless goofy play did take a great deal of
weight off of him, if only for a little while. Amber protested vociferously when the two
of them got far too energetic to provide her with a bed, then she actually got into the
mockfighting as they struggled over the collar, yipping excitedly and playfully licking
and biting them on the ears and noses, all the while nimbly avoiding getting caught under
them as they concentrated on each other rather than the distracting little monster.
The noise and laughter did attract others to the war. Rann and Shya burst into the
room, saw and heard what was going on, and they too decided to get involved. Jason was
suddenly under attack from his wifle, son, so
decided that ganging up on the biggest guy in the battle was the best way to win. After
nearly ten minutes of therapeutic battle, they eventually conquered him, all of them
holding him down as Amber licked his nose and cheeks with ruthless authdaity.
Daddydés noRaso beglaowd smugly, his whole bc
left arm, but then he squealed in surprise, as did Shya and Jyslin, when Jason swept them
all up and off of him, pulling them into the air over the foot of the bedhuig them all
up there and put his hands behind his head, crossed his legs, and let Amber lick
energetically at his ear as he looked up at them with a smug little smile. He usually

couldndét pick all of them upnhsbaseamentgave but t h
him enough support to handle it with complete ease.
What was that | heard? Di d hesretomedp ne say th

causing the collar to drift up off the floor, where it had ended up after the kids entered the
battle. He twirled the collar around his finger, then casually flipped it into the air, where

it zipped up and | ocked itself around Jyslin
Jyslin laughed and gave him an imperious lo¥ku justsooooupped the ante,

bustershe warnedl f you want to cheat, then |61/ have
Like you can cheat.
Oh, I can cheat, boghe sent scornfulyNow put me down or | 611 s

much | can cheat.
Jason weighed that threat. The ways Jyslin could cheat were theiough her
intimate understanding of him. Just like how she gave him an erection in front of the
guards with measured words, she knew just what to do, say, or send to send him off
kil ter. He decided that heodrensopmpagyust how s
He set them all down gently, then sat up and grinned impuddntiin.
Aww! [ hate losing to boyShya complained, which made Jason laugh.



That 6s al ri ght Jasdntoldloenas he got eut df bed, pigkingrher up
and givng her a little twirl that made her giggle. He poked at the adorable little white
kitten face on her nightshirt, almost sighing with dread. About ten years ago, there was
this cartoon character that was popular on Terra chlgid Kitty, mainly becaus of its
merchandising, but it took off mainly in Japan to the point where it had its own online
video game. Well, the Faey had discovangdlo Kitty along with a lot of the other
Terran entertainment, like Scooby Doo and other icons of American chddanment,
and it had become all the rage in the Imperium among little girls. This, Jason found very
curious. Faey girls were like human boys in what they liked, how they thought, how they
were raised, and for Faey girls to embrace somethigirigonvas almost bizarre. But,
the popularity oHello Kitty was undeniable. As much as Faey tweens and teenagers
went around with theiBounty HunteendBlood Nuggetee shirts and outer robes and
listened to American heavy metal and Faey goth, Faey gulshi@ast one thing on or
with them stamped with that insufferably cute little beared cat face.

Hello Kitty was one of those unforeseen things popping up as humans and Faey got
closer and closer, as much as the invasion of Faey actors and entertawonkens into
Los Angeles and the astounding popularity of the heavy metalland Nuggeamong
both human and Faey teenagers. Or maybe the popularity of American football in the
Imperium and bachi on Terra.

Al right, troops, getupdasdgetpomgason told timenlféebr me t o
much better now, and itoés time to go to worKk

Aww, can we comeRann asked.

Well, sure, why notPle shrugged.Go armor up, kids.He expanded his sending to
touch all of his children] 6 m a b o u tthe Wiite ldoase.i Amytoree wanna come
with Rann and Shya?

He got back enthusiastic replies from all of his children, so he warned their mothers
he was taking them to work. This was one of the perks of being a child of the Grand
Duke, these trips that pelll them out of school. The teachers would be warned that
Jason was taking them today, and that was that. Their homework would be sent to their
home vidlinks telling them what they missed,

He grabbed a quick showand came down to a waiting breakfast. Amber was sitting
on the table eating scrambled eggs from a little bowl, eggs made specifically for her, with
spices, bits of brownegluyasausage stirred into it, and a touch of tabasco sauce just the
way she likedt. Not every vulpar had someone cook just for them, which more or less
just ensured Amber stayed in the house rather than move on. Amber knew a good deal
when she saw one. Vulpars were horribly spoiled in the context of pet care, but that was
what ittook to keep a vulpar in the house. Thkieynandedbeing spoiled as part of the
deal, and among the imagenscious Faey, having a pet vulpar was a major status
symbol, so they went to great lengths to keep a vulpar that decided to live with them for a
while.

Vulpars had all the luck.

Rann and Shya were there as well, eating pancakes, and Kyri rushed in just in front of
Yana, already armored up and carrying her helmet, sending excitedly. She did have
Jason pick her up so she could kiss him, thougldgt ad youdére feeling be
she sent with sincere concern.

Thank you for your concern, pipdye answered, rubbing his nose against hers.



So, Aya had ten guards with her as she escorted the Dukal family out of the house and
off to work. Two guard went with Jyslin when she went to 3D, and the other eight
stayed with Jason and the kids. Chirk and Brall were always very patient and forgiving
of the kids when they came to the office, since their loud, boisterous natures and endless
guestions distud the organized harmony with which Chirk ran the office. But for
Jason, he saw it as an important lesson for his kids in dealing with tHeunam and
nonFaey elements of the house. Karinne had, by proportion, the most diverse population
of any housewith a huge number of Faey, Makati, and Kizzik compared to the dominant
species, Terrans. Every Terran was considered a Karinne due to the fact that the house
had settled on the planet, turning its population into the commoners under the house
banner. Fay and other Imperium races were also present within the house, but there
were far more humans among the commoners. But when it came to the nobles, there
were far more Faey than anything else. Most of the nobles he initially recruited to help
run the hose were Faey, the Generations were all Faey except for two, and since most of
his newer nobles had earned their titles through military service, about 65% of them were
also Faey. But he had nobles of every race in the house. Chirk and Brall were both
titl ed, both Zarinas, and hesbanarneader whkresthe a Zar i n
first brought her Parri enclave to Karis, though that title meant absolutely nothing to her.
Every member of his cabinet was titled, and most of them were Kizzik akdtM& he
new Hive Leader on Kirga was titled. The town councils and mayors were awarded a
title if they won reelection enough to serve four consecutive years, since if they managed
to win four straight ongear terms they were good at their jobs anc thad earned the
title. Among his nobles, 64% were Faey, 20% were human, and the other 16% were
Makati, Kizzik, and the lone Parri. But those proportions changed with every quarter,
with the other races gaining ground on the Faey majority.

Chirk had eerything ready for him, as usual. He had a meeting with Chirk and Brall
as the kids roamed around under the eyes of the guards, but Rann sat on the edge of the
desk and listened intently. Chirk briefed him on the status of all the important topics,
Brall briefed him on the status of the important domestic projects, such as broadcast
power and ship conversion and construction figures. New ships were now pouring out of
Kosigi, Imperial ships, Collective ships, Karinne ships, and Kimdori ships. New ships
were being pushed out to park in orbit literally every hour as they waited for their first
crews to come man them, and the pusher pilots were really being worked hard. Wolf
production was through the roof, with the projected complete replacement of &t Rap
fighters with Wolf fighters by the end of the month. The pilots were being rated for the
Wolf with the same speed, and should be ready for their new fighters when they were
delivered. They were also cranking out orbital weapon platforms by the dbatvery
day, most of them slated for delivery to their new allies to help bolster their defenses.
Most of them were going to the Empire, getting their defenses beefed up so another
disaster like Raxxadid not happen Karinne weapon platforms would rénce the
Skaa hordes and their own kneak weapon platforms.

Jason should sue for patent infringement,

initiative to copy the idea.

One idea he should pass out to tldedt ot her s

was technol ogy beyond the others, shields on
systems coul dndét handle the demands. Theyod



the planetary shields. The shields had proved that they could stewal outright stop
an invasion of a planet when the Consortium attacked Karis, and the if the Consortium

had any weapons capable of hitting the plane
Karis attackébut then agaim, ddetlsdy ediddmdtob

trying. It was | i ke the Great Wall of Chi
stop them, basically there to make it very difficult for them to get over it and get out with

n a

any bootyéand i f your,thesewhsditietrdasokte migintheo ur p | un

first place. The Karis shield had significantly slowed down the Consortium ground
attack, forced them to stop and deal with the shield first, and prevented any kind of
bombardment of surface assets from orbit.

After the briefing, Jason looked at some images from Terrdpakdas that
impressive. Ships from every nation in the sector were clustered loosely around the
pl anet, being kept at a distance so their
mess with the tides. Faey and Urumi ships were sharing space with dispossessed Shio
and Alliance warships, and with the bulky, blocky Skaa ships, as Kimdori ships prowled
the outer edges and KMS ships hung in close orbit to the planet. They had d force o
nearly 6,000 ships there, the significant bulk of almost every fleet in the sector, the
counterattack fleet that would take it right back to the Consortium. And with them deep
inside interdicted space, orbiting what was being seen more and morehab tifeall
international activity, Terra, they were protected from Consortium attack.

Terra. The Academy was hosting everything now. The Skaa, Alliance, and even the
Jobodi had their flag officers at tdhe new
it on Draconis, but decided to move it to Terra after the Skaa and the others entered the
warémainly due to paranoi a. Dahnai di dnot
her military operation. They were allies now, but in twenty years theyomapemies,
so she forced them to move to a dedicated building on the Academy that had been
devoted to military science, and was now the new headquarters of the Confederate
Combined Military Forces, or what they were now calling the Big C. Differingamylit
ranks had to be sorted out to establish chains of command, fleets had to be created and
filled in with ships, and ground forces had to be merged, from individual infantry squads
all they way up to exomech, tank, and robotic fighting unit brigadeall, ldason was
fairly surprised at how quickly the diverse militaries had managed to come together, but,
naturally, there was a lot of friction.

The primary problem was between Dahnai and Assaba, and their militaries. The
SkaaFaey war was still fresh itheir minds, though it was more of a series of silly
skirmishes over some contested territory more than a full war, and while they both saw
the Consortium as far more of a threat, the Empire and the Imperium had some problems.
For one, the Faeyelemems a task force didndét want to
admiral, and vice versa. For another, the same mentality Dahnai had was pervasive
through everything. Both sides wanted to

ma

CO

W

be

k e

like sailorsweremani ng each otherdés ships, something

common gravband frequencies became an issue of contention.

But, again, the KMS served as a buffer, just as Terra served as a buffer for the
disparate species to come together to learn in tlaelémy. Myri grew tired of the
endless niggling between the Imperial and Imperial officers (funny thing there) and
basically pulled rank oall of them. It was Myri and Juma that established the



fundamental groundwork around which the other fleets wouddade, and it was Sioa

that beat the establishment of the chain of command through the various ranks into the

ground forces, which the naval forces grudgingly adopted. It was the venerable Nawvii

who tailored basic tactical formations and operations ®ictimbined task forces, using

the same strategy theyodod already been using;
the fighting formation and with the largest KMS ship in the fleet serving as the flagship

for the fleet commander, for they were much moigged. That put external officers on

KMS ships, but that was a small price to pay for keeping the overall fleet commander

alive and capable of commanding during battle. But, that demonstration of basic trust,

allowing outsider command officers to woroiin a KMS vessel, set the tone for the

other militaries. The fl eet commander wasno
the KMS captain, but he was there on the bridge, able to see how a Karinne ship
operated.

After the briefings, he called Dahnaictold her he was back at work. She looked
quite relieved, and it had taken something so serious as the war to keep her from coming
to see him; he was hamu doraj after all. Wrangling with Assaba and Vezzi and Grizza
took up most of her time, as tpesparations were being made to strike back at the
Consortium. The massive fleet at Terra was going to be used, and if the current
schedules held firm, theydédd be used tomorrow
for Shio Prime, and it would take ibaut three days to get there. The KMS and
Kimdori would mass up just before they arrived and identify the system to attack, then
jump at it as soon as the Consortium redeployed its forces.
It was no longer a war of toys, a remote control battle winerenly thing they
risked was disposable equipment. It was meal war, where lives were on the line,
where the races of the sector would fight back against the invaders on behalf of one of
their own. The toys would still be used, but they were no lotigeprimary means of
battle.
Just thinking about that made him sigh. M
But, the job chose him. He would see it through.
AYou shouldndét be there | ong, baby, 0 Da
lookinga | i ttl e pale still. Are you sure youor
Al 61 I be alright, 0o he assured her. nl f |
really sick. o
ame complaints from Lorna, 06 Da
Bie answered. AHow are the fi
dy, 06 she answered. ATher ebs
t hey should arrive at Terra in about six hou
know when theAegiswill be back in service. She had plans for it, but your Myri pulled
it out of service.o

AEi ght days, 0 Jason answered. Altds wunder
AA hel |l of a time to pull it out, lover.o
AWel |l , deal with it, o0 he ans witis. &Mben nWedve

we pulled it in for the engine upgrades, we decided to just go ahead and take care of it.
The DreamerandJendaare more than capable of acting as a fleet command vessels for
one assault, and tier e | | ar@¥icto& wifl ie spearheadig t he ot her . o



AWel |l , yeah, bufegis Ldodns was mdkingfswalad to gittirgsn t h e
the bridge of that bad boy. 0

AFaey, 06 Jason sighed, which made Dahnai | a
mind folding under Lorna?o
ARel gt @antshe answered. ACommand by commi't

Lorna more or less came out on top as far as ranks go. A few Skaa admirals claim to
have higher rank, but the Confederationusc r e at i on, 06 she said haugh
Al f SkoVraael kebhi Eeyohat, sheds going to sp
om, 0 Jason warned. AYoudbre not the top d
| e.
ut my seatds biggest, o0 she retorted.
aey, 0 Jason growl ed amgeditorgo, lows.i Ihdgedtomuc h | e s
talk to Myri, |l havendt gotten down there ye
AAl right. I 61l talk to you | ater, |l over.o
He ended the communication, a little irked. Dahnai might need some leash pulling,
she was starting to think in a predatory manrkshe thought that she had natural rights
to lead the Confederate Council, well, she had another thing coming. Most likely, that
was the source of most of the friction between Dahnai and Assaba. The Confederacy
wasnot even per ma rseoorasthe Gonsovtum Was defeateds lbway e  a
a wartime necessity, that was all.
Rann and Shya went with him when he went over to the command building and got
under Myri odos feet. She didnét mind all that
caudht him up on everything, from ship engine upgrade schedules to ship assignments in
the counterattack. With thieegisdown for refit, the four battleships were going to be
spearheading the two attacks, supported by cruisers and destroyers and an absolute
swarm of Wolf fighters and automated drone weaponry. Alberaxwas slated for the
Ravarra attack, being the fleet command vessel for the attack on Ravarra VI, but the
Temeromand theleffersonthe other two heavy cruisers, were being held back in eserv
ready to jump in if needed. TiB¥reamerwould act as the command flagship for the
Shio attack with th&/ictory escorting, and th& r e | | evdéukl co@madnd the
secondary assault with tdendaescorting.
The other ship on tionsThe fivsteof thedastical batdeahyp® s di st
was complete, and it would be commissioned today. Hiae was leaviDgtiaatand
taking command of it, and Jeya had been promoted to takz¢he i ahairt, véhich put
her first in line for the nextbigshiph at came down the pike. Jey
theSteadfast but t heydd found a good captain to p
Grendi Trunn who pretty much well aced the command exams on her first attempt and
was well liked and respectegb about everyone whood served wi
replaced Travka as the only Makati <captain i
meet the same fate he did.
The tactical battleship wasnaeanlooking ship. He looked at a live feed of it parked
just outside Kosigi, just a bit bigger than a heavy cruiser, but much sleeker, with sharper
angles. It just looked more menacing than other KMS vessels, which all followed the
Api e wedge with stub triangul ar emindedyso desi g
Jason of the Super Star Destroyer friétar Wars long and sleek and narrow across the
keel, but it maintained the flared wing design aft and utilized the same angular plating

L



model that helped the ar mor peahatHaawdsy def | ec
going to name that monster, but hedd find ou
christening.
It was one side of tactical thinking. The other side waskhalf in Kosigi, and he
looked up the progress of it. This was a carrier,@elahip whose main task was
carrying fighters. Where the tactical battleship was long and sleek, the carrier looked like
a whale, with a fat bow and even fatter stern. But that gave it more room for its primary
mission of carrying fighters, some 6,500tlhkém. The carrier was easier to build than
theydd expected, since it didndét have some o0
for a ship sporting particle beams; the carrier only had pulse batteries for its own
protection, relying almost completely as fighters and escort ships for defense. That
was letting them build it faster than Jason expected, and if they stayed on schedule, it
would be finished in about three months. If they could get that thing in a theater, it might
swing a battle in theifavor. Every sim they ran showed that Consortium ships were
vulnerable to Wolf fighters, so their main focus now was putting as many Wolves they
could get into a battle theater and let them eat the Consortium ships for lunch.
With limited time, buildirg 14,000 Wolf fighters was preferable to building 140

warships.

That was the Consortiumés fatal fl aw, and
Their ships, their tactics, they were all based on naval fleet warfare, big ships slugging it
out. Theyhadtose manti s mecha, but that was about

combat on the scale the Faey employed, and which forced everyone else to deploy

fighters to deal with Faey tactics. This, Jason saw as unusual, given that they could

miniaturize Toraasn or Dar k Matter weaponry to fit it

had the feeling that it was the weaknesses of the insectoid race that did their fighting that

prevented them from using fighters, their frail bodies not up to the rigors of fighter

action. Even with inertial dampers, there vgasnepressure involved in it, and that was

something the insectoids couldnét tolerate.
It took almost three hours to wade through most of what Myri had for him, so much

so that he was honestly surprised when Ryminded him about the christening. So,

Jason collected up the kids and his guards and boarded a corvette, loosely built on the

Scout Ship model but heavily armed, another of the newer developments. Corvettes were

smaller than destroyers, attached tceSobs ar my r at her than the nav

smaller than frigate class ships if they employed them. It was a small ship with a crew of

12 meant almost exclusively for planetary defense as a forward tactical relay for army

fighter and ground forces deplogmt, like an AWACS, but now they were being

employed as a VIP transport, since they could land without requiring entire city blocks be

cleared out for them. Corvettes were the fic

commanding a heavy cruiser oraboveimthnavy, where Sioabs best \

because field commanders had far more control in army combat than they did in naval

combat. The captain of a corvette was serious fucking business in the army. The

corvette that picked him up was capable of lagdin the large landing pad out behind

the command center, if only just barely fitting. The bow was almost against the building

and the stern was hanging over the fence. E

Jason wasno6t al | lawship Atcarvette feaieddim around, evendni v i

the safe expanses of the Karis system, if he left Karsa. This corvette was3antd



and had a painting of a nude male Faey ghost with lightning coming out of his hand
across the bow. twascommandey Col onel Tr aea Kapickkdne, one
tactical field commanders. Traea was a warhorse, dagie with more than twenty
years of experience, which made her perfect for the demanding job of tactical field
commander. In the KDF, the armige generals made the plans, but it was the colonels
that carried them out on the battlefield. Sioa would send down orders to Traea, but she
could change them as conditions on the battlefield required.

Shya rode in the lap of the pilot, mystified by thew of Kosigi expanding in the
viewscreen as Jason talked with Traea and the other kids roamed around the small ship.
The bridge was really just a cockpit, since Traea spent most of her time back on the
tactical deck watching feeds and readouts andrigstommands, but Traea did have a
captainbés chair on t he tS3pectyaniphtbe daled onffoor t hos e
enter naval combat. As usual, she put him in the chair and stood beside it as Traea gave
him her unbiased opinion about the newhti pod regulations for Gladiator mecha.
Flight pods were now standard equipment on Gladiators to allow them to rapidly deploy
to any location, as were spinners and grebased drones, ideas stolen from the Wolf
fighters, but Traea had seen some issu#show the pilots were treating the pods,
which they jettisoned before combat because
performance when it was on the ground. Jason listened to officers like Traea, because
they wereright thereand had a more intinb@ understanding about some things than the
command staff. Traeads main beef was with h
treating the pods. She wanted some regs sent down that made the pilots actually care
about the pods and not treat them like a pafadisposable, onshot equipment.

So thatbés the new s hiTmeanaed frivatelyto hiln.oShe&k s f uc k

was devout i n her worship of the Faey gods,
the children.
That s the gener al i dea.

No, | mean it looksvay more intimidating than the regular shighe elaborated.
And t hat 6s tJlasen agseared with b slightdsmilewas designed as
much for its appearance as its capabilities. We want an enemy to wet himself when he
seeghatdrop out of hyperspace in front of him. A few of those mixed in with a carrier in
a task force, and it should give them nightn
shafted from both ends. Swarms of deadly fighters biting them in the ass/igidg$u
like that smashing in their faces.
Jayce lovey, they already wet themselves when we shaleugrinned. Traea called
virtually every maldovey, it was one of her quirks.
Yeah well, weoll be there i n gatthemimthet e, s o
zip ship. This cow is too big to fit in their landing bays.
Cow? With all due respect, push dffle retorted, which made him laugh.
Corvettes were too small to cater to a standard dropship, so their tiny landing bays
had zip ships inhem. Zip ships were very small shuttles, only having room for six
inside, literally a flying box with absolutely no amenities or comforts. A corvette had
two zip ships in its landing bay and room for just one more, giving the crew of 12 a
means of escapéthey had to abandon ship. It took all three zip ships currently in the
S p e c tandiagdbay to ferry over the Dukal party, and they only had to go about 150
yards, because ttf&pectrepul | ed up so close to the tactica



bay that their artificial gravity fields were interacting, creating some vertigo on the

small er corvette as the battleshipds field o
put on his helmet and all but jumped across. The transfer over to the shgbtndlsix

seconds of flight time, where the new crew of the ship was in formation and awaiting the
Grand Dukeds arrival . The tactical battl esh
much fewer than other shi psorsitdanaintginandke, but it
operate a ship that had a limited mission, and that mission was to carve things up with its

nine particle beams and blast the shit out of enemies with its batteries of heavy pulse

weapons, plasma torpedoes, and hyperspace missiladmtt€actical battleships had

one function and one function only in a formation, and that was to deploy overwhelming

firepower. Other ships would be supplying fighter defense and detailed sensor sweep

data to the ship, leaving it free to just hold dowa fire button and bulldog its way

through a fight.

Hi ae, wearing her new Fleet Admiral s gol d
as he exited the hatch of the zip ship. She bowed deeply, then opened her arms and gave
him a hug when he cameuptohérHey t here, Jinx, 06 he told he
to her name, which meabad omenn Faey.

AStop calling me that! o she protested with
big!d she greeted, | eaning dowmsthkend ki ssi ng
Princess Shya! Wel come aboard, your Highnes
laughing and picking her up and giving her a hug.

A Seemeone emembers I 6m a princess! o she said

Al'f you think | 6m bdowRamgn ttoolyd uhery,ouwhiecltcrr
him a dirty look.

AWell, are you ready for your inspection o
asked.

AYup. Then we can sl ap a name on this bea

AThen | etds begin, shall we?0

Theinpecti on of the crew was one of Jasonds
more time talking to them than inspecting them. The new ship had more of a balance of
races in it, with the typical Imperium races represented, but the ship was also sporting
two Kizzik officers two lieutenants that had just passed exams and entered service just a
couple of weeks ago, along with ten Kizzik drones under their command, all ten of them
wearing enlisted rank. Both of them worked in the engineering departmeal, nvbre
or less ensured that the ship was going to purr like a vulpar. Kizzik were natural builders,
and as much as their minds were oriented towards complex tasks, they were also oriented
towards maintenance, building, and repair. Kizzik had built thieg-city on Virga
fuckingfast, so they proved they had the technical skill to be just as effective as any Faey
or human engineer, but that was coupled to the absolute inexhaustible nature of Kizzik
drones to carry out the work. The two Kizzik nobled #reir drones could be depended
upon to be told to find a problem and fixXast which was an advantage in combat.
Damage control robots could only go so far, sometimes it took a thinking being down
there to make bypasses, jerrg conduit, dothecet i ve Aoh shit fix 1t n
gonna diedo things a programmed repair bot co
And it woul dndét be possible without Jyslin



It took about three hours to tour the ship, from bow to stern, from the depths of
engineering to the cuttingdge bridge, as Hiae answered an endless stream of questions,
but editing her answers because of Shya. Jason had Dera monitor private sendings as

wel | . Nobody knew Shya was a I|istener, and
his secret to reveal But Dera was there to make sure S
wanted getting back to Dahnai. Once they reached the bridge, they maintained the
tradition. Jason sat in the captainds chair
Cameras caughhé moment as she sat down, then he asketihé@euestion

ACongratul ations, Captain, o0 Jason told her.
bow?o

She gave him an i mpish | ooRaphet él shaveaideci

using the English wal for it.
Jason gave her a start, then laughed helplessly. Only a native Terran would

understand the reference, tied in with Hiaeb
omen, and a prophet would often deliver it. So, wherPtiophetappeared in a capat

t heater, it would be carrying bad news for i
the KMS, she would be the bad omen for the enemy.

A We | | done, you clever minx, well done, 0 h
officers looked a little confused

Al thought youdd I|ike it, o0 she winked.

And so, the tactical battleshRrophet the first of its ship class, entered active service
in a ceremony held on the bridge, as Myri then presented the charter of commission and a
ceremonial flag to Hiae, both & goldframed case, which she would keep in her ready
room. Every ship had a flag and a charter, which most captains displayed prominently.
Faey tradition for christening wasnodét a bott

the presentation ofttehi p6s charter of commission. ol d
christen a ship before it was ready for serv
christening was its commissi on, and a ship w

operational and ready to entsstive service. So, when Hiae put the case in her office,

she came back and issued her first commands, and that was for the ship to join a small
task force of five ships, all recently built, to conduct exercises for the crew to get
acclimated to the shjpts shakedown cruise. The captain and crew would get used to the
ship, and get used to operating in a task force, which Hiae would command as the highest

ranking officer in the formation. Once they
combat service The crews of the ships had already been trained for their posts, but
training just was n-orexperterce. sTheyreedadsat least bna a | hand

operational mission to get the bugs worked out before they went into battle.

The ceremony endednd Jason got his kids and Shya off the ship so Hiae could get
her small task force moving to begin shakedown. They were again transferred to the
Spectreand Traea took them home.

Not that anything good was waiting for him at home. Zaa was thershandas
there in person. Usually he was very happy to see her, but here lately, every time she
showed on Karis it wasndét good news. He gr e
each othero6s necks in the ritusaldraggihgmdor i way
him into his study and putting it on secure



in his chair. Al take i1t you were waiting f
on me?o0
She gave him a compassi ofimed &helssidownon A Sadl vy

the edge of his desk and | ooked up. ACybi,
Immediately, a solid hologram formed from the emitters in the room, the familiar
nudeyets i | houetted form Cybi preferredo wearing
Zaa and floated up behind Jasonb6s chair, put
AFi rstly, 6 she said, touching her memory ban
di mensi onal hol ogram of the Andr omi&da gal axy
picture of our foebs home sitwuation, 0 she be
bl ue. The blue side of the gal axy was small

war with a rival in their home galaxy, which we shall call the Syndicatt s he began.
AThe Syndicate currently enjoys a territoria
information is approximately one hundred twenty days old. As you can see, these two
powers utterly control their home galaxy, and also as you carhge€pnsortium is
starting to lose. The Consortium, as dominating powers go, do not have ruthless policies.
The Syndicate, however, does not share the C
invested all their efforts into defeating their rival, and thayehenslaved all who fall
under their banner into the war effort. To put it simply, my friend, the Syndicate is a
worseversion of the Consortium, willing to commit vast atrocities in order to achieve
victory. The common tactic of the Syndicate is tallgtdestroy planets to make them
uninhabitable if they cannot hold them, much as what was done to Karis, or send
automated planet killer weapons against Consortium systems. They havérikibed
this way, by destroying anything they cannot
A simple white dot appeared outside the ga
changed its policies to match their more rut
have confirmed it. This is 8yndicatdleet. They have managed to evade Consort
forces and have jumped across Consortium territory and out of their galaxy. They are
coming here. o
Jason just didnoét have the energy to sigh.
AWe have no solid data. They hfowwe only ju
long-range hyperspace sensors. But Consortium reports we have intercepted places the
numbers somewhere between twenty and thirty
AHoly God, 06 Jason said woodenly. That was
had been willing to 8k sending here, proving that things were probably even between
them.
AThe fleet wildl be here in three years. B
If they attack Karis, they will lose the majority of their fleet, and therefore lack the
resaurces to face the Syndicate. If they fortify and dig in, they only give us more time to
prepare for them, which they absolutely cannot allow us to do. Give the Confederacy
three years, and the Consortium will be facing defenses they cannot defeatheéind w
the Syndicate enters the theater, everything changes. The Consortium will be fighting a
war on two fronts, and will be outnumbered a
Jason leaned back in his chair and put his hands over his face. When would there be
fuckinggood news?First the Consortium, now this Syndicate. Even if they quickly
defeated the Consortium, they had another war looming on the horizon, for Zaa made



sure to paint these foes of the Consortium as ruthless warmongers. He leaned back
towardsthe deskasCyps hands massaged his shoul ders ge
AWe have to tell the others. o

ATherebs more to talk about, my cousin, o0 s
page from their foesd playbook, tandanse your
image of what looked like one of the Shio planets replaced the map. Zaa pointed at what
|l ooked |Ii ke a |l arge industrial compl ex under
decl ar ed. Al't 1 s designed thawilicausetheduce a r €
oxygen and nitrogen to ignite the very air in a firestorm, which will totally destroy all life
on the planet, down to the last microbe. They are building these deviegsrgplanet
they control, and are planting similar destructhanisms into the stations they captured.
This is their response to our intent to retaliate. My children have confirmed that if any
Consortium system commander feels he cannot hold the system against attack, he is to

destroy it and retreat. Scorchedtedr , I believe your people calll
He | ooked grimly at the device, which only
before they get those built?o0

AYes, we can, but it is something we have
of f ens i hawetosend/am eny dhildren to sabotage those devices where they get

them buil t. For that, cousin, we need your
AJust ask. o

AWe need the specs for the CMS cloaking de
on my infiltrators. oo

ADone. oueneécys to 3D and 1061l have them t
Al wi || send them presentl y. Now, as to t
touching her band again, but nothing happene
this room. on dekonpoawheddenment . ARnThe Consort.i
compromi sed, 0 she told him. AThey know enou

recent setbacks are not just due to Karinne counteltigence. The capture of one of

their ships explained some ibto them, but now they know that Kimdori have penetrated

their security and are gathering information from within. Twice already, my children

within have had to change identities or take proactive measures to evade security sweeps,

and the lack of residthas not convinced our foes we are not there. What this means,

Jason, is that they have shifted several projects so that their existence and their progress

are secret, even within the Consortium. There are projects they have undertaken on

captured plarts which my children are unable to track, because no information about

them i s | eaving those planets. My chil dren

current position, where the Consortium is actively throttling the flow of information

through tleir main headquarters base. That is another reason why we need your CMS. |

need to get children into those positions to find out what they work on, and what danger it

may pose to us. O
ASo, theydébre going to be changing their <co
i T hleye already done so, but since | have children on the inside, they have

transmitted the new codes and protocols to Karis, and Miaari simply adjusts. That is

another reason why they know we are inside. Every move they make, we counter far too

easily. Thanitial breaking of their codes and the understanding of their ships and sensor



systems they attribute to us capturing a ship, but the other things, they know that comes
from a spy among them. o
Jason nodded, his mind already working. They had thres y@defeat the
Consortium and prepare for the second invasi
information was correct. Logic told him to try to negotiate with the Consortium, strike a
deal because they seemed the lesser of the two evils of Andapmede had too much
Faey in him to accept that. The Consortium could not be trusted. They had attacked
Karis, betrayed the Urumi, killed his people, caused mayhem and destruction throughout
the gal axy. I f he made #e mhekatlthe fivst avdilableh e m, t
opportunity, and doing so would earn him th
Consortium had to not just be beaten, but crushed. They hadlestreyedeliminated
to the last ship, to show this Syndicate that thedezds ofthis galaxy were nastier than
their Andromedan foes, and convince them to turn their happy asses right around and go
back to their home galaxy. The best kind of war was the war that was never fought, as
the old adage went.
They had to throw theselves utterly into one war to avoid a second one.
He considered the problem from the Consort
trying to assault a heavily defended fortress, and they knew they were going to take
ghastly casualties in the attack, evethdy succeeded. They knew that more than half of
any fleet they sent at Karis would be destroyed, and probably even more than that now
that they had to navigate two light years of empty space at sublight, and do so against an
enemy that could jump hypgace freely at the same tithdne was almost sure they
knew that by now, they still had their spies and ears in the Imperium, no matter how good
Zaa had cleared them out. Theydédd have to go
that would whittle theifleet down to almost nothing by the time it got to Karis, then face
fearsome, almost impenetrable defenses protecting the planet. Either way, when the

h
€

smoke cleared, they werendét going to have th
Syndicate when theyhswed up.
They werenét building those planet killers

leave nothing behind for their enemies. If they succeeded in taking Karis, they would
plunder the planet, take Cybi, enslave the Generations, take enouginBabkgrran
prisoners to breed more Generations, then they wexiktminate absolutely everyone
else

They were going to commgenocide on a fuckinggalacticscale. And do it all over
here where their Andromedan subjects would never know what thaysdiel; know
what kind of monsters they were. Out of sight, out of mind.

Jason rubbed his temples, then geadghed. i S
news, Zaa, 0 he told her wearily. AYou under
Al suspercd ttdhededtintey us all , 0 she said sirt

defend against the Syndicate if they attack Karis. Their orders are to take Karis no matter
what atrocities they must commit, so | believe that they intend to use the populations they
haveconquered as slave labor to help conquer Karis, execute the attack as soon as they
find a way around the interdictors, take what they want, and leave nothing behind for the
Syndicate when they arrive. Their plan is for their enemies to arrive and @mldxy

in ruins. The Consortium will kill anyone they can manage and destroy anything they
can to deny their enemies any spoils. o



Alt does seem QyplagleediiThei attac&nbnoRaxxad o
reinforces the theory. They did not have tonhat they did unless they intend to leave
not hing behind. 0

AThat 6s what | think too. God, why d

She gave him a compassionate | ook, th
Vi sit soon justbetga nvitsi tbeld®evyeod daam @t
lightly.

AThat would be nice. The kids | ove you.
meeting, then talk to Dahnai I
to do, thendis u s s t with Dahnai afterw

AYou should be there, o Zaa to

ANO, |l 6m just a house ruler, Z
want my opinion, they can ask me to join their conference. In the end | know what has to
bedone, so 106l just get started on doing it
each other with how much better they are than everyone else, and eventually agree to do
what |1 édm already doing in the first place. 0

AYou prove yourts elifngwomotrhey aonfd tnhor e, cousin
gentle smile.

Zaa left him to his work, which first was a hastily called conference over at the White
House. His cabinet, which included Kumi, Miaari, Cybi, the leaders of the Legion, and
the military commad staff were called in, making the cabinet meeting room a bit
crowded, and when Jason sat at the table with Cybi hovering behind him, he got right to
the point. AThe enemies of the Consortium a
which made Myleenacus e, Tom and Jenny frown, and Myr.
three years before they get here. o
How many?06 Juma asked.

From what Denmother said, approximately t
t housand. Theydre not cnlto,soe heen oaungshwetroe dg.e t fa
just changed, people, 0 he said with a weary
buil ding devices on every planet and station
entire population, and | believe they intendisethem 6 he st ated, t hen e
fears and his reasoning behind them. Al tos
doing and what we know. They intend to blitz Karis, take what they want, then burn

everything behind them so their enemies fidhing but smoldering wreckage and dead
bodies when they get here. o

Al f thatods the case, then why are they ris
fretted.

AfBecause the Skaa pissed them off, most |

AAnd what dend tthheeyy fdionahl y br oke Skaa def er
gl ancing at Jason. ATheir intent is pretty
need, and take those few they do need back to Andromeda along with Cybi and the
secrets of bitbujdeplanetcbasters uniéssyou ohtendiéet he m, 0 s he
stated bluntly.

Al have to concur wit hCybibdeelarsgdfidhe yDwk ¢é ds us e
those they have conquered to prepare for the attack on Karis, then kill everyone that
remainsak r t hey have what they want. 0
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Al 6d better get my troops readygaptare Si oa gr o
one of those halbuilt planet killers, so we can see how they built them and give the
Kimdori solid info to take with them if they try tmeak onto a planet and sabotage one.
Those things would have to be sabotaged to a
Ki mdori do. o

AThat 6s a damn good i dea, O-offtaswewil nodded.
definitely require ground forces, andthe KDRut st ri ps everyone el se. 0
ASounds | i ke a job for the Marines, and po
Sioa | ooked towards Myri, who nodded. NnThey
said to Jenny and Tom, wteKBBaretkdestbya | i ttl e ¢
Trellebds garl and. 0o

AGet them ready, 0 Myri agreed. AHave them
AThey already do that |l just need to hav

attack. And thephoddkbehegodl doj umpfast, the f
tomorrow. That gives us four days to be rea
AYouodl | have everything you need, 0 Jason t
some backup. The Imperial Marines are damn gas@re the Collective
Stormtroopers. o

AJenny, did that gravity beam weapon ever

invade, that thing might take out those mant
Al't sorta works, but itds notarveflact |l y an i
chuckle, pushing her hair out of her eyes.

ARGl adi ators totally overwhelm their surfac
more worried about conscripted Shio or Allia
| 6m t here thoave breo adoceu b tb utthely ol | make them f
their backs, theyo6ll have |l ittle choice. o0

ANow there we can help, 0 Jenny said quickl
for that subsonic inducer? You know, the one you used in Washin@t 0

Jason gave her a start, then | aughed. A Th
woul dndét affect anyone in Crusader armor! o
Sounds | i ke an idea, 0 Sioa said. AProvid
't emits a har moniickesuabsminilci ofni eblid itnhga ta nft
her . Al think we could whip something up.
dozen blocks under 1t wondot be doing anythin
were dunked in itching powder. Idoubtt 6d af fect the Consorti umo:

1 R 1

they have exoskeletons, but i1t6l]l Il ncapacit a
real har m. o

ANow thatdés damn clever, 0 Sioa grinned.

ACl ever i s what we do, General, o0 Jenny gr.i
ATihnk you can whip up something in two days
ASure, shouldnét be a problem, 0 Tom nodded
we should be able to build a freakind bigodun

the databasand ILaulkle pwt i emny

Myri was looking at a series of holograms in front of her seat, then focused on one.
AHer e, Sioa. Get your ground forces ready f
pointing. nl 611l suggest we drocResom.n SWe @l IPr



send the others to Ravarra, and weoll attack
can take the other two Shio systems, then ju
one at a time. o

Al wi || get det ai |landts, particularly wherg theyare about bo
building the planet killers, o Miaari noted.
A We 61 | need it to generate an attack pl an,
down there with no information. 0

A We 61 | dig some toys oyt diomt hededx, fHidider

few new weapons weobdbve been dying to try out.
any. o

i ke what?06 Myri asked curiously.

ell, we weaponized the Satanbés Marbl es i
ans wer ealko havefivedpon versions of conduit smashers piggybacked on shield

bores. The bore gets the package through the shield, then the smashers deploy and try to
disable a ship without destroying it. It was an idea we came up with to capture

Consortium shipsbut now I think we can focus on using them against captured Alliance

3t D
EI_

ships, so wedre not sl aughtering unwilling c
AThat 6s not a bad idea, 0 Jason nodded.
AWe al so haveweampon frieasady nfammo testing. | C
sdad, causing a hologram of one to appear over the table. It did resemble a spider, but
was microscopi C. RnThese are programmed to I
computer cores. But, they dondét weltok very f
the computer core to do the job. For a microscopic robot, traveling from the point of
entry to the core can take a whil e. |t 6d be
AHmMmM, o Mi aar.i mused, | ooking atvadea . AMyl e
planet killer and disable its computer ?0
AEasily, 0 she shrugged. AYou capture one
over, I can design spiders to take them out.
AThen that is what we will do, @insiancea r i dec

that an infiltration mission is a success should the Kimdori fail. They can deploy them
before they make their attempt, so that if they are thwarted, the machines can accomplish
the mission. o

ASpeaking of toys, hpoagkeaTom. t he i nventories
ANot back up to where 1 6d |Iike them,0 he a
going for military orders. That and Myr. k e
AHey, they work for us as well as you, 0 sh

Al n d e ecking a $alvauohBuzzsaws in front of a task force sets the tone of the
battle i mmediately, o0 Navii chuckl ed.

Al only have so much space, 0 Trenirk Bruun
Replicated Resources, which included the management of houseface s, not ed. A
of the industrial out put right now is tied u

AAnd finding outside factories to take ord
concurred. AEveryoneds busy building stuff
we get that extra industrial output up and r



A think we can work something out, o Treni

after we wrap up her e, | 611 squeeze i n some
can. o

AAre we going to have interdictors ready f
from Karis?0 Jason asked.

AThere are seven new i nt &ybdansweéredr s wai ti ng
Altds too bad we canodot | aunckénditeréicm at t he
them to keep the Consortium from moving thin
just blow them up, or capture them, and we ¢

Jasonds eyes wdathegnoeodd. i dlemat wahseya di dnét ha
interdictors in the systems, they only had to get tlodose enough Stick an interdictor
half a light year from a target system, turn it on, and do everything under the fucking sun
to hide the interdictor and its effect until it was too late for the Consotbwstop it, and
the interdictor would spread over the target system after about 21 hours. If they could
hide the interdictor and what it was doing f
minutes, it would put the interdictor out of reach of a ratally Consortium attack.
After 107 minutes, an attack would have to travel sublight for over nine hours to reach
the interdictor, and even ligispeed weapons would be far enough away to see them
coming and stop them; t hewdgbnrmoaingatlight mi nut es
speed or just below. They could jump an interdictor close enough to where it covered a
target system just as the interdictor entered logarithmic mode, but that was too dangerous.
The closer the interdictors were to Consortium ses)ghe better chance they had to
detect what was going on despite the Kimdori. It was better to set them up a good
distance away, where Kimdori SCM could have peak effectiveness.
He looked at Myleena, who seemed to have the same idea he did, frowiftele w

smileonherfacefl] You t hinking what |1 6m thinking?]
[Just get thentlose enough he answered.

She nodded, then | aughed brightly. nWe j u
an active planet killer, or theydd set it of
AHuh?0 Kumi asked.

AMi aari, 0 he said quickly, reaching out an
had i n mind. ACould the Kimdor.i hide an int

Consortium from being able to reach it? Say, if we parkechatia light yearfrom a
target system?o0
She gave him a toothy grin. AWe most cert
Al ngeni ous! o
AWhat do ylruz d kitie,ndt?tbe Ki zzi k Secretary of
AWe intend t o e@medgana away from atardet system and surn it
on. If we can hide it from the Consortium, the interdiction effect will cover the target
system, robbing them of the ability to travel in and out. We just havewverieareful
in how we s8aedit,dThas€Gansortium has orders
they cano6t hol d. We canodét just go out and p
or theyoll commit genocide against the popul
systems wentend to attack. If we time it right, the interdictor will prevent Consortium
retreat or prevent reinforcements from reaching the system, allowing us to attack without
fear of being overwhelmed by sheer numbers. Hell, if it works just right, it waalaldst



Consortium ships trying to jump in to reinforce defenders deep in interdicted space,
forcing them to spenchonths r yi ng t o get out to where they
an eager smile, clapping his hands and then rubbing them together.

The massie Kizzik, the largest one on Karis, seemed to ponder that, then nodded her
mantislike head.i An e f f e sheicomplementes through her translator.

[Jason, Empress Dahnai is callingJybi communed privately. He glanced at her
and nodded, andtec cessed her comm from the tabl e. f
then he looked down at the tabl@Vhat is it, love?]

[We need you in councilghe said, a bit irked.Denmother just dropped the fucking
mother of all bombs on us, and we need yene h

He sighed.] Al ri ght, give me a minute, 1 06m discu:¢
cabinet and commanders.]

[Making plans?]

[You know it. We have one partially fleshed out. Anyway, be there in a minute.]

He extricated himself from the session aetlirned to his study, where Zaa joined
him in person and Cybi materialized behind him as the room entered secure mode, and
the holograms of the various rulers, and their highest assistants as the case may be, of the

sector appeared in a row before him.hDa a i and Sk6Vrae were in the
Assaba, Grizza and Vizzie, Grayhawk, Magran
Medber, Field Marshall Grran of the Jobodi,

Ambassador Hraga of the Zyagya had joined them as oloservhis was every major
power in the sector, both those allied against the Consortium and the two neutral powers.
They were already arguing over the best course of action when he joined in, with the
conguered rulers rallying faheir empires to be saddirst, along with Dahnai and
Assaba trading barbs and Grizza and Vizzie arguing with each other more than the rest of
the council . Clearly hedd joined the meetin
match.
Oh yeah, this was solidarity.
He gaveZaa a disgusted look, which made her smile toothily at him.
Things toned down after they realized Jason had joined the meeting, if only so they
could rehash what theydd already gone over f
changed, but they weerguing over exactly the best course of action to go about retaking
friendly systems from the Consortium in light of their plans to destroy anything they

couldndét hol d. The threat of those planet Kk
they had teensure that they could attack without threatening the population of the planet

they invaded. Both Grayhawk and Badmradei w
thersystems first, but Jason found it a | ittl e
t hat was supposed to be in the purview of th

minds, with the exception of Field Marshall Grran or maybe Jason himself, because of his
Legion days. They might dabble or believe they were excellent tacticianbeludnest
truth was, they were not. But that was what their command staffs were for, to do the
military things for them.

AWebre already setting up an attack, o0 Jaso
up on things. AThe Khtbassauh $hio Prime in &rdenta o r | ar e
capture one of those planet killedsforet hey can fini sh it. Once w



to study it, learn how to break them, then allow the Kimdori to infiltrate and sabotage

them in any system where they getiifs hed bef ore we can invade. C

They all looked at him, and Grran nodded knowingly.

AWhat we need is the diversionary attack f
AWe need them to attack Ravarra, the cl osest
Consortiumdbs eyes right when we need them | o

ASo our ships will jump in, attack, then |
asked.

AActually, youdre going to attempt to capt
inthesystem, so jump in ready to |l aunch a grou
defenses. We need it to be Ravarra because

He explained their idea to use the interdictors offensively, and Ravarra was perfect

because they could set up the interdictor with the Kimdori sensor jammers protecting
Confederate space behind it, helping blind the Consortium to what was going on even

mor e. Ailtdés going to be all about eti ming.
fleet will jump in just as the interdiction effect hits the system, which will be expanding

in logarithmic mode by then and will prevent the Consortium from either retreating or

reinforcing. That 6s why wedr e kehdorcea t hi s at
defense there, all their ships are concentrated at Trieste at the moment, and we know for a
fact that their planet killers arotc o mp|l et ed on eit her planet. A

pulling the same trick at Shio, using the interdictor ®vpnt Consortium reinforcements
from jJumping in and attacking. Using the interdictors to prevent our enemy from
exploiting his ability to jump in real time, we can march right back across the Shio

Federation and the Alliance and take back every systemdhe e conquer ed. As
webre careful not to attack any system that
can sabotage it, we can kick them back out o
AThe 1 dea has a ¢ Graasaid dgelyahrough hisvio@deor of it ,
device as it translated his sign language, noddingaga®.o | ong as the Conso
canodt detect the interdictors as they set up

strategy. 0

Al take it you Assamaagked our ships out?0

AWe just jump a Stargate in and | ink i1t to
battl eships can tow a Stargate through hyper
can jump through the interdiction effect.o

AAnd why casbddoyblne heameuto ours?0 Vizzie
ABecause your engines canb6t put out enough
effect, 0 he answered. ANot even ours can wi
KMS ships out of ser vineefitstd lg tham jump tiwpughwe 6 r e d o
the interdiction effect.o

AAnd the mythical Karinne technol ogy rises
the Grand Master said with a wry smile at Jason.

AThe mythical Karinne tecbhhel bgyst spivageyo
scoffed.

ANO . They would have eventually come, no
came here once before. Eventually, they would have come again, if only to escape their
foes in Andromeda. The resurgence of the Karinngsonh ast ened the inevit



Jason gave SkoVrae a grateful |l ook. nSo,
the war room set this up?0 he prompted.
Nobody objected, so Jason sl apped both han
you all discss things, because | have a lot to do. Denmother and Empress Dahnai can
fill me in afterwards. Good day to you al/l
Zaa was in his conference room using the comm. He patted her fondly on the shoulder as
he ¢epped away, and she gave him that same toothy grin as he went back to his own
cabinet, and mainly to his military staff and Miaari, so they could work out exactly where
to place the interdictor and how the Kimdori could hide its effect from Consortium
sersors without raising any red flags that might cause them to send out a hyperspace
probe.

It took nearly sixteen hours of constant planning, consultation with Kimdori and
KMS engineers, and then a hell of a lot of wrangling with the war room on Terra, but
they eventually had a strategy and a timetable laid out. The orders were issues, and the
necessary materials were marshaled and thoroughly inspected to ensure everything was in
working order.

The plan was essentially the same. The Confederate forecesvdo j ump out , t he
lay an interdictor in deep space between Ravarra and Terra to use the blinding effect of
the sensor jammer network to hide the interdiction effect, and then their forces would
arrive literally with the interdiction effect chasing thémm behind. The timing of that
had to be absolutely perfect, to prevent the Consortium from jumping the fleet they had at
Trieste to reinforce the ships they had at Ravarra. Ten minutes later, just as the Ravarra
situation would have the full attentiah the Consortium, the KMS and Kimdori would
jump in and attack Shio Prime farce, designed to quickly overwhelm the more
significant defenses they had at Shio and get down to attack and capture that planet killer
before they could either get it finisheddestroy it to prevent them from inspecting it.

There would also be an interdictor set up to interdict Shio, and the effect should reach the
system literally at the same time they jumped in, if they timed it properly. The wild card

inthisplanwashe wel | they could hide the Shio inte
sensor jammer behind it giving additional aid in blinding Consortium sensors to what was

going on. Theydd have to rely on a flotill a
areainwhat hey call ed a fAgray blanket, 06 which wol

arrayed in front of the effect that would cause all Consortium sensors to return a false
reading of normal when they looked in that direction. Much as the sensor pods returned
thefalse impression that Karis was a ball of radioactive slag, hiding the truth, they were
going to hide the interdiction effect behind a false normal. The uncertainty was going to
be the last twenty minutes before the attack, when the interdiction efiatd e like a
tidal wave approaching a shoreline, making it very hard to conceal. At that point, the
Ki mdori were going to blind Consortium senso
Ravarra and consider the bltodaddofng of Shi ods
reinforcements, or play on the time it would take for them to respond to the blinding and
decide what to do about it.
Jason watched with sober eyes as the Confederate forces at Terra exited the Stargate
to the TES, and began the journey autihinterdicted space, beginning the attack. It
would take them ten hours to reach the edge, then those 1,107 ships, a mixture of Faey,



Urumi, Skaa, and Alliance vessels, would jump out in four waves and head for Ravarra.
A squadron of KMS and Kimdori gts led by thedbreamerwould join them at Ravarra,
jumping in just behind them, to join the fleet and lend additional support. Meanwhile, a
task force of 870 KMS and Kimdori ships were already starting to mass outside Kosigi,
the overwhelming force theyauld unleash against Shio to conquer the planet as fast as
possible. It would be led by tHer e | | eaddswouBliintlade not only naval forces,
but also Marine corvettes, troop transports, and ground assault ships, what they called
jumpers, which woul land on Shio and disembark Gladiators and pure foot infantry for
the ground attack on the planet killer. Thi
it would be a building to building slugfest
Shial,as KDF ground forces invaded and captured the planet killer they were building
l'iterally in the heart of the Shiobds | argest
The real war had begun.
It was all quite literally out of his hands now. This was now the domain of Myri and
Navii, Lorna and the other generals and admirals in the war room on Terra. He could
suggest, he could listen in, but this was now all beyond his control. They would make the
decisions. They would deploy the forces. They would be sending men and women to
d i e é aoimglit with his blessing.
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Tuesday, 31 March 2014, Terran Standard Calendar

Daira, 14 Miraa, year 1327 of the §Generation, Karinne Historical Reference
Calendar

Ravarra I, Consortium Annexation, Former 8liederation (Annex Control Sector
EG-2811)

The activity showed that they knew something was coming, but they were not
prepared for what came down their throats.

Twenty minutes before the interdiction effect reached Ravarra, all Consortium
sensors werblinded throughout their entire annexed territory, through both the former
Shio and Alliance systems. They knew something was coming, and from the spy probes
seeded through the area, they formed up a response fleet to jump wherever the enemy
appeared, buinly forming up 560 ships rather than their entire available fleet. Either
they were confident that 560 ships could handle it, or that was all they were willing to
risk.

Then, the fleets arrived at Ravarra.

Ravarra had two inhabited planets, a temgefatming planet, Ravarra I, and an
inhabited moon around one of the outer gas giants that farmed the gas giant for rare
heavy gases. The bulk of Confederate forces appeared at the edge of jump distance to
Ravarra Il, while a much smaller fleet arrivedRavarra VI. Both fleets immediately
surged forward in full attack formation, leaving a curious hole in their back center, which
was filled almost before the Consortium could consider that empty area, filled by a
tactical task force of 16 KMS and 48 Kiwd vessels, and commanded by two of the
four known KMS battleships, ships the Consortium identified quickly a$thee | | e 6 s Gi f t
and theJenda



The Consortium had been in the galaxy long enough to identify the other ships in the
combined fleet; Faey, Ui, Skaa, and Alliance vessels. The fleet outhumbered the 266
Consortium ships present at the planet by nearly five to one, and the Consortium realized
guickly that the fl eet attacking Ravarra con
available fleet.As such, they called in reinforcements from Trieste, and the present ships
took up a defensive formation around an orbital station that had been captured and hastily
upgraded to fit Torsion weaponry.

Then the interdiction effect washed over RavarraAihd that changedverything

The effect couldndt be hidden from ship be

a matter of detecting it with sensors. A sh
moving in normal space, and almost immediatelg, @lmnsortium occupying Ravarra
realized that theydd been set up. Their adyv

interdictor and turning it on, and before they could even decide on a course of action, the
interdiction effect had passed sofarpaset system t hat reinforcemen
to reach Ravarra for over two hourséand that
every second that passed. By the time reinf
hours and hours to reach the system.
If they could even call for them. Attempts to contact the Consortium command to
warn them of this development were met with active jamming. The Karinnes had killed
their communications, utterly killed them. Interstellar, gravband, even threaded short
range gravband, none of it functioned. The
the defending ships. But, for the Consortiu
their shortrange visible light communications, able to send complete orenrsytship
in line of sight of the station using the light language. It was to this form of
communications they reverted, relaying orders both to the ships and to their ground
headquarters within the planet killer; there was no better place to put a odroerder
than inside the one thing no attacker would dare fire on.
They were trapped inside the interdiction effect along with the superior force they
faced, and had no means of communications saveldaged. This was now a fight to
the finish, and thir adversaries had come armed to the teeth and ready to fight.
Like the opening of some kind of deadly flower, the ships rushing at them attacked.
The armor of lead edge of the Consortium ships around the captured station buckled as
holes appeared in¢m, as they were struck by two ton rail cannon slugs fired from the
KMS cruisers. Those weapons had such sheer power and brutality that they ripped right
through the shields and armor of the victim ships and sprayed their innards with white
hot metal slagind metal gas, as the slugs vaporized on impact and that vaporized mass of
both slug and armor penetrated the interiors of the ships, tearing them apart from the
inside out. Before they could react to that, a few dozen of those Torsion weapons
screamedn at them, actively evading fire, and slamming into ten ships, burrowing deep
into them and then exploding. Six of those ships went dead and started drifting, while the
other four managed to keep power, wounded but still operational enough to fight. Then
the Skaa and Alliance ships fired their salvos of ship to ship missiles, a thousand
shimmering dots leaving the Confederate formation and streaking across the void towards
the defending Consortium formation. The damaged ships fell back as a blitesidef
fire unleashed from the Consortium ships, shooting down missiles with precision and
accuracy. Some missiles penetrated the defensive fire, causing shields to bloom into



visibility as they exploded along the line. The Consortium returned firetiagth

gravometric missiles, launching them at the formation as it changed, as the Skaa and
Alliance ships fell back and Faey battle cruisers took the lead, a move the Consortium
would not find strange, given how much intelligence they had on the Faey sltips

were equipped with Torsion shockwave generators, an application of Torsion effect the
Consortium had not fully explored or utilized, and those ships took the brunt of the
retaliatory missile attack. Shimmering waves of red energy exploded afwistips,

swirling and undulating like shields hit by fire, which destroyed the bulk of the missiles

fired at the formation. Some did manage to penetrate the defensive screen, and those that
penetrated unerringly knocked a ship out of action, the explesither destroying the

ships they hit or damaging them so severely they fell out of the formation as it screamed
forward. The leading Faey cruisers then fired their plasma torpedoes, energy weapons
that behaved like a missile, a coherent crush of phalssda energy that would go right
through shields and explode with tremendous power once it hit the hull, melting into the
hull before it exploded to amplify the destructive power. These weapons were the one
weapon the Faey employed that the Consortiurstimtended to take for their own, even

over their impressive MPAC weaponry. Plasma torpedoes were even more powerful than
gravometric missiles, and since they were
to carry hundreds of missiles, it only weel a few torpedo launchers. Against these
weapons, the Consortium could only evade; Torsion strikes on a plasma torpedo had no

effect, since the Torsion effect coul dnot
together. The Torsion beam simply gad through the torpedo without causing it to
detonat e. Dark matter guns, on the other

that cl ose range the explosion would hit
torpedoes, since they werelinesoi ght weapons and coul dnodt
they were not really meant to be a long distance weapon, they were intended for short to
medi um range, where they coul dnodét be easi
avoided, but one ship literallyad nowhere to go, and ended up taking a torpedo strike in

its starboard keel, which immediately blacked out all its lights as the plasma storm
generated an ion pulse that blew out the plasma power of the ship, and it fell out of
formation.

As the Confedete ships closed the distance with shocking speed, they again shifted
their alignment, and thousands and thousands of dots of light bloomed around them, as
every ship in the formation launched fighters. Fighter combat was relatively unknown to
the Consorum, they had little reason to employ fighters against their Andromedan foes,

but since coming to this galaxy, theyo6d be
l'ittle ship could be. 't wasndét ngtilnt sing
it that made them a threat. I't wasnodot the

surged ahead of the fleet vessels, and in just a matter of thirty seconds, coming in through
defensive fire that missed almost every fighter, the lead edgatafltdud of fighters
opened fire on the Consortium ships.

Not with plasma or Torsion weaponry, but withlseweapons.

In his customary command position as the lead fighter of the formation, Commander
Justin Taggart watched his tactical as his squadoompleted the formation after launch,
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then he punched the throttle and sent his Wolf catapulting ahead of the multinational fleet
behind him. Raptors, Starwolves, Dragonflies, Urémisshafighters, Alliance
Warhawk fighters, and Skaan 6 D fighters were slowly outpaced as every fighter
moved at afterburner speed, his engine producing 180% normal thrust and the inertial
dampers in the ship struggling to absorb the radical G forces involved with gravometric
acceleration in a vacuum. Before him wasefflof Consortium ships, tightening their
formation in preparation to deal with the fighters, where a ship could fire on fighters
attacking its neighbor.

This would be a turkey shoot, as far as Taggart was concerned. Consortium ships had
no Torsion shookave generators and no fdsdck antifighter weapons, only heavy
mount cannons meant for naval fleet combat, and heavy mount weapons had a hell of a
time tracking on a fast, elusive fighter and hitting it. The key to this for Taggart and the
other fightrs would be a tactic they called shisldpping, getting so close they brushed
the enemyds shieldsrascskhi cgoBeavhaveapens oo
and lead a fighter and shoot it down. Consortium ships were like fat, wallowintpdeer
nimble Wolf, unable to outrun him, unable to outmaneuver him, and unable to bite back
once his Wolf started sinking its fangs into their fat carcasses.

This was a strange position for him. Taggart had been pulled from his usual station
on theDreame and been temporarily deployed onthe e | | édcause@eyfwanted
him here, wanted his expertise with the Wolf fighter at this battle theater rather than Shio
Prime, because Kimdori intelligence suggested that the bigger naval fight would be here,
where the primary defense at Shio would be the thousands of weapon platforms the
Imperium sold the Shio not long before they captilulated to the Consortium. Not all of
those platforms had been destroyed, and intelligence said that the Consortium was using
the remaining platforms for defense. That had to be at Shio, because there sure as hell
were no weapon platforms here. Looking at the ships before him, the planet behind them,
and close to an orbital station big enough to be sitting in orbit aroundeayypfanet,
Justin Taggart had to agree. This was where he was needed. He was a fighter pilot, and
it was his duty, even his calling in life, to sit at the controls of a powerful piece of
machinery and use it to defend freedom and liberty. He had delvistéfe to it in the
Navy, and now he devoted his life to it in the Karinne Military Service.

He was once again a naval fighter pilot.

Deploy ECDsTaggart sent to his squadron, and as one every Wolf launched its
spinnersand drones. Lieutenant Joae Huralle was his Wizzo, his weapon officer up in
the cockpit, and it was her commands that launched the drones as it was his that launched
the spinners. The four drones attached to his ship would be under her control, while he
would control the main weapons on the fight&€rghten up a bit, Houri.

Sorry boss.
The targets hurtled towards them at radical speed, as each fighter shifted slightly in
the formation to prevent an easy astheget | ock

most dangerous part of the operation, coming in through their optimal range and getting
inside their capability to track them with their slow weapons.

Remember, stay at attack speed at all timessent in reminder as they neared
maximum range fothe main weaponsJoae, nowhe barked when they reached the
designated tim¢o-target.






























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































